
Table of Contents

 
Agenda 3
Consent No. 2a - Minutes

Coversheet revised 7
Workshop 8
Regular 14

Consent No. 2b - Annual Exemptions
Coversheet revised 20
List updated 21

Consent No. 2c - TexPool Resolution Amending Authorized
Representatives

Coversheet revised 22
Resolution 23

Consent No. 2d - Contract for Printing and Mailing of Utility Bills
and Inserts

Coversheet revised 26
Contract 27

Consent No. 2e - Increase Expenditure Authorization for City
Solid Waste Disposal

Coversheet revised 58
Consent No. 2f - Spring Creek Feeder Addition Bore

Coversheet revised 59
Bid Tabulation 60

Consent No. 2g - Northgate Electric Substation Long Head Time
Equipment Bid

Coversheet reviewed 61
12-100 Tab 62
Resolution 63

Consent No. 2h - Third Party Administrator Services for Fiscal
Year 2013

Coversheet revised 66
Consent No. 2i - Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Funding
Resolution

Coversheet revised 67
Aggieland Humane Society Resolution for Fees FY 13 68

Consent No. 2j - Property Casualty Insurance Policies for Fiscal
Year 2013

Coversheet revised 69
Insurance 2013 Recomendation Letter 70

Consent No. 2k - Hazard Mitigation Action Plan 2012-2017
Coversheet revised 72
Resolution 73

Consent No. 2L - Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Medical
Ambulance Service to Brazos County

Coversheet revised 75

1



Resolution 76
EMS ILA 2012 77
MAP - EMS response area 82

Consent No. 2m - Annual Purchase Order for Liquid Chlorine
Coversheet revised 83
Bid Tabulation 85

Consent No. 2n - Impact Fees Semi-Annual Report
Coversheet revised 86
Report 87

Consent No. 2o - Project Number WF1223116 Carter Creek
Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks

Coversheet revised 97
Bid Tabulation 98
Location Map 99

Consent No. 2p - South Knoll-The Glade Utility Rehabilitation
Project Design Change Order Project Number WF1044480,
WF1044485

Coversheet revised 100
Change Order 102
Location Map 103

Regular No. 1 - Public Hearing and Consideration of Budget
Amendment #3

Coversheet revised 104
Ordinance 105
List 106

Regular No. 2 - Public Hearing on the Rezoning—BioCorridor
Planned Development District

Coversheet revised 108
Background 117
Photos 118
Ordinance updated 120

Regular No. 3 - Public Hearing on the UDO
Amendment—BioCorridor

Coversheet revised 264
Ordinance revised 266

Regular No. 4 - Public Hearing on the UDO Amendment—New
Non-Residential Zoning Districts

Coversheet revised 288
Fact Sheet 1 290
Fact Sheet 2 293
Fact Sheet 3 295
Fact Sheet 4 296
Ordinance 302

Regular No. 5 - Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Board
Appointment

Coversheet revised 396

2



CITY OF COllEGE STATION 
Home o/Texas A&M University'Mayor Council members 

Nancy Berry Blanche Brick 
Mayor Pro Tern Jess Fields 
Dave Ruesink Karl Mooney 
City Manager Katy-Marie Lyles 
David Neeley Julie M. Schultz 

Agenda 

College Station City Council 


Regular Meeting 

Thursday, September 27, 2012 at 7:00 PM 


City Hall Council Chamber, 1101 Texas Avenue 

College Station, Texas 


1. Pledge ofAllegiance, Invocation, Consider absence request. 

Hear Visitors: A citizen may address the City Council on any item which does not appear on the posted 
Agenda. Registration forms are available in the lobby and at the desk of the City Secretary. This form should 
be completed and delivered to the City Secretary by 5:30 pm. Please limit remarks to three minutes. A timer 
alarm will sound after 2 112 minutes to signal thirty seconds remaining to conclude your remarks. The City 
Council will receive the information, ask staff to look into the matter, or place the issue on a future agenda. 
Topics of operational concerns shall be directed to the City Manager. Comments should not personally attack 
other speakers, Councilor staff. 

Consent Agenda 
At the discretion of the Mayor, individuals may be allowed to speak on a Consent Agenda Item. Individuals 
who wish to address the City Council on a consent agenda item not posted as a public hearing shall register with 
the City Secretary prior to the Mayor's reading of the agenda item. Registration forms are available in the 
lobby and at the desk of the City Secretary. 

2. Presentation, possible action and discussion of consent agenda items which consists of ministerial or 
"housekeeping" items required by law. Items may be removed from the consent agenda by majority vote of the 
Council. 

a. 	 Presentation, possible action, and discussion of minutes for: 
• September 13,2012 Workshop 
• September 13,2012 Regular Council Meeting 

b. 	 Presentation, possible action and discussion to authorize expenditure of funds for FY'13, items exempt from 
competitive bidding as described more fully in Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 252.022; and other 
expenditures for interlocal contracts or fees mandated by state law that are greater than $50,000. 

c. 	 Presentation, possible action and discussion on a resolution amending the authorized representatives at 
TexPool. 



City Council Regular Meeting Page 2 
Thursday, September 27,2012 
d. Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding award of the services contract, for RFP 12-091 

Outsourcing the Printing and Mailing of Utility Bills, final notices and inserts for an estimated annual 
expenditure of $230,000 to Xpedient Mail. 

e. Presentation, possible action and discussion to approve an increase in expenditure authorization for City 
solid waste disposal fees to the Brazos Valley Solid Waste Management Agency, Inc in the amount of 
$300,000.00 for a total of$I,622,185.00. 

f. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding approval of a construction contract 12-306, Bid No. 
12-096 to Bayer Construction for the installation of lO-inch bore under Hwy 6, south of Barron Rd. for a 
new electric distribution feeder from the Spring Creek Substation in the amount of $60,711.20. 

g. Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding approval of the purchase of various major equipment 
for the proposed Northgate Electric Substation totaling $482,330.00 and approval of a resolution declaring 
intention to reimburse certain expenditures with proceeds from debt. 

h. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding contract renewal for Third-Party Claims 
Administration with A S & G Claims Administration Inc., for an annual expenditure of $52,000. 
Anticipated FY13 workers compensation claims are $175,000 and anticipated FY13 liability claims are 
$250,000. 

1. Presentation, possible action, and discussion approving a resolution authorizing expenditures for the 
Aggieland Humane Society in the amount of$169,512.90 for Fiscal Year 2013. 

J. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding City of College Station Excess Liability and 
Workers' Compensation Insurance, PropertylBoiler & Machinery, Commercial Crime, EMT Liability, and 
Auto Property Damage policies for Fiscal Year 2013. FY13 premiums have increased 2.16 percent from 
FY12 premiums. 

k. Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding the approval of a resolution adopting the Mitigation 
Action Plan titled "Mitigating Risk: Protecting Brazos County from All Hazards 2012-2017. (This item is 
also on workshop agenda item #6) 

1. Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding the approval of a resolution to update the Interlocal 
Agreement for Emergency Medical Ambulance Service to respond to emergencies in Brazos County and to 
establish the annual fee for FY 2012 at $161,648. 

m. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an annual price agreement with Acetylene Oxygen 
Company (AOC) for the purchase ofliquid chlorine. The estimated annual expenditure is $57,270. 

n. Presentation, possible action, and discussion Semi-Annual Report on Impact Fees 92-01, 97-01, 97-02B, 99
01,03-02. 

o. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding a construction contract with Bryan Construction 
Company, in the amount of $1,573,719.50 for the Carters Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks 
Project, the approval of a contingency transfer in the amount of $150,000, and authorizing the City Manager 
to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. (This item is also on workshop agenda item #5) 



City Council Regular Meeting Page 3 
Thursday, September 27,2012 
p. 	 Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding a change order to the design contract (Contract 09

070) with Weston Solutions, Inc. in the amount of $104,780 to add construction materials testing to the 
scope of work for South Knoll-The Glade Utility Rehabilitation Project (WF1044480, WF1044485), and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 

Regular Agenda 
At the discretion of the Mayor, individuals may be allowed to speak on a Regular Agenda Item. Individuals 
who wish to address the City Council on a regular agenda item not posted as a public hearing shall register 
with the City Secretary prior to the Mayor's reading of the agenda item. Registration forms are available in the 
lobby and at the desk of the City Secretary. 

Individuals who wish to address the City Council on an item posted as a public hearing shall register with the 
City Secretary prior to the Mayor's announcement to open the public hearing. The Mayor will recognize 
individuals who wish to come forward to speak for or against the item. The speaker will state their name and 
address for the record and allowed three minutes. A timer alarm will sound at 2 112 minutes to signal thirty 
seconds remaining to conclude remarks. After a public hearing is closed, there shall be no additional public 
comments. If Council needs additional information from the general public, some limited comments may be 
allowed at the discretion of the Mayor. 

If an individual does not wish to address the City Council, but still wishes to be recorded in the official minutes 
as being in support or opposition to an agenda item, the individual may complete the registration form provided 
in the lobby by providing the name, address, and comments about a city related subject. These comments will 
be referred to the City Council and City Manager. 

1. 	 Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion on an ordinance Budget Amendment #3 
amending ordinance number 3371 which will amend the budget for the 2011-2012 Fiscal Year in the 
amount of$I,191,771. 

2. 	 Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an amendment to Chapter 12, 
"Unified Development Ordinance", Section 4.2, "Official Zoning Map" of the Code of Ordinance of the 
City of College Station, Texas by rezoning approximately 147 acres from A-O Agricultural Open to 
PDD Planned Development District for the Joint Research Valley BioCorridor Development Project 
generally located between State Highway 47, Raymond Stotzer Parkway, Turkey Creek Road, and the 
City limit. 

3. 	 Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an ordinance amending Chapter 
12, "Unified Development Ordinance," Article 1, "General Provisions," Article 2, "Development 
Review Bodies," Article 3, "Development Review Procedures," Article 5, "District Purpose Statements 
and Supplemental Standards," Article 6, "Use Regulations," Article 7, "General Development 
Standards," Article 8, "Subdivision Design And Improvements," Article 9, "Nonconformities," and 
Article 1 0, "Enforcement," of the Code Of Ordinances of the City of College Station, Texas, regarding 
the establishment of a BioCorridor Planned Development District. 

4. 	 Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an ordinance amending Chapter 
12, "Unified Development Ordinance," Article 1, "General Provisions," Article 4, "Zoning Districts," 
Article 5, "District Purpose Statements and Supplemental Standards," Article 6, "Use Regulations," 
Article 7, "General Development Standards," and Article 11, "Definitions," of the Code Of Ordinances 
of the City of College Station, Texas, by amending certain sections to establish new non-residential 
zoning districts, rename existing non-residential zoning districts, and retire specified zoning districts. 



City Council Regular Meeting Page 4 
Thursday, September 27,2012 

5. 	 Presentation, possible action, and discussion as it relates to the appointment of a member, representing 
the City of College Station, to the Aggieland Humane Society Board, formerly named the Brazos 
Animal Shelter. 

6. Adjourn. 

If litigation issues arise to the posted subject matter of this Council Meeting an executive session will be held. 

Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of College Station, Texas will be 
held on the Thursday, September 27,2012 at 7:00 PM at the City Hall Council Chambers, 1101 Texas Avenue, 
College Station, Texas. The following subjects will be discussed, to wit: See Agenda. 

Posted this 21st day of September, 2012 at 5:00 p.m. 

~dn~tty Secret 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that the above Notice of Meeting of the Governing Body of the City of 
College Station, Texas, is a true and correct copy of said Notice and that I posted a true and correct copy of said 
notice on the bulletin board at City Hall, 1101 Texas Avenue, in College Station, Texas, and the City's website, 
www.cstx.gov.TheAgendaandNoticearereadilyaccessibletothegeneralpublicatalltimes.Said Notice 
and Agenda were posted on September 21, 2012 at 5:00 p.m. and remained so posted continuously for at least 
72 hours proceeding the scheduled time of said meeting. 

This public notice was removed from the official posting board at the College Station City Hall on the following 
date and time: by ___________. 

Dated this __day of_______, 2012 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this the __day _______, 2012. 

Notary Public - Brazos County, Texas My commission expires: _____ 

The building is wheelchair accessible. Handicap parking spaces are available. Any request for sign interpretive service must be made 
48 hours before the meeting. To make arrangements call (979) 764-3517 or (TDD) 1-800-735-2989. Agendas may be viewed on 
www.cstx.gov. Council meetings are broadcast live on Cable Access Channel) 9. . 

http:www.cstx.gov
www.cstx.gov.TheAgendaandNoticearereadilyaccessibletothegeneralpublicatalltimes.Said


September 27, 2012 
City Council Consent Agenda Item No. 2a 

City Council Minutes 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Sherry Mashburn, City Secretary  
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion of minutes for: 

• September 13, 2012 Workshop  
• September 13, 2012 Regular Council Meeting 

 
Attachments: 

• September 13, 2012 Workshop  
• September 13, 2012 Regular Council Meeting 

 
 

7



 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 1 
 

 MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP 
CITY OF COLLEGE STATION 

SEPTEMBER 13, 2012 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 
    § 
COUNTY OF BRAZOS § 
 

 
Present: 

Nancy Berry, Mayor 
 

 
Council: 

Blanche Brick 
Jess Fields, arrived after roll call 
Karl Mooney 
Katy-Marie Lyles 
Julie Schultz, arrived after roll call 
Dave Ruesink, absent 
 

 
City Staff: 

David Neeley, City Manager 
Kathy Merrill, Deputy City Manager 
Frank Simpson, Deputy City Manager 
Carla Robinson, City Attorney 
Sherry Mashburn, City Secretary 
Tanya McNutt, Deputy City Secretary 
 
1.  
 

Call to Order and Announce a Quorum is Present 

With a quorum present, the Workshop of the College Station City Council was called to order by 
Mayor Nancy Berry at 3:05 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012 in the Council Chambers of 
the City of College Station City Hall, 1101 Texas Avenue, College Station, Texas 77842. 
 
2.  

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on options for the future of the Conference 
Center facility and operations. 

David Schmitz, Director of Parks and Recreation, reported that the original 8,305 square foot 
structure was built in 1949 as a school.  It was expanded in 1983 to add 3,909 square feet.  
Recognizing the need for building renovations, in 2012, $25,000 was included in the budget for a 
building assessment.  At the no-fee level, the building is currently used internal City and CSISD 
meetings, and for Parks and Recreation events.  In FY2011, the facility was rented out 409 times 
at the full commercial rate.  There were also 1,195 non-commercial events held at a reduced rate.  
Due to the closing of MSC, these numbers were a little higher than usual. There are three full 

8



 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 2 
 

time employees, as well as several part-time employees.  Revenue was $151,046 with expenses 
in the amount of $312,576 for a 48% cost recovery.  Since the closing of the Conference Center, 
staff has been relocated to the Main Office in Central Park, and rentals were relocated to other 
facilities.   
 
Options for the future of the Conference Center include: 

• No longer continue Conference Center operations (This means the loss of community and 
City meeting and rental space; however, there would be a yearly budget savings of 
approximately $304,966 annually, based on the FY13 budget.)  

• Continue with operations by renovating the existing facility (This would retain the 
historic value and have the ability to continue with current operations.  There are issues 
with building maintenance, inadequate parking, and on-site traffic circulation.  The 
estimated cost to renovate is $1.6 - $2.1 million.  If the decision is made to stay in the 
building, a more in-depth engineering study is required.) 

• Continue with operations by selling the facility (CSISD has the first right of refusal, or it 
could be sold to an historic organization for preservation/museum.  It could also be sold 
to the general public.  The City could then build a new facility or modify an unoccupied 
building.  The City can also look at including additional meeting, programming and 
rental space at both the Lincoln Center and Library expansion projects, which are 
currently funded as part of bond projects. 

 
Staff recommends taking advantage of the two CIP projects to add meeting, programming and 
rental space.  There are no current funds for renovations, and most current rental needs are being 
met.  Expansion for the Lincoln Center is not expected until mid-FY15, and the expansion of the 
Library is expected in FY17. 
 
Carrol Claycamp, 300 Lee Avenue, stated it is difficult to speak in terms of dollars and cents, but 
they are important.  He is not critical of the report, but rather he sees it as a “jump the gun” 
because of communication problems.  There is a difference in a roof rafter and a roof truss.  He 
looked at the building with the engineer this morning, and it is obvious there are problems.  One 
of the items in the report stated there are 2x6 rafters and 2x4 ceiling joists with periodic ceiling 
components.  He believes it is not periodic.  The diagonals used to carry the tension were 
common in the 40’s and 50’s for support.  These were not pre-fabricated; they were built on-site.  
They were loaded in tension, and that is what holds it up.  They used a span-to-depth ratio of 
1/10th

 

.  There are many ways to arrive at a solution.  The report stated there were things that 
should have been done immediately, such as take care of the openings where the air conditioning 
was installed, and frame out in headers with two to three joists, instead of just one.  He agrees 
that should be addressed now.  He reiterated there is a difference between a joist and a truss, and 
there is a difference between something being okay and ready to pull it down.   

Council consensus was to discuss this further at the Council’s Strategic Plan Retreat, requesting 
an inventory of our facilities and assessing our space needs.      
 
3.  Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding the development of the Lick 
Creek Park Nature Center and the Advisory Committee's recommendation. 

9



 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 3 
 

Chuck Gilman, Director of Capital Projects, reported that the Nature Center was included in the 
2008 Bond Authorization.  It was to be an Environmental Education Center of approximately 
10,000 square feet, for classrooms, exhibit space and office space.  In 2010, Council directed 
staff to begin planning and programming for the facility.  Staff selected a design team through 
the RFQ process, and in October 2010, the Council approved a design contract with 
Ray+Hollington Architects.  In June 2011, the Lick Creek Park Nature Center Advisory 
Committee was established by Council.  In June 2012, staff provided the Council with a 
summary of the programming alternatives with three scenarios.  Two public meeting were held 
in October and November 2011 to gather input.  Education and Sustainability were identified by 
the meeting attendees as the most critical elements to be included in the nature center. 
 
The anticipated operations and maintenance costs for the three scenarios were: 

• Scenario A: $231,650 
• Staff: 2 FTE + seasonal employee 

• Scenario B: $116,400 
• Staff: Seasonal employee 

• Scenario C: $160,425  
• Staff: 1 FTE + seasonal employee  

 
At an Advisory Committee meeting on May 30, 2012, the committee members in attendance 
voted unanimously to endorse Scenario C to take forward as their recommendation to the City 
Council.  Staff supports this recommendation.   
 
Council directed staff to bring back more detailed conceptual drawings.   
 
4.  

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding the possible placement of a 
nature trail through property located within Springbrook Estates. 

Bob Cowell, Executive Director of Development Services, provided some background on this 
item.  It was proposed in the Bikeway and Pedestrian Master Plan in 2002, and in 2004, it was 
prioritized by the Hike and Bike Task Force and adopted by City Council as a High Priority.  
Route alternatives were presented to Council in May 2012.  In August of 2012, Council directed 
staff to proceed with the final design of the entire project (using the on-street option for Segment 
A).  Later in August 2012, the Council directed staff to discuss with the neighborhood the 
concept of a natural or “green” trail on HOA property.  Some homeowners in the neighborhood 
strongly opposed the land dedication and the trail in the common area.  After staff received 
direction from Council to discuss with the neighborhood the concept of a natural or “green” trail 
on HOA property, the HOA Board provided a letter of opposition to a nature trail concept.  Staff 
requested direction regarding the nature trail based on the HOA Board preference. 
 
Gary Ives, 3943 Blue Jay Court, President of the Springbrook HOA, reported he had heard from 
Marcy Halterman-Cox, who stated she and her group might be in favor of some form of City 
maintained natural trail and asked the Council to not close out this option so he can take the 
question to the newly elected board.  He wanted to know what levels and types of maintenance 
of the drainage area the City would agree to as part of any agreement.   
 

10



 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 4 
 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Fields and a second by Councilmember 
Brick, the City Council voted two (2) for and four (4) opposed, with Mayor Berry and 
Councilmembers Fields, Lyles and Schultz voting against, to give the HOA Board until Friday, 
September 21, to decide if they are interested in giving a proposal to the City.   The motion 
failed. 
 
Mayor Berry recessed the workshop at 4:41 p.m. 
 
The workshop reconvened at 5:03 p.m. 
 
5.  
 

Executive Session  

In accordance with the Texas Government Code §551.071-Consultation with Attorney, 
§551.074-Personnel, and §551.087-Economic Inventive Negotiations, the College Station City 
Council convened into Executive Session at 5:03 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012 in order 
to continue discussing matters pertaining to: 
 
A. Consultation with Attorney to seek advice regarding pending or contemplated litigation; to 
wit: 

• City of Bryan's application with TCEQ for water & sewer permits in Westside/Highway 
60 area, near Brushy Water Supply Corporation to decertify City of College Station and 
certify City of Bryan. 

• Chavers et a1 v. Tyrone Morrow et al, No. 10-20792; Chavers v. Randall Hall et al, Case 
No. 10 CV-3922. 

• College Station v. Star Insurance Co., Civil Action No. 4:11-CV-02023. 
• Shirley Maguire and Holly Maguire vs. City of College Station, Cause No. 11-0025 16-

CV-272, in the 272nd District Court of Brazos County, Texas. 
• Patricia Kahlden, individ. and as rep. of the Estate of Lillie May Williams Bayless v. 

Laura Sue Streigler, City of College Station and James Steven Elkins, No. 11-003172-
CV-272, in the 272ndDistrict Court of Brazos County, Tx. 

• Claim and potential litigation related to a June 24, 2011 collision with a city vehicle. 
 
B.  Deliberation on the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or 
dismissal of a public officer; to wit: 

• City Manager 
• City Attorney 
• City Secretary 
• Municipal Court Judge 
• Internal Auditor   

 
C.  Deliberation on economic development negotiations regarding an offer of financial or other 
incentives for a business prospect; to wit: 

• Economic development incentives to prospect in the area between Texas Avenue and 
2818 

• Economic development incentives to prospect in West College Station 
 

11

http://muniagenda/AgendaViewer/Bluesheet.aspx?itemid=56&meetingid=1�


 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 5 
 

The Executive Session adjourned at 6:02 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012. 
 
6.  
 

Take action, if any, on Executive Session. 

No action was required from Executive Session. 
 

 

Presentation proclaiming September 21, 2012 as Alzheimer's Action Day in the City of 
College Station. 

Mayor Berry presented a proclamation proclaiming September 21, 2012 as Alzheimer's Action 
Day in the City of College Station to Amy Brower, with the Alzheimer’s Association. 
 
7.  
 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on items listed on the consent agenda. 

Mayor Berry reported that item 2n has been pulled from the Consent Agenda and will not be 
considered. 
 
Item 2q was pulled for clarification. 
 
2q:  Frank Simpson, Deputy City Manager, noted representatives from the CVB were present to 
answer questions.  He also reported on the grant application process and policy and noted that 
the City of Bryan has already approved this.    
 
8. 
 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on the FY 2012-2013 Proposed Budget. 

Jeff Kersten, Executive Director of Financial Services, reported the total proposed FY2012-2013 
budget is $253,133,611.  $212,643,409 is operations and maintenance, and $40,490,202 is total 
capital.  Council received a budget revision memo, reflecting a net increase of $274,205 in 
operations and maintenance for new net budget of $253,407,816.  The four items on the memo 
were to reduce Mayor/Council budget, an item to re-allocate monies for the Conference Center, 
an item to increase the TMRS allocation, and to increase the Electric Fund budget in the salary 
and benefits area.   
 
Councilmember Schultz asked if we could move the $25,000 Chamber line item to the CVB and 
have the Chamber go through the grant application process.  Consensus was to leave things as 
they are for now.   
 
9. 
 

Council Calendar 

• 
• 

Sept. 17 Intergovernmental Committee Meetings at 5:00 p.m. 

• 
Sept. 18 Celebrating the Arts at CS Hilton, 6:00 p.m. 

• 
Sept. 19 BVSWMA Board Meeting at Twins Oaks Facility - 2690 SH30, 11:00 a.m. 

• 
Sept. 19 RVP Board Meeting at RVP, 3:00 p.m. 
Sept. 20 P&Z Workshop/Regular Meeting in Council Chambers at 6:00 p.m. (Karl 
Mooney, liaison) 

12



 

WKSHP091312 Minutes Page 6 
 

• 

 

Sept. 27 City Council Executive Session/Workshop/Regular Meeting, at 5:00, 6:00, 
and 7:00 p.m. 

Council reviewed the Council calendar.   
 
10. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on future agenda items: a Council Member 
may inquire about a subject for which notice has not been given. A statement of specific 
factual information or the recitation of existing policy may be given. Any deliberation shall 
be limited to a proposal to place the subject on an agenda for a subsequent meeting. 

There were no items requested. 
 
11. 

 

Discussion, review and possible action regarding the following meetings: Animal 
Shelter Board, Arts Council of the Brazos Valley, Arts Council Sub-committee, Audit 
Committee, Bicycle, Pedestrian, and Greenways Advisory Board, Blinn College Brazos 
Valley Advisory Committee, Brazos County Health Dept., Brazos Valley Council of 
Governments, Bryan/College Station Chamber of Commerce, BVSWMA, BVWACS, 
Convention & Visitors Bureau, Design Review Board, Historic Preservation Committee, 
Interfaith Dialogue Association, Intergovernmental Committee, Joint Neighborhood 
Parking Taskforce, Joint Relief Funding Review Committee, Landmark Commission. 
Library Board, Metropolitan Planning Organization, National League of Cities, Parks and 
Recreation Board, Planning and Zoning Commission, Research Valley Partnership, 
Regional Transportation Committee for Council of Governments, Sister City Association, 
TAMU Student Senate, Texas Municipal League, Youth Advisory Council, Zoning Board 
of Adjustments. 

Mayor Berry reported on the MPO and they have hired a new Executive Director. 
 
Councilmember Lyles reported on the next meeting of the Health Department 
 
12.  
 

Adjournment 

MOTION:  There being no further business, Mayor Berry adjourned the workshop of the 
College Station City Council at 7:06 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012.   
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Nancy Berry, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________  
Sherry Mashburn, City Secretary 
 
 

13



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 1 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY OF COLLEGE STATION 

SEPTEMBER 13, 2012 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 
    § 
COUNTY OF BRAZOS § 
 

 
Present: 

Nancy Berry 
 

 
Council: 

Blanche Brick 
Jess Fields  
Karl Mooney 
Katy-Marie Lyles 
Julie Schultz 
Dave Ruesink, absent  
 

 
City Staff: 

David Neeley, City Manager 
Kathy Merrill, Deputy City Manager 
Frank Simpson, Deputy City Manager 
Carla Robinson, City Attorney 
Sherry Mashburn, City Secretary 
Tanya McNutt, Deputy City Secretary 
 

 
Call to Order and Announce a Quorum is Present 

With a quorum present, the Regular Meeting of the College Station City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Nancy Berry at 7:07 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012 in the Council 
Chambers of the City of College Station City Hall, 1101 Texas Avenue, College Station, Texas 
77842. 
 
1.  Pledge of Allegiance, Invocation, consider absence request
 

. 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Mayor Berry and a second by Councilmember Fields, the 
City Council voted six (6) for and none (0) opposed, to approve the absence request from Dave 
Ruesink.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 

14



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 2 
 

 
Citizen Comments 

Rita O’Connor, 203 Francis, announced the BCS 100.  She started a company this past summer 
called Foot Traffic Texas.  The program is for people who are trying to improve the activity and 
health level of their lives in an encouraging and supportive group setting.   
 
John Bounds, 9411 Twelve Oaks, spoke about the landfill proposed on Highway 60.  He is 
among the 1,000 residents that live within two miles of this trash mountain.  There are churches, 
and a school within walking distance.  A letter was sent to TCEQ recommending denial of the 
application.  TCEQ appears to be ignoring their letter.  We have the bio-corridor, and there are 
other locales wanting to attract those types of businesses.  It is a good possibility that none of the 
other locales have a trash dump in such close proximity.  Is this what we want?  He asked 
Council to oppose the project.  That mountain of trash will be here forever. 
 
Linda Harvell, 504 Guernsey, said she is in the third week of the Citizen’s Police Academy and 
praised the Police Chief and the amazing program.    She has been concerned about the lack of 
police presence in her neighborhood, and she has learned how the City is zoned for patrol.  She 
has also learned that the officers have to buy their own flashlights.  In her years of business, her 
employees never had to purchase the tools to do their job.  She also gave kudos to the sanitation 
crew and the good job they do. 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

2a.  
• 
Presentation, possible action, and discussion of minutes for: 

• 
August 20, 2012 Budget Workshop 

• 
August 21, 2012 Budget Workshop 

• 
August 22, 2012 Budget Workshop 

• 
August 23, 2012 Workshop 

 
 August 23, 2012 Regular Council Meeting 

2b. 

 

Presentation, possible action and discussion on Ordinance 2012-3440, amending Section 
4 of Ordinance No. 2012-3433 ordering a Special Election to be held on November 6, 2012 
for the purpose of submitting proposed amendments to the City Charter to the voters by 
correcting the polling location for Precincts 24, 53 and 58. (Presentaciόn, posible acciόn y 
discusiόn de una Ordenanza 2012-3440, que enmienda la Secciόn 4 de la Ordenanza No. 
2012-3433 para ordenar Elecciones Especiales a celebrarse el 6 de noviembre de 2012 con el 
propόsito de presentarle a los votantes las enmiendas propuestas a los Estatutos de la 
Ciudad, al corregir el sitio de votaciones para los Departamentos numeros 24, 53 y 58.) 

2c. 

 

Presentation, possible action and discussion on Resolution 9-13-12-2c, amending the 
Notice of Special Election that will be held November 6, 2012. (Presentaciόn, posible acciόn 
y discusiόn de una Resoluciόn 9-13-12-2c, para enmendar la Notificaciόn de Elecciones 
Especiales que se realizaran el 6 de noviembre de 2012.) 

2d. Presentation, possible action and discussion on the Certification of Unopposed 
Candidates and Ordinance 2012-3441, ordering the cancellation of the General Election on 

15



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 3 
 

November 6, 2012. (Presentaciόn, posible acciόn y discusiόn acerca de la Certificaciόn de 
Candidatos Sin Oposiciόn y una Ordenanza 2012-3441, que ordene la cancelaciόn de las 
Elecciones Generales del 6 de noviembre de 2012.) 
 
2e. 

 

Presentation, possible action and discussion on a letter agreement for year 4 of the 
Professional Auditing Services engagement with Ingram, Wallis & Co., P.c. for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2012 with expenditures totaling $91,000 from the City of 
College Station. 

2f. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding the approval of contract No. 12-
280 in the amount of $87,329.67 between the City of College Station and Siemens Industry, 
Inc. for the installation of security cameras in the Northgate Parking Garage and 
authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 

2g. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding the approval of contract No. 12-
302 in the amount of $59,627.00 between the City of College Station and Shelby Building 
Maintenance & Janitorial, Inc. for cleaning services in Northgate and the Chimney Hill 
Shopping Center and authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the 
City Council. 

2h. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding approval of a service contract 
between the City of College Station and Shelby Building Maintenance & Janitorial Services 
in the amount of $141,334.00 for Annual Janitorial Maintenance Services in city buildings 
and authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 

2i. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion authorizing the City Manager to sign 
professional services contract 12-334 with Interra Hydro Incorporated in the amount of 
$47,870 for a Bee Creek sewer trunk line study. 

2j. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on a Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with the TAMU Department of Psychology to provide psychological evaluations on 
potential employees of the Police Department in accordance with the requirements set for 
by the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement Standards and Education. 

2k. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on the FY 2012-2013 BVSWMA, Inc 
Proposed Budget. 

21. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding approval of a contract between 
the City of College Station and JNA Painting & Contracting Company Inc. in the amount 
of $57,931.00 for the purpose of Various Interior/Exterior Painting of City Buildings under 
ITB (Invitation To Bid) #12-084, the rejection of bids received for ITB (Invitation To Bid) 
#12-057, and authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City 
Council. 

2m. Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding a construction contract 12-299 
with Palomares Construction Company, in the amount of $152,361.00 for the Lincoln 

16



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 4 
 

Avenue Sidewalk Project, and authorizing the City Manager to execute the contract on 
behalf of the City Council. 
 
2n. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion of an ordinance amending Chapter 10 
"Traffic Code", to create a loading zone on University Drive east of College Main in 
accordance with the desires of the area merchants and as identified in the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the City of College Station and the Northgate District Association. 

2o. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding the renewal of an annual price 
agreement with Ergon Asphalt & Emulsions to provide emulsified asphalt products for the 
maintenance of streets in an amount not to exceed $428,697.14. 

2p. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on Ordinance 2012-3442, amending the 
College Station Comprehensive Plan by adopting the Southside Area Neighborhood Plan 
for the area generally bounded by George Bush Drive, Texas Avenue South, Holleman 
Drive, Welsh Avenue, Southwest Parkway, and Wellborn Road. 

2q. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding approval of a resolution 
creating a Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund Event Grant Application Policy. 

Item 2n was pulled from the Consent Agenda by staff and was not considered. 
 
MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Lyles and a second by Councilmember 
Schultz, the City Council voted six (6) for and none (0) opposed, to approve the Consent 
Agenda, less item 2n. The motion carried unanimously. 
 

 
REGULAR AGENDA 

1. 

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on Ordinance 2012-3443, adopting the City 
of College Station 2012-2013 Budget; and presentation, possible action and discussion 
ratifying the property tax revenue increase reflected in the budget. 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Mooney and a second by Councilmember 
Brick, the City Council voted five (5) for and one (1) opposed, with Councilmember Fields 
voting against, to adopt Ordinance 2012-3443, adopting the City of College Station 2012-2013 
Budget, as amended by the budget revision memo.  The motion carried. 
 
MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Mayor Berry and a second by Councilmember Mooney, the 
City Council voted five (5) for and one (1) opposed, with Councilmember Fields voting against. 
to ratify the property tax revenue increase reflected in the budget.  The motion carried. 
 
2.  

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on approval of Ordinance 2012-3444, 
adopting the City of College Station 2012-2013 ad valorem tax rate of $0.430687 per $100 
assessed valuation, the debt service portion being $0.195635 per $100 assessed valuation 
and the operations and maintenance portion being $0.235052 per $100 assessed valuation. 

17



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 5 
 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Fields and a second by Councilmember 
Mooney, the City Council voted six (6) for and none (0) opposed, to adopt Ordinance 2012-
3444, adopting the City of College Station 2012-2013 ad valorem tax rate of $0.430687 per $100 
assessed valuation, the debt service portion being $0.195635 per $100 assessed valuation and the 
operations and maintenance portion being $0.235052 per $100 assessed valuation.  The motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
3.  

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding Ordinance 2012-3445, amending 
Chapter 11, "Utilities" Section 2, "Water and Sewer Services," of the Code of Ordinances 
of the City of College Station, Texas having the effect of raising rates for wastewater 
service. 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Lyles and a second by Councilmember 
Schultz, the City Council voted five (5) for and one (1) opposed, with Councilmember Fields 
voting against, to adopt Ordinance 2012-3445, amending Chapter 11, "Utilities" Section 2, 
"Water and Sewer Services," of the Code of Ordinances of the City of College Station, Texas 
having the effect of raising rates for wastewater service. The motion carried. 
 
4.  

 

Presentation, possible action, and discussion on the Texas Municipal Retirement System 
Ordinance 2012-3446 to reduce the Updated Service Credit for current employees 
calculation from 100% to 75%; and reduce the Cost of Living Adjustment, or annuity 
increase, calculation for retirees from 70% to 50% of the Consumer Price Index. 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Councilmember Fields and a second by Councilmember 
Mooney, the City Council voted six (6) for and none (0) opposed, to adopt the Texas Municipal 
Retirement System Ordinance 2012-3446 to reduce the Updated Service Credit for current 
employees calculation from 100% to 75%; and reduce the Cost of Living Adjustment, or annuity 
increase, calculation for retirees from 70% to 50% of the Consumer Price Index. The motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
5.  Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding the appointment to the Executive 
Committee of the Board of Directors for the Bryan-College Station Convention and 
Visitors Bureau
 

. 

MOTION:  Upon a motion made by Mayor Berry and a second by Councilmember Fields, the 
City Council voted six (6) for and none (0) opposed, to appoint Steve Aldrich to the Board of 
Directors for the Bryan-College Station Convention and Visitors Bureau. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



 

RM091312 Minutes Page 6 
 

6.  
 

Adjournment. 

MOTION:  There being no further business, Mayor Berry adjourned the Regular Meeting of the 
City Council at 8:00 p.m. on Thursday, September 13, 2012. 
  
 
        ________________________ 
        Nancy Berry, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Sherry Mashburn, City Secretary 
 

19



 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2b 

Annual Exemptions 
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Kersten, Executive Director Business Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action and discussion to authorize expenditure of funds 
for FY'13, items exempt from competitive bidding as described more fully in Texas Local 
Government Code, Chapter 252.022; and other expenditures for interlocal contracts or fees 
mandated by state law that are greater than $50,000. 
  
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Goal I.1. Spending taxpayer money efficiently 
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends approval of the purchase requests as listed on the 
attached spreadsheet. 
 
Summary: Every fiscal year there are a number of expenditures incorporated in the approved 
budget that are not subject to competitive bidding or proposals.  These expenditures are for sole 
source purchases; expenditures for personal, professional or planning services; captive 
replacement parts for equipment, and other exemptions more fully described in LGC 252.022 or 
other expenditures for interlocal contracts or fees mandated by state law that are greater than 
$50,000.  The intent of this item is for Council to authorize the expenditure(s) which will provide 
the ability to conduct daily affairs of the City which involve numerous decisions of a routine nature. 

 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are either available and budgeted for each of the listed 
purchase requests in the fiscal year 2012-2013 budget in various funds of the City or if necessary 
will be made available by proposing an appropriate budget amendment or contingency transfer. 
 
Attachments:   

1. List of FY13 Annual Exemptions 

20



FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection Approved

US Postmaster 70,000.00$        70,000.00$        70,000.00$        

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection Approved

EnRoute Emergency System (application software 

upgrade/maintenance 149,490.00$      139,402.00$      152,000.00$      

Reynolds & Company (WW SCADA maintenance) 100,000.00$      100,000.00$      100,000.00$      

Sungard Public Sector (H T E application 

maintenance) 163,830.00$      157,492.00$      170,000.00$      

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection Approved

CME (geotechnical & construction testing services) 30,000.00$        25,000.00$        65,000.00$        

Terracon (geotechnical & construction testing 

services) 30,000.00$        40,000.00$        65,000.00$        

Joe Orr Surveying (land surveying) 100,000.00$      50,000.00$        125,000.00$      

Bickerstaff, Heath, Delgado, Acosta (electrical legal 

services related interim TCOS filing and power 

supply contracts) 100,000.00$      10,000.00$        60,000.00$        

Lloyd Gosselink (W/WW legal issues) 100,000.00$      -$                    -$                    

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection Approved

City of Bryan (utilities for wells and pump station) 1,125,000.00$   675,000.00$      1,300,000.00$  

Verizon (local phone service) 105,000.00$      100,000.00$      100,000.00$      

Entergy (Well 8 electrical power) 100,000.00$      30,000.00$        100,000.00$      

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection Approved

ILA with BVSWMA (disposal fees) 1,477,497.00$   1,622,185.00$  1,322,185.00$  

ILA with Brazos County Appraisal District 251,857.00$      240,272.00$      240,272.00$      

ILA with City of Bryan (library services) 945,820.00$      1,014,480.00$  1,014,480.00$  

ILA with Brazos Valley Wide Area Communications 

System 211,904.00$      196,876.00$      196,876.00$      

ILA with Brazos County, City of Bryan & TAMU for 

Community Emergency Operation Center (CEOC) 

Lease 59,854.00$        58,394.00$        59,115.00$        

ILA with Texas Comptroller (ATT wireless 

phone/data services) 50,000.00$        78,000.00$        100,000.00$      

ILA with Texas Comptroller for Grainger 

(maintenance, repair and operational supplies) 75,000.00$        65,000.00$        75,000.00$        

ILA with National Intergovernmental Purchasing 

Alliance (NIPA) for Office Depot (office supplies) 87,800.00$        100,500.00$      75,000.00$        

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2012
Estimate Projection  Approved

TCEQ (inspections/assessments, permitting fees - 

W/WW) 150,000.00$      130,000.00$      135,000.00$      

BV Groundwater Conservation District 215,000.00$      215,000.00$      225,000.00$      

Texas Workforce Commission (unemployment 

claims 70,000.00$        60,000.00$        60,000.00$        
ERCOT (Electric Reliability Fees) 72,000.00$        

Expenditures pursuant to established interlocal agreements with various agencies

Expenditures for mandated state fees

2013 Exemptions

LGC  252.022(a)(7)(A) - Single source due to patents, copywrights, secret processes or other natural monopolies

LGC 252.022 (a)(7)(D) - Captive replacement parts or components for equipmement; computer 

software/hardware maintenance; equipment lease/maintenance

LGC 252.022(a)(4) - Personal, professional or planning services

LGC 252.022(a)(7)(c) - Gas, water and other utility services

21



September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2c 

TexPool Resolution Amending Authorized Representatives 
 
 
To:  David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From:  Jeff Kersten, Executive Director of Business Services                        
 
 

Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action and discussion on a resolution amending 
the authorized representatives at TexPool.  

 
Recommendation(s): Staff recommends approval of the resolution. 
  
Summary: Organized in 1989, TexPool is the largest and oldest local government 
investment pool in the State of Texas. TexPool currently provides investment services to 
over 1,700 communities throughout Texas.  The State Comptroller oversees TexPool, and 
Federated Investors manage the daily operations of the pool under a contract with the 
Comptroller. TexPool is managed conservatively to provide a safe, efficient, and liquid 
investment alternative to Texas governments. The pool seeks to maintain a $1.00 value per 
share as required by the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. TexPool investments consist 
exclusively of U. S. Government securities, repurchase agreements collateralized by U. S. 
Government securities, and AAA-rated no-load money market mutual funds. TexPool is 
rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating a local government investment pool 
can achieve. The weighted average maturity of the pool cannot exceed 60 days, with the 
maximum maturity of any investment limited to 13 months. TexPool, like the City, is 
governed by the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. 
 
The resolution amendment is to remove Staff Assistant, Marisia Dominguez from the 
account and add Staff Assistant, Princess Ephriam. This resolution designates those 
employees that are able to act as authorized representatives for the City’s TexPool 
accounts.   
 
 
Budget & Financial Summary: None  
 
 
Attachments:   
 

1. Resolution Amending Authorized Representatives 

22



23



24



25



 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2d 

Contract for Printing and Mailing of Utility Bills and Inserts 
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Kersten, Executive Director of Business Services 

 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding award of the 
services contract, for RFP 12-091 Outsourcing the Printing and Mailing of Utility Bills, final 
notices and inserts for an estimated annual expenditure of $230,000 to Xpedient Mail. 
 
Recommendation(s): Staff recommends approval of the contract with Xpedient Mail for 
Outsourcing the Printing and Mailing of Utility bills, late notices and inserts for an estimated 
annual expenditure of $230,000. 
 
Summary:   The current contract with Xpedient Mail expires on September 30, 2012.  RFP’s 
were sent to vendors that specialize in the printing and mailing of utility bills, notices and 
inserts.  Seventeen responses were received and evaluated with Xpedient Mail chosen as 
the vendor that best meets the needs of the City of College Station.  Xpedient Mail is 
located in Bryan, Texas and are our current vendor.   Xpedient Mail will continue to use the 
base bill product from Sungard Public Sector software to produce and send the bills and 
notices.  They may also print the utility bill insert.  In addition, Xpedient Mail will continue to 
make images of an exact duplicate of the bill available to city staff.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: We are sending out approximately 360,000 utility bills and 
7,200 final notices annually.  Currently we spend approximately $20,000 annually on 
supplies (paper, envelopes, etc), $25,000 on professional services, $30,000 for printing of 
the insert and $150,000 on postage.   
 
Funds are budgeted and available in the Utility Customer Service and the Public 
Communications budget. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Services Contract with Xpedient Mail 
 
 
 

26



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          1 
 

City of College Station 
 

SERVICE CONTRACT 
 

 This contract is by and between the City of College Station, a Texas home-rule municipal 
corporation (the “City”), and Xpedient Mail (the “Contractor”), for the following work: Printing, 
Inserting, Mailing Utility Bills including direct postage costs (with the option of printing the 
monthly inserted newsletter), a service provided by the Contractor as an independent contractor. 
 

1. In consideration of the compensation stated in paragraph 2, the Contractor shall provide 
all the services described in the Scope of Services attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and 
incorporated by reference.  The express terms of this Contract shall take precedence 
and control over any term or provision of the Scope of Services that in any way 
conflicts with, differs from, or attempts to alter the terms of this Contract. 

 
2. Except in the event of a duly authorized change order approved by the City as provided in 

this Contract, and in consideration of the Contractor’s final completion of all work in 
conformity with this Contract, the City shall pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed 
TWO HUNDRED THIRTY THOUSAND and NO/100 Dollars ($230,000).  Within 
seven (7) calendar days of completion of the work, the Contractor shall submit his 
application for payment to the City, and the City shall pay Contractor for the work 
performed no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the City's receipt and the 
City’s approval of the work and the application for payment.  

 
3. No changes shall be made, nor will invoices for changes, alterations, modifications, 

deviations, or extra work or services be recognized or paid except upon the prior written 
order from authorized personnel of the City.  The Contractor shall not execute change 
orders on behalf of the City or otherwise alter the financial scope of the Project. 

 
4. a.  When the original Contract amount plus all change orders is $50,000 or less, the City 

Manager or his designee may approve the written change order provided the change order 
does not increase the total amount set forth in the Contract to more than $50,000.  For 
such contracts, when a change order results in a total contract amount that exceeds 
$50,000, the City Council of the City must approve such change order prior to 
commencement of the services or work; and 

 
b. When the original contract amount plus all change orders is equal to or greater than 
$50,000, the City Manager or his designee may approve the written change order 
provided the change order does not exceed $50,000, and provided the sum of all change 
orders does not exceed 25% of the original contract amount.  For such contracts, when a 
change order exceeds $50,000 or when the sum of all change orders exceeds 25% of the 
original contract amount, the City Council of the City must approve such change order 
prior to commencement of the services or work; and   
 
c. Any request by the Contractor for an increase in the Scope of Services and an 
increase in the amount listed in paragraph two of this Contract shall be made and 
approved by the City prior to the Contractor providing such services or the right to 

27



payment for such additional services shall be waived. If there is a dispute between the 
Contractor and the City respecting any service provided or to be provided hereunder by 
the Contractor, including a dispute as to whether such service is additional to the Scope 
of Services included in this Contract, the Contractor agrees to continue providing on a 
timely basis all services to be provided by the Contractor hereunder, including any 
service as to which there is a dispute. 

5. 	 Except as provided in Paragraph 12 hereinbelow, the term of this Contract shall be for 
one (1) year from the effective date of this Contract. Thereafter, upon the mutual 
consent of both parties, including budget approval by the City, this Contract may be 
renewed on an annual basis, under the same terms and conditions, for up to two (2) 
additional years (three (3) years total). If, for any reason, funds are not appropriated 
to continue the contract, the contract shall become null and void and shall terminate. 

6. 	 No "Notice to Proceed" may be given nor any work commenced until this Contract is 
fully executed and all exhibits and other attachments are completely filled out and 
attached hereto. 

7. 	 It is understood and agreed by the parties that the Contractor is an independent 
contractor retained for the above-mentioned purpose. The City shall not control the 
manner nor the means of the Contractor's performance, but shall be entitled to a work 
product as described above. The term "subcontractor" shall mean and include only 
those hired by and having a direct contact with Contractor for performance of work 
on the Project. The City shall have no responsibility to any subcontractor employed 
by a Contractor for performance of work on the Project, and all subcontractors shall 
look exclusively to the Contractor for any payments due. The City will not be 
responsible for reporting or paying employment taxes or other similar levies that may 
be required by the United States Internal Revenue Service or other State or Federal 
agencies. Every subcontractor shall be bound by the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement and the Contract Documents as far as applicable to their work. The 
Contractor shall be fully responsible to the City for the acts and omissions of its 
subcontractors. Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual or employment 
relations between any subcontractor and the City. 

8. 	 OPTION - SELECT A OR B (initial) (both A & B shall apply if contract amount is 
over $50,000.00) 

______---'-lk::..':.....t-b_'_.A. The Contractor shall procure and maintain, at its sole 
cost and expense for the duration of this Contract, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may arise 
from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by 
Contractor, its agents, representatives, volunteers, employees, or 
subcontractors. Said insurance shall list College Station, its employees, 
and officials as additional named insureds. See Exhibit B for required 
limits of insurance. Certificates of insurance evidencing the required 
insurance coverages shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

-OR

--------.{dF-!-'·-,--tb~---,:B. It is further agreed that the Contractor (separately 
and collectively the "Indemnitee") shall indemnify, hold harmless, 
and defend the City, its officers, agents, and employees from and 

Form Revised on 7-12-12 
Contract No. 12-300 2 

28

http:50,000.00


 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          3 
 

against any and all claims, losses, damages, causes of action, suits, 
and liability of every kind, including all expenses of litigation, court 
costs, and attorney's fees, for injury to or death of any person or for 
damage to any property arising out of or in connection with the 
work done by the Contractor under this Contract.  Such indemnity 
shall apply regardless of whether the claims, losses, damages, causes 
of action, suits, or liability arise in whole or in part from the 
negligence of the City, any other party indemnified hereunder, the 
Contractor, or any third party. 

 
9. The Contractor assumes full responsibility for the work to be performed 

hereunder and hereby releases, relinquishes, and discharges the City, its officers, 
agents, and employees from all claims, demands, and causes of action of every 
kind and character, including the cost of defense thereof, for any injury to or 
death of any person  and any loss of or damage to any property  that is caused by, 
alleged to be caused by, arising out of, or in connection with the Contractor's 
work to be performed hereunder.  This release shall apply regardless of whether 
said claims, demands, and causes of action are covered in whole or in part by 
insurance and regardless of whether such injury, death, loss, or damage was 
caused in whole or in part by the negligence of the City, any other party released 
hereunder, the Contractor, or any third party. 

 
10. The City is exempt from payment of state and local sales and use of taxes on labor and 

materials incorporated into the project.  If necessary, it is the Contractor's responsibility 
to obtain a sales tax permit, resale certificate, and exemption certificate that shall enable 
the Contractor to buy any materials to be incorporated into the project and then resale 
the aforementioned materials to the City without paying the tax on the materials at the 
time of purchase. 

 
11. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local statutes, 

regulations, ordinances, and other laws, including but not limited to the Immigration 
Reform and Control Act (IRCA).  The Contractor may not knowingly obtain the labor 
or services of an unauthorized alien.  The Contractor, not the City, must verify 
eligibility for employment as required by IRCA. 

 
12. At any time, the City may terminate the Project for convenience, in writing.  At such 

time, the City shall notify Contractor, in writing, who shall cease work immediately.  
Contractor shall be compensated for the services performed.  In the event that the City 
terminates this Contract for convenience, the City shall pay Contractor for the services 
performed and expenses incurred prior to the date of termination. 

 
13. No waiver or deferral by either party of any term or condition of this Contract shall be 

deemed or construed to be a waiver or deferral of any other term or condition or 
subsequent wavier or deferral of the same term or condition. 

 
14. This Contract may only be amended by written instrument approved and executed by 

the parties. 
 
15. This Contract and the rights and obligations contained herein may not be assigned by 

the Contractor without the prior written approval of City. 
 

29



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          4 
 

16. The parties hereby state that they have read the terms of this Contract and hereby agree 
to the conditions contained herein. 

 
17. This Contract has been made under and shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Texas.  The parties agree that performance and all matters related thereto shall be in 
Brazos County, Texas. 

 
18. Contractor, its employees, associates or subcontractors shall perform all the work 

hereunder.  Contractor agrees that all of its associates, employees, or subcontractors 
who work on this Project shall be fully qualified and competent to do the work 
described hereunder.  Contractor shall undertake the work and complete it in a timely 
manner. 

 
19. If any provision of this Contract shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any 

reason, the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If a court 
of competent jurisdiction finds that any provision of this Contract is invalid or 
unenforceable, but that by limiting such provision it may become valid and enforceable, 
then such provision shall be deemed to be written, construed, and enforced as so 
limited. 

 
20. This Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the City and 

Contractor and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either 
written or oral.  This Contract may only be amended by written instrument approved 
and executed by the parties. 

 
21. This Contract will be effective when signed by the last party whose signing makes the 

Contract fully executed. 
 

  

30



XPEDIENT MAIL CITY OF COLLEGE STATION 


By:---,,-=--,,-----;;;-;----?+-"'I'r""'7'--1-=-/1,1..;;.... IJ..;;..'{;/..:-t,;..../_ 

Printed!ame: (); Ie Ill\, D~of), City Manager 

Title: __Jv,tit! 

Date: ~-oI \ t:: 


Date: q- 1- 12

Executive Director Business Services 

Form Revised on 7-12-12 
Contract No. 12-300 5 

31



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          6 
 

Exhibit A 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

32



 1 

 
 

 
Division of Sunbelt Business Graphics, Inc. 

 

Printing, Inserting and Mailing Utility Bills 

RFP #12-091 
 

AUGUST 24, 2012 

(Revised Pricing on September 6, 2012) 
 

 

 
Contact Info: 

Brandon Warlick 
bwarlick@xpedientmail.com 

Glenn Hudson 
ghudson@xpedientmail.com 

(979) 821-2588 
2115 W. Briargate Drive 

Bryan, Tx 77802 

33

mailto:bwarlick@xpedientmail.com
mailto:ghudson@xpedientmail.com


34



35



36



 3 

A. Qualifications and Experience 

1. Introduction 

Xpedient Mail is a full service document imaging and mailing company with a primary focus on 
both paper and electronic delivery of invoices and late notices. The home office for mail 
processing is located in Bryan, Texas. Xpedient is part of Sunbelt Business Graphics, Inc. who 
has provided document printing services to the City of College Station since the early 1980’s. 
Sunbelt has operated a local sales office in College Station for the past 17 years. Sunbelt also 
has an office, warehouse and production facility located in Nacogdoches, Texas. Xpedient Mail 
has provided the printing, inserting and mailing of utility bills for the City of College Station 
from 2009 to present.   
 
Xpedient was founded to service local clients who needed a local source to handle their 
outgoing mail. Over the past 10 years, Xpedient has experienced dramatic growth by servicing 
both local and regional customers. A new, state of the art processing and technology facility 
was completed in late 2011 to house the company’s rapid growth and expansion. Xpedient is 
the only mail service located in the Brazos Valley with the capabilities to print and mail invoices 
and other documents from data files using intelligent inserting technology.  
 
Brandon Warlick and Glenn Hudson are the managing partners of the Xpedient Mail division. If 
awarded the bid, they will personally continue to provide customer service to city personnel. 
They are available at any time to meet in person, by phone or via email. Brandon and Glenn 
have a “what ever it takes” attitude and will ensure that all mail is processed accurately. 
 
Xpedient Mail has several unique advantages over competitors for this Request For Proposal: 
 

(i) By utilizing Xpedient Mail, the city will always get the fastest delivery of bills to City 
utility customers. All mailings by Xpedient will be delivered directly to the Bryan US 
Postal Service. The Bryan US Postal Service is the Sectional Control Facility which 
“works” all of the mail that is delivered to the City of College Station residents and 
businesses. Vendors outside of this service area can not provide this benefit. Use of 
an out of town vendor will result in mailings being delayed to recipients and 
consequently have an affect on accounts receivable.    

 
(ii) Being local, Xpedient representatives are available to meet with any city personnel 

on demand with no time lost or travel ever required. We feel this will prove to be 
beneficial over time. It will also be helpful should the city have special inserts or 
other physical materials which need to be picked up by the vendor. It’s our belief 
that since the city will be dealing directly with local Xpedient Mail personnel, in-
person all the time that our response time will be unmatched.  

 

37



 4 

2. Key personnel  

Brandon Warlick – Managing Partner / Information Technology Manager 
Glenn Hudson – Managing Partner / Production Manager 
 
Project Manager: Brandon Warlick 

 
Brandon Warlick will be the primary point of contact for the City. If awarded the contract, 
Brandon will meet with City personnel to work through any potential changes to the current 
procedures and facilitate any new training which may be required. 
 
Following are backgrounds for the key personnel: 

Brandon Warlick 

 Currently resides in College Station with 4 children attending school. 

 Has been employed by Sunbelt / Xpedient Mail since 1989.  

 23 years experience in document management. 

 Extensive training and background in document production and mailing services. 

 Served as General Manager for the Nacogdoches facility from 1995 to 2001. 

 City of College Station resident for 11 years. 

 Co-founded Xpedient Mail. 

Glenn Hudson 

 City of College Station resident for 17 years. 

 Graduate of Texas A & M University class of ’86. 

 10 years upper management experience in a Fortune 500 company 

 Joined Sunbelt / Xpedient Mail in 1995. 

 Extensive training and background in print and mail production. 

 Co-founded Xpedient Mail. 
 

38



 5 

3. Experience 

Cherokee County Electric Cooperative - Rusk, Texas (2006 - present) 

Xpedient was awarded a contract in 2006 to design a new invoice with a monthly usage graph 
and to handle all outgoing mail. This task is identical to the project described in this RFP.  
Xpedient was provided a data file with field descriptions just like the “Bill Data File(s) Layout 
and Definition” described in this RFP. The data file was utilized to build a new invoice layout for 
the customer complete with usage graph. The data file did not contain the fields necessary for 
the functionality that Cherokee required, so Xpedient built a complex “intermediate” software 
application that takes the customers data file, extracts pertinent fields, calculates additional 
fields and generates custom messages.  
 
Targeted inserts: Cherokee, on occasion, has requested a special insert to go in the envelope 
for only specific subsets of the bills. Xpedient has the technology to use any field that exists on 
the invoice to trigger the insertion of a special insert. This could be used for targeting business 
or residential bills.  
 
Targeted messages: Cherokee has requested (4) special messages to appear on bills.  

1. A general message is printed on each bill. This message is emailed to Xpedient in a 
simple email message. Xpedient provides a proof back and the message is implemented 
the same day. From that day forward, all outgoing bills will display the general message. 
If the message needs to be changed, a simple email to Xpedient will initiate a change.  

2. A specific “late notice” message is generated for customer’s who have an unpaid 
balance. This message appears in a unique position in addition to any other message. 

3. A special message is printed for a specific subset of bills. Cherokee has been installing 
AMR meters to specific sub-stations. At the beginning of each month they notify 
Xpedient via a simple email which sub-stations will be affected.  Xpedient modifies the 
document layout on the fly and a special message appears for bills going to these 
specific substations notifying them about the meter change.  

4. A. special message is printed on bills in which an AMR meter has already been installed. 
Cherokee found that some customers were still reading their meters even after the AMR 
meter was installed. Xpedient implemented a special message to print on these bills in 
addition to adding an indicator in the meter reading boxes which further signal to the 
customer that they do not have to send in their meter reading.  

 

Bryan Texas Utilities (BTU) Bryan, Texas (2007 – present) 

Xpedient began servicing BTU in 2007. Once again, the scope of work is almost identical to the 
project described in this RFP. BTU requires daily billing cycles.  Xpedient sorts, prints and inserts 
all utility bills, delinquency notices and final notices and delivers to the local post office. 
 
Xpedient handles all daily bill, termination and reminder notice printing and mailing. 
Additionally, Xpedient prints on-demand newsletters that are inserted into the bills. BTU is 

39



 6 

currently taking advantage of Xpedient Preview capabilities allowing them to visually check 
images of bills before they are printed. Additionally, Xpedient identifies bills fitting a specific 
profile to limit the amount of bills that the CSR’s need to view. Bills are grouped by recipient 
address to reduce the total number of envelopes mailed.  The vast majority of the bills are less 
than 5 pages per envelope but there are some with as many as 100. Special messages are setup 
to appear on bills paid by bank draft and on bills that are setup for budget billing.  
 
Targeted Inserts: BTU allows various city offices to insert flyers into bills that are going to 
residents of Bryan, Texas. These inserts are either printed on demand during the bill print 
process or are preprinted and selectively inserted into specific bills. Additionally, BTU inserts a 
generic folded newsletter into all bills.  
Targeted message: There is an array of messages that appear on bills if the bill meets certain 
pre-determined conditions. 

Vertafore Inc . – Bothell, Washington (2003 – present) 

Xpedient was awarded a contract to print and mail all outgoing invoices for Agency 
Management Services. AMS provided a unique challenge since they requested Xpedient to 
accept their bills “Pre-formatted” in a PDF document, complete with graphics. Xpedient was 
able to modify their core system to accept PDF files in addition to data files and can now accept 
PDF files from any customer.  
 
Xpedient now prints and mails outgoing invoices for all divisions of AMS.  
 
These include Vertafore Benefits (Bothell, WA), SilverPlume Reference Systems (Denver, Co), 
InSTAR (Bothell, WA), and Rackley Systems (Beachwood, OH). 

40



 7 

B. Rates and Expenses 

Travel 

Since Xpedient Mail is a local company, we will not incur any travel expenses and will have the 
luxury of meeting face to face with City officials. 

Specifications 

Xpedient agrees to perform all items listed in the RFP under the section “Scope of Work”. 

Initial Programming, Design and Layout  

Since Xpedient is the current vendor for the City of College Station, much of this topic may not 
be applicable. Should a need arise to make any changes or re-design any of the existing 
documents, Xpedient will provide this service at no cost to the city.   

Print & Mail Costs 

Xpedient is providing a total package price for our service including everything except for the 
actual postage. This includes printing, envelopes, paper, on-line bill images, etc. 
 
Red prices were revised on September 6, 2012. 
 

.095 per mail piece (With Return Envelope)    

.085 per mail piece (No Return Envelopes – Direct Deposit Accounts, etc.) 

.039 per Additional page in the same envelope    
 
Following are the costs broken out into the individual components: 
 
Primary Bill 
Outgoing Envelopes  .025 each 
Return Envelopes  .010 each   (subtract if no return envelope) 
Bill Paper   .009 each 
Imaging (printing costs) .030 each 
Folding/Inserting  .021 each 
Creating PDF’s  No Charge 
    ======== 
    .095 each 
 
Each Additional Page in same envelope 
Bill Paper   .009 each  
Imaging (printing costs) .030 each 
Creating PDF’s  No Charge 
    ======== 
    .039 each 

41



 8 

 
 

 CASS Certified Validation, NCOA Link Processing 

 Automation Presorting for maximum postal discounts 

 Bills printed front and back 

 Grouping bills going to same recipient 

 Printing/Inserting of 1 or more bills per envelope 

 Folding and Inserting 

 Return envelope (selectively) inserted 

 up to 2 additional items inserted 

 Outgoing Envelopes, Return Envelopes, Bill Paper with Perforation 

 Delivery to the Post Office 

 On-line storage and viewing of 12 months of bill images 
 

Optional Newsletter Printing 

Xpedient Mail has the capability to print the monthly newsletter.  
 
32,000 Newsletters, Printed 4/4 on 70# Gloss Paper = $69.50/m 

42



 9 

 

C. Methodology and Technical Approach 
 
Again, as the incumbent service provider for these services, much of this section may not be 
applicable should Xpedient Mail be awarded the bid. However, due to the importance of this 
topic, we have detailed below our standard implementation schedule and procedures for new 
customers.    

Implementation Plan Example: 

Note: The following schedule assumes that each week has 5 workdays. 

Overview 

Week 1 – Planning, training & ordering pre-printed stocks, if needed 
Week 2 – Xpedient develops layouts 
Week 3 – Finalize layouts – begin testing 
Week 4 – Continue testing 
Week 5 – Ready for production 
 
WEEK 1 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
WORKDAY 1: Project manager Brandon Warlick will meet with the appropriate City personnel 
to discuss the following items: 
 
Layout for Bills 
Layout for Late Notices 
Layout for Return #9 Envelopes 
Layout for Outgoing #10 Window Envelopes 
Test Data Files 
Secure File Transfer Procedures 
Date of First Mailing 
Estimated City paper stock on hand  
 
This meeting will last approximately 1-2 hours. City personnel will need to have test data files 
ready for this meeting. Xpedient will assist the City with any questions or concerns regarding 
the graphics and data placement on the document layouts and provide training for secure file 
transfer procedures. This training will take about 5-10 minutes. The test data file(s) that have 
been prepared by the City will be uploaded to Xpedient’s secure server at this time and will 
serve as a test for the file transfer procedures. Additionally, both parties will discuss the 
potential use of existing left-over City envelope or paper stock.  
 
WORKDAY 3: Approximately 2 working days after the initial meeting, Xpedient will provide 
proofs for the items that will need to be pre-printed prior to the date of the first mailing. These 
items are: #9 Return envelopes, #10 Outgoing Window Envelopes and Pre-Perfed Invoice Paper. 

43



 10 

 
WORKDAY 5: Assuming the layouts have been approved, Xpedient will begin pre-printing the 
envelopes and pre-perfed paper. It will take about 2-3 weeks to have these items printed and 
ready for the first mailing.  
 
WEEK 2 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Xpedient continues working on layouts 
 
WEEK 3 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
WORKDAY 11: Xpedient will meet with the City personnel again and bring hard copy proofs of 
the invoice and late notice layouts. The City will have the opportunity to make design changes 
or suggestions. It is fully anticipated that some type of design change will be requested by the 
City.  
 
WORKDAY 13: Approximately 2 days after the revisions have been requested, Xpedient will 
deliver a revised set of proofs to the City. At this point, more than likely, the design phase will 
be completed. If, however, the City requests additional revisions to the layouts, Xpedient will 
provide layout revision proofs within 2-3 working days each time the city requests these 
changes. This process theoretically could go on for a few weeks but typically all revisions are 
completed within 1-2 follow-up meetings.  
 
WORKDAY 14: TESTING BEGINS – Approximately 1-2 weeks of testing is recommended. 
Once bill and late notice layouts are completed, the City will begin uploading live data files in 
parallel to daily production. Xpedient will begin processing the files in a testing capacity and will 
provide automated reports back to the city to verify page counts, invoice totals, and invoice 
details. Each time a file is submitted to Xpedient, an automated email will be sent back to the 
appropriate City personnel with a complete processing summary. Additionally, a PDF file of all 
documents generated from the data file will be provided to the city in order to review 
individual documents and customers.  
 
WEEK 4 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
WORKDAY 20: Testing completed 
 
WEEK 5 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Live Production Begins 
 

Responsibilities 

City of College Station 

1. Provide test data files. 
2. Provide samples of documents. 
3. Answer questions regarding data file fields. 
4. Approve hard copy proofs provided by Xpedient Mail. 

44



 11 

Xpedient Mail 

1. Work with City data files in existing format without requiring any re-programming by 
City personnel. 

2. Design Utility Bills and Late Notices. 
3. Provide training for file transfer procedures. 
4. Provide training and software for access to document archives. 
5. Begin daily printing and mailing of documents for the City. 

 

Daily Operating Procedures 

Once Xpedient has finalized implementation, the City will begin a routine of uploading data files 
once the files are ready each day. Upon receipt of files, Xpedient’s system will automatically 
process the files and email back a Job Processing Summary to the appropriate City personnel. 
One or more recipients can be added to the automated email list. It typically takes about 5-10 
minutes to process a job.  
 
The Job Processing Summary contains all statistics and page counts allowing City personnel to 
verify that the file was processed correctly. Additionally, the email will have a copy of the 
Postage Statement that will go with the job to the US Postal Service. This Postage Statement 
will indicate the exact amount of postage the job will require.  
 
When a job is processed by Xpedient’s system, the following are accomplished: 

1. Any documents going to the same recipient will be grouped into the same envelope. 
This is programmed up front and can use a complex or simple method. For example, the 
system can be programmed to group all documents to the exact same address or can 
group all documents with the same account number and the same address.  

2. All addressed are processed utilizing Cass Certified software and will be validated.  
3. All addressed are processed through the NCOAlink service and if the recipient has filed a 

Change of Address within the past 18 months, the address will be updated to the new 
address on the fly. Additionally, as part of the automated email, the City will receive a 
report of these new addresses in order to update their customer files. (This can also be 
sent back as a data file if the City would like it that way for automated updating.) 

4. All documents are presorted for maximum Automation Postage discounts.  
5. Postal barcodes are generated.  
6. Document archives are created. 
7. Pages are counted in order to calculated job costs.  

 
Once the job processing is completed, Xpedient will print all of the documents for the daily job. 
These can be bills, late notices or a combination. Next, Xpedient will insert the documents into 
the envelopes and deliver to the post office. The City should expect bills to be mailed the day 
after received. There will be days in which the bills are mailed the same day.  
 
Other than uploading the daily files, there are no requirements for the City of College Station. 

45



 12 

Postage 

Xpedient Mail maintains internal postage accounts for all customers. The postage account must 
always have a positive balance. There is no minimum or maximum amount that must be in the 
account. The City may opt to send postage account funds at any time. Many customers send 
enough postage to last one month in order to reduce the number of checks written.  
 
As a second option, Xpedient can setup a postage account at the Bryan Post Office specifically 
for the City of College Station. All postage, which is approximately $120,000 annually, can be 
paid directly to the USPS using this method. This would reduce the amount paid directly to 
Xpedient Mail to under $35k for year for print/mail costs.  

On-Line Access 

Xpedient Mail’s website allows access to job information and postage balances for authorized 
customers. This will allow the customer to view postage balances at any given time and to view 
postage statements or any other report for jobs processed.  

Emergency Backup Plan 

Xpedient currently works with customers who have critical documents which must be mailed 
on a daily basis. Therefore, a Business Continuity Plan is in place that documents policies and 
procedures to follow in the event of a minor or major disruption to daily operations. The 
Sunbelt production facility in Nacogdoches serves as a regional backup facility in case of a 
widespread power outage or a natural disaster.  

Security 

Xpedient Mail prints and mails documents that may have confidential information. Customers 
provide Xpedient with data files on a regular basis. Protection of customer data is our highest 
priority.  
 
Following is a sampling of Xpedient’s Preventive Measures 
The primary method used to eliminate computer crime is to erase all customer files as soon as 
the jobs are completed printing. Typically, customer files do not exist on our systems more than 
a few hours. Additionally, customer files that cannot be erased are encrypted. This reduces 
exposure to a maximum of a single days worth of data at any given time.  
 
The computers systems utilized by Xpedient are connected to the internet utilizing a fire-wall 
preventing outside threats.  All systems are protected by passwords.  All users are required to 
change their passwords on a regular basis. All systems are backed up incrementally once per 
hour using an encrypted file format.  Access to the Mail Processing Area, which houses the 
production systems, is restricted to authorized employees. There are times when service 
personnel must enter the restricted area. A log of entry into the room by non-authorized 
employees is maintained. All Xpedient employees must undergo a background check.  

46



 13 

Custom Programming 

Xpedient maintains expert programmers on staff who can accomplish any custom requirements 
that the City may need at this time or in the future.  
 

Invoicing 

Xpedient will invoice the City of College Station for services rendered at the end of each month. 
The invoice will contain details of every file processed indicating the number of documents 
mailed, postage amounts, etc.  

 

47



 14 

D. References 
 

Cherokee County Electric Cooperative Association 
Contact: Nan Glaze 
Ph. (936) 683-2248 
 
Bryan Texas Utilities 
Contact: Rexanna Latimer 
Ph. (979) 821-5700 
 
AMS Services (Vertafore) 
Contact: Ben Butterfield 
Ph. (425) 354-6406 
 

E. Statement of Willingness  
Xpedient Mail has read and is willing to comply with the terms set forth in the Standard Form of 
Agreement Service Contract (Exhibit A). Xpedient Mail has reviewed and will comply with the 
Insurance Requirements set forth in Exhibit B. Certificates of insurance are currently on file with 
the City of College Station.    
 
 

48



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          7 
 

Exhibit B 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

 
During the term of this Agreement Contractor’s insurance policies shall meet the following 
requirements: 
 
I. Standard Insurance Policies Required: 
 
 A. Commercial General Liability   
 B. Business Automobile Liability   
 C. Workers' Compensation  
 
II. General Requirements Applicable to All Policies: 
 

A. Only Insurance Carriers licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Texas 
will be accepted. 

 
B. Deductibles shall be listed on the Certificate of Insurance and are acceptable only 

on a per occurrence basis for property damage only. 
 
C. "Claims Made" policies are not accepted. 
 
D. Each insurance policy shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be 

suspended, voided, canceled, reduced in coverage or in limits except after thirty 
(30) days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been 
given to the City of College Station. 

 
E Upon request, certified copies of all insurance policies shall be furnished to the 

City of College Station. 
 
F. The City of College Station, its officials, employees and volunteers, are to be 

named as “Additional Insured” to the Commercial General and Business 
Automobile Liability policies.  The coverage shall contain no special limitations 
on the scope of protection afforded to the City, its officials, employees or 
volunteers. 

 
III. Commercial General Liability 
 

A. General Liability insurance shall be written by a carrier with a “A:VIII” or better 
rating in accordance with the current Best Key Rating Guide. 

 
B. Limit of $1,000,000.00 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage 

with an annual aggregate limit of $2,000,000.00 which limits shall be endorsed to 
be per Project. 

 
C. Coverage shall be at least as broad as ISO form GC 00 01. 
 
D. No coverage shall be excluded from the standard policy without notification of 

individual exclusions being attached for review and acceptance. 
 

49



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          8 
 

E. The coverage shall include but not be limited to the following:  
premises/operations with separate aggregate; independent contracts; 
products/completed operations; contractual liability (insuring the indemnity 
provided herein) Host Liquor Liability, Personal & Advertising Liability; and 
Explosion, Collapse, and Underground coverage. 

 
IV. Business Automobile Liability 
 

A. Business Automobile Liability insurance shall be written by a carrier with a 
“A:VIII” or better rating in accordance with the current Best Key Rating Guide. 

 
B. Minimum Combined Single Limit of $1,000,000.00 per occurrence for bodily 

injury and property damage. 
 
C. Coverage shall be at least as broad as Insurance Service’s Office Number CA 00 

01. 
 
D. The Business Auto Policy must show Symbol 1 in the Covered Autos Portion of 

the liability section in Item 2 of the declarations page. 
 
E. The coverage shall include owned autos, leased or rented autos, non-owned autos, 

any autos and hired autos. 
 
F. Pollution Liability coverage shall be provided by endorsement MCS-90, with a limit 

of $1,000,000.00. 
 

 
V. Those policies set forth in Paragraphs III and IV shall contain an endorsement naming the 

City as Additional Insured and further providing that the Contractor’s policies are 
primary to any self-insurance or insurance policies procured by the City.  The additional 
insured endorsement shall be in a form at least as broad as ISO form GC 2026.  Waiver 
of subrogation in a form at least as broad as ISO form 2404 shall be provided in favor of 
the City on all policies obtained by the Contractor in compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement.  Contractor shall be responsible for all deductibles which may exist on any 
policies obtained in compliance with the terms of this Agreement. All coverage for 
subcontractors shall be subject to the requirements stated herein.  All Certificates of 
Insurance and endorsements shall be furnished to the City’s Representative at the time of 
execution of this Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit C, and approved by the City 
before work commences. 

 
VI. Workers Compensation Insurance 
 

A. Pursuant to the requirements set forth in Title 28, Section 110.110 of the Texas 
Administrative Code, all employees of the Contractor, all employees of any and 
all subcontractors, and all other persons providing services on the Project must be 
covered by a workers compensation insurance policy:  either directly through 
their employer’s policy (the Contractor’s or subcontractor’s policy) or through an 
executed coverage agreement on an approved Texas Department of Insurance 
Division of Workers Compensation (DWC) form.  Accordingly, if a subcontractor 
does not have his or her own policy and a coverage agreement is used, contractors 
and subcontractors must use that portion of the form whereby the hiring 
contractor agrees to provide coverage to the employees of the subcontractor.  The 

50



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          9 
 

portion of the form that would otherwise allow them not to provide coverage for 
the employees of an independent contractor may not be used.   

 
B. Workers compensation insurance shall include the following terms:   

 
1. Employer’s Liability minimum limits of $1,000,000.00 for each 

accident/each disease/each employee are required. 
 
2. “Texas Waiver of Our Right to Recover From Others Endorsement, WC 

42 03 04” shall be included in this policy. 
 
3. Texas must appear in Item 3A of the Workers Compensation coverage or 

Item 3C must contain the following:  All States except those listed in Item 
3A and the States of NV, ND, OH, WA, WV, and WY. 

 
C. Pursuant to the explicit terms of Title 28, Section 110.110(c) (7) of the Texas 

Administrative Code, the bid specifications, this Agreement, and all subcontracts 
on this Project must include the following terms and conditions in the following 
language, without any additional words or changes, except those required to 
accommodate the specific document in which they are contained or to impose 
stricter standards of documentation:   

 
“A. Definitions: 

 
Certificate of coverage (“certificate”) – An original certificate of insurance, a 
certificate of authority to self-insure issued by the Division of Workers 
Compensation, or a coverage agreement (DWC-81, DWC-83, or DWC-84), 
showing statutory workers’ compensation insurance coverage for the person's or 
entity's employees providing services on a project, for the duration of the project. 

 
Duration of the project - includes the time from the beginning of the work on the 
project until the Contractor’s/person’s work on the project has been completed 
and accepted by the governmental entity. 

 
Persons providing services on the project (“subcontractors” in § 406.096 [of the 
Texas Labor Code]) - includes all persons or entities performing all or part of the 
services the Contractor has undertaken to perform on the project, regardless of 
whether that person contracted directly with the Contractor and regardless of 
whether that person has employees.  This includes, without limitation, 
independent Contractors, subcontractors, leasing companies, motor carriers, 
owner-operators, employees of any such entity, or employees of any entity which 
furnishes persons to provide services on the project.  “Services” include, without 
limitation, providing, hauling, or delivering equipment or materials, or providing 
labor, transportation, or other service related to a project.  “Services” does not 
include activities unrelated to the project, such as food/beverage vendors, office 
supply deliveries, and delivery of portable toilets. 

 
B. The Contractor shall provide coverage, based on proper reporting of 

classification codes and payroll amounts and filing of any coverage agreements, 
that meets the statutory requirements of Texas Labor Code, Section 401.011(44) 
for all employees of the Contractor providing services on the project, for the 
duration of the project. 

51



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          10 
 

 
C.   The Contractor must provide a certificate of coverage to the governmental entity 

prior to being awarded the contract. 
 
D. If the coverage period shown on the Contractor’s current certificate of coverage 

ends during the duration of the project, the Contractor must, prior to the end of 
the coverage period, file a new certificate of coverage with the governmental 
entity showing that coverage has been extended. 

 
E. The Contractor shall obtain from each person providing services on a project, 

and provide to the governmental entity: 
 

(1) a certificate of coverage, prior to that person beginning work on the 
project, so the governmental entity will have on file certificates of 
coverage showing coverage for all persons providing services on the 
project; and  

  
(2) no later than seven calendar days after receipt by the Contractor, a new 

certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage 
period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends during the 
duration of the project. 

 
F. The Contractor shall retain all required certificates of coverage for the duration 

of the project and for one year thereafter. 
 
G. The Contractor shall notify the governmental entity in writing by certified mail or 

personal delivery, within 10 calendar days after the Contractor knew or should 
have known, or any change that materially affects the provision of coverage of 
any person providing services on the project. 

 
H. The Contractor shall post on each project site a notice, in the text, form and 

manner prescribed by the Division of Workers Compensation, informing all 
persons providing services on the project that they are required to be covered, 
and stating how a person may verify coverage and report lack of coverage. 

 
I. The Contractor shall contractually require each person with whom it contracts to 

provide services on a project, to: 
 

(1) provide coverage, based on proper reporting of classification codes and 
payroll amounts and filing of any coverage agreements, that meets the 
statutory requirements of Texas Labor Code, Section 401.011(44) for all 
of its employees providing services on the project, for the duration of the 
project; 

 
(2) provide to the Contractor, prior to that person beginning work on the 

project, a certificate of coverage showing that coverage is being provided 
for all employees of the person providing services on the project, for the 
duration of the project; 

 
(3) provide the Contractor, prior to the end of the coverage period, a new 

certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, if the coverage 
period shown on the current certificate of coverage ends during the 
duration of the project; 

 

52



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          11 
 

(4) obtain from each other person with whom it contracts, and provide to the 
Contractor: 

 
(a) A certificate of coverage, prior to the other person beginning work 

on the project; and 
 
(b) A new certificate of coverage showing extension of coverage, prior 

to the end of the coverage period, if the coverage period shown on 
the current certificate of coverage ends during the duration of the 
project; 

 
(5) retain all required certificates of coverage on file for the duration of the 

project and for one year thereafter; 
 
(6) notify the governmental entity in writing by certified mail or personal 

delivery, within 10 calendar days after the person knew or should have 
known, of any change that materially affects the provision of coverage of 
any person providing services on the project; and 

 
(7) Contractually require each person with whom it contracts to perform as 

required by paragraphs (a) - (g), with the certificates of coverage to be 
provided to the person for whom they are providing services. 

 
J. By signing this contract, or providing, or causing to be provided a certificate of 

coverage, the Contractor is representing to the governmental entity that all 
employees of the Contractor who will provide services on the project will be 
covered by workers’ compensation coverage for the duration of the project; that 
the coverage will be based on proper reporting of classification codes and payroll 
amounts; and that all coverage agreements will be filed with the appropriate 
insurance carrier or, in the case of a self-insured, with the Commission’s Division 
of Self-Insurance Regulation. Providing false or misleading information may 
subject the Contractor to administrative penalties, criminal penalties, civil penal-
ties, or other civil actions. 

 
K.   The Contractor’s failure to comply with any of these provisions is a breach of 

contract by the Contractor that entitles the governmental entity to declare the 
contract void if the Contractor does not remedy the breach within ten calendar 
days after receipt of notice of breach from the governmental entity.” 

 
VII. Certificates of Insurance shall be prepared and executed by the insurance company or its 

authorized agent, and shall contain the following provisions and warranties: 
 

A. The company is licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Texas. 
 

 B. The insurance policies provided by the insurance company are underwritten on 
forms that have been provided by the Texas State Board of Insurance or ISO. 

 
C. All endorsements and insurance coverages according to requirements and 

instructions contained herein. 
 
D. The form of the notice of cancellation, termination, or change in coverage 

provisions to the City of College Station. 
 

53



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          12 
 

E. Original endorsements affecting coverage required by this section shall be furnished 
with the certificates of insurance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

54



 
Form Revised on 7-12-12  
Contract No. 12-300          13 
 

Exhibit C 
 

CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 
 

55



SUNBBUS-03 CAJI

9/10/2012

(936) 564-0221 Colleen Abernathy
BancorpSouth Insurance Services, Inc.
P. O. Box 631202
Nacogdoches, TX 75963-1202

(936) 564-0221

colleen.abernathy@bxsi.com

Sentinel Insurance Company Ltd 24759

Retailers Casualty Insurance CompanySunbelt Business Graphics, Inc

Attn: Ken Warlick

P.O. Box 632099

Nacogdoches, TX 75963-2099

1,000,000

A 61SBAPD3063 1/1/2012 1/1/2013 1,000,000

X 10,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

1,000.000

A X 61UECNX4041 1/1/2012 1/1/2013

X

B 999-08201 2/9/2012 2/9/2013 1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

See attached page.

City of College Station

1101 Texas Avenue

College Station, TX 77840-

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to

the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the

certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).
CONTACTPRODUCER
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

INSURER A :

INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

ADDL SUBRINSR POLICY EFF POLICY EXP
TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITSPOLICY NUMBERLTR (MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)INSR WVD

GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTED

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

PRO- $POLICY LOCJECT
COMBINED SINGLE LIMITAUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
(Ea accident) $

BODILY INJURY (Per person) $ANY AUTO

ALL OWNED SCHEDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $
AUTOS AUTOS

NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE $HIRED AUTOS (Per accident)AUTOS

$

UMBRELLA LIAB EACH OCCURRENCE $OCCUR

EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

$DED RETENTION $

WC STATU- OTH-WORKERS COMPENSATION
TORY LIMITS ERAND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $
N / AOFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

(Mandatory in NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

© 1988-2010 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORDACORD 25 (2010/05) 56



SUNBBUS-03 CAJI PAGE 1 OF 1

Sunbelt Business Graphics, Inc

Attn: Ken Warlick

P.O. Box 632099

Nacogdoches, TX 75963-2099

City of College Station

1101 Texas Avenue

College Station, TX 77840-

The City of College Station, its officials, employees and volunteers, are named as Additional Insureds with a Waiver of 

Subrogation on the General Liability policy.  General Liability policy is primary and non-contributory.

30 Day Notice of Cancellation is provided when required by Written Contract except in the event of cancellation for Non-Payment 

of Premium.

Workers Compensation includes waiver of subrogation in favor of certificate holder when required by written contract but in no 

event shall coverage exceed the limits, terms or conditions of the policy.

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS -

57



 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2e 

Increase Expenditure Authorization for City Solid Waste Disposal 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Kersten, Executive Director Business Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action and discussion to approve an increase in 
expenditure authorization for City solid waste disposal fees to the Brazos Valley Solid Waste 
Management Agency, Inc in the amount of $300,000.00 for a total of $1,622,185.00.  
  
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Goal I.1. Spending taxpayer money efficiently 
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends approval of the increase in expenditure authorization. 
Approval by the Council of this request will provide sufficient expenditure authorization with 
BVSWMA, Inc for disposal of the City’s solid waste. 
 
Summary: On September 22, 2011 Council authorized expenditures in the amount not to exceed 
$1,322,185.00 for landfill disposal fees through our agreement with Brazos Valley Solid Waste 
Management Agency, Inc. Due to unforeseen disposal of sludge produced by the City’s waste water 
treatment plants, an increase of dead tree and brush removal from the effects of recent drought, 
and providing solid waste removal services to recently annexed areas; the City has exceeded the 
authorized expenditure limit for solid waste disposal for FY 2012. These additional disposals have 
increased the City’s solid waste tonnage by 2,800 tons compared to the 2011 year to date solid 
waste disposal tonnage. This increase of $300,000.00 will provide expenditure authorization for 
solid waste disposal fees to BVSWMA, Inc through the end of FY 2012.  

The costs for these additional waste disposal costs have been accounted for in the FY 2013 budget.  

 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are available through the Sanitation Fund and Wastewater 
Fund for these expenditures. 
 
Attachments:  None 

58



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2f 

Spring Creek Feeder Addition Bore under Hwy 6, south of Barron Rd. 
 
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Timothy Crabb, Interim Director of Electric Utilities                     
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding approval of a 
construction contract 12-306, Bid No. 12-096 to Bayer Construction for the installation of 
10-inch bore under Hwy 6, south of Barron Rd. for a new electric distribution feeder from 
the Spring Creek Substation in the amount of $60,711.20. 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals:  Core Services and Infrastructure – Meet or exceed all 
state/federal standards. 
 
Recommendation(s): Staff recommends the award of Contract 12-306, Bid No. 12-
096 to the lowest responsible bidder, Bayer Construction.   
 
Summary: Construction Contract 12-306, Bid No. 12-096 is for the installation of a 10-
inch bores under Hwy 6, south of Barron Rd for a new electric distribution feeder from the 
Spring Creek Substation.  Installation will include a 10-inch casing with three (3) 3-inch and 
one (1) 1-inch conduits installed in the casing.  This construction project is necessary to 
provide additional capacity and maintain reliability of the electric system. 
 
Sealed competitive bids were received and open on August 28, 2012 from three (3) 
companies with Bayer Construction being lowest responsible bidder in the amount of 
$60,711.20 
 
 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are budgeted and available in the City of College 
Station’s Electric Utility Department Capital Improvement Project Budget. 
  
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Bid Tabulation 
 
 

59



Traffic 
Control 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $4,000.00 $2,000.00 $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $1,250.00 $1,650.00 $2,900.00 $2,900.00

Traffic 
Control 
Plan

1 $1,500.00 N/A N/A $1,500.00 $3,500.00 N/A N/A $3,500.00 $1,200.00 N/A N/A $1,200.00

Trench 
Safety 152 $5.00 $5.00 $10.00 $1,520.00 $1.00 $1.00 $2.00 $304.00 $3.50 $7.20 $10.70 $1,626.40

Trench 
Safety 
Plan

1 $1,500.00 N/A N/A $1,500.00 $500.00 N/A N/A $500.00 $1,200.00 N/A N/A $1,200.00

UM50-H-
1 472 $3.00 $0.00 $3.00 $1,416.00 $0.25 $0.10 $0.35 $165.20 $3.20 $0.00 $3.20 $1,510.40

UM50-H-
3 1,416 $5.00 $0.00 $5.00 $7,080.00 $1.00 $0.25 $1.25 $1,770.00 $3.20 $1.25 $4.45 $6,301.20

UM-K1 2 $4,500.00 $0.00 $4,500.00 $9,000.00 $2,516.00 $200.00 $2,716.00 $5,432.00 $6,500.00 $1,240.00 $7,740.00 $15,480.00
UR2-S-
60x18 152 $10.00 $0.00 $10.00 $1,520.00 $15.00 $5.00 $20.00 $3,040.00 $14.75 $7.75 $22.50 $3,420.00

URTB10S 320 $100.00 $8.00 $108.00 $34,560.00 $120.00 $5.00 $125.00 $40,000.00 $129.00 $19.00 $148.00 $47,360.00

Total 
Extended 
Price ($)Quantity

Unit Material 
Price ($) *

Total Labor 
& Material 

Price ($)Unit No.
Unit Labor 

Price Ea. ($)

TOTAL

ITB 12-093 Spring Creek New Feeder Addition Bore

Northeast Service Inc.

Unit Labor 
Price Ea. ($)

Unit Material 
Price ($) *

Total Labor 
& Material 

Price ($)

Total 
Extended 
Price ($)

$63,096.00 $60,711.20 $80,998.00

Alcott, Inc. dba TCH Bayer Construction Electrical Contractors, Inc.

Unit Labor 
Price Ea. ($)

Unit Material 
Price ($) *

Total Labor 
& Material 

Price ($)

Total 
Extended 
Price ($)

60



September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2g 

Northgate Electric Substation Long Lead Time Equipment Bid 12-100 
& Resolution Declaring Intention to Reimburse Certain  

Expenditures with Proceeds From Debt 
 
 

To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Timothy Crabb, Interim Director of Electric Utilities 
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding approval of the 
purchase of various major equipment for the proposed Northgate Electric Substation totaling 
$482,330.00 and approval of a resolution declaring intention to reimburse certain 
expenditures with proceeds from debt
 

.  

Relationship to Strategic Goals: Core Services and Infrastructure – Meet or exceed all 
state/federal standards. 
  
Recommendations:  Staff recommends approval of the purchases of equipment and 
recommends approval of the resolution declaring intention to reimburse certain 
expenditures with proceeds from debt.  
 
Summary: The equipment purchased through this bid will be installed during the 
construction of the Northgate Electric Substation. 

The equipment to be purchased includes six (6) 145 kV Potential transformers from JH 
Davidson in the amount of $59,592.00, six (6) 145 kV Current transformers from Alstom in 
the amount of $63,330.00, one (1) 145 kV Gas Circuit breakers from Pennsylvania Breaker 
in the amount of $50,500.00, two (2) 15 kV 1200 amp Distribution breakers and two (2) 15 
kV 3000 amp Distribution breakers from ABB in the amount of $103,108.00, two (2) 145 kV 
motor operated Circuit Switcher from KBS Electric in the amount of $205,800.00. 

Budget & Financial Summary: Funds for this purchase were budgeted for and approved 
in the FY12 Electric Capital Improvement Projects Fund. The “Resolution Declaring Intention 
to Reimburse Certain Expenditures with Proceeds from Debt” is necessary for this item 
because the long term debt has not been issued for the project. The debt for the project is 
scheduled to be issued in the future. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Bid Tab 
2. Resolution Declaring Intention to Reimburse Certain Expenditures with Proceeds from 

Debt 

61



Item Qty Unit Description Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price
A-1 6 Ea Potential Transformer (PT) $10,995.00 $65,970.00 $9,932.00 $59,592.00

B-1 6 Ea Current Transformer (CT) $10,555.00 $63,330.00 $11,105.00 $66,630.00

1 Ea Gas Circuit Breaker, SF6 $49,000.00 $49,000.00 $49,450.00 $49,450.00 $59,500.00 $59,500.00 $51,870.00 $51,870.00 $52,129.00 $52,129.00 $50,250.00 $50,250.00
1 Ea Assembly, testing, filling $0.00 $0.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $1,740.00 $1,740.00
1 Ea Factory Service Engr. $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $4,550.00 $4,550.00 $2,310.00 $2,310.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,220.00 $5,220.00

Total: $50,500.00 $54,000.00 $61,810.00 $61,370.00 $59,089.00 $50,250.00

D-1 2 Ea 1200 Amp Distribution CB $21,906.00 $43,812.00

D-2 2 Ea 3000 Amp Distribution CB $29,648.00 $59,296.00

2 Ea Circuit Switcher, Break style $115,461.00 $230,922.00 $98,900.00 $197,800.00
2 Ea Assembly, testing, filling $4,000.00 $8,000.00 $4,000.00 $8,000.00

Total: $238,922.00 $205,800.00

Group "A" Materials Subtotal
Manufacturer

Catalog No.
Delivery Time

Group "B" Materials Subtotal
Manufacturer

Catalog No.
Delivery Time

Group "C" Materials Subtotal
Manufacturer

Catalog No.
Delivery Time

Group "D" Materials Subtotal
Manufacturer - 1

Catalog No. - 1
Delivery Time - 1

Manufacturer - 2
Catalog No. - 2

Delivery Time - 2
Group "E" Materials Subtotal

Manufacturer
Catalog No.

Delivery Time
Certification
Addendum

Priester-Mell & Nicolson, Inc. will be adding additional airfare to their Field Testing Cost.
ABB Group C - Assembly and Field testing are bid per day. A Bid for Oasis was also written in.
FAPCO- Siemens will provide a techincal field rep only. Additional labor, equip, and material reqs are the purchaser's responsibility. Normal fee is $2500/day + $2000 roundtrip fee.

ITB 12-100 Northgate Substation Equipment Summary

157329-T2
15-17 weeks

Siemens Energy Inc
SPS2-145-40-3000
22-24 Weeks ARO

ABB

ABB Inc.
145PM40-30B
23-24 weeks

FAPCO                                                           
New Braunfels, TX

See Attachment
See Attachment

NN Y
Y
NY

Y Y Y Y
N

Y Y Y

MB11440PPMH5KMZ401
14-15 weeks

15-17 week ARO, 4 Wks for DWGs
Y Y Y (no address)

S&C Electric Company

ABB

25-27 weeks ARO

Alstom Grid, Inc
DT1-145 F1 FK

L741200T0-803

KBS Electrical Dist.                                  
Bryan, Tx

NOTE:      

22 weeks

L950400DA-!SPA
29 weeks

Hitachi HVB, Inc.
H5145KV/40KA

Mitsubishi Electric
120SFMT40E

N

25-30 Weeks ARO

Y

S&C Electric Company
157329-T2

N

Pennsylvania Breaker, LLC

ABB / JH Davidson &Associates, 
Tulsa, OK

C-1

E-1

Priester-Mell & Nicholson, Inc. 
Austin, TX

Pennsylvania Breaker Canonsburg, 
PA

Alstom Grid, Inc.                      
Charleroi, PA

ABB c/o JH Davidson & Associates, 
Tulsa, OK

Mitsubishi Electric Power Products, 
Inc., Warrendale, PA

Alstom                                          
Richmond, TX

Total:

Included in cost of Serv. Eng. N/A

14-18 weeks ARO

ABB Inc.                                             
Lake Mary, FL

N

Hitachie HVB, Inc.                             
Suwanee, GA

Y

Alstom Grid, Inc
OTEF145

23-35 weeks ARO

PB145-40
16 weeks ARO

ABB
MB11130CCMH5KMZ402

14-15 weeks

ABB

Alstom Grid, Inc.
OSKF145.12

16 weeks ARO

62



63



64



65



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item Number No. 2h 

Third Party Administrator Services for Fiscal Year 2013 
 
 

 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Alison Pond, Human Resources Director                        
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding contract renewal 
for Third-Party Claims Administration with A S & G Claims Administration Inc., for an annual 
expenditure of $52,000. Anticipated FY13 workers compensation claims are $175,000 and 
anticipated FY13 liability claims are $250,000.   
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Goal I.1 Spending taxpayer money efficiently 
 
Recommendation(s): In September 2008, Abercrombie Simmons & Gillette, Inc. was 
selected from a group of ten proposals for Third-Party Claims Administration. The approved 
contract provided for four (4) one-year renewals. Staff recommends renewal of the contract 
with A S & G Claims Administration, Inc., for the City’s Third-Party Claims Administration, 
and authorization to pay up to $425,000 for anticipated Workers’ Compensation and Liability 
claims.  
 
Summary:  The City of College Station is self-insured, which requires claims adjustment 
services on all workers’ compensation claims and significant liability claims. A S & G Claims 
Administration, Inc. has provided excellent customer service while continuing to assist the 
City in reducing claims administration costs. This is the fourth & final renewal option and is 
effective October 1, 2012 through September 30, 2013.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are available in the Property/Casualty Fund and the 
Workers’ Compensation Fund of the FY13 budget to pay this premium and to pay 
anticipated claims.  
 
Attachments:  
Contract renewal for Third-Party Claims Administration is available in the City Secretary’s 
Office.  
 
 

66



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2i 

Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Funding Resolution  
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Capps, Chief of Police                        
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action, and discussion approving a resolution 
authorizing expenditures for the Aggieland Humane Society, formerly named the Brazos 
Animal Shelter, in the amount of $169,512.90 for Fiscal Year 2013.   
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Core Services and Infrastructure.   
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends approval of the resolution funding in the amount 
of $169,512.90 to the Aggieland Humane Society, formerly named the Brazos Animal 
Shelter. 
 
Summary: On March 10, 2011, Council approved an Interlocal agreement between the 
Brazos Animal Shelter and the City of College Station that took effect on July 1, 2011. The 
ILA indicates that the annual payment shall be adjusted annually for each year the 
agreement is in effect for the services performed by the shelter.     
 
The FY 13 funding level was negotiated with the City based on the Animal Shelter and the 
City’s determination of what they believe the cost is to the City of College Station for the 
Shelter to provide the contracted services.  The funding level agreed upon is the same as it 
has been the previous two years.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are available and budgeted in the General Fund in 
the Police Department Uniform Patrol division budget.  Payments are made in equal 
installments on a monthly basis.   
 
 
Attachments:   
 

• Resolution 

67



68



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2j 

Property Casualty Insurance Policies for Fiscal Year 2013 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Alison Pond, Human Resources Director                        
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding City of College 
Station Excess Liability and Workers’ Compensation Insurance, Property/Boiler & Machinery, 
Commercial Crime, EMT Liability, and Auto Property Damage policies for Fiscal Year 2013. 
FY13 premiums have increased 2.16 percent from FY12 premiums.   
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Goal I.1 Spending taxpayer money efficiently 
 
Recommendation(s): The City of College Station Human Resources Department 
recommends approval of these insurance policies for the period October 1, 2012 to 
September 30, 2013. 
 

Policy Type FY 2012 Premium FY2013 Premium Increase 
Excess Liability/Workers’ Compensation with Star National Insurance Co. $204,373.00 $204,373.00 0 
Property/Boiler and Machinery with Affiliated FM  $93,518.00 $99,095.00 5.96% 
Crime Coverage with Great American Insurance  $2,299.00 2,345.00 2.0% 
EMT Liability with Western World Insurance Co.  $5,077.64 5,932.66 1.7% 
Auto Property Damage Insurance with Great American Insurance $24,530.00 $25,221.00 2.8% 
Total Premiums $329,797.64 $336,966.66 2.16% 

    
    
    Summary:  Human Resources Risk Management completed applications to exercise the 

second renewal option for Excess Liability & Workers Compensation, Property/Boiler & 
Machinery, Commercial Crime, Auto Property Damage, and EMT Liability insurance policies. 
Sole Broker of Record McGriff, Seibels, and Williams of Texas, Inc., submitted the City’s 
applications to the appropriate carriers. Property Casualty and Workers’ Compensation 
Excess Liability policies locked in a three-year rate guarantee in FY11. All policies included 
two one-year renewals. Limits of liability and deductibles remain the same as in FY12. FY13 
annual payroll estimates resulted in no change in the Workers Compensation premium. The 
Property Insurance market has seen large increases between 10 & 15 percent; however, the 
City’s rate increased less than 5 percent with property values increasing slightly less than 2 
percent. The result is a net increase in the City’s property coverage premium of just under 6 
percent. An increase in fleet values resulted in a 2.8 percent increase in Auto Property 
Damage premium. EMT liability coverage rate remained the same, but the addition of one 
ambulance resulted in a 1.7 percent increase in the EMT Liability premium. Commercial 
crime coverage increased 2 percent, as a result of a slight increase in revenues. Overall, 
total insurance premiums are increased by $7,169.02, or approximately 2.16 percent.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: Funds are available in the FY13 budget in the 
Property/Casualty Fund and the Workers Compensation Fund.  
 
Attachments:  
Broker’s proposal for Excess Liability & Workers’ Compensation, Property/Boiler & 
Machinery, Commercial Crime, Auto Property Damage for vehicles valued over $50,000, and 
EMT liability insurance.  

69



 
 
   5080 Spectrum Drive, Suite 900E, Addison, TX 75001 Tel (469) 232-2100  Fax (469) 232-2101 
 
 
September 14, 2012 
 
 
Ms. Retha Blakely  
Risk Management Department 
City of College Station  
1101 Texas Ave.  
College Station, TX  77840 
 
Re: Property and Casualty Insurance Renewal Recommendation   
 
Retha, 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to work with the City again this year on your insurance program for 
Property and Casualty Insurance.  Your insurance program consists of the following coverages: 
 
Excess Liability  
Excess Workers’ Compensation   
Commercial Crime   
Auto Property Damage   
EMT Liability   
Property and Boiler & Machinery 
 
The renewal premiums are as follows: 
 
Excess Liability and Workers’ Compensation 
 
Star Insurance provides a package program that includes all Excess Liability lines and Excess 
Workers’ Compensation.  This package program is the lowest cost proposal that meets the City’s 
insurance requirements.  The carrier has agreed to renew the coverage flat with no changes in the limits 
or terms & conditions. 
 
It is our recommendation that the City renew the Star Insurance policy for Excess Liability and 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance for the premium of $204,373. 
 
Commercial Crime 
 
Great American provides the Commercial Crime Insurance and meets City requirements for this 
coverage.  Due to a slight increase in revenues by the City, the premium increased $46. 
 
It is our recommendation that the City renew the Great American Insurance policy for 
Commercial Crime Insurance for the premium of $2,345. 
 
 

MCGRIFF, SEIBELS & WILLIAMS OF TEXAS, INC. 

70



Auto Property Damage 
 
Great American provides the Auto Property Damage Insurance and meets City requirements for this 
coverage.  Great American quoted a 2% rate increase for renewal.  The City’s fleet values were flat for 
the renewal so the premium increased by $691. 
 
It is our recommendation that the City renew the Great American Insurance policy for Auto 
Property Damage Insurance for the premium of $25,221. 
 
EMT Liability 
 
Western World provides the EMT Liability.  The proposal is a renewal of the existing policy at the 
same terms, conditions and rate as expiring.  The City has added one additional ambulance to the 
policy so the premium has increased $855.02 due to that addition. 
 
 It is our recommendation that the City renew the Western World Insurance policy for EMT 
Liability Insurance for the premium of $5,932.66. 
 
Property and Boiler & Machinery 
 
Affiliated FM provides the Property and Boiler & Machinery coverage.  Affiliated FM quoted a 4.85% 
rate increase for renewal.  The City increased their property values by 1 % over the expiring values.  
The combined increase is 5.6% or a $5,577 increase in premium.  
 
It is our recommendation that the City renew the Affiliated FM insurance policy for Property 
and Boiler & Machinery insurance for the premium of $99,095. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to work with the City of College Station.  With the changes in values 
and flat renewals, the insurance program has a total increase in premium of $7,169.02 over the 
expiring program.  Please let us know if you have any questions regarding these evaluations.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Johnny Fontenot, CPCU, ARM, AIC 
Executive Vice President 

71



 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2k 

Hazard Mitigation Action Plan 2012-2017 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Robert Alley, Fire Chief                         
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding the 
approval of a resolution adopting the Mitigation Action Plan titled “Mitigating 
Risk: Protecting Brazos County from All Hazards 2012-2017.  (This item is 
also on workshop agenda item #6) 
 
Recommendation(s): Staff recommends approval of the resolution.   
 
Summary: This plan is a five-year blueprint for the future, aimed at making 
communities in Brazos County disaster resistant by reducing or eliminating 
the long-term risk of loss of life and property from the full range of natural 
disasters. It meets the requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 
(P.L. 106-390); Section 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 201.6 
and Part 206; and State of Texas Division of Emergency Management 
standards.   
 
An open public process was established to provide multiple opportunities for 
all sectors in Brazos County to become involved in the planning process and 
make input during its drafting stage. 
 
 
Budget & Financial Summary: None 
 
Attachments:  
Resolution 
Mitigation Action Plan titled “Mitigating Risk: Protecting Brazos County from 
All Hazards 2012-2017 – on file in the City Secretary’s office 

72



73



74



 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2L 

Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Medical Ambulance Service to Brazos County 
 
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Robert Alley, Fire Chief                         
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action and discussion regarding the approval of a 
resolution to update the Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Medical Ambulance Service to 
respond to emergencies in Brazos County and to establish the annual fee for FY 2012 at 
$161,648.  
 
Recommendation(s): Staff recommends approval of the resolution.  
 
Summary: The City of College Station currently provides Emergency Medical Ambulance 
Service to emergencies in Brazos County. The new established amount of $161,648 will be 
paid in quarterly installments of $40,412. The new established annual fee for 2012 will 
represent a collection rate of 100% cost recovery for the Emergency Medical calls that we 
respond to in Brazos County in accordance with our current fee schedule. This amount 
represents a decrease of $54,582 from  the FY 2011 amount of $216,230. This decrease is a 
result of the fact that there were less emergency medical calls in Brazos County from the 
previous year and increased collections for Emergency Medical calls.     
 
A meeting was recently conducted with newly appointed Bryan Fire Chief Randy McGregor, 
Fire Chief R.B. Alley of the City of College Station and the Brazos County Judge Duane 
Peters to establish the amount for the FY 2013 annual fee.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: Brazos County will pay the City of College Station  
$161,648 to provide Emergency Medical Services to the county for FY 2012.  
 
Attachments:  
          Resolution 
          Interlocal Agreement  
          Response Map Exhibit A  

75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2m 

Annual Purchase Order for Liquid Chlorine 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager  
 
From:   David Coleman, Director of Water Services  
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an annual price 
agreement with Acetylene Oxygen Company (AOC) for the purchase of liquid chlorine.  The 
estimated annual expenditure is $57,270. 
  
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Financially sustainable city providing response to core 
services and infrastructure. 
 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of the annual price agreement.    
 
Summary: Chlorine is added to our public water supply to ensure disinfection and to 
meet Texas Department of Health requirements.  The City of College Station hosted a joint-
bid process with the City of Bryan for Liquid Chlorine, ITB #12-095, and bids were received 
and opened on August 17, 2012.  Acetylene Oxygen Company submitted the lowest unit 
price for liquid chlorine at $477.25 per one-ton cylinder.  The new unit price is $166.75 less 
than the unit price offered through the previous price agreement with DXI Industries.  Upon 
the conclusion of the initial one-year agreement term, the City has the option to renew the 
agreement for two additional one-year terms, to be awarded one year at a time. 
 
 
Budget & Financial Summary:   The estimated cost of this price agreement is $57,270 
but actual cost will depend on the quantity of chlorine ordered over the next year.  Water 
operating funds are budgeted and available for this item. 
 
 
Attachments:  

1. Bid Tab 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

83



 

 

 

84



City of College Station - Purchasing Division
Bid Tabulation for #12-095

"Annual Price Agreement for Liquid Chlorine"
Open Date:  Friday, August 17, 2012 @ 2:00 p.m.

ITEM QTY UNIT DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE
TOTAL 
PRICE UNIT PRICE

TOTAL 
PRICE UNIT PRICE

TOTAL 
PRICE

1 120
EA

(Cylinder) One (1) Ton Cylinders of Chlorine $477.25 $57,270.00 $519.00 $62,280.00 $514.00 $61,680.00

1 235
EA

(Cylinder) One (1) Ton Cylinders of Chlorine $477.25 $112,153.75 $519.00 $121,965.00 $514.00 $120,790.00

2 135
EA

(Cylinder) 150 Pound Cylinders of Chlorine $81.25 $10,968.75 $110.00 $14,850.00 $79.65 $10,752.75

$61,680.00



$131,542.75

DXI Industries
(Houston, TX)



No

Certification of Bid 

CITY OF BRYAN TOTAL BID AMOUNT

AOC - Acetylene Oxygen 
Company

(Bryan, TX)
Altivia Corporation

(Houston, TX)

$62,280.00

Discounts No
Acknowledged Addendums 

 

No


CITY OF COLLEGE STATION REQUIREMENTS

$123,122.50 $136,815.00

ADD/DEDUCT ITEMS

CITY OF BRYAN REQUIREMENTS

 CITY OF COLLEGE STATION TOTAL BID AMOUNT $57,270.00

Page 1 of 1
85



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2n 

Impact Fees Semi-Annual Report 
 
 
To: David Neely, City Manager 
 
From: Bob Cowell, AICP, CNU-A, Executive Director - Planning & Development Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action, and discussion Semi-Annual Report on 
Impact Fees 92-01, 97-01, 97-02B, 99-01, 03-02. 
 
Relationship to Strategic Initiatives:  Financially Sustainable City and Core Services and 
Infrastructure 
 
Recommendation(s):  At their meeting on September 6th

 

, the Planning & Zoning 
Commission unanimously recommended acceptance of the report.  Staff also recommends 
Council acknowledge and accept the Semi-Annual Report – No Further Action is Required at 
this time. 

Summary:  The attached Impact Fee Semi-Annual Report is provided to the City Council in 
accordance with the Texas Local Government Code Chapter 395.058.  In short, the City of 
College Station currently has five impact fee areas where all associated utility construction 
is complete.  All five of the impact fees were updated by Council in accordance with State 
Law in either 2008 or 2009.   
 
A previous report showed changes in the projected densities in several of the Impact Fee 
areas related to the Land Uses adopted with the Comprehensive Plan in 2009.  An update to 
incorporate these changes had been in progress but needed to consider the Water and 
Wastewater Master Plans that were under development, as well as, a City Wide Impact Fee 
Study that was underway.  With the completion of both projects, the update can now 
proceed.   
  
The Planning and Zoning Commission serves as the Impact Fee Advisory Committee per the 
City of College Station Code of Ordinances Chapter 15:  Impact Fees.  On September 6, 
2012 the Advisory Committee discussed and unanimously recommended support of the 
Semi-Annual Report. It is now being forwarded to Council for your status update. 
 
Budget & Financial Summary: N/A 
 
Attachments:  
1. 09/06/12 Impact Fee Semi-Annual Report 
 

86



 
 

1101 Texas Avenue South, P.O. Box 9960 
College Station, Texas 77842 

Phone 979.764.3570 / Fax 979.764.3496 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
DATE:  September 6, 2012  

TO:  Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission 

FROM: Carol Cotter, P.E., Sr. Asst. City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Semi-Annual Report – Impact Fees 92-01, 97-01, 97-02B, 99-01, 03-02 

 
Local Government Code requires semi-annual reporting in order to monitor the progress of 
impact fees and to determine when an update to the fee study is necessary.  An update was 
previously recommended, and is currently under way.  There have been no major changes over 
the last reporting period. Staff recommends that the Advisory Committee forward this report to 
City Council for their status update.      
 
The City of College Station Ordinance Chapter 15, Impact Fees, designates the Planning and 
Zoning Commission as the Advisory Committee for review, advisement, and monitoring of 
proposed and existing impact fees.  More specifically, the Advisory Committee is established to: 
 

1. Advise and assist the City in adopting Land Use assumptions. 
2. Review the Capital Improvements Plan and file written comments. 
3. Monitor and evaluate implementation of the Capital Improvements Plan. 
4. File semi-annual reports with respect to the progress of the Capital Improvements Plan. 
5. Advise the City Council of the need to update or revise the Land Use Assumptions, 

Capital Improvements Plan, and Impact Fees. 
 
Currently the City of College Station has five impact fees in existence of which all associated 
construction is complete.  All five of the impact fees underwent a 5-Year Update in either 2008 
or 2009 (as noted below) in accordance with State Law.  The following is a current status report 
for each of the five impact fees. (To facilitate review data changes from previous 6 months are 
presented in bold font.): 

 

This fee was initially implemented in 1992 at $152.18 /LUE and was revised in 1996 to 
$289.77/LUE after approval of updated Land use Assumptions and Capital Improvements 
Plan (CIP), revised again to the $232.04/LUE in 2000 and to the current amount in April of 
2008. The CIP consists of three phases originally estimated at $543,000 which have all 

92-01  Sanitary Sewer ( Graham Road ) ( 508 ac. ) __                 $316.07/LUE                       

87



been completed at a combined cost of $473,518.72. Fees collected over the last 6 months 
are $1,580.35 for total amount of $325,082.55 (per Account #250-0000-287.51-13). The 
remaining amount eligible for collection is about $16,631.  The total amount to be 
recovered through impact fees is anticipated at 72% of original construction cost.      
 

This fee was implemented in December 1997 at $349.55/LUE and was revised to the 
current amount in April of 2008. The CIP consists of Phase I (east of Hwy 6 ) and Phase II 
(west of Hwy 6 ).  Phase I estimated to cost $1,000,000 was completed in 1999 at a cost of 
$631,214.59. Phase II was estimated to cost $1,350,000 and was completed at a cost of 
$813,752.00. The total actual cost was $1,444,966.59.  Fees collected over the last 6 
months are $6,744.90 for total amount of $566,708.90 (per Acct #251-0000-287.51-13). 
The remaining amount eligible for collection is about $190,188.  The total amount to be 
recovered through impact fees is anticipated at 52% of original construction cost.      

97-01  Sanitary Sewer ( Spring Creek – Pebble Hills) ( 2000 ac.)        $98.39/LUE 

 

 This fee was implemented in December 1997 at 243.38/LUE and was revised to the 
current amount in April of 2008. The CIP consisted of running a 15" sanitary sewer line 
from the south end of the College Station Business Park westerly along Alum Creek to the 
east ROW of Highway 6. The project was estimated to cost $390,000 and was completed 
in 1999 at a cost of $214,270.87.  Fees collected over the last 6 months are $178.26 for 
total amount of $21,404.26 (per Acct #252-0000-287.51-13). The remaining amount eligible 
for collection is about $181,963.  The total amount to be recovered through impact fees is 
anticipated at 95% of original construction cost.      

97-02B  Sanitary Sewer ( Alum Creek – Nantucket) ( 608 ac. )     $59.42/LUE 

 

This fee was implemented in April 1999 at $550.00/LUE and was revised to the current 
amount in April of 2008. The CIP consists of running an 18" water line south along the east 
ROW of Highway 6 approximately 4800'. The line was estimated to cost $312,000 (the 
impact fee is based on an 8" line @ $165,000 ). A 2400' section of the 18" line was 
constructed in 1999 from the south end at a total cost of $342,977.73.  Fees collected over 
the last 6 months are $0.00 for total amount of $64,740.88 (per Acct #240-0000-287.51-
13). The remaining amount eligible for collection is about $246,372.  The total amount to be 
recovered through impact fees is anticipated at 91% of original construction cost.      

99-01  Water ( Harley )( 158 ac. )              $769.91/LUE 

 

This fee was initially implemented in June 2003 at $300.00/LUE and was revised to the 
current amount in May of 2009.  This CIP was constructed in two phases of sanitary sewer 
line construction in compliance with the proposed construction in the original report 
establishing the fee.  Phase one crossed Wellborn Road and terminated at Old Wellborn 
Road consisting of 2,347 linear feet of 18 inch sewer line with a construction cost of 
$296,642.  Phase two was completed in 2006 and continued the line along Old Wellborn 
Road and terminated across RPR West.  Phase two consisted of 6,281 linear feet of 12 
inch line and 2,062 linear feet of 18 inch line for a construction cost of $529,088 and a land 
cost of $87,133.  The design cost for the combined phases was $148,023.  The total actual 
cost was $1,091,886 which was less than the original report estimated at $1,596,137.  Fees 
collected over the last 6 months are $37,562.70 for total amount of $84,036.70 (per Acct 
#253-0000-287.51-13). The remaining amount eligible for collection is about $706,472.  
The total amount to be recovered through impact fees is anticipated at 72% of original 
construction cost.      

03-02  Sanitary Sewer ( Steeplechase ) ( 715 ac. )                          $357.74/LUE 

 

88



A previous report showed changes in the projected densities in several of the Impact Fee 
areas related to the Land Uses adopted with the Comprehensive Land Use Plan in 2009.  
As presented in the Table below, the densities expected with the Land Use Plan adopted 
in 2009 are significantly different in several of the Impact Fee Areas.  An update to 
incorporate these changes had been in progress but needed to consider the Water and 
Wastewater Master Plans that were under development, as well as, a City Wide Impact 
Fee Study that was underway.  With the completion of both projects, a consultant is 
currently being contracted to proceed with the update. 
  
 

Impact Fee Area 
Effective 
Buildout 

LUE 

Current 
Impact 

Fee Rate 

Anticipated 
Buildout 

LUE 
LUE 

Adjustment 

Remaining 
Capital 

Investment 
to Recoup 

92-01 Graham 1,551 $ 316.07 1,775 + 224 $ 17,000 
97-01 Spring Creek 4,425 $ 98.39 8,384 + 3,959 $190,000 
97-02B Alum 3,232 $ 59.42 2,139 - 1,093 $182,000 
99-01 Harley 450 $ 769.91 440 - 10 $246,000 
03-02 Steeplechase 2,838 $ 357.74 7,816 + 4,987 $706,000 
    Total $1,341,000 

 
 

 
Attachments
 Land Use at Adoption Map per Impact Fee Area 

:  Impact Fee Service Areas Map 

 Current Land Use Map per Impact Fee Area 
  
  

89



90



  

            

 

 

 

 

91



  

            

 

 

 

 

92



  

            

 

 

 

 

93



  

            

 

 

 

 

94



  

            

 

 

 

 

 

95



 

 

 Effective Land Use      Current Land Use

Density 
LUE/Acre 

 

 

1.00 

1.62 (1.87) 

2.10 (2.33) 

2.87 (3.01) 

1.00 

 

 

13.6 

3.77 (4.55) 

4.07 (5.55) 

0.00 

13.00 

0.4 

4.5 

 

0.00 

 

 
 
*(#) indicates LUE for Water Impact Fee Area and only applies to the 99-01 Harley Impact Fee Area. 

Density 
LUE/Acre 

 

0.00 

1.00 

0.20 

6.59 

4.19 (8.0) 

4.52 (20) 

 

4.07 (5.5) 

3.77 (4.55) 

1.62 (2.0) 

2.00 
 

0.00 

0.20 

 

 

 

 

96



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2o 
Project Number WF1223116 

Carter Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks 
 

 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Chuck Gilman, P.E., Public Works Director                         
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding a construction 
contract with Bryan Construction Company, in the amount of $1,573,719.50 for the Carters 
Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks Project, the approval of a contingency 
transfer in the amount of $150,000, and authorizing the City Manager to execute the 
contract on behalf of the City Council. (This item is also on workshop agenda item #5) 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Core Services and Infrastructure- Efficiently, effectively, 
and strategically placed and infrastructure that maintains citizens health, safety, and 
general welfare and enables the City’s economic growth and physical development. 
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends approval of the construction contract, the 
approval of a contingency transfer in the amount of $150,000, and authorizing the City 
Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 
 
Summary: Carters Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks is the first step in the 
treatment process.  The untreated wastewater flows into the headworks from the collection 
system, where it is pumped up for removal of large objects and sediment, so the 
wastewater can then flow through the rest of the treatment process.  Some key equipment 
has exceeded its useful life and needs replacement or rehabilitation for the headworks to 
continue performing its function.   
 
The scope of work proposed in this contract includes only those items needed to restore 
functionality to our existing equipment.  The improvements included are for the screw lift 
pumps, grit and grease removal systems, oiler system, odor controls, and junction box.  
These improvements will allow the existing headworks to remain functional until staff 
receives additional information from the TCEQ regarding any future permit restrictions that 
could require major changes to the headworks structure. 
 
Budget & Financial Summary:   The current (FY12) budget for this project is $1,508,550. 
A total of $419,660 has been expended to date for the preliminary engineering and design 
work.  This P.O. for the construction is $1,573,719.50, which exceeds the amount currently 
budgeted for this project. It is proposed that contingency in the amount of $150,000 be 
used toward this overage. Contingency transfers of $15,000 or more must be approved by 
Council. In addition, it is proposed that the remaining needed budget be transferred from 
the Northeast Trunkline Rehabilitation capital project which is currently on hold and is not 
expected to move forward in FY13.   
 
Attachments:  
 

1.) Bid Tab 
2.) Project Location Map 
3.) Construction Contract is on file in the City Secretary’s Office 

97



Carter's Creek WWTP Headworks Improvements

Bid No. 12-089

Bid Opening: 2:00 Tuesday, August 28, 2012

J.S
.H

are
n C

o.

Dudle
y 

Const
ru

ct
io

n

Bry
an C

onst
ru

ct
io

n

Exc
el C

onst
ru

ct
io

n 

1 Mobilization, Demobilization, Closeout LS 60,000.00$                       150,000.00$                    38,300.00$                     85,000.00$                     

2 Headworks Improvements LS 688,280.00$                    606,100.00$                    648,100.00$                   810,000.00$                   

2A Aerated Grit and Grease Removal System LS 317,000.00$                    317,000.00$                    317,000.00$                   317,000.00$                   

2B Grit Concentrator and Screw Conveyor LS 57,539.00$                       57,539.00$                       57,539.00$                     57,539.00$                     

2C Shaftless Screw Conveyor LS 51,000.00$                       51,000.00$                       51,000.00$                     51,000.00$                     

2D Screw Pump Oiler LS 59,868.00$                       59,868.00$                       59,868.00$                     59,868.00$                     

3 Odor Control Improvements LS 75,000.00$                       86,863.00$                       116,200.00$                   175,000.00$                   

3A Odor Control System LS 27,562.50$                       27,562.50$                       27,562.50$                     27,562.50$                     

4 Junction Box LS 20,000.00$                       30,390.00$                       40,800.00$                     42,000.00$                     

5 Headworks Gate LS 80,000.00$                       80,500.00$                       78,700.00$                     88,000.00$                     

6 Erosion Control & Revegetation LS 1,000.00$                         1,600.00$                         5,300.00$                       2,000.00$                       

7 Storm Water Pollution Prevention LS 500.50$                            425.00$                            1,500.00$                       1,500.00$                       

1,437,750.00$                 1,468,847.50$                 1,441,869.50$               1,716,469.50$               

A1-A

Add-Aerated Grit Basin Air Drops & Diffuser 

Assemblies LS 10,500.00$                       10,500.00$                       10,500.00$                     10,500.00$                     

A1-B

Add-Replace Aerated Grit Basin Air Drops & 

Diffuser Assemblies LS 9,000.00$                         10,800.00$                       4,900.00$                       22,500.00$                     

19,500.00$                      21,300.00$                      15,400.00$                     33,000.00$                     

A2-A Add- Aerated Grit Basin Curtains LS 9,900.00$                         9,900.00$                         9,900.00$                       9,900.00$                       

A2-B Add-Replace Aeratored Grit Basin Cutains LS 7,100.00$                         6,030.00$                         4,500.00$                       8,800.00$                       

17,000.00$                      15,930.00$                      14,400.00$                     18,700.00$                     

A3-3 Add-Shaftless Screw Conveyor Control Panel LS 11,750.00$                       11,750.00$                       11,750.00$                     11,750.00$                     

A3-B

Add-Replace Shaftless Screw Conveyor 

Control Panel LS 3,000.00$                         2,275.00$                         1,200.00$                       2,500.00$                       

14,750.00$                      14,025.00$                      12,950.00$                     14,250.00$                     

A4 Add-Overhaul Grit Pumps LS 11,000.00$                       52,700.00$                       45,000.00$                     45,000.00$                     

11,000.00$                      52,700.00$                      45,000.00$                     45,000.00$                     

A5 Add-Replace Git Pumps in Lieu of Overhaul LS 52,000.00$                       43,000.00$                       38,000.00$                     40,000.00$                     

52,000.00$                      43,000.00$                      38,000.00$                     40,000.00$                     

A6

Add-Replace Headworks Wet Wall Slide Gate 

Seats LS 28,000.00$                       17,200.00$                       18,000.00$                     75,000.00$                     

28,000.00$                       17,200.00$                       18,000.00$                     75,000.00$                     

A7

Add-Replace Screwlift Pump Lower Roller 

Assembly Bearings & Seals LS 57,000.00$                       16,700.00$                       33,100.00$                     17,500.00$                     

57,000.00$                      16,700.00$                      33,100.00$                     17,500.00$                     

TOTAL with Alternate 4 1,585,000.00$      1,606,702.50$      1,580,719.50$     1,919,919.50$     

TOTAL with Alternate 5 1,626,000.00$      1,597,002.50$      1,573,719.50$     1,914,919.50$     
Certification of Bid yes yes yes yes

Acknowledged Addendums (8) yes yes yes yes

Bid Bond yes yes yes yes

J.S. Haren Co base bid was corrected in favor of line item totals

Either Alternate 4 or Alternate 5 will be accepted; not both

Alternate 7

Notes: 

Alternate 2

Alternate 3

Alternate 4

Alternate 5

Alternate 6

Base Bid

Alternate 1

98



CCWWTP

EMERALD PW

APPOMATTOX DR

EA
RL

 R
UD

DE
R 

FW

FR
ON

TA
GE

 6 
RD

NORTH FO
REST P

W

SPRING CREEK

ONRAMP 6

SANDSTONE DR

LAUREN DR

JUSTIN AVALISON AV

BENT O
AK ST

RO
SE

WO
OD

 D
R

AM
BE

R R
IDG

E DR

BENT TREE DR

OF
FR

AM
P 6

ALLEY

CHIPPENDALE ST

SHADOW OAKS

ST
 TH

OMAS RD

SEBESTA RD

SUMTER DR

WILDEWOOD CR

RAINTREE DR

EMERALD PLZ

C HESTN UT O
AK CR

IRONWOOD DR

ROLLING ROCK PL

BLACKJACK DR

PEBBLESTONE CT

WHITEROSE CT

WA
LN

UT BEND

MERRIMAC CT

TURTLE ROCK LO

FAWN CT

UNNAMED7732

TOPAZ CT

JADE CT
BRIAR ROSE CT

EA
RL

 R
UD

DE
R 

FW

FR
ON

TA
GE

 6 
RD

CARTER CREEK WWTP HEADWORKS

I
99



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Consent Agenda Item No. 2p 

South Knoll-The Glade Utility Rehabilitation Project 
Design Change Order 

Project Number WF1044480, WF1044485 
 

 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Chuck Gilman, P.E., PMP, Public Works Director                         
 
 
Agenda Caption: Presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding a change order 
to the design contract (Contract 09-070) with Weston Solutions, Inc. in the amount of 
$104,780 to add construction materials testing to the scope of work for South Knoll-The 
Glade Utility Rehabilitation Project (WF1044480, WF1044485), and authorizing the City 
Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 
 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Core Services and Infrastructure- Efficiently, effectively, 
and strategically placed and infrastructure that maintains citizens health, safety, and 
general welfare and enables the City’s economic growth and physical development. 
 
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends approval of the change order, and authorizing 
the City Manager to execute the contract on behalf of the City Council. 
 
 
Summary: The South Knoll-The Glade Utility Rehabilitation Project includes the 
rehabilitation of water and wastewater utility infrastructure in the area generally bounded 
by Glade St, Haines, Langford, and Bee Creek Drive.  Both the water and wastewater 
infrastructure in the area is in need of replacement due to an increase in service disruptions, 
deteriorating lines, and a need to improve fire protection.  
 
This change order will not increase the overall project cost, it merely shifts the materials 
testing costs under the Design Contract, rather than being directly contracted by the City. 
At the time this design contract was executed, a different process was in place whereby a 
material testing firm contracted directly with the city.  Our current process is to have the 
engineer of record review the test results and make recommendations on any tests that fail.  
This change order will add construction material testing to the scope of work for the 
engineer of record.     
 
The majority of the necessary testing will be performed on the cement stabilized sand 
backfill material. Many of the new water and sanitary sewer lines will be installed in the 
existing streets by open cut excavations and City of College Station construction 
specifications require cement stabilized backfill of all trenches made in existing asphalt 
streets.  This testing is required of the cement stabilized material to reduce the risk of 
settlement within the trench.  Excessive settlement can result in damage to the pavement 
and potentially damage the newly install pipe.   
 
The frequency of testing and the level of effort proposed in this change order are consistent 
with that observed in other recent utility rehabilitation projects. 
 
 

100



 

 

Budget & Financial Summary:   
The portion of the change order related to the water utility lines is $34,577.40 and the 
portion related to the wastewater utility lines $70,202.60. Funds in the amount of 
$2,265,192 are currently budgeted for this project in the Water Capital Projects Fund and 
funds in the amount of $3,005,683 are currently budgeted for this project in the 
Wastewater Capital Projects Fund. Funds in the amount of $4,136,062 have been expended 
or committed to date, leaving a balance of $1,134,813 for this change order and remaining 
expenses.  
 
Attachments:  
 

1.) Change Order 
2.) Project Location Map 

101



102



So
ut

hw
es

t P
kw

y
W

elsh Ave

Holl
em

an
 D

r Glade St

Southwood Dr

Langford St

Laura Ln

Haines Dr

Orr 
St

Caudill St

Windin
g 

R
d

Bee Creek Dr

Dexter Dr S

Bos
well

 S
t

Llan
o Pl

Shadow

wood Dr

Taurus Ave

Conch
o Pl

Nev
ad

a S
t

A
ng

el
in

a 
C

t

Comal Cir

La
nc

elo

t C
ir

Anderson St

Lemon Tree Ln

G
ua

da
lu

pe Dr

Arboles Cir

Swiss Ct

Chalet C
t

South Knoll-The Glade Project Boundaries

103



September 27, 2012 
Regular Agenda Item No. 1 

Public Hearing and Consideration of Budget Amendment #3 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Kersten, Executive Director, Business Services                        
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion on 
an ordinance Budget Amendment #3 amending ordinance number 3371 which will 
amend the budget for the 2011-2012 Fiscal Year in the amount of $1,191,771. 
 
Recommendation(s):  Staff recommends the City Council hold the public hearing 
on Budget Amendment #3 and approve the budget amendment ordinance and 
interfund transfer.  
 
Summary:  The proposed budget amendment is to increase the appropriations for 
the items listed below by $1,191,771. The charter of the City of College Station 
provides for the City Council to amend the annual budget in the event there are 
revenues available to cover increased expenditures and after holding a public hearing 
on such budget amendment. A number of items have been identified that need to be 
considered in a budget amendment. Attached is a list of the items in the proposed 
budget amendment. Also included is an interfund transfer.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary:  The City has resources or can reasonably expect 
resources to cover each of the appropriations in this budget amendment. The 
attached list has the complete description of the items included in the proposed 
budget amendment. 
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Budget Amendment #3 Detail List, Budget transfer detail list 
2. Ordinance 

 

104



105



FY12 Budget Amendment #3 Detail Listing 
 

1 
 

The proposed budget amendment is to increase the appropriations for the items listed below by $1,191,771. 
Also included below is an interfund transfer. When budget transfers between funds are necessary, Council 
approval is required. Budget transfers do not increase or decrease the overall budget.  Rather, the transfers shift 
budget between departments or funds.  

BUDGET AMENDMENT ITEMS 

1. Grants - $24,052 (Budget Amendment)  
This item will appropriate budget to the General Fund in the amount of $13,352 and the Sanitation Fund 
in the amount of $10,700 for various grants that have been awarded to the City. The grant funds for the 
projects are received after the expenditures occur. Below is a summary of the grants for which the 
budget will be amended: 
 
Police - The Police Department received a Bullet Proof Vest Program grant from the U.S. Department of 
Justice.  This grant will reimburse one-half the costs of eligible bullet proof vests purchased by the Police 
Department in FY12.  The budget was amended earlier in the year for $3,736; this budget amendment 
would increase the appropriation by an additional $13,352 for a total of $17,088 for eligible bullet proof 
vests in FY12. 
 
Recycling Grant - $10,700 - The city received a grant in the amount of $10,700 from the Brazos Valley 
Council of Governments (BVCOG) and the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) for the 
purchase of a smart phone application. This project informs citizens of sanitation and recycling events. 
This item will amend the Sanitation budget for the expenditures incurred.  

2. Energy Efficiency & Conservation Block Grant – Energy Dept - $375,050 (Budget Amendment) 
Funds in the amount of $97,066 were received from the U.S. Department of Energy’s (DOE) Energy 
Efficiency & Conservation Block Grant to provide funding for the increase in cost of upgrading a 
Sanitation truck in the City’s fleet to hybrid vehicle. The total cost of the hybrid version of the vehicle 
was $360,978. Funds in the amount of $263,912 were budgeted in the Equipment Replacement Fund in 
FY12 for the cost of a non-hybrid vehicle. These funds were transferred to the ARRA Fund, which is the 
fund out of which the hybrid version of the vehicle was purchased. This item appropriates the budget 
for the total cost of the vehicle in the ARRA Fund. 
 
In addition, the DOE approved the repurposing of funds that were previously earmarked for other 
eligible projects. These other projects are complete and came in under budget. The balance of the funds 
from those projects, in the amount of $14,072, was repurposed in FY12 to be used on an LED Traffic 
Signal Retrofit project. As the budget for the original projects was established in FY11, this item will 
appropriate in FY12 the budget for the repurposed funds. (Several other new projects were also created 
using repurposed funds, but those projects already have corresponding FY12 budget appropriations, so, 
therefore, no budget amendment is needed for those projects.) 
 

3. Emergency Ambulance Rebuild - $80,000 (Budget Amendment) 
This item is for the emergency rebuild of ambulance in the amount of $80,000. Contributions are made 
to the Equipment Replacement Fund on an annual basis for the replacement of vehicles. The purchase 
price of a new ambulance with all of its required equipment is approximately $225,000. It has been 
determined that the rebuild of this ambulance will greatly extend the life of the ambulance for much 
less than the purchase of a new ambulance. The Fire department has contributed enough funds into the 
Equipment Replacement Fund to make this emergency purchase. Funds are available in the Equipment 

106



FY12 Budget Amendment #3 Detail Listing 
 

2 
 

Replacement Fund balance for this purchase and this item will appropriate the corresponding budget in 
the Equipment Replacement Fund. 

4. Budget Overage - Police Department - $393,084 (Budget Amendment) 
Police Department expenditures are estimated to come in over budget due to several factors resulting in 
overages in salary and benefit accounts. Several uncharacteristic major crimes occurred in FY12 resulting 
in considerable overages in overtime. Overtime was also impacted due to vacancies throughout the 
department. In addition, shift differential pay was inadvertently excluded from the FY12 budget.  
Altogether, this created an estimated overage in salaries of $78,000 and an estimated overage in 
overtime of approximately $244,000. Police Department benefits are also estimated to be over budget 
by $98,000, which is directly related to the overage in salaries and overtime as benefits are based on 
salaries. Overall, a portion of the overage in salaries and benefits is offset by savings in supplies and 
professional services bringing the total net estimated overage to $393,084. Funds for this item are 
available in the General Fund. This overage was factored into the General Fund forecast in the 
development of FY13 budget.         
 

5. Budget Overage - Sanitation Fund - $200,949 (Budget Amendment and Interfund Transfer)  
The Sanitation Fund is estimated to come in over budget due to increases in expenditures related to 
fuel, residential disposal fees and overtime.  The Sanitation Fund experienced a significant increase in 
the volume of refuse and collection frequency due to the additional brush collection that was the result 
of the extended drought. This additional brush and refuse collection has also contributed to a significant 
increase in overtime. This item will appropriate budget in the amount of $200,949 to adequately cover 
all costs related to the increased need for services. Funds for this item are available in the Sanitation 
Fund balance. In addition to the budget amendment, this item will also authorize a budget transfer in 
the amount of $399,235 from the Debt Service Fund to the Sanitation Fund. The debt service payment 
related to the CO’s issued for the construction of the Twin Oaks Landfill was originally budgeted in the 
Debt Service Fund in FY12. This item will move the corresponding budget from the Debt Service Fund to 
the Sanitation Fund, which is the fund out of which the payment was made. This budget transfer will not 
increase or decrease the overall budget and revenue will be received from BVSWMA, Inc. to offset the 
debt service payment.  
 

6. Budget Overage - Fleet Maintenance Fund - $118,636 (Budget Amendment)  
FY12 expenditures in the Fleet Maintenance Fund are estimated to be over budget by $118,636. Higher 
costs than anticipated were seen in FY12 for parts and repairs. Additionally, several vehicles have 
undergone unanticipated, expensive repairs in FY12. Funds for this item are available in the Fleet 
Maintenance Fund balance.     

 
 
 
 

107



September 27, 2012 
Regular Agenda Item No. 2 

Rezoning—BioCorridor Planned Development District 
 

 
To:  David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From:  Bob Cowell, AICP, CNU-A, Executive Director of Planning & Development 
Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption: Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding 
an amendment to Chapter 12, “Unified Development Ordinance”, Section 4.2, “Official 
Zoning Map” of the Code of Ordinance of the City of College Station, Texas by rezoning 
approximately 147 acres from A-O Agricultural Open to PDD Planned Development District 
for the Joint Research Valley BioCorridor Development Project generally located between 
State Highway 47, Raymond Stotzer Parkway, Turkey Creek Road, and the City limit. 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Diverse Growing Economy, Sustainable City 
 
Recommendation(s): The Planning and Zoning Commission considered this item at 
their August 2, 2012 meeting and unanimously recommend approval.  The Bicycle, 
Pedestrian, and Greenway Advisory Board considered the Planned Development District 
proposal at their July 2, 2012 meeting and unanimously recommend approval. 
 
NOTE: The City of Bryan Planning and Zoning Commission considered an identical Planned 
Development District rezoning of approximately 50 acres for the Joint Research Valley 
BioCorridor Development Project at their August 2, 2012 meeting and unanimously 
recommended approval to the Bryan City Council.  The Bryan City Council will hold the first 
reading of the ordinance at their meeting on September 25, 2012, and will make a final 
decision on the matter on October 9, 2012.  This rezoning will not become effective until 
such time as both City Councils approve their respective rezonings that will subject their 
properties to an identical “BioCorridor Planned Development Ordinance”. 
 
Summary: The BioCorridor is a conceptual area of approximately 3,500 acres anticipated 
to be an international destination for education, research, development, commercialization, 
and production of innovative technologies to improve global health.  In 2010, through the 
coordination of the Research Valley Partnership, the community came together with 
Broaddus Planning to provide input into the Research Valley BioCorridor Concept Master 
Plan (“BioCorridor Master Plan”).  In 2011, the cities of College Station and Bryan initiated 
the municipal implementation of that plan. 

On December 16, 2011, the College Station City Council adopted an interlocal agreement 
(ILA) with the City of Bryan for a Joint BioCorridor Development Project.   The project site is 
approximately 196 acres at the eastern intersection of Raymond Stotzer Parkway and State 
Highway 47 and is owned by the City of Bryan through the Bryan Commerce Development 
Corporation.  Of this acreage, 147 are located within the City limits of College Station.  The 
major provisions of the ILA include cost and revenue sharing between the municipalities, 
coordinated infrastructure delivery, unified economic development incentives, and unified 
land uses, development standards, and project review processes.  
 
To develop unified land uses, development standards, and project review processes, city 
staff from both communities have worked together and in conjunction with a subcommittee 

108



of both communities’ Planning and Zoning Commissions.  In addition to the technical and 
regulatory expertise and planning and zoning policy experience dedicated to these efforts, 
the City of Bryan’s development partner, Traditions Acquisitions Partnership, LP has 
participated by bringing direct development interest into the collaboration.  Using the cities’ 
comprehensive plans, the BioCorridor Master Plan, the BioCorridor Design Guidelines 
proposed by Jacobs Consultancy, and local zoning and development codes as guides, and 
with considerations from Traditions representatives and their consultants, this proposal has 
been developed to rezone the property affected by the ILA as a Planned Development 
District (PDD), and through this rezoning, to have a set of unique zoning and development 
codes (the “BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance”) to implement the vision 
of the BioCorridor. 
 
The Unified Development Ordinance provides the following review criteria for zoning map 
amendments: 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA 
1. Consistency with the Comprehensive Plan:  The subject property is designated as 

Business Park on the Future Land Use and Character Map and is located in the 
conceptual Presidential Corridor Gateway District identified for further planning.  The 
Business Park designation is defined as one generally for areas that include office, 
research, or industrial uses, planned and developed as a unified project, and that need 
good access to arterial roadways.  The Comprehensive Plan states that the focus of 
planning efforts for the Presidential Corridor Gateway should be accommodating 
business (research and development, office, and light industrial) that builds upon the 
assets in the area and protects and enhances this primary gateway into the City.    

 
The rezoning meets the direction the Comprehensive Plan identifies for future land use.  
The land uses proposed for the BioCorridor Planned Development District consist 
primarily of office, research and development, and manufacturing that will promote 
scientific industry, especially that of biotechnology.  Supporting uses for area employees 
may include a small amount of commercial and multifamily. The rezoning proposal is a 
reflection of the adopted vision for land uses in this area of College Station, and the 
vision of the Brazos Valley area as formed through the BioCorridor Master Plan planning 
process.   
One stated reason the ILA was adopted by both communities was to promote economic 
development in both cities.  The Comprehensive Plan identifies research as one of the 
foundations of the local economy and from research emerges the commercialization of 
knowledge-based activities.  The utilization of the subject property for research, 
development, and manufacturing of pharmaceuticals and health-related technologies 
supports College Station’s desire to grow in these economic sectors. 
 

2. Compatibility with the present zoning and conforming uses of nearby property 
and with the character of the neighborhood:  The majority of the area in the City of 
College Station between State Highway 47, Raymond Stotzer Parkway, and Turkey 
Creek Road is designated as Business Park.  There is a small amount of Suburban 
Commercial anticipated along Turkey Creek Road.  With the exception of approximately 
five acres with frontage on Raymond Stotzer Parkway zoned C-2 Commercial Industrial, 
all of the area is zoned A-O Agricultural Open.  There are a number of non-conforming 
uses in the vicinity, including appliance repair and a fraternity house.  There are also 
uses that comply with the current zoning, such as single family residential on large lots, 
but do not conform to the long-range vision for the area.  Depending on the intensity of 
possible development on the subject property, the rezoning proposal may or may not be 
compatible with the nearby conforming properties and neighborhood character.  An 

109



office complex could be compatible, but an office complex with several stories of 
multifamily residential may not be.  When considering the planned future of the area, 
the proposed rezoning will be compatible, especially if consideration of compatibility is 
extended across the City limit line to encompass the existing Caliber Biotherapeutics 
facility and the Health Science Center.   

 
3. Suitability of the property affected by the amendment for uses permitted by the 

district that would be made applicable by the proposed amendment:  The 
property is suitable for the proposed uses.  The industry proposed for the BioCorridor 
area will need access to a transportation network that extends beyond the region and 
the acreage is in close vicinity to State Highway 47 and Raymond Stotzer Parkway and 
near Easterwood airport.  The tract does not have a large amount of highway frontage, 
but the uses proposed are not ones that require such visibility.  The property is in close 
vicinity to Texas A&M University and existing research facilities, making collaboration 
and the sharing of resources possible.  The property is also in close vicinity to the 
Aggieland Business Park in the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, in which supporting 
industry is located.   

 
4. Suitability of the property affected by the amendment for uses permitted by the 

district applicable to the property at the time of the proposed amendment:  
Before the ILA was adopted, the delivery of wastewater in the area was problematic and 
therefore the property, for the near future, could not have supported the uses being 
proposed.  Until such time as proper infrastructure could have been delivered to the 
area, A-O Agricultural Open uses would have been appropriate.  With the ILA in place, 
the property values and taxable base of A-O uses would not justify the financial and 
resource investments that have and will be made by the City. 

  
5. Marketability of the property affected by the amendment for uses permitted by 

the district applicable to the property at the time of the proposed amendment:  
Currently, the City has less than 5% of its acreage in the City designated for Business 
Park.  There is less than 2% of land within the City currently zoned for office and 
industrial uses.  This general area is part of a larger (3,500 acre) corridor currently 
being marketed by The Research Valley Partnership as what will become a leading-edge 
international biomedical zone.   

 
6. Availability of water, wastewater, stormwater, and transportation facilities 

generally suitable and adequate for the proposed use:  The ILA for the Joint 
BioCorridor Development Project included a plan for cost sharing and oversight to 
provide primary infrastructure to facilitate development. This primary infrastructure 
design is currently underway and construction will commence as triggered by a “Target 
Company” as defined by the ILA.  In short, the planned subject infrastructure is 
specifically designed and sized to accommodate the proposed uses and densities 
requested with this rezoning. 

 
With regard to wastewater, this site is currently within the City of College Station’s 
Wastewater Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (CCN).  The ILA proposed this 
site’s wastewater CCN be transferred to the City of Bryan.  This transfer application has 
been formally submitted and is near adoption with the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ).  Per the ILA, primary wastewater infrastructure is 
proposed to be constructed to serve the site.  This significant infrastructure generally 
includes a lift station, 8- to 24-inch diameter gravity mains, and a 14-inch forcemain. 

 

110



With regard to transportation facilities, the primary east-west thoroughfare is planned as 
a four-lane Minor Arterial per the ILA.  This thoroughfare is HSC Parkway (previously 
Melrose Parkway).  HSC Parkway generally aligns with F&B Road to the east, and to the 
west it will align with the grade separation at SH 47, which is currently under 
construction. 

 
With regard to stormwater, there is no FEMA designated Special Flood Hazard Area 
currently identified within the site.  There are natural drainage tributaries which 
generally drain southward.  Storm drains systems will be constructed with the 
transportation facilities. 

 
With regard to water, this site is currently (and is proposed to remain) within the City of 
College Station’s Water CCN.  An 18-inch water main is the primary water infrastructure 
proposed generally along the HSC Parkway alignment. 
 

REVIEW OF CONCEPT PLAN 

Purpose & Intent Statement 
The purpose of the BioCorridor Planned Development District is to provide a mixed-use 
zoning district that establishes a planned urban environment that promotes leading-
edged international bio-technology.   
 

Land Use 
The BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance includes a Concept Map that 
identifies the appropriate areas for different types of land uses.  The Concept Map is not 
intended to be parcel specific, but to be flexible in the district borders.  Land use 
categories are broken down into three main districts:  

• BioCorridor Research and Development District (BC-R&D) is a district 
dedicated to the research, design, development, and testing of new products and 
services involving uses that support the purpose of the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District. This district consists of  research land uses, especially that of 
biotechnology, as well as a mix of uses that support such activities from retail, 
commercial, office, entertainment, and high-density residential. 

• BioCorridor Office and Research District (BC-O&R) is a district that is dedicated 
to the research, design, development, testing, and preliminary production of new 
products and services that support the purpose of the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District. This district allows a limited mix of uses that support such 
activities as retail, commercial, and office uses.  

• BioCorridor Manufacturing District (BC-M) is a district dedicated to the research, 
development, testing, and production of new products and services that support the 
purpose of the BioCorridor Planned Development District. This district is specifically 
intended to become the national bio-manufacturing center and can accommodate 
larger manufacturing uses.  

A fourth land use—Greenbelt—is also shown on the Map.  This depicts the tributary of 
Whites Creek that traverses the property. Rather than being a separate land use district, 
the greenbelt is a recognized, natural amenity that has certain protections through the 
BioCorridor Planned Development Ordinance to reflect its functional and aesthetic 
values. 

 
Base Zoning and Meritorious Modifications 

111



The BioCorridor Planned Development District will not utilize an underlying zoning 
district.  In keeping with the terms of the ILA, city staff from College Station and Bryan, 
with the assistance of a subcommittee of both cities’ Planning and Zoning Commissions, 
have developed joint development standards and processes that are described in the 
BioCorridor Planned Development Ordinance.  Property zoned BioCorridor Planned 
Development District will be exempt from most sections of the Unified Development 
Ordinance so that the joint process/standard shared with the City of Bryan will prevail.   
 
The sections and notable tenets of the BioCorridor Planned Development Ordinance are 
as follows: 

1. Land Use 
This section will identify the appropriate and prohibited land uses for the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District. 

2. BioCorridor District Map 
The map conceptually locates the different land use districts. 

3. Definitions 
This section defines the terms of the Ordinance. 

4. BioCorridor Board 
The BioCorridor Board will be an advisory and a decision-making body for more 
subjective development issues in the BioCorridor Planned Development District.  The 
Board is intended to facilitate development by being empowered to make many 
decisions that would otherwise have to be heard by the Design Review Board, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission, and/or City Council.  Where development 
proposals cross City limit lines, the Board will be able to make many decisions that 
may otherwise have to be considered by the Commissions and Councils of both 
communities, and that would require compatible rulings.  
 
The Board will consist of seven members: one City Council member from each city, 
four Planning and Zoning Commissioners (two from each city), and one employee of 
Texas A&M University who will be appointed by its president. The Board will have the 
responsibility of making recommendations to the Planning and Zoning Commission 
on waivers to the Subdivision Regulations.  Because of the tenets of the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT CODE, the Planning and Zoning Commission will still make the final 
decisions on subdivision waivers and most plats.  The Board will also make 
recommendations to Staff on proposed place-making elements such as street 
signage and pavement markings.  The Board will take final action on items such as 
appeals from some staff decisions and alternatives to buffer requirements. 
  

5. BioCorridor Review Committee 
A BioCorridor Review Committee is being established to implement the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Ordinance.  The Committee is intended to facilitate 
development by being empowered to make many decisions that would otherwise 
have to be heard by the Design Review Board, the Zoning Board of Adjustment, 
and/or the Planning and Zoning Commission.  Where development proposals cross 
City limit lines, the Committee will be able to make many decisions that may 
otherwise have to be considered by the Zoning Board of Adjustment or Commissions 
of both communities, and that would require compatible rulings.  
 

112



The core membership will consist of planning and engineering professionals from 
each city.  Other city staff will serve on the Committee when their area of municipal 
expertise is required.  The Committee will have the responsibility of administering 
and enforcing the BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance, including 
ensuring compliance with the BioCorridor Site Design Guidelines, Bryan/College 
Station Unified Design Guidelines, boundaries of Areas of Special Flood Hazard, 
location of floodway, and water surface elevations.  The BioCorridor Review 
Committee shall review and take action on many development processes such as 
preliminary plans, minor and amending plats, site plans, construction documents, 
and administrative adjustments.  The Committee will also provide support and 
recommendations to the BioCorridor Board. 
 

6. General Approval Procedures 
The general procedures for development, such as application processing, are 
described in this section.   

7. BioCorridor Development Processes 
Specific development processes, such as that for site plan approval, are described in 
this section. 

8. Subdivision Design and Improvements 
The Subdivision Design and Improvements section identifies all requirements for the 
subdivision of property, with the exception of the detailed requirements of parkland 
dedication.  The requirements of parkland dedication found in the Unified 
Development Ordinance will remain in effect for development within the City of 
College Station.  The City of Bryan’s parkland dedication requirements will remain in 
effect for development within the City of Bryan.    

9. Site Standards 
The Site Standards section begins with a discussion of the overall site design goals 
and objectives of how design in the BioCorridor Planned Development District should 
reflect visual quality and interest, how there should be accommodations for multi-
modal forms of transportation, and that the built environment should work with the 
natural environment.  Many of the requirements of the Site Standards are similar to 
those already applicable in other zoning districts in College Station, but in an effort 
to accomplish the stated goals and objectives, there are some significant changes 
that are unique for the BioCorridor Planned Development District. 
  
Sites are to be designed to create a relationship with the street.  To this end, there 
are proposed setback requirements that bring buildings closer up to the street.  
Parking lots will be located behind buildings.  One drive aisle with a single-loaded 
row of parking may be located between a building and the street to provide easy 
access for a site’s visitors while maintaining that relationship between the street and 
the building. 

 
To accommodate multi-modal transportation, all development will have to provide 
three elements from a menu of design features intended to promote ease of access, 
comfort, and safety.  The menu includes options such as providing larger sidewalks 
and multi-use paths than are required, providing shade along sidewalks, reducing 
the number of driveway curb cuts to a site, and providing decorative bus shelters. 

 
To keep visual clutter to a minimum and to not detract from natural amenities and 
other place-making elements, signage will be restrained.  Site signage will be limited 

113



to those attached to buildings, directional signage interior to a site, and low profile 
signs along the rights-of-way.  
 
The requirement for Common Areas is new for College Station.  Currently, large 
developments have an option to provide a plaza-type space as part of the non-
residential architectural requirements.  The BioCorridor Planned Development District 
Ordinance proposes something similar, but with a greater focus on its functionality 
as a place-making element.  Even in its densest land use proposal, the BioCorridor 
Master Plan organizes uses around green and open space.  Common areas are 
encouraged through the guidelines developed by Jacobs Consultancy to help act as 
central organizing elements in the development, helping different land uses relate to 
one another and providing focal points and anchors for pedestrian activity.  Through 
the Common Area requirements of the BioCorridor Planned Development Ordinance, 
each site is required to devote 2% of its site area to an open space amenity.  Much 
like the requirements for multi-modal transportation, there are options to providing 
open space amenities. A couple of examples are the preservation of wetlands and 
the protection of significant tree stands from construction damage. 
 
Landscaping and streetscaping are required.  The preservation of existing trees is 
highly encouraged, but not required.  Sites that do not participate in tree 
preservation efforts will be required to plant additional canopy trees. 
 
Somewhat similar to the City of Bryan’s SH 47 Corridor Overlay’s requirement is a 
buffer to State Highway 47 and Raymond Stotzer Parkway.  It will consist of a 50-ft. 
buffer yard and vegetation.  Its purpose is to visually separate the highway system 
from the BioCorridor developments and to shield glares, noise, and other nuisances.  
There will also be a greenway buffer to protect the tributary of Whites Creek and the 
wetland that is under the jurisdiction of the US Army Corps of Engineers.  

 
The Guiding Principals stated in the BioCorridor Master Plan reference sustainable 
and healthy growth.  To this end, another proposal with this ordinance is to provide 
water quality benefits through drainage and stormwater management.   There are 
numerous options that may be incorporated into a site’s plans such as the provision 
of pervious pavement, stream buffers, and rainwater collection systems and reuse. 
 

10. Building Design Standards 
While industrial zoning districts in College Station are not required to meet the City’s 
Non-Residential Architectural Standards, most zoning districts—including those 
primarily for office, research and development, and commercial uses—are required to 
have a heightened aesthetic.  No matter the use, developments within the 
BioCorridor are expected to reflect visual quality.  The building design standards 
proposed for the BioCorridor Planned Development District are a set of guidelines, 
accompanied by visual exhibits, intended to promote quality growth while providing a 
large amount of flexibility.  To promote the development of biotechnology and 
industry in the area, buildings in the BioCorridor Manufacturing district are 
encouraged to be designed according to the guidelines.  Design according to the 
guidelines is required in all other districts in the BioCorridor. 

 
The Unified Development Ordinance provides the following review criteria for PDD Concept 
Plans: 

1. The proposal will constitute an environment of sustained stability and will 
be in harmony with the character of the surrounding area: In an effort to 

114



maximize the public investment in the area, the proposal has several elements that 
are intended to create a sense of place and preserve natural amenities, such as 
greenway buffers, multi-modal transportation systems, and buffers to the highways.  
There are also building design guidelines intended to promote thoughtful, quality 
design while encouraging creativity.  

 
2. The proposal is in conformity with the policies, goals, and objectives of the 

Comprehensive Plan, and any subsequently adopted Plans, and will be 
consistent with the intent and purpose of this Section:  The subject property is 
designated as Business Park on the Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use and 
Character Map and is located in the conceptual Presidential Corridor Gateway District 
identified for further planning.  The Business Park designation is defined as one 
generally for areas that include office, research, or industrial uses, planned and 
developed as a unified project, and that need good access to arterial roadways.  The 
Comprehensive Plan states that the focus of planning efforts for the Presidential 
Corridor Gateway should be accommodating business (research and development, 
office, and light industrial) that builds upon the assets in the area and protects and 
enhances this primary gateway into the City. 
 
The BioCorridor Planned Development District has a higher standard than the City’s 
typical industrial zoning districts, and unique standards that set it apart from other 
commercial districts. The uses, standards, and processes that are proposed for the 
BioCorridor Planned Development District will provide land zoned for business park 
uses (such as research and development), will build upon the assets in the area 
(such as the greenway) , and will protect and enhance this gateway into the City 
(such as the installation of highway buffers).  In addition, the ordinance is created to 
be flexible where possible in an effort to accommodate new and expanding business 
ventures.  

3. The proposal is compatible with existing or permitted uses on abutting sites 
and will not adversely affect adjacent development: There are no proposed 
developments for the subject property at this time.  The BioCorridor Planned 
Development District Ordinance will allow for several land uses in the different 
districts and will accommodate various site and architectural designs.  The only land 
use buffers that are proposed are intended to mitigate the impacts of the highways 
and to mitigate impacts on the greenway and areas under the jurisdiction of the US 
Army Corps of Engineers.   
One impact the development of this area will have on adjacent development is the 
eventual accessibility to infrastructure.  At a point in the near future, upgrades will 
be made to Health Science Center Parkway and sewer service will be extended into 
the area.  As development occurs, all area infrastructure will be expanded, increasing 
the value and marketability of neighboring properties.   

4. Every dwelling unit need not front on a public street but shall have access to 
a public street directly or via a court, walkway, public area, or area owned 
by a homeowners association: No dwelling units are proposed at this time, but 
should they wish to be developed, they may only be so on the second floor and 
above in mixed-use buildings.  The only land use district within the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District that will allow such mixed-use development (BC-R&D, 
BioCorridor-Research and Development), is oriented around Health Science Center 
Parkway. 

115



5. The development includes provision of adequate public improvements, 
including, but not limited to, parks, schools, and other public facilities: Public 
infrastructure improvements are being planned and provided as set forth in the ILA, 
separate and apart from the BioCorridor Planned Development District rezoning 
process. 

6. The development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, 
welfare, or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the 
vicinity: The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the 
vicinity. 

7. The development will not adversely affect the safety and convenience of 
vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian circulation in the vicinity, including traffic 
reasonably expected to be generated by the proposed use and other uses 
reasonably anticipated in the area considering existing zoning and land uses 
in the area: The BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance promotes 
multimodal forms of transportation. The cities of College Station and Bryan are re-
designing and reconstructing Health Science Center Parkway to facilitate future 
development in the area.  Multi-modal accommodations are being made with the 
design.  

 
Budget & Financial Summary: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Aerial and Small Area Map 
2. Background Information 
3. Draft September 6, 2012 Planning & Zoning Commission Minutes 
4. A copy of the BioCorridor Master Plan may be downloaded from 

http://onehealthplusbiocorridor.com/downloads/ 
5. A copy of the BioCorridor Design Guidelines as proposed by Jacobs Consultancy may 

be downloaded from http://gis.bryantx.gov/public/BioCorridor%20Information/ 
6. Ordinance  

 
 
 

116

http://onehealthplusbiocorridor.com/downloads/�
http://gis.bryantx.gov/public/BioCorridor%20Information/�


BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
NOTIFICATIONS 
Advertised Commission Hearing Date: September 6, 2012 
Advertised Council Hearing Dates:  September 27, 2012 
 
The following neighborhood organizations that are registered with the City of College 
Station’s Neighborhood Services have received a courtesy letter of notification of this 
public hearing: 

None 
Property owner notices mailed:  23 
Contacts in support: None as of date of staff report 
Contacts in opposition: None as of date of staff report 
Inquiry contacts: Four as of date of staff report 
 
 
ADJACENT LAND USES 
 

Direction Comprehensive Plan Zoning Land Use 

North 
(City of Bryan) 

Mixed Use Regional 
(Southwest Bryan 

Highest and Best Use 
Study) 

Agricultural Open 
and Planned 
Development 

Biotherapeutic 
manufacturing and 

Vacant 

South Business Park 

A-O Agricultural 
Open and 

approximately five 
acres of C-2 
Commercial 

Industrial 

Vehicular storage, 
office, auto repair, 
fraternity house, 

single family, 
mobile/manufactured 

home park, and 
vacant 

East 
 

Suburban 
Commercial 

 

A-O Agricultural 
Open 

Single family and 
Vacant 

West 
 

Business Park 
 

A-O Agricultural 
Open Vacant 

 
 
DEVELOPMENT HISTORY 
Annexation: 1995 
Zoning: A-O Agricultural Open upon annexation 
Final Plat: None 
Site development: None 

117



118



 

119



120



121



122



123



124



125



BioCorridor Planned Development 
District Ordinance 

Unified Land Use, Project Review Processes, 
and Development Standards 

126



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 

127



 

BIOCORRIDOR PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ORDINANCE 

Table of Contents 
 

 ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

 1.1  Purpose of BioCorridor Planned Development District Zoning Ordinance ...................  1 

 1.2 District Purpose Statements  ..............................................................................  1 

 1.3 Dimensional Standards  .....................................................................................  5 

 ARTICLE 2. BIOCORRIDOR DISTRICT MAP  ......................................................................  6 

 ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS  ................................................................................................  7 

 ARTICLE 4. BIOCORRIDOR BOARD 

 4.1 Creation  ........................................................................................................  17 

 4.2 Membership and Terms  ...................................................................................  17 

 4.3 Officers, Meetings, Quorum  ..............................................................................  17 

 4.4 Powers and Duties  ..........................................................................................  18 

 4.5 Staff  .............................................................................................................  18 

 ARTICLE 5. BIOCORRIDOR REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 5.1 Creation  ........................................................................................................  20 

 5.2 Membership  ...................................................................................................  20 

 5.3 Powers and Duties  ..........................................................................................  20 

 ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

 6.1 Conformity with this Ordinance and Applicable Ordinances of the City  ...................  22 

 6.2 Pre-Application Conference  ..............................................................................  22 

 6.3 Application Forms and Fees  ..............................................................................  22 

 6.4 Application Submission  ....................................................................................  23 

 6.5 Application Completeness  ................................................................................  23 

 6.6 Required Public Notice  .....................................................................................  24 

 6.7 Simultaneous Processing of Applications  ............................................................  24 

 6.8 Expiration of Applications, Permits, and Projects  .................................................  25 

 6.9 Appeals from Development Exaction Requirements  .............................................  25 

 6.10 Figures and Flow Charts  ..................................................................................  28 

 ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

 7.1 Plat Review  ....................................................................................................  29 

 7.2 Site Plan Review  .............................................................................................  42 

 7.3 Development Permit  ........................................................................................  44 

 7.4 Building Permit  ...............................................................................................  46 

 7.5 Certificate of Occupancy  ..................................................................................  47 

 7.6 Certificate of Completion  .................................................................................  48 

 7.7 Sign Permit  ....................................................................................................  49 

 7.8 Administrative Adjustment  ...............................................................................  50 

 7.9 Variances  .......................................................................................................  51 

128



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 

129



 

 ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

 8.1 Authority and Purpose  .....................................................................................  53 

 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions ..............  53 

 8.3 Waiver of Subdivision Standards  .......................................................................  63 

 8.4 Responsibility for Payment for Installation Costs  .................................................  64 

 8.5 Construction, Guarantee of Performance, and Acceptance of Public Infrastructure  ...  65 

 8.6 Certifications  ..................................................................................................  66 

 ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

 9.1 General Development Standards  .......................................................................  69 

 9.2 Overall Design Goals and Objectives  .................................................................  69 

 9.3 General Provisions  ..........................................................................................  70 

 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards  ............................................................................  72 

 9.5 Access Management and Circulation  ..................................................................  81 

 9.6 Signs  ............................................................................................................. 88  

 9.7 Private Common Open Space  ...........................................................................  96 

 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping  .........................................................................  97 

 9.9 Highway Buffers  ...........................................................................................  103 

 9.10 Greenway Buffers  .........................................................................................  105 

 9.11 Solid Waste  ..................................................................................................  106 

 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management  ...........................................................  107 

 9.13 Outdoor Lighting Standards ............................................................................  120 

 9.14 Outdoor Storage and Display  ..........................................................................  121 

ARTICLE 10.  BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

 10.1 Design Standards for the Built Form  ................................................................  122 

 10.2 Overall Design Goals and Objectives  ................................................................ 122 

 10.3 Design Standards Applying to the BioCorridor Planned Development District  ........  123 

 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments  ................................  124 

 

 Exhibit A-1  ...................................................................................................................  130

130



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 

131



ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

Section 1.1 Purpose of BioCorridor Planned Development District Zoning Ordinance 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 1 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 1. LAND USE. 

1.1 Purpose of BioCorridor Planned Development District Zoning Ordinance. 

To provide a mixed-use zoning district that establishes a planned urban environment that 
promotes leading-edged international bio-technology. This Ordinance may sometimes be 

referred to as the ―BioCorridor Ordinance‖ as same may, from time to time, be amended.

1.2 District Purpose Statements. 

There shall be three Districts within the Planned Development District. The purpose of each 
District is as follows:  

A. BioCorridor Research and Development District (BC-R&D) is a district dedicated to 

the research, design, development, and testing of new products and services involving 

uses that support the purpose of the BioCorridor Planned Development District. This 
district consists of research land uses, especially that of biotechnology, as well as a mix of 
uses that support such activities from retail, commercial, office, entertainment, and high-
density residential. 

B. BioCorridor Office and Research District (BC-O&R) is a district that is dedicated to 

the research, design, development, testing, and preliminary production of new products 
and services that support the purpose of the BioCorridor Planned Development District. 
This district allows a limited mix of uses that support such activities as retail, commercial, 
and office uses.  

C. BioCorridor Manufacturing District (BC-M) is a district dedicated to the research, 
development, testing, and production of new products and services that support the 
purpose of the BioCorridor Planned Development District. This district is specifically 
intended to become the national bio-manufacturing center and can accommodate larger 

manufacturing uses.  

D. Use Table. 

Signified by an ―A‖, the following uses are allowed in the designated Districts as follows: 

 BioCorridor Zoning Districts 

 BC-R&D BC-O&R BC-M 

Residential A - - 

Office A A A 

Medical services A A - 

Retail sales and service A A - 

Light research and development  A A A 

Heavy research and development  - A A 

 

132



ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

Section 1.2 District Purpose Statements 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 2 27-Sept-12 

Specific use examples include but are not limited to: 

Residential 

Multi-family on second story and above 

Office 

Call center 

Business services 

Contractor’s office 

Professional office 

Medical Services 

Medical and health facilities and uses 

Medical offices 

Laboratories and medical diagnostic facilities 

Hospitals 

Retail Sales and Services 

Artist gallery or studio 

Auditoriums 

Banks 

Broadcast studios 

Convenience store 

Computer sales and repair 

Commercial laundry (dry cleaners – no onsite laundering)  

Conference Center  

Copying and reprographics service 

Day care center 

Health club / gymnasium / gymnastic school / exercise business 

Museum (nonprofit) 

Office equipment sales 

Hotels / motels 

Night club 

Parcel delivery service 

Restaurants 

Light Research and Development 

Assembly of products 

Business incubator centers 

Communication systems research and development 

Computer systems research and development 

Electronic repair and assembly 

Research and development laboratories 

Pharmaceutical manufacturing 

Software development 

 

133



ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

Section 1.2 District Purpose Statements 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 3 27-Sept-12 

Specific use examples include but are not limited to (cont.): 

Heavy Research and Development 

Incinerators (incidental to the primary use) 

Manufacturing and technology support industries 

Packaging 

Printing and publishing, book binding 

Wholesale distribution and catalog sales 

E. Prohibited Uses. 
The following uses are prohibited uses within the BioCorridor Planned Development 
District: 

Adult Establishments  

Appliance sales and repair 

Automobile Services  (includes all automobile-related uses such as but not 
limited to: sales, repair, body shops, service, fueling as automobile includes 
RV’s, boats, motorcycles, jet ski’s, etc.) 

Bakery, wholesale and distribution 

Boarding house 

Bottling plant 

Building materials sales 

Cemeteries, crematoriums, mausoleums, columbaria, and memorial gardens 

Ceramic products manufacturing 

Churches or Religious Institutions 

Coal and wood lots 

Commercial dorms (private dorms) 

Concrete plants 

Contractor or building supply, retail (with or without outside storage) 

Convenience stores with gasoline sales 

Correctional facilities and jails 

Detached single-family dwellings 

Feed and grain sales and storage 

Food packaging including packing shed 

Foundries 

Forging 

Metal casting 

Funeral homes 

Furniture finishing and repair 

Garden centers  

Heavy equipment sales or repair 

Ice kiosks 

Junk, wrecking, scrap or salvage yards 

134



ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

Section 1.2 District Purpose Statements 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 4 27-Sept-12 

 Prohibited Uses. (cont.) 

Kennels 

Landfills 

Manufactured home or office sales 

Mini-storage 

Movie theatres 

Moving and storage service 

Multi-family not part of a mixed-use development 

Quarries or mining 

Rendering plants 

Retirement centers, nursing homes, or life-care centers 

Seed processing and packaging  

Sheet-metal fabrication 

Single-family residential 

Slaughtering and meat packing plants 

Storage yards 

Tattoo parlor 

Any use which constitutes an unreasonable danger to the health and safety of 
the general public or which constitutes a public nuisance. This may include 
uses that are obnoxious or injurious by reason of the production or emission of 
dust, smoke, refuse matter, odor, gas, fumes, noise, vibration, or similar 
substance or conditions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135



ARTICLE 1. LAND USE 

Section 1.3 Dimensional Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 5 27-Sept-12 

1.3 Dimensional Standards. 

The following table establishes dimensional standards that shall be applied within the 
BioCorridor: 

Notes: (A) The maximum height is as determined by the Easterwood Airport Zoning Ordinance. 
Maximum height applies to the highest point of all structures, accessories, 
appurtenances, landscaping, etc., constructed or installed at time of development. 

(B) The setbacks along Health Science Center Parkway shall always apply if the property has 
any frontage along Health Science Center Parkway. 

(C) A minimum side setback of 7.5 feet shall be required for each building or group of 
contiguous buildings. 

(D) Lot line construction on interior lots with no side yard or setback is allowed only where 
the building is covered by fire protection on the site or separated by a dedicated public 
right-of-way or easement of at least 15 feet in width. 

BC-R&D BC-O&R BC-M

Minimum Lot Area 20,000 SF 20,000 SF 20,000 SF

Minimum Lot Width 100' 100' 100'

Minimum Lot Depth 200' 200' 200'

Maximum Height (A) (A) (A)

Minimum Setback to HSC Parkway ROW 15' 15' 25'

Maximum Setback to HSC Parkway ROW 75' 75' 75'

Minimum Side Setback (C) (D) (C) (D) (C) (D)

Minimum Street Side Setback

(not HSC Parkway ROW)
15' 15' 25'

Minimum Rear Setback 30' 15' 15'

Minimum Setback to ROW or public way 15' 15' 25'

Maximum Setback to ROW or public way 100' 100' 100'

Minimum Side Setback (C) (D) (C) (D) (C) (D)

Minimum Rear Setback 30' 15' 15'

BioCorridor Zoning Districts

For properties with frontage on HSC Parkway (B)

For properties without frontage on HSC Parkway

136



ARTICLE 2. BIOCORRIDOR DISTRICT MAP 

 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 6 27-Sept-12 

Article 2. BIOCORRIDOR DISTRICT MAP 

The gradient colors are intended to illustrate that the exact boundary between two 

districts is fluid and will be determined once the land within each area is subdivided 

and the potential impact of each development on adjacent sites is fully examined. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 7 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS. 

Access Way: An Access Way consists of a minimum fifteen-foot (15’) wide public access 
easement or public right-of-way. A minimum five-foot (5’) sidewalk shall be constructed in 
the center of the Access Way, except where the Access Way provides connection to a 

multi-use path, a minimum eight-foot (8’) sidewalk shall be provided.  

Adult Establishment: Land uses involved in providing entertainment or amusement to a 
person or persons, such a type of land use being an adult arcade, adult bookstore, adult 
cabaret, adult escort agency, adult massage establishment, adult motel, adult movie 
theater, adult novelty store, adult service establishment, adult video store, sex parlor, 
sexual encounter center nude modeling studio, or other adult entertainment uses. ―Other 
adult entertainment use‖ also includes any other commercial enterprise, that has as a 

primary business purpose of offering of a service or the selling, renting or exhibiting of 
material, devices or any other items, intended to provide sexual stimulation or sexual 
gratification to its customers, and which material, devices or any other items is 
distinguished by or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or 

relating to specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas, or whose employees or 
customers appear in a state of nudity.  

Alley: A minor public way which provides a secondary means of vehicular access to the 
abutting property otherwise served from a public street.  

Appliance Sales and Repair: A land use primarily for the sale and repair of household goods 
and home equipment. 

Area of Special Flood Hazard: The land adjacent to a clearly defined channel within a 
community subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any given year. 
The area may be designated as Zone A on the Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM). After 

detailed ratemaking has been completed in preparation for publication of the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), Zone A usually is refined into Zones A, AE, AH, AO, A1—99, 
VO, V1—30, VE, or V. 

Artist Gallery or Studio: Where objects of art are created or displayed for the public 
enrichment or where said objects of art are displayed for sale (including, but not limited 

to, the teaching of photography, painting, sculpturing, and other similar skills) as the 
primary use of the structure.  

Automobile Services: Any premises or structures when used for the sales, servicing and/or 
repair of motor vehicles, including paint and body work, engine rebuilding and minor 
maintenance activities, irrespective of commercial gain derived there from. Excepted from 
this definition are residential premises where not more than two (2) motor vehicles 
belonging to the lawful residents thereof are involved in such activities at any one (1) 
time, and not in operating condition, or where not more than one (1) motor vehicle, 

whether or not in operating condition, and not belonging to the lawful residents thereof is 
involved in such activities for a period of more than one (1) week, and only one (1) motor 
vehicle may be serviced and/or repaired each month.  

BioCorridor: When used alone, this refers to the area of land identified elsewhere in this 
Ordinance that is subject to its requirements. 

BioCorridor Board: A board comprised of appointees from the City of Bryan, City of College 

Station and Texas A&M University, authorized to make decisions and recommendations on 

specific functions as set forth in this Ordinance. 

BioCorridor Review Committee: A development review committee consisting of staff 
representatives from the City of Bryan and City of College Station charged with the 
implementation of the BioCorridor Ordinance as set forth in this Ordinance. 

Block: A tract or parcel of designated as such on a duly recorded plat.  

Block Length: A measurement of the linear distance of land along a Blockface that is 
bounded on both ends by public through streets or by a combination of a public through 

street, Public Way, railroad, or one hundred-year floodplain. Gated streets, private streets, 
cul-de-sac, alleys, private driveways, or Access Ways do not divide land into separate 
Blockfaces.  

138



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 8 27-Sept-12 

 

 

Blockface: That portion of a block or tract of land facing the same side of a single street and 
lying between the closest intersection streets.  

Boarding House: A dwelling other than a hotel, where for compensation and by 
prearrangement for definite periods, meals, or lodging and meals are provided for three 
persons or more, but not exceeding 20 persons on a weekly or monthly basis. 

Bottling Plant: A plant where beverages are put into bottles, either plastic or glass, with 

caps. 

Building: Any structure having a roof supported by columns or walls and built for the support, 
shelter or enclosure of persons, chattel or movable property of any kind and which is 
affixed to the land.  

Building Official: The designated ―Building Official‖ of the City, or his/her designated 
representative. 

Building Plot or Premises: All of the land within a project, whether one (1) or more lots, 
developed according to a common plan or design for similar or compatible uses, that may 
have shared access or parking, and that singularly or in phases is treated as such for site 
plan review purposes. The determination of the boundaries of a building plot is the first 
step in the site plan or project review, unless such determination has previously been 
made at the time of plat approval. For development not subject to site plan review, the 
building plot or premises shall be the exterior boundary of any included lots, in the event 

that the structure sits astride two (2) or more lots. In the event that two (2) or more lots 
are under single ownership and the structure does not meet the required side yard 
setback, both lots shall be considered the building plot or premises. Demolished sites 

located in larger parking lots that may not have previously been considered part of a 
larger building plot, will be considered part of the plot if access is shared with the site.  

Caliper: The width of the trunk of a tree measured at twelve inches (12‖) above grade.  

Canopy Tree: See "Tree, Canopy."  

Cemeteries, Crematoriums, Mausoleums, Columbaria, and Memorial Gardens: A 
property used for the interring of the dead.   

Ceramic Products Manufacturing: Use of various ovens for hardening, burning, or drying of 
substances such as grain, meal, or clay, especially brick-lined oven used to bake or fire 
ceramics. 

City: Unless otherwise specified, the municipal corporation in which the land is located.  

139

http://library.municode.com/HTML/15047/images/11-2-A.jpg


ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 9 27-Sept-12 

Clinic: A facility operated by one (1) or more physicians, dentists, chiropractors, or other 

licensed practitioners of the healing arts for the examination and treatment of persons 
solely on an outpatient basis.  

Coal and Wood Lots: An area restricted to the growing of forest trees or storage of coal, 

especially for building material or fuel. 

Common Open Space: A parcel or parcels of land or an area of water, or a combination of 
land and water within a development site provided and made legally available for the use 
and enjoyment of residents of a proposed project.  

Concrete Plant (permanent): A permanent manufacturing facility for the production of 
concrete or asphalt.   

Contractor or Building Supply, Retail (with or without outside storage): A store where 

builders can purchase materials for building houses and related structures. 

Contractor Offices (except job sites): A place in which business, clerical, or professional 
activities related to contract work are conducted. 

Convenience Stores with Gasoline Sales or Automobile Service Station: Any building, 
land area or other premises, or portion thereof, used or intended to be used for the retail 
dispensing or sales of beverages, food, alcohol, or convenience items such as over-the-

counter medicine, toiletries, and household supplies, or of automobile fuels, lubricants, 
and automobile accessories, including those operations listed under minor automobile 
repair.  

Corner Lot: A lot abutting upon two (2) or more streets at their intersections. 

Correctional Facilities and Jails: A place of confinement for the punishment and 
rehabilitation of criminals. 

Cul-de-Sac: A street having but one (1) outlet to another street and terminating on the other 

end in a vehicular turnaround.  

Day Care Center: Any facility or premises where a total of seven (7) or more children under 
sixteen (16) years of age, and/or elderly adults, regularly attend for purposes of custody, 
care, or instruction; and which children or elderly adults are not members of the 

immediate nuclear family of any natural person actually operating the facility or premises.  

Density: The number of dwelling units per net acre.  

Detention: The temporary storage and controlled release of stormwater flows.  

Development: Any manmade change to improved or unimproved real estate that requires a 
permit or approval from any agency of the City or County, including, but not limited to, 
buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation, 
clearing, drilling operations, storage of materials, or the subdivision of property. Routine 
repair and maintenance activities are exempted.  

District: When used alone, the term refers to the geographical sections within this Planned 

Development District for which different kinds of uses and other requirements apply 
pursuant to this Ordinance. 

Drainage Area: That area, measured in a horizontal plane, which contributes stormwater 
flows by gravity flow along natural or man-made pathways to a single designated point 

along a pathway.  

Drainage Easement: An interest in land granted to others for creation, repair, or 
maintenance of a drainage facility.  

Drainage Facility: Any element necessary to convey stormwater flows from initial contact 
with earth to its disposition through a watercourse; said drainage facilities may consist of 
both public and private storm sewers (closed conduits), streets, improved channels 
constructed in conformity with the adopted Bryan/College Station Unified Design 
Guidelines, Technical Specifications and Standard Details, unimproved drainageways left in 
their natural condition, areas covered by drainage easements for the purpose of providing 
concentrated or overland sheet flow, and all appurtenances to the foregoing, including 

inlets, manholes, junction boxes, headwalls, energy dissipaters, culverts, etc.  

Easement: A right of use over property which the underlying fee is owned by another. 

140



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 10 27-Sept-12 

Encroachment: An intrusion, obstruction, or other infringement on an area reserved for a 

specific purpose such as an easement or floodway.  

Engineer: A person duly authorized and licensed under the provisions of the Texas 
Engineering Registration Act, to practice the profession of engineering.  

Façade: The exterior face of a building.  

Façade Work: The removal, repair, or replacement, substitution or change of any material or 
architectural element on the exterior face of a building, which includes, but is not limited 
to, painting, material change, awning or canopy replacement, signage, or other permanent 
visible façade treatment.  

Family: A family is one (1) or more persons occupying a single dwelling unit, provided that 
unless all members are related by (1) blood, (2) adoption, (3) guardianship, (4) marriage, 

or (5) are part of a group home for disabled persons, no such family shall contain more 
than four (4) persons.  

Feed and Grain Sales and Storage: A building used for the display and sale of livestock 

feed and affiliated equipment, and material and equipment used primarily for farming.   

Filed: The point at which an application has been determined to be complete and all required 
fees have been paid. 

Floodway: The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must 
be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water 
surface elevation more than one foot (1’).  

Food packaging including packing shed: The wrapping or boxing of any product in which a 
product is for sale that is a nourishing substance that is eaten, drunk, or otherwise taken 
into the body to sustain life, provide energy, promote growth, etc., for human or animal 
development.  

Foundries: An establishment where founding is carried on in the act, process, or art of 
casting metals. 

Forging: To form by heating and hammering or to form by a mechanical or hydraulic press 
with or without heat 

Funeral Homes: An establishment where the deceased are prepared for burial or cremation, 
where the body may be viewed, and where funeral services are sometimes held.  

Furniture finishing and repair: An establishment providing repair services for either indoor 

or outdoor furniture. Furniture finishing includes, but not limited to: varnish, penetrating 
resin, shellac, lacquer, wax, and oil. 

Garden Centers: A place of business where retail and wholesale products and produce are 
sold to the consumer. These centers, which may include a nursery and/or greenhouses as 
secondary uses, import most of the items sold, and may include plants, nursery stock, 
potting soil, hardware, power equipment and machinery, hoes, rakes, shovels, and other 

such garden and farm variety tools.  

Grading: Any act by which soil is cleared, stripped, stockpiled, excavated, scarified, filled, or 
any combination thereof. 

Greenway: A linear open space that follows natural features like the floodplains of creeks and 

rivers or human-made features such as utility, road, or rail corridors.  

Groundcover: A spreading plant including sods and grasses less than eighteen inches (18‖) in 
height.  

Health Facility: A facility or institution, whether public or private, principally engaged in 
providing services for health maintenance, diagnosis or treatment of disease, pain, injury, 
or deformity of physical conditions. This definition does not include a medical clinic or 
hospital as defined herein.  

Health Club: A building designed and equipped for the conduct of sports, or exercise, or other 
customary and usual recreational activities, operated for profit or not for profit and which 
is open only to members and guests of the club or facility.  

Heavy Equipment Sales or Repair: The sale or repair of heavy duty vehicles like earth 
movers, road pavers, asphalt makers and steam rollers, and other construction type 
equipment.  

141



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 11 27-Sept-12 

Height: The vertical distance from the established grade at the center of the front of the 

structure to the highest point of the roof surface if a flat roof, to the deck line for mansard 
roofs, and to the mean height level between eaves and ridge for gabled, hip, and gambrel 
roofs.  

Hospital: A building, or portion thereof, used or designed for the medical or surgical 
treatment of the sick, mentally ill, or injured persons, primarily on an inpatient basis, and 
including as an integral part, related facilities such as laboratories, outpatient facilities, or 
training facilities; provided that this definition shall not include rooms in any residential 
dwelling, hotel, or apartment hotel not ordinarily intended to be occupied by said persons.  

Hotel/Motel/Extended Stay Facility: A building, or group of buildings, used or intended to 
be used as living quarters for transient guests, but not excluding permanent guests, and 

may include a café, drugstore, clothes pressing shop, barber shop, or other service 
facilities for the guests for compensation. A transient guest is any visitor or person who 
owns, rents, or uses a lodging or dwelling unit, or a portion thereof, for less than thirty 
(30) days and whose permanent address for legal purposes is not the lodging or dwelling 

unit occupied by the visitor.  

Ice Kiosks: A small, freestanding, one-story structure used for commercial purposes to sell 

ice. 

Incinerators: An enclosed chamber in which heat is produced to destroy refuse 

Junk, Wrecking, Scrap or Salvage yards: An open area where wastes or used or 
secondhand materials are bought, sold, exchanged, stored, processed, or handled. 
Material shall include but are not limited to scrap iron and other metals, paper, rags, 
rubber tires, and bottles. An automobile wrecking yard shall be considered a junkyard 

Kennels: An establishment with indoor and/or outdoor pens in which more than four dogs or 

domesticated animals more than one year old are housed, groomed, bred, boarded, 
trained or sold for commercial purposes. 

Landfills: A disposal site where solid waste, such as paper, glass, and metal, is buried 
between layers of dirt and other materials in such a way as to reduce contamination of the 
surrounding land. 

 

 

142

http://library.municode.com/HTML/15047/images/11-2-C.jpg


ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 12 27-Sept-12 

Lot: The physical and undivided tract or parcel of land as shown on a duly recorded plat. The 

following represent the various platted lot types:  

(1) Corner Lot: A lot located at the intersection of and abutting upon two (2) or more 
streets.  

(2) Double Frontage or Through Lot: A lot, other than a corner lot, which has 
frontage on more than one (1) street.  

(3) Flag Lot: A lot not fronting on or abutting a public road and where access to the 
public road is by a narrow, private right-of-way.  

(4) Interior Lot: A lot other than a corner lot.  

Lot Area: The horizontal land area within lot lines, excluding any wetlands and/or drainage 
easements.  

Lot Coverage: A measure of intensity of land use that represents the portion of a site that is 
impervious. This portion includes but is not limited to all areas covered by buildings, 
parking structures, driveways - gravel or paved, roads, and sidewalks.  

Lot Width: The measurement between side lot lines along a line that is parallel to the front 
lot line or its chord and that is located at the minimum front setback distance from the 
front lot line.  

Manufactured Home or Office Sales: The offering for sale, storage, or display of trailers or 
mobile homes on a parcel of land but excluding the use of such facilities as dwellings 
either on a temporary or permanent basis.   

Medical Clinic: See "Clinic."  

Metal Casting: A manufacturing process by which a liquid material is poured into a mold, 
which contains a hollow cavity of the desired shape, and then allowed to solidify. 

Minimum Lot Width: Lot Width at the front setback line.  

Mini-storage: A structure containing separate, individual, and private storage spaces or 
varying sizes. 

Moving and Storage Service: A building used primarily for the storage of goods and 
materials. 

Multi-Family Dwelling: A residential structure providing complete, independent living 
facilities for three (3) or more families or households living independently of each other 
and including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, cooking, eating, and sanitation in 

each unit. Condominiums are included in this definition.  

Non-Canopy Tree: See "Tree, Non-Canopy."  

Nursing Home: A building, or portion thereof, used or designed for the housing of the aged, 
and/or mentally or physically handicapped persons who are under daily medical, 
psychological, or therapeutic care; provided that this definition shall not include rooms in 
any residential dwelling, hotel, or apartment hotel not ordinarily intended to be occupied 

by said persons. 

Office: A room or group of rooms used for conducting the affairs of a business, profession, 
service, industry or government and generally furnished with desks, tables, files, and 
communication equipment.  Office includes firms and activities in an office setting focusing 
on business, administrative, corporate, government and quasi-public agencies, 

educational, professional, medical, financial services, and similar offices where the primary 
focus of the office is not open to the general public or pedestrian traffic in contrast to 

retail, commercial, or shopping uses.  

Medical Services: Includes firms and activities such as medical centers, counseling centers, 
clinics, laboratories, hospitals, and other allied health services. 

Outdoor Storage: The keeping, in an unenclosed area, of any goods, junk, material or 
merchandise in the same place for more than twenty-four (24) hours and not actively 
being sold.  

Outdoor Display: The placement of goods for active sale outside the building.  

Pad Site: The portion of a building plot that is located on the periphery of the site and has at 
least seventy-five feet (75’) of frontage on a public street classified as a collector or 
greater on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan. A pad site contains a stand alone, single or 

143



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 13 27-Sept-12 

multiple tenant structure and meets all site plan requirements within the pad site area. 

The total area of all pad sites within a defined building plot may not be more than one-
third (1/3) of the total area of the building plot.  

Parking, Interior: Parking rows which are not located on the periphery of the proposed 

project site and further, where none of the parking spaces abut any property line 
associated with the proposed project site.  

Parking, Peripheral: Parking rows which abut the periphery or property lines associated with 
the proposed project site.  

Parking Space: A space used for the parking of a motor vehicle not on the paved or regularly 
traveled portion of a public street or within private access easements and which meets the 
requirements of this Ordinance as to size, location, and configuration.  

Permitted Use: A use specifically allowed in one (1) or more of the various Districts created 
in this Ordinance.  

Person: Every natural person, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, corporation, or 

other group which conducts activities regulated hereunder as a single entity, whether 
same be a legal entity or not, venture, or trust.  

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing: The process of industrial–scale synthesis of pharmaceutical 

drugs. 

Plan, Preliminary: A conceptual plan of a subdivision intended for planning purposes showing 
the general location and boundaries of individual parcels of land subdivided into lots, with 
streets, alleys, easements, etc., generally drawn to scale and meeting the requirements of 
this Ordinance but not intended for final action in recordable form filed with the applicable 
county records.  

Planning and Zoning Commission: The Planning and Zoning Commission appointed by the 

City Council in which the land is located. 

Plat: A map of a subdivision intended to be filed for record with the applicable county records 
showing the exact location and boundaries of individual parcels of land subdivided into 
lots, with streets, alleys, easements, etc., drawn to scale; includes a final plat, replat, 

amending plat, minor plat, development plat, and vacating plat meeting the requirements 
of this Ordinance.  

Plat, Minor: As defined by SECTION 212.0065 OF THE TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE, which 

currently is a subdivision of land involving four (4) or fewer lots fronting on an existing 
street and that does not require the creation of any new street or the extension of 
municipal facilities.  

Public Way: A Public Way provides circulation and through movement similar to a public 
street but is a privately maintained drive, constructed to certain standards, with 
unrestricted public access designated as a public access easement. The drive shall be 

designed to the geometric design, construction standards, and driveway spacing of a 
Commercial Street according to the Bryan/College Station Unified Design Guidelines with 
the following modifications. A Public Way shall have a minimum pavement structure 
constructed to the City's fire lane standards, a minimum drive width of twenty-four feet 
(24’) back-to-back of curb when no parking is provided, and a minimum horizontal curve 

radius of two hundred feet (200’). No head-in parking is permitted but parallel parking is 
allowed if the drive is widened an additional ten feet (10’) for each row of parallel parking 

provided. Parking on the drive may count toward the minimum off-street parking 
requirements. Five-foot sidewalks shall be provided on each side of the drive and placed a 
minimum three feet (3’) from the back of curb. The public access easement shall be a 
minimum of forty feet (40’) in width to incorporate the entire width of the pavement 
section and sidewalks on each side.  

Quarries or Mining: An open excavation or pit from which stone is obtained by digging, 
cutting, or blasting; or the process or business of extracting ore or minerals from the 

ground. 

Redevelopment: The revision or replacement of an existing land use or existing site 
according to a comprehensive plan.  

144



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 14 27-Sept-12 

Rendering Plants: A plant that converts packing-house waste, kitchen grease, and livestock 

carcasses into industrial fats and oils and various other products. 

Research and Development Laboratory: An establishment or facility used for carrying on 
investigation in the natural, physical or social sciences, which may include technology, 

biotechnology, engineering, and product development.  

Residential: A land use used or designated in whole or in part as a place for people to live.  
The term includes the multi-family portion of a mixed-use development. 

Restaurant: An establishment that serves food and beverages primarily to persons seated 
within the building. This includes, but is not limited to, cafés, tea rooms, and outdoor 
cafés.  

Retail Sales: Establishments engaged in selling goods, merchandise or personal services to 

the general public for personal or household consumption and rendering services incidental 
to the sale of such goods.  

Seed Processing and Packaging: A series of operations performed in the making or treat-

ment of a seed and the wrapping or boxing of the seeds in which the product is for sale. 

Setback Line: A line which marks the minimum distance a structure must be located from the 
property line of the tract on which it is located, and establishes the minimum required 

front, side, or rear yard space of a building plot.  

Shrub: A woody perennial plant differing from a perennial herb by its more woody stem and 
from a tree by its low stature and habit of branching from the base.  

Sheet Metal Fabrication: The manufacturing from standardized parts of a distinct object 
differing from the individual components.   

Single-Family: A residential unit providing complete, independent living facilities for one (1) 
family including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, cooking, eating and sanitation.  

Sign: Any written or graphic representation, decoration, form, emblem, trademark, flag, 
banner, or other feature or device of similar character which is used for the 
communication of commercial information, or communication of ideas or subjects of 
political significance, and about which the following definitions apply:  

(1) Architectural Element: An element, design, or motif, that is installed, attached, 
painted, or applied to the exterior of a building or structure for the purpose of 
ornamentation or artistic expression, and not relating to a specific sign, logo, or 

identity of any specific business tenant.  
(2) Attached Sign: A sign attached to, or applied on, and totally supported by a part of 

a building or mounted to site lighting poles located on private property. If the sole 
significant purpose of the building or part thereof, is to support or constitute the 
sign, the sign shall not be an ―attached‖ sign. 

(3) Campus Wayfinding Sign: A sign utilized as a traffic-control device in off-street or 

access areas whose primary purpose is to direct traffic within the planned 
development district, that may include the names of tenants or businesses, but does 
not contain any additional commercial logo, graphics, or information.  

(4) Commercial Banner: A sign made of cloth, canvas, or other flexible material which 
directs attention to a business, commodity, service, entertainment, or attraction 

sold, offered, or existing.  
(5) Commercial Sign: A sign which directs attention to a business, commodity, service, 

entertainment, or attraction sold, offered, or existing.  
(6) Development Sign: A sign announcing a proposed building project prior to 

completion of such project.  
(7) Flag: A piece of fabric used for decoration (contains no copy or logo) or for 

identification (contains copy and/or logo).  
(8) Low Profile Freestanding Sign: A sign with a permanent foundation which is not 

attached to a building, but is a stand-alone sign.  

(9) Non-Commercial Sign: A work of art or message which is political but which does 
not fall within the definition of ―Political Sign‖ herein, religious, or pertaining to a 
point of view, expression, opinion, or idea that contains no reference to the 
endorsement, advertising of, or promotion of patronage, of a business, commodity, 
service, entertainment, or attraction that is sold, offered, or existing.  

145



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 15 27-Sept-12 

(10) Off-Premise Commercial Sign: A sign which directs attention to a business, 

commodity, service, entertainment, or attraction sold, offered, or existing 
elsewhere than upon the premises where such sign is located.  

(11) On-Premise Commercial Sign: A sign which directs attention to a business, 

commodity, service, entertainment, or attraction sold, offered, or existing upon 
the premises where such sign is located.  

(12) Political Sign: Any sign which promotes a candidate for any public office or which 
advocates a position on any social or political issue as its primary purpose, has an 
effective area smaller than 36 square feet, is not more than 8 feet high, is not 
illuminated, has no moving elements, and is located on private property with the 
consent of the owner. Political signs are a type of non-commercial signs for the 

purposes of this Ordinance except where there are regulations pertaining to their 
removal after an election.  

(13) Portable Sign: A sign which is not affixed or attached to real property by poles, 
stakes, or other members which are placed into the ground, or upon some other 
type of permanent foundation; trailer signs, any sign with wheels or skids, and any 

sign which is constructed so as to sit upon the surface of the ground without 

subsurface attachment or extension.  
(14) Real Estate, Finance, and Construction Sign: An attached or freestanding sign 

erected upon a lot or parcel of land for the purpose of advertising same for sale or 
lease, or for advertising the furnishing of interim or permanent financing for a 
project, or for the furnishing of labor, materials or the practice of crafts on the job 
site.  

(15) Roof Sign: An outdoor advertising display sign erected, constructed, or 

maintained on the roof of a building or which is wholly dependent upon a building 
for support, and which projects above the point of a building with a flat roof, six 
feet (6’) above the eave line of a building with a shed, gambrel, gable or hip roof, 
or the deck line of a building with a mansard roof.  

Site Development: Any excavation, landfill or land disturbance, including new construction, 
reconstruction, relocation, or change of use.  

Site Plan: A site development plan showing the use of the land including locations of 

buildings, drives, sidewalks, parking areas, drainage facilities, and other structures to be 
constructed, and any other details required by this Ordinance.  

Slaughtering and Meat Packing Plants: A place where animals are butchered; an abattoir; 
a butchery; and the further packaging for the sale of the butchering. 

Start of Construction: The date the building permit was issued for the beginning of 
construction, including new construction, reconstruction, and substantial repairs and 

improvements, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, 
placement, or other improvement is within one hundred eighty (180) days of the permit 
date. The actual start means the first placement of permanent construction of a structure 
on a site, such as the pouring of a slab or footings, the installation of piles, the 
construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation. 

Storage Yards: The outdoor storage of various materials and/or equipment as the primary 
use of the site. Includes contractor’s storage yards, equipment storage yards, etc. 

Stormwater Management: All City ordinances, standards, plans, and studies to ensure the 
timely and effective construction of:  

(1) A system of vegetative and structural measures that control the increased volume 
and rate of surface runoff caused by man-made changes to the land; and  

(2) A system of vegetative, structural, and other measures that reduce or eliminate 
pollutants that might otherwise be carried by surface runoff.  

Street: A way for vehicular traffic to move, whether designated as a highway, arterial street, 

collector street, or local street.  

Street, Minor Arterial: A street that collects traffic from the collector system and connects 
with the major arterial system.  

Street, Major Arterial: A street that collects traffic from the collector and minor arterial 
system and connects with the freeway system.  

146



ARTICLE 3. DEFINITIONS 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 16 27-Sept-12 

Street, Collector: A street that collects traffic from local streets and connects with minor and 

major arterials. This includes minor and major collectors.  

Street, Local: A street that provides vehicular access to abutting property.  

Structure: Anything constructed, built, or erected.  

Structure, Principal: The principal structure which fulfills the primary purpose for which the 
building plot is intended.  

Subdivision: The division of a lot, tract, or parcel of land into two (2) or more parts, lots, or 
sites. This also includes the resubdivision of land or lots which are a part of a previously 
recorded subdivision. Divisions of land for agricultural purposes, where no building 
construction is involved, in parcels of five (5) acres or more, shall not be included within 
this definition, unless such subdivision of five (5) acres or more includes the planning or 

development of a new street or access easement.  

Subdivisions, Minor: A division of land into four (4) or fewer lots on an existing street which 
does not require the creation of any new street or the extension of municipal facilities.  

Surveyor: A person duly authorized and licensed under the Texas Professional Land 
Surveying Practices Act to practice the profession of land surveying, either as a Registered 
Professional Land Surveyor or a Licensed State Land Surveyor.  

Tattoo Parlor: The workshop of a tattoo artist, and/or a facility where the piercing of body 
parts, other than ears, is performed for purposes of allowing the insertion of jewelry.  

Tree, Canopy: An overstory tree that exhibits a layer or multiple layers of branches and 
foliage at its top or crown and extending a distance outward from its trunk or trunks. This 
tree's overall appearance is dominated by its tall stature (often over eighty (80) feet), its 
broad canopy, and the shade that it produces.  

Tree, Non-Canopy: A tree that may reach canopy tree height, but does not have the same 

dominance of canopy as the canopy tree, OR an understory tree that does not reach 
canopy tree height, but does exhibit a similar dominance of canopy size and structure.  

Utility Easement: An interest in land granted to the City, to the public generally, and/or to a 
private utility company, for installation or maintenance of utilities across, over, or under 

private land, together with the right to enter thereon with machines and vehicles as 
necessary for maintenance of such utilities.  

Water Surface Elevation: The height, in relation to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum 

(NGVD) of 1929 (or other datum if specified), of floods of various magnitudes and 
frequencies in the floodplains of coastal or riverine areas.  

Watercourse: Any natural or artificial stream, river, creek, ditch, channel, canal, conduit, 
culvert, drain, waterway, gully, ravine, or wash, in and including any area adjacent 
thereto, which is subject to inundation by reason of overflow of flood water.  

Wholesale Distribution: A place of business primarily engaged in selling merchandise to 

retailers; to industrial, commercial, institutional, or professional business users; to other 
wholesalers; or acting agents or brokers and buying merchandise for, or selling 
merchandise to, such individuals or companies.   

Yard: Open spaces on the lot or building plot on which a building is situated and which are 
open and unobstructed to the sky by any structure.  The following types of yards are 

defined below: 

(1) Front Yard. A yard facing and abutting a street and extending across the front of a 

lot or building plot between the side property lines and having a minimum horizontal 
depth measured from the front property line to a depth of the front setback specified 
for the District in which the lot is located.  

(2) Rear Yard. A yard extending across the rear of the lot or building plot between the 
side property lines and having a minimum depth measured from the rear property 
line as specified for the District in which the building plot is located.  

(3) Side Yard. A yard located on a lot or building plot extending from the required rear 

yard to the required front yard having a minimum width measured from the side 
property line as specified for the District in which the building plot is located.  

 

147



ARTICLE 4. BIOCORRIDOR BOARD 

Section 4.1 Creation 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 17 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 4. BIOCORRIDOR BOARD 

4.1 Creation. 

A  BioCorridor Board is hereby created for the purpose of enhancing the community’s ability to 
consistently review subdivision, building, and site design issues of the unique, multi-

jurisdictional BioCorridor Planned Development District. The BioCorridor Board shall bring 
governing expertise from each City and a representative of Texas A&M University to bear on 
these issues within the BioCorridor area.  

4.2 Membership and Terms. 

A. Number, Appointment. 

A BioCorridor Board is hereby created to consist of seven (7) members as follows:  

1. Appointment of three (3) members shall be made by the College Station City Council. 

Two (2) of these appointments shall be members of the City of College Station’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission. One (1) appointment shall be a member of the 
College Station City Council.   

2. Appointment of three (3) members shall be made by the Bryan City Council. Two (2) 
of these appointments shall be members of the City of Bryan’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission. One (1) appointment shall be a member of the Bryan City Council.   

3. Appointment of one (1) member shall be made by the Chancellor of the Texas A&M 
University System or his designee. This appointment shall be an employee of the 
Texas A&M University System. 

B. Terms. 

1. Terms of members of the BioCorridor Board shall be for two (2) years or until their 

successors are appointed.  

2. Should a BioCorridor Board member no longer qualify for his or her position, that 

member’s term shall be ended immediately upon such qualifying event.  For example, 
if an appointed Planning and Zoning Commissioner is no longer a Commissioner for the 
City. 

C. Vacancies. 

Vacancies shall be filled by the governing entity/person responsible for the appointment.

4.3 Officers, Meetings, Quorum. 

A. Officers. 

A Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson shall be selected every two years from among its 

members.  The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall be municipal representatives and 
shall not be appointees from the same municipality.  The Vice-Chairperson may act as 
Chairperson when the Chairperson is not available. 

B. Meetings. 

Members of the BioCorridor Board shall meet as needed and the Chairperson shall 

designate the time and place of such meetings. All meetings of the Board where a quorum 
is present shall be open to the public. The BioCorridor Board shall comply with the Open 
Meetings Act. 

C. Quorum. 

Four (4) members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business. Any 
recommendations advanced to a different regulatory entity without a majority of positive 
votes from those members present shall be deemed a negative recommendation.  

148



ARTICLE 4. BIOCORRIDOR BOARD 

Section 4.3   Officers, Meetings, Quorum 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 18 27-Sept-12 

D. Rules of Proceeding. 

The BioCorridor Board may adopt its own rules of procedure consistent with this 
Ordinance.  

E. Minutes. 

The BioCorridor Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each 
member upon each question, or, if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact and shall 
keep records of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be 
immediately filed in the Planning and Development Services office of the City of Bryan and 
shall be a public record.  A copy of all such records shall be delivered to the Planning and 
Development Services office of the City of College Station by the City of Bryan within ten 
(10) working days of filing. 

4.4 Powers and Duties. 

The BioCorridor Board shall have the following powers and duties:  

A. Recommendations. 

1. The BioCorridor Board shall review and make recommendations to City Staff of College 
Station and Bryan regarding improvements in the public realm that further the 
aesthetics, identity, and access to and within the BioCorridor Planned Development 

District. 

2. The BioCorridor Board shall review and make recommendations to the City’s Planning 
and Zoning Commission regarding Waivers of the standards in the Subdivision Design 
and Improvements article of the BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance. 

B. Final Action. 

The BioCorridor Board shall hear and take final action on the following:  

1. Special District Identification Signs as set forth in the BioCorridor Planned 

Development District ordinance;  

2. Temporary signs promoting positive communications as set forth in the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District ordinance;  

3. Works of art and their locations when located in public right-of-way or other public 
area as set forth in the BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance;  

4. Appeal of the BioCorridor Review Committee’s determination regarding applicability of 
plat requirements; 

5. Appeal of the BioCorridor Review Committee’s denial of a site plan as set forth in the 
Site Plan Review section of the BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance; 

6. Waivers to the dimensional requirements and number of parking spaces required in 
the Off-Street Parking Requirements section of the BioCorridor Planned Development 
District ordinance; 

7. Appeal of the BioCorridor Review Committee’s denial of an alternative parking plan; 

8. Alternative Highway Buffers Standards as allowed in the BioCorridor Planned 

Development District ordinance; and  

9. Appeal of the terms of the Highway Buffer Standards as set forth in the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District ordinance.  

4.5 Staff. 

The City of College Station and the City of Bryan shall provide staff support, as needed, to the 
BioCorridor Board.   

A. BioCorridor Review Committee. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee will provide background information and 
recommendations to the Board as set forth in the BioCorridor Planned Development 
District ordinance.  

 

149



ARTICLE 4. BIOCORRIDOR BOARD 

Section 4.5   Staff 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 19 27-Sept-12 

B. Administrative Support. 

The City of College Station and/or the City of Bryan shall provide administrative support 
functions for each meeting, such as agenda posting and the filing of minutes.  

C. Planning Representative. 

Where ministerial acts have not been completed, the City’s planning representative shall 
ensure that the changes to plats and/or plans are completed as approved by the 
BioCorridor Board.  

150



ARTICLE 5. BIOCORRIDOR REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Section 5.1 Creation 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 20 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 5. BIOCORRIDOR REVIEW COMMITTEE 

5.1 Creation. 

A BioCorridor Review Committee is hereby created for the purpose of implementing the 
BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance.  The Committee is comprised of staff 

from both cities, with the Committee serving as the designated administrative officer as set 
forth in the BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance and state law. The BioCorridor 
Review Committee shall bring planning, engineering, and other areas of municipal expertise 
from each City to bear on proposals within the BioCorridor Planned Development District.  

5.2 Membership. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall consist of four (4) core members.   Other City 
employees may be invited to participate on an ad hoc basis. 

A. Core members. 

1. The City Manager of each municipality shall designate two city employees from his/her 
municipality.  One employee shall be a planner and one an engineer or engineer in 
training familiar with development review procedures.  

2. The BioCorridor Review Committee’s main point of contact for a development project 
proposal shall be the planner of the Committee from the city in which the majority of 

the project is located. 

B. Ad hoc members. 

As the BioCorridor Review Committee determines appropriate, ad hoc members may be 
called upon for their expertise on particular matters. 

Ad hoc members may consist of governmental and utility employees such as: 

1. A representative from College Station Utilities or Bryan Texas Utilities; 

2. A representative from the Fire Marshall’s office; 

3. A representative from the Sanitation department; or 

4. The City’s transportation planner or transportation engineer. 

Ad hoc members shall be designated by their respective City Manager. 

5.3 Powers and Duties. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall have the following powers and duties:  

A. Administration and Enforcement. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall carry out their duties as set forth in the 

BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance, including ensuring compliance with 
the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications, Bryan/College Station Unified Design 
Guidelines, boundaries of Areas of Special Flood Hazard, location of floodway, and water 
surface elevations.   

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review and take action on the following as set 
forth in the BioCorridor Planned Development District ordinance: 

1. Minor and amending plats; 

2. Site plans; 

3. Construction documents; 

4. Structure plans as they relate to exterior aesthetic design standards (not Building 
Code review); 

5. Sign permits; 

6. Development permits; 

7. Administrative adjustments; 

8. Alternative parking plans; 

151



ARTICLE 5. BIOCORRIDOR REVIEW COMMITTEE 

Section 5.3 Powers and Duties 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 21 27-Sept-12 

9. Driveway applications; 

10. Determination of building plot; and 

11. Determination of plat applicability. 

B. In the event the BioCorridor Review Committee is unable to reach a consensus, the 

planning or engineering representative (as appropriate) from the city in which the majority 
of the project is located shall make the final determination. 

152



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.1 Conformity with this Ordinance and Applicable Ordinances of the City 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 22 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES. 

6.1 Conformity with this Ordinance and Applicable Ordinances of the City. 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall apply to and be binding on any and all persons, firms, or 
corporations who singly or jointly seek to develop, redevelop, or otherwise change existing 

land within the geographical area of the City of College Station or City of Bryan as set forth in 
this Ordinance. Where the project spans portions of both cities, the city in which the majority 
of the project is located shall determine which city’s regulations shall apply. Compliance 
includes the dedication and construction of identified infrastructure, right-of-way, or 
improvement of specified facilities including but not limited to sidewalks, bikeways, 
thoroughfares, etc. 

The requirements and standards of this Ordinance are in lieu of, and not in addition to, those 

identified in The City of College Station Unified Development Ordinance Article 3 Development 

Review Procedures, Article 6 Specific Use Standards, Article 7 General Development 
Standards, and Article 8 Subdivision Design and Improvements except for the Requirements 
for Parkland Dedication section of that article.  All other codes and ordinances of the City shall 
apply.      

The requirements and standards of this Ordinance are in lieu of, and not in addition to, those 

identified in The Bryan Code of Ordinances, Chapter 62 except for Compliance and 
Enforcement, Chapter 130 except for Preserving Rights in Pending Litigation and Violations 
Under other Existing Ordinance and Penalty for Violations and Chapter 110 except for the 
requirements for Parkland Dedication and Enforcement.  All other codes and ordinances of the 
City shall apply. 

6.2 Pre-Application Conference. 

Prior to the submission of an application required by this Ordinance, a pre-application 

conference with the BioCorridor Review Committee is highly recommended.  Pre-application 

conferences are for the purpose of meeting the staff members that will be working with the 
landowner and landowner agents to ensure a smooth and predictable development process 
and to discuss, in general, procedures, standards, or regulations relating to development.  The 
pre-application conference is not considered an application for a ―permit‖. 

6.3 Application Forms and Fees. 

The following regulations shall apply to all applications: 

A. Forms. 

Applications required under this Ordinance shall be submitted on forms, with any 
requested information and attachments, and in such numbers, as required by the City in 
which the application is being made, including any checklists for submittals.  The 
BioCorridor Review Committee shall have the authority to request any other pertinent 
information required to ensure compliance with this Ordinance.

B. Electronic Submission Required. 

All preliminary plans, plats, and site plans shall be prepared and submitted upon request 
in an electronic form acceptable to the BioCorridor Review Committee and compatible with 
the City’s Geographic Information System (GIS). 

C. Fees. 

1. Filing fees shall be established from time to time by the City Councils for the purpose 
of defraying the actual cost of processing the application.  

2. Depending upon the ruling jurisdiction, all required fees shall be made payable to "The 
City of College Station" or to ―The City of Bryan‖, as appropriate.  

153



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.4 Application Submission 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 23 27-Sept-12 

3. An applicant who has paid the appropriate fee pursuant to submission of a complete 

application, but who chooses to withdraw such application prior to any notification, 
review, or action taken other than a determination of completeness by the City, shall 
be entitled to a refund of fifty percent (50%) of the total amount paid upon written 

request to the City.   

4. Waiver or reduction of any plat application fee is determined on a case-by-case basis 
by the BioCorridor Review Committee when the Committee is requesting a change to 
an approved plat due to unforeseen technical deficiencies. 

6.4 Application Submission. 

All applications shall be completed and submitted to the planning representative of the City in 
which the land is located.  An application shall not be considered officially submitted until it 

has been determined to be complete in accordance with the following paragraph. 

6.5 Application Completeness. 

An application shall be considered submitted only after the City’s planning representative has 
determined it is complete as set forth herein.  This includes determining whether the proper 
form has been used, whether all requisite information has been provided, and if the applicable 
fee has been submitted.  A determination of completeness does not constitute a determination 

of compliance with the substantive requirements of this Ordinance nor precludes that 
additional information and/or documents may still be required as identified during formal 
review of the application.  If an application is determined to be incomplete, no further 
processing of the application shall occur until the deficiencies are corrected. Unless state law 
provides otherwise, an application of any kind under this Ordinance expires and application fee 
forfeited after the forty-fifth (45th) day after the application is deemed incomplete if: 

A. The applicant fails to provide documents or other information necessary to the technical 

requirements of this Ordinance as to form and content of the submittal; 

B. The City’s planning representative notifies the applicant, in writing, of the failure to 

provide specific documents or other information within ten (10) business days from the 
filing date, unless state law provides otherwise, noting the date the application will expire 
if same is not provided; and 

C. The applicant fails to provide the specified documents or other information within the time 
provided in the notice. 

No vested rights accrue solely from the filing of an application that has expired pursuant to 
this Section, or from the filing of a complete application that is subsequently denied. 

154



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.6 Required Public Notice 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 24 27-Sept-12 

6.6 Required Public Notice. 

A. Summary of Notice Required. 

Notice shall be required for development review as shown in the following table. 

Application Type Published Mailed 
Agenda 
Posted 

Subdivision - Replats* X* X* X 

Variances – ZBA X X X 

  * Only when required per the Local Government Code. 

B. Specific Notice Requirements. 

1. Published Notice. 

 A Public Hearing Notice shall be placed by the planning representative of the City in 
which the project will be located at least once in the official newspaper of the City 
before the 15th day before the date of the hearing for the purpose of notifying the 
public of the time and place of such public hearing and the substance of the public 
hearing agenda items that may be considered or reviewed.  

2. Mailed Notice. 

 A notice of public hearing shall be sent to owners of record of real property, as 

indicated by the most recently-approved municipal tax roll, within 200 feet of the 
parcel under consideration, by the City in which the project will be located.  The notice 
may be served by its deposit in the municipality, properly addressed with postage 
paid, in U.S. mail before the 15th day before the date of the hearing.   

3. Content of Notice. 

 A published or mailed notice shall provide at least the following specific information: 

a. The general location of land that is the subject of the application;  

b. The substance of the application, including the magnitude of proposed 
development and the current zoning district;  

c. The time, date, and location of the public hearing; and 

d. A phone number to contact the City. 

C. Required Public Hearings. 

The following table illustrates the types of review requiring a public hearing and the review 

body responsible for conducting the hearing. 

Application Type 
Zoning  

Board of 
Adjustment 

Planning 
and Zoning 
Commission 

Subdivision*  X 

Variances – ZBA X  

* Only when required per the Local Government Code. 

6.7 Simultaneous Processing of Applications. 

Whenever two or more forms of review and approval are required under this Ordinance, the 
applications for those development approvals may, at the option of the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, be processed simultaneously, so long as the approval procedures for each 

individual application can be completed pursuant to the requirements of this Ordinance and 
other applicable laws.  Such processing shall occur at the applicant’s own risk. 

155



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.8 Expiration of Applications, Permits, and Projects 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 25 27-Sept-12 

6.8 Expiration of Applications, Permits, and Projects. 

A. Expiration of Inactive Applications. 

An application that has been determined to be administratively complete and written staff 
review comments provided to the applicant, shall be deemed expired and closed in ninety 

(90) calendar days from the date the most recent written review comments were provided 
by the BioCorridor Review Committee to the applicant, if the applicant has not taken 
action by providing written response comments and revised documents to the BioCorridor 
Review Committee that seek to address the review comments. 

B. Expiration of Approved Permits. 

Unless otherwise specified by this Ordinance, any individual permit, authorization, or 
approval required in this Ordinance expires twenty-four (24) months from the date of 

approval, or as may be further extended pursuant to the terms of this Ordinance, if no 
progress has been made towards completion of the project.  For purposes of this Section, 
progress towards completion of the project is as defined by Chapter 245 of the TEXAS LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT CODE. 

C. Expiration of Projects. 

1. For projects requiring more than one permit, authorization, or approval, there shall be 

a project expiration date of five (5) years from the date the first complete application 
is filed for the project or from the date vesting occurs pursuant to Chapter 245 of the 
TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE if no progress is made towards completion of the project 
or if the expiration date is not otherwise further extended pursuant to the terms of this 
Ordinance.  For purposes of this Section, progress towards completion of the project is 
as defined by Chapter 245 of the TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE. 

2. Any application for a new permit, authorization for approval, or application to replace 

an existing approved permit shall be deemed to commence a new development 
project, as of the date it is filed, if the new application is not compatible with the 
permits preceding it in regards to the type of proposed use(s), nature of the 
development, or significant changes to density or infrastructure demands. 

6.9 Appeals from Development Exaction Requirements. 

A. Purpose. 

The purpose of a petition for relief from a dedication or public infrastructure requirement is 

to ensure that the application of uniform dedication and construction standards to a 
proposed development does not result in a disproportionate burden on the property when 
considering the nature and extent of the demands created by the proposed development 
on the municipalities’ roadways and other public infrastructure. 

B. Applicability. 

A petition for relief under this Section may be filed by the applicant to contest any 

requirement to dedicate land or pay fees or to construct or pay for public improvements as 
required by this Ordinance, the Bryan/College Station Unified Design Guidelines, or any 
other applicable rules or regulations when the applicant believes that same is not roughly 

proportionate to the proposed development as determined by an engineer licensed to 
practice in the state of Texas. 

C. Petition Requirements. 

1. Form of Petition.

The petition for relief from a dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction 
requirement shall explain in detail how the application of the applicable dedication, 
fee, construction cost, or construction requirement is not roughly proportional to the 
proposed development.  This should include an explanation of the nature and extent of 
the impacts created by the proposed development on one or both cities’ water, 
wastewater, storm drainage, parks, roadway system, or other public infrastructure. 

 

156



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.9 Appeals from Development Exaction Requirements 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 26 27-Sept-12 

2. Required Supporting Documentation. 

In addition to the above, the applicant shall provide information in support of the 
petition for relief that includes the following:  

a. Total capacity of the municipal water, wastewater, storm drainage, parks, roadway 

system, or other public infrastructure to be utilized by the proposed development, 
employing standard measures of capacity and equivalency tables relating the type 
of development proposed to the quantity of system capacity to be consumed by 
the development. If the proposed development is to be developed in phases, such 
information also shall be provided for the entire development proposed, including 
any phases already developed; 

b. Total capacity to be supplied to the municipal water, wastewater, storm drainage, 

parks, roadway system, or other public infrastructure by the proposed dedication 
of an interest in land, payment of fees, cost of construction, or actual construction 
of public infrastructure. If the application is part of a phased development, the 
information shall include any capacity supplied by prior dedications, payment of 

fees, construction costs, or construction of public infrastructure, as well as 
projected capacity; 

c. Comparison of the capacity of the public facilities system(s) to be consumed by 
the proposed development with the capacity to be supplied to such system(s) by 
the proposed dedication of an interest in land, payment of fees or construction 
costs, or construction of public infrastructure. In making this comparison, the 
impacts on the public infrastructure system(s) from the entire development shall 
be considered; 

d. The effect of any municipal participation in the costs of oversizing the public 

improvement to be constructed in accordance with the City's requirements; 

e. Any and all other information that alleges the dedication, fees, construction costs,  
or construction requirement imposed by the City is not roughly proportional to the 
impacts created by the proposed development; 

f. The proportionality analysis should not only be based on any immediate plans for 

the property but should be based on the size of the property, existing and 
proposed use of the property, and the development potential permitted by the 

existing zoning; and 

g. Only costs directly related to the dedication, fees, construction costs, or 
construction requirements should be included in the analysis. 

h. The monetary value of any incentives offered for the development of the project 
should be included in the analysis as offsetting any required dedication, fee, 
construction cost, or construction. 

3. Time for Filing Petition and Supporting Documentation. 

A petition for relief from a dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction 
requirement shall be filed with the City Engineer of the City in which the project is 
located within fourteen (14) calendar days following the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission's, BioCorridor Board’s, or BioCorridor Review Committee’s decision to 

approve, conditionally approve, or deny an application, as the case may be. The 
information in support of the petition as set forth above shall be filed with the City’s 

City Engineer within sixty (60) calendar days following the decision upon which the 
appeal is based, unless the applicant (petitioner for relief) seeks an extension in 
writing. The City’s City Engineer may extend the time for submitting the information 
for a period not to exceed an additional thirty (30) calendar days for good cause 
shown.  

157



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.9 Appeals from Development Exaction Requirements 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 27 27-Sept-12 

D. Processing of Petitions and Decision. 

1. Responsible Official. 

The City’s City Engineer shall be the responsible official for reviewing a petition for 
relief from a dedication, payment of fee, cost of construction, or construction 

requirement. 

2. Evaluation & Recommendation. 

a. The City’s City Engineer shall evaluate the petition and supporting documentation 
and shall make a recommendation to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission 
for their consideration. 

b. In evaluating the petition and documentation, the City’s City Engineer shall take 
into account the maximum amount of any impact fees to be charged against the 

development for the type of public infrastructure that is the subject of the petition 
for similar developments on the municipal water, wastewater, storm drainage, 

parks, roadway system, or other public infrastructure. The City’s City Eningeer 
may utilize any reasonable methodology to evaluate, affirm, or refute the 
applicant's petition and supporting documentation.  

c. In order to achieve proportionality between the demands created by a proposed 

development on public facilities and the obligation to provide adequate public 
facilities, the City of College Station and/or City of Bryan may participate in the 
costs of public infrastructure, credit or offset developer’s proposed obligations, or 
otherwise relieve the property owner of any of the obligations in response to a 
petition for relief from a dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction 
requirement. 

3. Planning and Zoning Commission Decision. 

The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall consider the petition for relief from a 
dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction requirement as set forth herein.  

4. Public Hearing. 

The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing within thirty 
(30) calendar days after the final documentation supporting the petition is due by the 
applicant with the City’s City Engineer.  

5. Burden of Proof. 

The applicant bears the burden of proof to demonstrate that the application of a 
dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction requirement imposes a 
disproportionate burden on the applicant.  

6. Decision. 

The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall consider the petition for relief from a 
dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction requirement based upon the 

following criteria:  

a. The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall determine whether the 

application of the standard or condition is roughly proportional to the nature and 
extent of the impacts created by the proposed development on municipal water, 
wastewater, storm drainage, parks, roadway system, or other public 
infrastructure, and whether the application of the standard or condition reasonably 
fits the development.  

b. In making such determination, the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall 
consider the documentation submitted by the applicant and the report and 
recommendation of the City’s City Engineer.  

7. Action. 

Based on the decision criteria stated above, the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission may take one or more of the following actions: 

158



ARTICLE 6. GENERAL APPROVAL PROCEDURES 

Section 6.9 Appeals from Development Exaction Requirements 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 28 27-Sept-12 

a. Deny the petition for relief in whole or in part, upon finding that the proposed 

dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction requirements are inadequate to 
offset the impacts of the development on municipal water, wastewater, storm 
drainage, parks, roadway system or other public infrastructure; or 

b. Grant the petition for relief in whole or in part, and waive all or a portion of any 
dedication, fee, construction cost, or construction requirement to the extent 
necessary to achieve proportionality, including consideration of alternative designs 
for the public infrastructure systems or improvements. 

8. Notification of Decision on Petition. 

The applicant shall be notified of the decision on the petition for relief by the City’s 
City Engineer within fourteen (14) calendar days following the City’s Planning and 

Zoning Commission’s decision.  

E. Appeal of the Decision on a Petition for Relief. 

1. The applicant may appeal the decision of the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission 
to City Council within fourteen (14) calendar days following the date of notification of 
the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission’s decision by the City’s City Engineer. 

2. A letter stating the reasons for the appeal, citing the specific section(s) of the 

applicable ordinance requirement, shall be submitted by the applicant. 

3. The City Council shall hold a hearing and consider a properly-submitted appeal within 
thirty (30) days after such hearing. The City Council may affirm, modify or reverse the 
decision of the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission by simple majority vote. The 
decision of the City Council is final.  

F. Expiration or Failure to File Application. 

Where an application was denied based upon the imposition of the standard requiring 

dedication of land, payment of fee, construction cost, or construction of a required public 
infrastructure and the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission’s decision, if not further 

appealed (or the City Council’s decision if further appealed as applicable), is to grant some 
level of relief, including modification of one or more requirements, the applicant must 
resubmit the application within sixty (60) calendar days following the date the relief is 
granted.  If such re-submittal of the application is not made within the sixty-day (60-day) 
period, the relief granted by the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, as 

applicable, shall expire.  

G. Effect of Relief. 

1. The City’s City Engineer may require the applicant to re-submit an application or 
supporting materials that are consistent with the relief granted. 

2. The relief granted shall remain in effect for the period the application is in effect, and 
shall expire upon expiration of the plat or related application. 

6.10 Figures and Flow Charts. 

 The figures and flow charts provided in this Ordinance are intended to be graphical 
representations of procedures or standards set forth in this Ordinance to assist in 
understanding the requirements of this Ordinance and are not intended to be requirements 
themselves. 

159



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 29 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES. 

7.1 Plat Review. 

This Section applies to the subdivision and development of property as set forth herein.  

A. Applicability. 

1. Subdivision Plat Required. 

a. Subdivision of property wholly or partially within the area zoned BioCorridor 
Planned Development District as shown on the BioCorridor District Map set forth in 
this Ordinance is required to be approved in accordance with applicable state law 
and as set forth herein when one (1) or more of the following occurs:  

1) The division of land (for any purpose) into two (2) or more parcels to lay out a 

subdivision of the tract, including an addition to the City, to lay out suburban, 

building, or other lots, or to lay out streets, alleys, squares, parks or other 
parts of the tract intended to be dedicated to public use or for the use of 
purchasers or owners of lots fronting on to or adjacent to the streets, alleys, 
squares, parks or other parts;  

2) Development on a parcel not previously legally subdivided; 

3) Resubdivision of land that has previously been platted; or 

4) Amendment of any approved plat. 

b. Types of Subdivision Filings. 

1) Preliminary Plans. 

A Preliminary Plan is required for the subdivision of all tracts of land, except as 
otherwise set forth in this Ordinance. A Preliminary Plan shall include the 
entire parent survey or tract of land under common ownership.  

2) Final Plats and Replats. 

A Final Plat is required for the subdivision of all property subject to this 
Ordinance. A Final Plat shall include the entire Preliminary Plan area or less 
when the Final Plat adheres to the phasing identified on the approved 
Preliminary Plan. The Final Plat shall conform to the Preliminary Plan as 
approved by the BioCorridor Review Committee, or the City’s Planning and 
Zoning Commission, as applicable; and provided further, that it conforms to all 
requirements of this Ordinance and the City's Comprehensive Plan.  

3) Minor Plats and Amending Plats. 

A Preliminary Plan shall not be required prior to the application of a Minor Plat 
or Amending Plat. Pursuant to the Delegation of Approval Responsibility 
Section of Subchapter A, "Regulations of Subdivisions," Chapter 212 of the 
TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE, the City Councils of the City of College Station 
and City of Bryan delegate to their respective employees, the ability to 

approve the following plats in accordance with the procedure set forth herein:  

a) Amending Plats described in the Amending Plat Section of Subchapter A, 
"Regulations of Subdivisions," Chapter 212 of the TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

CODE;  

b) Minor Plats or Replats involving four (4) or fewer lots fronting on an 
existing street and not requiring the creation of any new street or the 
extension of municipal facilities; and  

c) A Replat under Section 212.0145 Replatting without Vacating Preceding 
Plat: Certain Subdivisions, Subchapter A, "Regulations of Subdivisions," 
Chapter 212 of the TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE, and that does not require 
the creation of any new street or the extension of municipal facilities.  

160



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 30 27-Sept-12 

4) Vacating Plats. 

A Vacating Plat shall adhere to the requirements of Vacating Plat Section of 
Subchapter A, "Regulations of Subdivisions," Chapter 212 of the TEXAS LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT CODE, as amended. Vacating plats shall be processed and reviewed 

in the same manner as a Final Plat.  

c. Exemptions from Subdivision Plat Requirement. 

The following subdivisions are exempt from Subdivision Plat requirements:  

1) A division of land into parts greater than five (5) acres where each part has 
access and no public improvement is being dedicated;  

2) Division of property that results from a governmental entity's land acquisition 
for public facilities such as expansion of street right-of-way;  

3) A division of land performed by a political subdivision of the state, as defined 
in Chapter 245 of the TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE. Such entities that choose 

to plat voluntarily shall comply with all of the applicable requirements; or  

4) A division of land created by order of a court of competent jurisdiction. 

B. Determination of Plat Applicability. 

Upon written application and in compliance with the TEXAS LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE, Section 

212.0115 as amended, the BioCorridor Review Committee shall make the following 
determinations regarding the tract of land identified in the request:  

1. Whether a plat is required under this Ordinance for the tract of land; and 

2. If a plat is required, whether it has been prepared and whether it has been reviewed 
and approved by the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission or BioCorridor Review 
Committee, as applicable.  

The BioCorridor Review Committee may require additional information and documents be 

provided by the applicant in order to make the requested determination. A decision made 

by the BioCorridor Review Committee regarding this matter shall be appealable to the 
City’s Planning and Zoning Commission. 

C. Application Requirements. 

1. A complete application for review shall be submitted to the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, including payment of a fee as set forth in this Ordinance by the City. Upon 
request, all Preliminary Plans and all plats shall be submitted in an electronic form 

acceptable to the BioCorridor Review Committee and compatible with the City's 
Geographic Information System (GIS). The signatures of all owners of land within the 
boundary of the preliminary plan or the plat shall be required on the application. A 
representative of an owner may sign the application provided a written letter of 
agency is provided to the City with the application. If the property owner is not an 
individual but an entity (e.g., business or trust), the application must be accompanied 

by proof of authority for the individual to sign on behalf of the entity.  

2. When required to submit the following, the applications shall comply with and/or show 
the following information: 

a. Preliminary Plans. 

When submitting preliminary plans, the following information is required:  

1) The Preliminary Plan shall conform to the general requirements of this 
Ordinance and minimum standards of design and improvements as set forth 

in the Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance;  

2) Provide the Preliminary Plan on sheets twenty-four inches by thirty-six 
inches (24 x 36 in.) to a scale of one hundred feet (100 ft.) per inch or 
larger. Smaller scales may be allowed. If more than one sheet, provide an 
index sheet at a scale of five hundred feet (500 ft.) per inch or larger;  

161



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 31 27-Sept-12 

3) The words "PRELIMINARY PLAN - NOT FOR RECORD" shall appear on the 

plan in letters one-half inch (½ in.)  high; 

4) The date the Preliminary Plan was submitted and the dates of any revisions 
shall legibly appear on the plan; 

5) The proposed name of the subdivision or development, which shall not have 
the same spelling as or be pronounced similar to the name of any other 
subdivision located within the county it is located;  

6) The name and address of all property owners, developers and applicants, 
engineers, and surveyors; 

7) The legal description by metes and bounds of the subdivision or 
development which shall close within accepted land survey standards. An 

accurate location of the subdivision or development shall be provided by 
reference to an established survey or league corner, city horizontal control 
monument, subdivision corner, or other known point. Primary control points 

or descriptions and ties to such control point, to which, later, all dimensions, 
angles, bearings, block numbers, and similar data shall be referred. The 
Preliminary Plan shall be located with respect to a corner of the survey or 

tract, or an original corner of the original survey of which it is a part;  

8) Subdivision boundary lines shall be indicated by heavy lines and the 
computed acreage of the subdivision or development shown; 

9) The name of contiguous subdivisions and names of owners of contiguous 
parcels, and an indication whether or not contiguous properties are platted;  

10) The following existing features shall be shown: 

a) The location, dimension, name, and description of all recorded streets, 

alleys, reservations, easements, or other public or private rights-of-way 
within the subdivision or development, intersecting or contiguous with its 
boundaries or forming such boundaries. In the case of pipelines carrying 
flammable gas or fuel, the approximate location, size of line, design 

pressure and product transported through the line shall be shown;  

b) The location, dimension, description and name of all existing or recorded 
lots, parks, public areas, permanent structures and other sites within or 

contiguous with the subdivision or development;  

c) The location, dimensions, description, and flow line of existing 
watercourses and drainage structures within the subdivision, 
development or contiguous thereto;  

d) The location of the one hundred (100) year floodplain according to the 
most recent best available data; 

11) Date of preparation, scale in feet, and north arrow; 

12) Topographic information, including contours at two-foot (2-ft.) intervals, flow 
line elevation of streams, and wooded areas; 

13) The location, approximate dimensions, description, and name of all proposed 
streets, alleys, drainage structures, parks, or other public areas, easements, 

or other rights-of-way, blocks, lots, and other sites within the subdivision or 
development. Proposed channel cross sections, if any. Existing and/or 

proposed well site locations;  

14) A number or letter to identify each lot and each block. Lots and blocks 
shown on a Preliminary Plan should be numbered sequentially; 

15) Location of current City limits line(s), and current zoning district boundaries; 

16) Vicinity map which shows general location of subject property to existing 
streets in College Station and Bryan. No scale is required but a north arrow 
is to be included;  

17) Show number of lots; 

18) Provide any oversize participation requests that will be sought; 

162



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 32 27-Sept-12 

19) Provide title report for the property that is current within ninety (90) days 

and includes applicable information such as ownership, liens, encumbrances, 
etc.;  

20) Written requests for waivers of subdivision standards, if any, shall be 

submitted in accordance with the applicable sections of this Ordinance; and  

21) When waivers are requested or parkland dedication is required, eleven-inch 
by seventeen-inch (11 x 17-in.) copies of the Preliminary Plan (not 
necessarily to scale) will be required when the Preliminary Plan has been 
reviewed and has the potential to be scheduled for a BioCorridor Board 
and/or City Parks and Recreation Advisory Board meeting for 
recommendation(s), as applicable, and the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission meeting for consideration.  

b. Final Plats and Other Plats to be Recorded. 

When submitting Final Plats, Replats, Minor Plats, Amending Plats, and Vacating 

Plats, the following shall be required:  

1) The plat shall conform to the general requirements of this Ordinance and 
minimum standards of design and improvements as set forth in the 

Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance unless 
expressly provided for otherwise;  

2) Provide current certified tax certificates from all taxing agencies showing 
payment of all ad valorem taxes on the land within the subdivision;  

3) Provide title report for the property that is current within ninety (90) days 
and includes applicable information such as ownership, liens, encumbrances, 
etc.;  

4) Provide the plat on sheets twenty-four inches by thirty-six inches (24 x 36 
in.) to a scale of one hundred feet (100 ft.) per inch or larger. Smaller scales 
may be allowed. If more than one sheet, provide an index sheet at a scale of 
five hundred feet (500 ft.) per inch or larger;  

5) Vicinity map which shows general location of subject property to existing 
streets in College Station and Bryan. No scale is required but a north arrow 
is to be included;  

6) The proposed name of the subdivision or development, which shall not have 
the same spelling as or be pronounced similar to the name of any other 
subdivision located within the county it is located;  

7) Date of preparation, scale in feet, and north arrow; 

8) The name and address of all property owners, developers, applicants, 
engineers, and surveyors responsible for the plat; 

9) Subdivision boundary lines shall be indicated by heavy lines and the 
computed acreage of the subdivision or development shown; 

10) For a replat where there are existing improvements, provide a survey of the 
subject property showing the improvements to ensure that no setback 
encroachments are created;  

11) The name of contiguous subdivisions and names of owners of contiguous 
parcels, and an indication whether or not contiguous properties are platted;  

12) The location of the one hundred (100) year floodplain and floodway 
according to the most recent best available data; 

13) A number or letter to identify each lot and each block. Lots and blocks 
shown on a plat should be numbered sequentially; 

14) Provide the number of lots; 

15) Written requests for waivers of subdivision standards, if any, shall be 
submitted in accordance with the applicable sections of this Ordinance;  

16) The Plat shall also include the following, based on field survey and marked 
by monuments and markers: 

163



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 33 27-Sept-12 

a) The exact location, dimensions, name, and legal description of all 

existing or recorded streets, alleys, easements, or other rights-of-way 
within the subdivision or development, intersecting or contiguous with 
the boundary or forming such a boundary with accurate dimensions, 

bearings or deflection angles and radii, area, center angle, degree of 
curvature, tangent distance, and length of all curves, where applicable;  

b) The exact location, dimensions, description, and name of all proposed 
streets, alleys, drainage structures, parks, and other public areas, 
easements, or other rights-of-way, blocks, lots, and other sites within 
the subdivision or development, with accurate dimensions, bearings, or 
deflection angles and radii, areas, center angle, degree of curvature, 

tangent distance, and length of curves, where applicable;  

c) Lot corner markers and survey monuments shall be shown clearly by 
symbol, and clearly tied to City of College Station or City of Bryan 
horizontal control monuments;  

d) The following, when applicable, shall appear on the face of the plat: (See 
examples in the Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this 

Ordinance.) 

(1) Certificate of Ownership and Dedication; 

(2) Certificate of Surveyor and/or Engineer; 

(3) Certificate of City Engineer; 

(4) Certificate of City’s Planning and Zoning Commission; 

(5) Certificate of the County Clerk; 

(6) Certificate of City Planner; and, 

(7) Certificate of Approval. 

17) The plat shall be accompanied by the construction documents and reports as 
prescribed below and bearing the seal and signature of a registered 

professional engineer. All shall be in accordance with the Bryan/College 
Station Unified Design Guidelines and the Bryan/College Station Unified 
Technical Specifications and shall include the following:  

a) Construction plans shall be provided on twenty-four-inch by thirty-six-

inch (24 x 36-in.) sheets; 

b) Street, alley, and sidewalk plans, profiles, and sections, with 
specifications and detailed cost estimates; 

c) Sanitary sewer plan with contours, plan and profile lines, showing depth 
and grades, with sewer report and detailed cost estimates; 

d) Water line plan showing fire hydrants, valves, etc., with specifications 

and water report and a detailed cost estimate. This may be combined 
with related information supplied for Preliminary Plan submissions;  

e) Storm drainage system plan with contours, street lines, inlets, storm 
sewer and drainage channels with profiles and sections. Detailed 

drainage structure design and channel lining design if used, with 
specifications, drainage report, and detailed cost estimate;  

f) Street lighting plan showing location of lights, design, and with 

specifications and detailed cost estimates; and 

g) Any associated necessary items, including but not limited to off-site 
public utility easements, permits or approval of governmental agencies.  

18) Eleven-inch by seventeen-inch (11 x 17-in.) copies of the plat (not 
necessarily to scale) will be required when the plat has been reviewed and 
has the potential to be scheduled for a BioCorridor Board meeting and/or the 
City’s Planning and Zoning Commission meeting for consideration.  

 

164



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 34 27-Sept-12 

D. Filing of Plat. 

For the purposes of this Section, the date of filing shall be determined as the date on 
which a complete application, as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee, and a 
plat meeting all of the technical terms and conditions of this Ordinance, or a request for a 
waiver to those terms and conditions is submitted. Once a complete application has been 
filed with the City, it will be scheduled for action by the BioCorridor Review Committee, the 
City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, the BioCorridor Board, and/or the City’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission, as applicable.  

E. Review Procedure. 

1. Preliminary Plan Review. 

In general, the preliminary plan process is as shown below: 

         Preliminary Plan Process

Pre-Application Conference 
with 

BioCorridor Review Committee 
(Optional) 

 
Preliminary Plan Application  

(Submit to City) 

 
Review by BioCorridor Review 

Committee 
In City of College Station, 
If residential component 

Recommendation by 
BioCorridor Board 

Decision by 
BioCorridor 

Review 
Committee 

If waiver requested 

Recommendation by Parks & 
Recreation Advisory Board 

Decision 
by City 

P&Z 

Decision 
by City 

P&Z 

 
Denial 
(End) 

 
Approval 

 
Approval 

 
Denial 
(End) 

 
Proceed to Final Plat 

165



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 35 27-Sept-12 

The process for Preliminary Plans shall be as set forth below. 

a. Review by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review the Preliminary Plan application for 
compliance with the following elements: 

1) The City's Comprehensive Plan including but not limited to the Land Use Plan, 
the City’s Thoroughfare Plan, Utility Master Plans, Parks and Recreation Master 
Plan, Bicycle, Pedestrian and Greenways Master Plan, and Sidewalk Master 
Plan;  

2) The BioCorridor Planned Development District zoning of the property; 

3) The Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance; 

4) Form and content as required in the General Approval Procedures and 

BioCorridor Development Processes articles of this Ordinance; 

5) If phased, the Preliminary Plan must demonstrate sufficiency and viability of 

public infrastructure for each phase such that an undue burden is not placed 
on any particular phase. In addition, the proposed phasing is not to create 
phases or potential remainders of a size, shape or location so as not to be 
developable in compliance with this Ordinance; and  

6) Other provisions of this Ordinance as applicable. 

b. Approval by the BioCorridor Review Committee 

1) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall approve the Preliminary Plan if the 
plan application meets all the technical requirements of this Ordinance, no 
waiver to the technical requirements is requested, and is not subject to the 
City’s parkland dedication requirements of its subdivision regulations. 

2) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall not approve, but shall forward any 

Preliminary Plan which is subject to the City’s parkland dedication 
requirements at the Preliminary Plan stage to the City’s Parks and Recreation 

Advisory Board for recommendation and then to the City’s Planning and 
Zoning Commission for final action.  

3) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall not approve, but shall forward any 
Preliminary Plan for which a request for one or more waivers to the 
Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance has been made 

to the BioCorridor Board for recommendation and then to the City’s Planning 
and Zoning Commission for final action. 

c. Recommendation by the BioCorridor Review Committee 

1) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall recommend to the City’s Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board and the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission 
approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of any Preliminary Plan 

subject to the City’s parkland dedication requirements of its subdivision 
regulations.  

2) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall recommend to the BioCorridor Board 
approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of any Preliminary Plan with 
a request for one or more waivers to the Subdivision Design and 
Improvements article of this Ordinance.  

d. Review and Recommendation by the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory 

Board. 

This section applies only if a Preliminary Plan application is subject to the City’s 
parkland dedication requirements of the City’s subdivision regulations. 

The City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board shall review the Preliminary Plan 
application for compliance with the parkland dedication requirements of the City’s 
subdivision regulations, and recommend to the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of the same. This 

166



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 36 27-Sept-12 

recommendation may be considered by the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission in its plan review if timely made available.  Once the City’s Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board has determined compliance, the Preliminary Plan and 
related subsequent plats may proceed directly to the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission. 

e. Review and Recommendation by the BioCorridor Board. 

This section applies only if a Preliminary Plan application includes one or more 
waiver requests to the Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this 
Ordinance. 

The BioCorridor Board shall review the Preliminary Plan application for compliance 
with the Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance, and 

recommend approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of the same. This 
recommendation may be considered by the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission in its plan review if timely made available.  Once the BioCorridor 

Board has determined compliance, the Preliminary Plan and related subsequent 
plats may proceed directly to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission. 

f. Final Action by the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission. 

Any Preliminary Plan involving parkland dedication and/or one or more waiver 
requests to the Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance 
must be submitted to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission for final action.  
The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission can approve, deny, or approve with 
conditions only if the conditions are administrative in nature. 

g. Effect of Approval. 

Approval of a Preliminary Plan by the BioCorridor Review Committee or the City’s 

Planning and Zoning Commission, as applicable, shall mean the following:  

1) Approval of a Preliminary Plan application shall allow the applicant to 
continue the subdivision process by submitting a Development Permit 

application with construction plans and a Final Plat application;  

2) Approval of a Preliminary Plan shall not constitute approval of a Final Plat. 
Application for approval of a Final Plat will be considered only after the 
requirements for Preliminary Plan approval as specified herein have been 

fulfilled and after all other specified conditions have been met;  

3) If a Final Plat is not filed with the City within twenty-four (24) months of the 
date of approval or conditional approval of a Preliminary Plan, the City’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission may, upon written application of the 
applicant, extend the approval for a one-time additional twelve-month 
period. The request for consideration of an extension shall be submitted to 

the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission at least thirty (30) days before 
the Preliminary Plan approval expires;  

4) Each Final Plat that is a phase of an approved Preliminary Plan shall extend 
the expiration date of the Preliminary Plan an additional two (2) years from 
the date the Final Plat was approved by the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission; and  

5) If a Preliminary Plan is phased, Final Plats shall only be permitted to proceed 

to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission in the numerical order set 
forth on the Preliminary Plan.  

2. Amendments to an Approved Preliminary Plan. 

Amendments to an approved Preliminary Plan shall be processed as set forth below. 

a. Minor Amendments 

Minor amendments to an approved Preliminary Plan may be incorporated in an 
application for approval of a Final Plat without the necessity of filing a new 

application for approval of a Preliminary Plan. Minor amendments may include 
adjustment in street or alley alignments and lengths, adjustment in lot lines that 

167



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 37 27-Sept-12 

do not result in creation of additional developable lots, or adjustments to utility or 

access easements. Minor amendments shall comply with the standards of this 
Ordinance and other applicable ordinances of the City, shall not alter a subdivision 
standard that is discretionary to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission, and 

shall not increase the extent of an approved waiver to a subdivision standard.  

b. Major Amendments 

All other proposed amendments of an approved Preliminary Plan not constituting 
minor amendments shall be considered major amendments and require the 
approval of a new Preliminary Plan application as set forth in this Preliminary Plan 
Review section. Major amendments include but are not limited to an increase in 
the number of developable lots, rerouting of streets, addition or deletion of alleys, 

change to thoroughfare street layout, or modification to parkland.  

c. Amendment Determination. 

The applicant shall provide a written description of proposed amendments to an 

approved Preliminary Plan. The BioCorridor Review Committee shall determine 
whether the proposed amendments are deemed minor or major amendments. At 
the discretion of the BioCorridor Review Committee, a new Preliminary Plan 

application that proposes major amendments may be processed simultaneously 
with a Final Plat application.  

d. Retaining Previous Approval. 

If the proposed major amendments are not approved or if the applicant is 
unwilling to accept the terms of conditional approval, the applicant may withdraw 
the proposed amendments by written request and retain the previously-approved 
Preliminary Plan.  

168



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 38 27-Sept-12 

3. Final Plat, Replat, and Vacating Plat Review. 

In general, the final plat, replat, and vacating plat process is as shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The process for Final Plats, Replats, and Vacating Plats shall be as set forth below. 

a. Review and Recommendation by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

1) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review the plat application for 

compliance with the following elements: 

a) The approved Preliminary Plan, if applicable; 

b) The City's Comprehensive Plan including but not limited to the Land 
Use Plan, the City’s Thoroughfare Plan, Utility Master Plans, Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, Bicycle, Pedestrian and Greenways Master 
Plan, and Sidewalk Master Plan;  

c) The BioCorridor Planned Development District zoning of the property; 

d) The Subdivision Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance; 

e) Form and content as required in the General Approval Procedures and 
BioCorridor Development Processes articles of this Ordinance; and 

Build and Accept/Bond 

Infrastructure 

File at Courthouse 

Final Plat/Vacating 

Plat/Replat Application 

(Submit to City) 

Review and 
recommendation by 
BioCorridor Review 

Committee 

If wavier requested 

Recommendation by 

BioCorridor Board 

Decision 
by City 

P&Z  

Denial 
(End) 

Approval 

In City of Bryan, If 
residential component 

Recommendation by 
Parks & Recreation Dept 

169



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 39 27-Sept-12 

f) Other provisions of this Ordinance and other City ordinances, as 

applicable. 

2) If public infrastructure is required for the plat, the following is required for a 
complete plat application in order to be scheduled for the City’s Planning and 

Zoning Commission consideration:  

a) Option 1 

(1) The construction documents must be approved by the City’s City 
Engineer; 

(2) Any necessary off-site easements are reviewed and acceptable 
by the City in recordable form; and 

(3) Either the public infrastructure is constructed by the applicant 

and accepted by the City, or a guarantee of performance is 
provided to the City’s City Engineer in accordance with the 
Construction, Guarantee of Performance, and Acceptance of 

Public Infrastructure section of this Ordinance.  

b) Option 2 

(1) The construction documents must be approved by the City’s City 

Engineer; 

(2) Any necessary off-site easements are reviewed and acceptable 
by the City in recordable form; and 

(3) The applicant places a notation on the Final Plat that there will 
be no permit for private improvements, excepting quasi-public 
improvements such as public ways, until the public infrastructure 
is constructed by the applicant and accepted by the City, or a 

guarantee of performance is provided to the City’s City Engineer 
in accordance with the Construction, Guarantee of Performance, 
and Acceptance of Public Infrastructure section of this 
Ordinance.  

3) The applicant will be advised of the date set for the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission consideration. 

4) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall recommend approval or disapproval 

of the same. 

b. Review and Recommendation by the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory 
Board. 

If not already determined through an approved Preliminary Plan, the City’s Parks 
and Recreation Advisory Board shall review the plat application for compliance 
with the parkland dedication requirements of the City’s subdivision regulations, 

and recommend approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of the same. 
This recommendation must be considered by the City’s Planning and Zoning 
Commission in its plan review if the recommendation is available within 30 days of 
the plan meeting all technical requirements. 

c. Review and Recommendation by the BioCorridor Board. 

If a plat application includes one or more waiver requests to the Subdivision 
Design and Improvements article of this Ordinance, the BioCorridor Board shall 

review the plat application for compliance with the Subdivision Design and 
Improvements article of this Ordinance and for consistency with any waivers 
granted, and recommend approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval of the 
same. This recommendation, when timely available, must be considered by the 
City’s Planning and Zoning Commission in its plat review.  

d. Criteria for Approval by the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission. 

Criteria for approval of the Final Plat by the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission includes the following: 

170



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 40 27-Sept-12 

1) Within thirty (30) days after the plat is filed, the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall receive any recommendations of the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, and the 
BioCorridor Board, when appropriate and available, and shall approve or 

disapprove such plat. The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission's action shall 
be based on compliance with the review elements listed in the Final Plat, 
Replat, and Vacating Plat Review section of this Ordinance and the approval of 
the City Engineering representative of all required infrastructure as proposed 
in the construction documents and which has been constructed and accepted 
or guaranteed in accordance with the Construction, Guarantee of Performance, 
and Acceptance of Public Infrastructure section of this Ordinance.  

2) Only conditions of approval entailing corrections, changes, or completion of 
items that are ministerial in nature and explicitly spelled out are allowed, and 
approval of a plat conditioned upon the completion of public infrastructure 
improvements, as allowed in this Ordinance. 

e. Recordation. 

If the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission has approved the plat, the plat shall 

be recorded in the Office of the County Clerk of the county in which the plat is 
located when all requirements and conditions have been met.  

4. Minor Plat and Amending Plat Review. 

In general, the minor plat and amending plat process is as shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Minor/Amending Plat 
Application          

(Submit to City) 

 
Review by BioCorridor 

Review Committee 

 
File at Courthouse 

Decision by 
BioCorridor 

Review 
Committee 

Send 
through 

Final Plat 
process 

 

Approval 

171



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.1 Plat Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 41 27-Sept-12 

The process for Minor Plats and Amending Plats shall be as set forth below. 

a. Review and Action by BioCorridor Review Committee. 

The plat shall be reviewed by the BioCorridor Review Committee for compliance 
with all applicable requirements of this Ordinance and other City ordinances 

including those elements identified in the Preliminary Plan and in accordance with 
the following procedures:  

1) Consideration of the approval, approval with conditions, or recommended 
denial of the plat by the BioCorridor Review Committee, usually within fifteen 
(15) days of filing a Minor Plat or Amending Plat;  

2) The BioCorridor Review Committee shall approve, approve with conditions, or 
recommend denial and forward the plat to the City’s Planning and Zoning 

Commission at the next available meeting. Only in the event of denial, the 
Minor Plan or Amending Plat must be forwarded to the City’s Planning and 
Zoning Commission.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may also elect to 

forward the plat to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission for any reason. 
Conditions of approval, if any, may only entail corrections, changes, or 
completion of items that are ministerial in nature and explicitly spelled out.  

3) If forwarded to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission, the City’s Planning 
and Zoning Commission shall approve, disapprove, or conditionally approve 
the plat. Conditions of approval may only entail corrections, changes, or 
completion of items that are ministerial in nature and explicitly spelled out;  

4) Upon approval of the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission meeting minutes, 
the same shall be available to the applicant; and 

5) A report shall be made to the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission at each 

meeting notifying the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission of any Amending 
Plats or Minor Plats in the City limits that were approved by the BioCorridor 
Review Committee since the last City Planning and Zoning Commission 
meeting.  

b. Recordation. 

When the Minor Plat or Amending Plat is approved, same shall be recorded in the 
Office of the County Clerk of the county in which the plat is located when all 

requirements and conditions have been met.  

F. Waivers 

Waivers to a plat requirement pursuant to the Subdivision Design and Improvements 
article of this Ordinance may be requested by an applicant in accordance with the 

Waiver of Subdivision Standards section therein.  

G. Failure to Obtain Plat Approval. 

1. If plat approval is required for the subdivision of property or development of property 
and same is not properly secured: 

a. Prohibition of Recordation. 

It shall be unlawful to offer and cause to be recorded any plat or replat of land 
within the City limits of the City of College Station or the City of Bryan at the 
Office of the County Clerk unless the same bears the endorsement and approval of 
its respective Planning and Zoning Commission, the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, or bears a valid certificate of No Action Taken as provided for in this 

Ordinance;  

b. Prohibition of Making Improvements. 

It shall be unlawful to make any improvements, alterations or changes of any kind 
to such property; 

 

 

172



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.2 Site Plan Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 42 27-Sept-12 

c. No Issuance of Permits. 

Neither city shall issue any building, repair, plumbing, electrical, or other permit 
relating to such property until such approval occurs;  

d. No Provision or Maintenance of Infrastructure. 

Neither City shall repair, maintain, install or provide any streets, public utilities, or 
public infrastructure of any kind to such property; and 

e. No Provision of Public Utilities. 

Neither city shall sell or supply water, gas, electricity, or sewerage to such 
property.  

2. Council Action. 

a. If any subdivision or development exists for which a plat has not been approved or 

in which the standards contained herein or referred to herein have not been 
complied with in full, the City Council of the city in which the property is located 

may pass a resolution reciting the fact of such noncompliance or failure to secure 
plat approval, and reciting the fact that the provisions of this Section apply.  

b. The City’s City Secretary shall, when directed by the City Council, cause a certified 
copy of such resolution under the corporate seal of the City to be recorded in the 

Deed Records of the County.  

c. If such compliance and plat approval are secured after the recording of such 
resolution, the City’s City Secretary shall forthwith record an instrument in the 
Deed Records of the County stating that the property is no longer in violation. 

 

7.2 Site Plan Review. 

A. BioCorridor Site Planning Process. 

In general, the site planning process is as shown below: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Approval by 
BioCorridor 

Review 
Committee 

Pre-Application Conference 
with BioCorridor Review 

Committee  
(Optional) 

Site Plan and Architectural 
Applications 

 (Submit to City) 

 
Review by BioCorridor Review 

Committee 

173



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.2 Site Plan Review 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 43 27-Sept-12 

B. Applicability. 

1. Prior to development of any use or structure, a site plan must be approved by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee in accordance with this Section.  

2. No development described in paragraph 1 above shall be lawful or permitted to 
proceed without final site plan approval.  

C. General Requirements. 

All improvements reflected on approved site plans must be constructed at the time of 
development. All terms and conditions of site plan approval must be met at the time of 
development.  

D. Application Requirements. 

A complete application for site plan approval may be submitted to the BioCorridor Review 
Committee as set forth in the General Approval Procedures article of this Ordinance.  The 

application shall include a landscape plan illustrating compliance with the requirements of 

the Landscaping and Streetscaping section of this Ordinance. Applicants shall submit 
information, documents, and materials required in the Building Design Standards article of 
this Ordinance.  

E. Site Plan Approval Process. 

Site plan review applications shall be processed in accordance with the following 
requirements:  

1. Pre-Application Conference. 

Prior to the submission of an application for site plan approval, applicants are 
encouraged to schedule and attend an optional pre-application conference. 

2. Final Action by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

If the proposed site plan is determined to be consistent with all applicable provisions 

of this Ordinance, the BioCorridor Review Committee shall approve or conditionally 
approve the site plan. A determination that all such requirements and provisions have 

not been satisfied shall result in disapproval of the site plan and notice of such 
disapproval shall be given to the applicant in writing. Conditional approval may only 
entail corrections or changes that are ministerial and explicitly spelled out.  

F. Site Plan Review Criteria. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee may request changes to the site plan to accomplish the 
following requirements. In order to be approved, a site plan must provide for:  

1. Safe and convenient traffic control, handling, and vehicle queuing; 

2. Assured pedestrian safety, which may include the provision of sidewalks along the 
perimeter of the property; 

3. Efficient and economic public utilities; 

4. Public road or street access; 

5. Safe and efficient internal access including public, private, or emergency; 

6. Adequate parking and maneuvering areas; 

7. Noise and emission control or dispersion;  

8. Runoff, drainage, and flood control;  

9. Visual screening of areas offensive to the public or adjacent developments such as 
detention areas, retaining walls, utilities, and solid waste facilities;  

10. Compliance with standards, guidelines, and policies regarding landscaping and 
streetscaping;

174



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.3 Development Permit 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 44 27-Sept-12 

11. Clear indication of what constitutes the building plot for purposes of signage; and 

12. Location and density of buildings where topography or characteristics of the site 
compel a lower density than would otherwise be allowed, or require location 
consistent with accepted engineering practices and principles.  

G. Appeal. 

Appeals of site plans denied by the BioCorridor Review Committee where the denial was 
based upon a condition imposed to assure compliance with the Site Plan Review Criteria 
described above, shall be submitted to the BioCorridor Board within thirty (30) days of the 
decision. If no appeal is filed within thirty (30) days, the decision shall be final.  

Upon appeal, the BioCorridor Board shall have the same authority as the BioCorridor 
Review Committee in reviewing the site plan and taking final action. The Board may 

impose reasonable site-related conditions to mitigate the impacts of the development; 

however, they shall not impose architectural changes unless otherwise provided for in this 
Ordinance.  

7.3 Development Permit. 

A. Applicability. 

A development permit shall be required prior to any Development, as defined in the 

Definitions article of this Ordinance, to ensure conformance to the provisions and 
requirements in this Ordinance. The following uses are exempt from the permitting 
requirements of this Section, but otherwise Development must meet all of the 
requirements of this Ordinance and the Bryan/College Station Unified Design Guidelines 
and Drainage and Stormwater Management section of this Ordinance:  

1. Customary and incidental grounds maintenance, landscaping, and gardening; 

2. Drainage-related improvements or modifications by a homeowner on property used as 

their principal residence where that property lies outside of the designated Area of 
Special Flood Hazard; or 

3. Uses by a landowner of their property for bona fide agricultural purposes. 

B. Approval Process. 
Prior to the issuance of a development permit, the following requirements shall be met:  

1. Pre-Application Conference. 

A pre-application conference may be held with the BioCorridor Review Committee if 

the property contains areas of special flood hazard.  

2. Application. 

A complete application for a development permit shall be submitted to the BioCorridor 
Review Committee as set forth in the General Approval Procedures article of this 
Ordinance.  

3. Review and Action by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review the required information and 
application form and shall take one of the following actions:  

a. Approve the development permit; 

b. Disapprove the development permit; 

c. Approve the development permit with conditions; or 

d. Require additional information or an engineering conference with the applicant or 
his engineer. 

175



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.3 Development Permit 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 45 27-Sept-12 

4. Review Criteria. 

Approval or denial of a development permit by the BioCorridor Review Committee shall 
be based on the following relevant factors:  

a. The danger to life or property due to flooding or erosion damage; 

b. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the 
effect of such damage on the individual owner;  

c. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 

d. The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development; 

e. The maintenance and operational costs of providing governmental services during 
and after flood conditions, including maintenance and repair of streets and 
bridges, and public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water 

systems;  

f. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of 

the flood waters, and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site;  

g. The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable; 

h. The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, 
for the proposed use; 

i. The barricading of existing trees to remain on the property and count as protected 
trees under the Landscaping and Streetscaping section of this Ordinance; and  

j. Compliance with this Ordinance. 

5. Notification of Decision. 

The applicant shall be notified in writing of the action prescribed above. If the 
development permit has been disapproved, the specific reasons for disapproval shall 
be indicated in the notification. If additional information is required of the applicant, 

the specific requirements shall be indicated in the notification. A final determination of 
the approval or disapproval of the development permit, considering the additional 

information, shall be made and written notification to the applicant given by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee within ten (10) working days after acceptance of the 
complete application.  

176



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.4 Building Permit 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 46 27-Sept-12 

7.4 Building Permit. 

A. Building Process. 

In general, the building process is as shown below: 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Building Permit 
Application         

 (Submit to City) 

 
Review by City staff  

If waiver requested 

Decision by City 
Construction Board of 

Adjustments & Appeals  

 
Certificate of Occupancy               
by City Building Official 

 
Inspections by City staff 

Decision 
by City 
Staff 

Denial 

(End) 

Approval 

177



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.4 Building Permit 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 47 27-Sept-12 

 

B. Building Permit Required. 

No building or other structure shall hereafter be erected, moved, added to, structurally 
altered, repaired, demolished, or occupancy changed without a permit issued by the City’s 

Building Official, except in conformity with the provisions of this section and the building 
codes as adopted and amended by the City, unless otherwise provided for in the City of 
College Station or City of Bryan Code of Ordinances, as applicable. No Building Permit 
issued under the provisions of this Article for land use or construction in municipal 
boundaries shall be considered valid unless signed by the City’s Building Official.

 
C. Application for Building Permit. 

1. An application for a building permit shall be accompanied by three (3) sets of complete 
plans, drawn to scale, including the approved site plan as required in the Site Plan 
Review section of this Ordinance.  Additional sets of plans shall be supplied to the 

City’s Building Official upon request.  

2. The application shall include such other information as lawfully may be required by the 
City’s Building Official, including existing or proposed building or alteration; existing or 

proposed uses of the building and land; the number of families, housekeeping units, or 
rental units the building is designed to accommodate; conditions existing on the lot; 
and such other matters as may be necessary to determine conformance with, and 
provide for the enforcement of, this Ordinance.  

3. One (1) copy of the plans shall be returned to the applicant by the City’s Building 
Official after it is marked as either approved or disapproved and attested to same by 
his signature on such copy. The original copy of the plans, similarly marked, and the 

associated site plan shall be retained by the City’s Building Official.  

4. Where applicable, applicants shall submit information and materials required in the 
Landscaping and Streetscaping section of this Ordinance.  

5. Where applicable, applicant shall submit information and materials required in the 
Building Design Standards article of this Ordinance.  

D. Review and Recommendation. 

The City’s Building Official shall review all building permit applications to determine if 

intended uses, buildings, or structures comply with all applicable regulations and 
standards, including this Ordinance, and approve or disapprove the same.  

E. Review and Action by Building Official. 

The City’s Building Official shall make a final determination of whether the intended uses, 
buildings, or structures comply with all applicable regulations, standards, and the City’s 
building codes. The City’s Building Official shall not issue a building permit unless the 

plans, specifications, and intended use of such building or structures or parts thereof 
conform in all respects to the provisions of this Ordinance and the City’s building codes.   

7.5 Certificate of Occupancy. 

A. Applicability.

A Certificate of Occupancy shall be required for any of the following:  

1. Occupancy and use of a building hereafter erected or enlarged; 

2. Change in use of an existing building to a different land use category; 

3. Any change in a nonconforming use or structure; or 

4. As required by the City’s adopted building code. 

178



ARTICLE 7 BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.5 Certificate of Occupancy 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 48 27-Sept-12 

B. Application. 

Once all required building inspections have been reviewed by the City’s Building Official 
and he/she finds no violation of the provisions of the building codes, the City’s Building 
Official shall issue a Certificate of Occupancy for the structure or use.  

C. Review and Action by Building Official. 

Upon the request for a Certificate of Occupancy, the City’s Building Official shall inspect 
the use or structure. If the City’s Building Official determines that the use or structure 
complies with all applicable provisions of the adopted building codes and this Ordinance, a 
Certificate of Occupancy shall be issued.  

D. Temporary Certificate of Occupancy. 

Pending the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy 

may be issued by the City’s Building Official. The Temporary Certificate of Occupancy shall 

be valid for a period established by the City’s Building Official, pending completion of an 
addition or during partial occupancy of a structure and as provided in the City’s adopted 
building codes.  

E. Unlawful to Occupy Without Valid Certificate of Occupancy. 

It is unlawful to occupy any building that does not have a validly-issued Certificate of 

Occupancy or Temporary Certificate of Occupancy.  

7.6 Certificate of Completion. 

A. Applicability. 

A certificate of completion shall be required for any of the following:  

1. Use of a parking lot hereafter constructed or enlarged not in conjunction with a 

building or structure; 

2. Site changes including but not limited to landscaping, parking lots, façade changes, or 
a change to an existing site that is not done in conjunction with a building or structure 

that requires a building permit; or  

3. Site improvements associated with a telecommunications tower. 

B. Application.  

Once all required building inspections have been reviewed by the City’s Building Official 
and he/she finds no violation of the provisions of the City’s building codes, the City’s 

Building Official shall issue a Certificate of Completion for the structure.  

C. Review and Action by Building Official. 

Upon the request for a Certificate of Completion, the City’s Building Official shall inspect 
the structure. If the City’s Building Official determines that the structure complies with all 

applicable provisions of the building codes and this Ordinance, a Certificate of Completion 
shall be issued.  

D. Temporary Certificate of Completion. 

Pending the issuance of a Certificate of Completion, a Temporary Certificate of Completion 
may be issued by the City’s Building Official. The Temporary Certificate of Completion shall 
be valid for a period established by the City’s Building Official, pending compliance with 
approved development plans.  

E. Unlawful to Utilize Without Valid Certificate of Completion. 

It is unlawful to utilize any structure that does not have a validly-issued Certificate of 

Completion or Temporary Certificate of Completion. 

179



ARTICLE 7: BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.7 Sign Permit 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 49 27-Sept-12 

7.7 Sign Permit. 

A. Sign Permits Required. 

1. No sign shall hereafter be installed, erected, moved, added to, or structurally altered 
without a permit issued by the BioCorridor Review Committee, except in conformity 

with the provisions of this Section and the Signs section under the Site Design 
Standards article of this Ordinance, and with all conditions being met, unless directed 
by the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment as provided by this Ordinance.  

2. A permit shall be required for the following: 

b. Attached Signs; 

c. Campus Wayfinding Signs;  

d. Grand Opening Signs;  

e. Low Profile Freestanding Signs; 

f. Signs for which approval by the BioCorridor Board is required; and 

g. Any sign not expressly excepted or expressly made exempt from the applicable 
sections of this Ordinance.  

3. No permit shall be required for the following signs: 

a. Commercial Signs carried by a person; 

b. Development Signs; 

c. Flags; 

d. Non-Commercial Signs; 

e. Real Estate, Finance, and Construction Signs; and 

f. Vehicle Signs. 

4. Special Event Signs shall be permitted through the City’s Special Event permitting 
process and shall not require a separate sign permit. 

5. It shall be the responsibility of the owner or the leasing agent to assign the available 
low profile or building sign square footage to individual building tenants. In no case 
shall this be the responsibility of the BioCorridor Board, the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, or any member of a city’s staff.  In no case may the cumulative total of 

individual signs for a multi-tenant building exceed the allowable area available for 
attached or low profile signs.  

B.  Application.  

A complete application for a sign permit plan shall be submitted to the City’s Building 

Official and shall be processed as set forth in the General Approval Procedures article of 
this Ordinance. 

 

C.  Review and Action by the BioCorridor Review Committee.  

The BioCorridor Review Committee must review each sign permit application in light of this 
Ordinance and act to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the permit. The 
BioCorridor Review Committee may grant approval with conditions only to the extent that 
such conditions specify the actions necessary to bring the application into compliance with 
this Ordinance.  

D.  Maintenance and Repair.  

1. Cleaning, painting, repainting, and other normal maintenance and repair of a sign shall 
not require a permit unless a structural or size change is made. Maintenance includes 

replacement of a sign face. 

180



ARTICLE 7: BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.8 Administrative Adjustment 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 50 27-Sept-12 

2. Repair of conforming signs, damaged as a result of accidents or acts of God, shall be 

exempt from permit fees when they are being restored to their original condition.  

7.8 Administrative Adjustment. 

A.  Purpose.  

Administrative adjustments are specified deviations from otherwise applicable 

development standards where development is proposed that would be:  

1. Compatible with surrounding land uses; 

2. Harmonious with the public interest; and 

3. Consistent with the purposes of this Ordinance. 

B.  Applicability. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall have the authority to authorize adjustments of up 
to ten percent (10%) from any dimensional standards set forth in the Dimensional 
Standards section of this Ordinance, and the Off-Street Parking Standards section of this 
Ordinance.   

C.  Application. 

A complete application for an administrative adjustment shall be submitted to the 
BioCorridor Review Committee as set forth in the General Approval Procedures article of 
this Ordinance.  

D.  Review and Action by BioCorridor Review Committee. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review the application and approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application based upon the criteria below. A written decision 
including affirmative findings on the criteria set forth below shall be sent to the applicant.  

E.  Administrative Adjustment Criteria. 

1. To approve an application for an administrative adjustment, the BioCorridor Review 
Committee must make an affirmative finding that the following criteria are met:  

a. That granting the adjustment will ensure the same general level of land use 
compatibility as the otherwise applicable standards; 

b. That granting the adjustment will not materially or adversely affect adjacent land 
uses or the physical character of uses in the immediate vicinity of the proposed 
development; and  

c. That granting the adjustment will be generally consistent with the purposes and 
intent of this Ordinance. 

2. In the event that the BioCorridor Review Committee finds that the applicant has not 
met the above criteria, the applicant may request that the application be forwarded to 

the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment as a variance request subject to the 
requirements of the Variances section of this Ordinance below. 

181



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.9 Variances 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 51 27-Sept-12 

7.9 Variances. 

A. Purpose. 

The City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall have jurisdiction to hear requests for a 
variance from the terms of this Ordinance. The City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall be 

authorized to grant a variance from the terms hereof if, and only if, they find that the 
strict enforcement of this Ordinance would create a substantial hardship to the applicant 
by virtue of unique special conditions not generally found within the area zoned for the 
BioCorridor, and that the granting of the variance would preserve the spirit and intent of 
this Ordinance, and would serve the general interests of the public and the applicant. 
Variances may be granted only when in harmony with the general purpose and intent of 
this Ordinance so that public health, safety, and welfare may be secured and substantial 

justice done.  

B. Applicability. 

The City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall have the authority to grant variances from the 
standards in this Ordinance except for waivers of the standards in the Subdivision Design 
and Improvements article of this Ordinance, which may be made by a City’s Planning and 
Zoning Commission during the subdivision process and requests for relief from a site plan 

requirement imposed by the BioCorridor Review Committee when the requirement was 
necessary to gain compliance with the criteria for approval of a site plan in the Site Plan 
Review section of this Ordinance, which may be made by the BioCorridor Board. Any 
variance request up to ten percent (10%) may be treated as an Administrative Adjustment 
subject to the requirements of the Administrative Adjustment section of this Ordinance.  

C. Application. 

A complete application for a variance shall be submitted to the City’s Planning 

representative as set forth in the General Approval Procedures article of this Ordinance.  

D.  Action by the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment. 

1. Public Hearing. 

Following notice in accordance with the General Approval Procedures article of this 
Ordinance, the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall hold a public hearing.  

2. Variance Review. 

Upon completion of the public hearing and after review of the variance application 
subject to the criteria listed below, the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall make a 
written finding and give its approval, approval with limitations, or disapproval of the 
variance.  

E.  Criteria for Approval of Variance. 

1. Required Findings. 

The City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment may authorize a variance from the 
requirements of this Ordinance when an unnecessary hardship would result from the 

strict enforcement of this Ordinance. In granting a variance, the City’s Zoning Board of 
Adjustment shall prescribe only limitations that it deems not prejudicial to the public 
interest. In making the required findings, the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall 
take into account the nature of the proposed use of the land involved, the existing use 
of land in the vicinity, the possibility that a nuisance will be created, and the probable 
effect of such variance upon traffic conditions and upon public health, convenience, 
and welfare of the vicinity. No variance shall be granted unless the Board makes 

affirmative findings in regard to all of the following criteria:  

182



ARTICLE 7. BIOCORRIDOR DEVELOPMENT PROCESSES 

Section 7.9 Variances 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 52 27-Sept-12 

a. Extraordinary Conditions. 

That there are extraordinary or special conditions affecting the land involved such 
that strict application of the provisions of this Ordinance would result in 
unnecessary hardship and that granting a variance would ensure the spirit of the 

Ordinance is observed and substantial justice is done.  For example, the variance 
is justified because of topographic or other special conditions unique to the 
property and development are involved, rather than mere inconvenience or 
financial disadvantage.  

b. Enjoyment of a Substantial Property Right. 

That the variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial 
property right of the applicant. 

c. Substantial Detriment. 

That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, 

safety, or welfare, or injurious to other property in the area, or to the City in 
administering this Ordinance. 

d. Subdivision. 

That the granting of the variance will not have the effect of preventing the orderly 

subdivision of other land in the area in accordance with the provisions of this 
Ordinance. 

e. Flood Hazard Protection. 

That the granting of the variance will not have the effect of preventing flood 
hazard protection in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance. 

f. Other Property. 

That these conditions do not generally apply to other property in the vicinity.  

g. Hardships. 

That the hardship is not the result of the applicant's own actions. 

h. Comprehensive Plan. 

That the granting of the variance would not substantially conflict with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan and the purposes of this Ordinance. 

2. Limitations. 

The City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment may not grant a variance where the effect 
would be any of the following: 

a. To allow the establishment of a use not otherwise permitted in the BioCorridor 
Planned Development zoning district; 

b. To extend physically a nonconforming use of land; or 

c. To change the zoning district boundaries shown on the City’s Official Zoning Map. 

3. Profitability Not to Be Considered. 

The fact that property may be utilized more profitably should a variance be granted 
may not be considered grounds for a variance.  

 

183



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.1 Authority and Purpose 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 53 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS. 

8.1 Authority and Purpose. 

The subdivision of land is a major factor in the process of sound community growth and 
ultimately becomes a public responsibility in that the streets and other infrastructure must be 
maintained and various public services customary to urban areas must be provided. These 
regulations seek to protect the interests of public and private parties by granting certain rights 

and privileges and requiring certain obligations in association with the subdivision and 
development of land. The welfare of the entire community is affected in many important 
respects. Therefore, it is in the interest of the public, the developer, and the future landowners 
that the subdivisions and developments be conceived, designed, and developed in accordance 
with sound rules and proper minimum standards. These regulations encourage the growth of 
the BioCorridor in an orderly manner. 

8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions within the 

BioCorridor. 

A. Suitability of Lands. 

The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall approve the subdivision of land if, from 
adequate investigations conducted by all public agencies concerned, it has been 
determined that in the best interest of the public, the site is suitable for platting and 
development purposes of the kind proposed. 

B. Land Use and Other Regulations. 

No plat of land shall be approved unless it conforms to the land use regulations contained 
within this Ordinance. 

C. Reserved Strips and Tracts Prohibited. 

A plat shall not provide reserved strips or tracts of land.  In addition, the effect of phasing 
of a plat, provision of common area or other land or easement shall not unnecessarily 
restrict access to land, right-of-way, or easements dedicated or intended to be dedicated 

to the public by the subject plat or adjacent developments.

D. Technical Standards. 

All public infrastructure shall be designed and constructed in accordance with applicable 
local, state, and federal requirements.  All public infrastructure shall also be designed and 
constructed in accordance with the Bryan/College Station Unified Design Guidelines, 

Bryan/College Station Unified Technical Specifications, and Bryan/College Station Unified 
Construction Details. Hereafter, these documents shall be referred to collectively as the 
―B/CS Unified Design Guidelines.‖  Where there is a conflict of standards, the more 
stringent standard shall apply, as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee.  The 

City shall accept for public use only streets, alleys, water, waste water, drainage, and 
other public infrastructure that comply with these standards for construction. 

E. Streets. 

1. Streets on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan. 

Where a subdivision encompasses or is adjacent to a thoroughfare, as shown on the 
City’s Thoroughfare Plan, the thoroughfare shall be constructed and included in the 
subdivision plat to maintain continuity in the approximate location as shown, and of 
the type indicated. 

2. Relation to Adjoining Street System. 

a. Where there is an existing street adjacent to or through the area to be subdivided, 
the necessary street intersections to the existing street shall be constructed. 

184



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 54 27-Sept-12 

b. Existing and planned streets and Public Ways in adjacent or adjoining areas shall 

be continued in alignment therewith. 

c. When land is subdivided into larger parcels rather than ordinary building lots, such 
parcels shall be arranged so as to allow for the opening of future streets and 

logical further subdivisions. 

3. Street Projections. 

a. Where adjoining areas are not platted, the subdivision shall provide street 
projections to such areas by projecting a public street: 

1) In each cardinal direction around the proposed subdivision; 

2) At intervals no fewer than the maximum block length along the perimeter 
boundary of the subdivision; and 

3) To provide street connection or street frontage to land-locked tracts that do 
not otherwise have frontage to a public street. 

b. In lieu of a public street, a Public Way may satisfy a required street projection 
when the Public Way is projected to future non-residential or mixed-use 
development and can be continued through that development to a public street. 

4. Adequate Street Access. 

a. One external street connection is required for a street serving as roadway access 
for thirty (30) or fewer lots. 

b. When there are more than thirty (30) lots to be served by external street 
connections, a minimum of two (2) street connections to the external paved public 
streets shall be required. The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission may allow a 
Remote Emergency Access where development phasing or constraints of the land 
prevent the provision of a second street connection. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, two (2) street connections to external paved public streets shall be 
required when one hundred (100) or more lots are served.  

c. Three (3) street connections to external paved public streets may be required 
when two hundred (200) or more lots are served. 

d. Where more than one external street connection is required, at least one external 
street connection shall not be located over a potential hazard such as a high-
pressure gas line or a creek where the 100-year floodplain overtops the street, 

regardless of its classification. 

5. Dead-End Streets. 

Dead-end streets shall be prohibited except short stubs to permit future extension. 
Temporary turnarounds shall be required for stubs in length of more than one hundred 
feet (100 ft.) or the depth of one lot, whichever is less. 

6. Geometric Standards, Street Design Criteria. 

Streets and alleys shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the B/CS 

Unified Design Guidelines. 

7. Existing Substandard Street Right-of-Way. 

a. Whenever an existing right-of-way is within or adjacent to a proposed subdivision 
and such right-of-way width is substandard, the additional width for the street 
shall be dedicated. For development occurring on only one side of such a roadway, 
the amount dedicated shall generally equal one-half (1/2) of the deficiency in 

width based on the classification and type of street, as measured from the existing 
centerline of the right-of-way. If the parcel(s) on the opposite side of the right-of-
way previously dedicated a portion, the proposed plat shall dedicate the remaining 
width. If the opposite side of the right-of-way has a permanent constraint such as 
a railroad right-of-way or conservation easement, the full width of the deficiency 
may be required. 

185



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 55 27-Sept-12 

b. The BioCorridor Review Committee may reduce, increase, or eliminate the amount 

of right-of-way dedication based on design considerations, existing land uses, 
existing development on adjacent properties, and dimensions of the proposed 
subdivision or plat. 

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, additional right-of-way dedication is not required 
for Amending Plats. 

8. Street Names and Addresses. 

a. Proposed streets that are extensions of existing streets shall bear the name of the 
existing street, unless otherwise recommended by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee. 

b. New streets shall be named to prevent conflict or confusion with identical or 

similar names in the cities, Brazos County 911 district, or the cities’ Extraterritorial 
Jurisdictions (ETJs).  

c. Streets shall not be named after any living person. 

d. A proposed street name may be denied if it too closely approximates phonetically 
the name of an existing street, is too difficult to pronounce, or carries undesirable 
meanings or connotations. 

e. Street addresses shall be assigned by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

F. Alleys. 

1. Alleys may be required at the rear of all lots intended to be used for business 
purposes. 

2. Alleys shall generally be parallel to the street that the lot it serves fronts. 

3. Where two (2) alleys intersect, or where an alley turns, additional width may be 
required to allow turning of vehicles or guying of utility poles. 

4. Dead-end alleys shall not be permitted. 

5. Private alleys shall be constructed to public alley standards except that the private 

alley shall be located within a common area or private access easement. The City 
reserves the right to not provide sanitation and fire service along private alleys.  

G. Blocks. 

1. In order to provide a public street network that is complimentary to the City’s 
Thoroughfare Plan and that ensures uniform access and circulation to areas intended 

for similar land use contexts, block length shall not exceed the following dimensions 
based on the land use designations in this Ordinance: 

a. Six hundred sixty feet (660 ft.) in the BioCorridor Research & Development 
District; 

b. Nine hundred feet (900 ft.) in the BioCorridor Office & Research District; and 

c. One thousand two hundred feet (1,200 ft.) in the BioCorridor Manufacturing 

District east of the area identified as ―Greenbelt‖ on the BioCorridor District Map. 

d. The BioCorridor Manufacturing District west of the the area identified as 
―Greenbelt‖ on the BioCorridor District Map shall be exempt from block length 
requirements.  

2. If a plat is not bounded by a public through street or other qualifying break to block 
length then the block length measurement shall continue to extend each way beyond 
the plat along the public through street until the nearest intersecting through street or 

qualifying break to the block is reached. The area identified as ―Greenbelt‖ on the 
BioCorridor District Map, SH47 and FM60 shall be exempt from this requirement.  

3. Block perimeter shall not exceed the following dimensions based on the land use 
designation: 

a. One thousand six hundred feet (1,600 ft.) in the BioCorridor Research & 
Development District; and 

186



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 56 27-Sept-12 

b. Two thousand feet (2,000 ft.) in the BioCorridor Office and Research District. 

c. The BioCorridor Manufacturing District shall be exempt from block perimeter 
requirements. 

4. In lieu of a public street, non-residential and mixed-use developments may opt to 

construct a Public Way to satisfy block length and block perimeter requirements when 
the Public Way connects two public streets. The plat shall dedicate a public access 
easement that covers the entire width of the private drive and sidewalks for the Public 
Way. The private drive and sidewalks may be constructed with the development of this 
property. A Public Way shall not substitute for a thoroughfare identified on the City’s 
Thoroughfare Plan.  

5. Block length or block perimeter shall not require a new street, Public Way, or Access 

Way to enter the face of a block when the surrounding area of the block is subdivided 
so that a through movement is not possible or a new block cannot be created. 

H. Lots. 

1. General Requirements. 

a. Lots shall be identified in numerical order within a block. 

b. Lot size and setback lines shall be in accordance with the applicable District 

requirements. 

c. Lots established for special purposes such as common area, open space, parkland, 
floodplain, drainage, utilities, or other similar facilities shall be uniquely named 
and are not required to meet the minimum dimensional standards for the 
applicable District. 

d. Side lot lines shall be substantially right angle to straight right-of-way or radial to 
the curved right-of-way. 

e. A subdivision shall not cause an existing structure to encroach into the setback of 
a proposed lot line. 

I. Easements. 

1. Drainage Easements and Rights-of-Way. 

a. Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, drainage way, natural channel 
or stream, a drainage easement or right-of-way may be required in accordance 
with the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines.   

b. No construction, including fences, shall impede, constrict, or block the flow of 
water.   

c. A drainage easement or right-of-way shall not be considered a part of the lot area 
for purposes of minimum lot size requirements.   

d. When feasible, utilities may be located within drainage easements and rights-of-
way. Likewise, enclosed storm drains may be contained in utility easements.  In 

such instances, the utility easement width must be adequate to provide space for 

storm drains, utilities, and maintenance access. 

2. Utility Easements. 

a. Minimum Utility Easements. 

Utility easements are required as necessary to provide utilities and pursuant to the 
B/CS Unified Design Guidelines based on the number, size, configuration, or depth 
of existing, proposed or anticipated utilities. Where the proposed subdivision 

adjoins an unplatted area or future phase of the subdivision, a twenty foot (20 ft.) 
width of easement may be required for continuance of public infrastructure in the 
future. 

 

 

187



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 57 27-Sept-12 

b. Improvements in Easements. 

Buildings, signs, masonry walls, and other vertical structures that require a 
building permit are not permitted within utility easements; except that landowners 
may place a fence in utility easements if unlocked gates are provided to allow free 

movement of excavating machines, maintenance equipment, and personnel within 
the full length of the easement. 

3. Access Easements. 

a. A private access easement shall be required to provide access to property that 
does not have direct frontage to a public right-of-way or a Public Way. Private 
access easements may also be required when shared driveway access is necessary 
to meet driveway spacing requirements along a public street or Public Way. 

Driveways in required private access easements shall be constructed to City fire 
lane standards and their installation may be delayed until the time of site 
development. When private access easements are provided, construction and 

maintenance responsibilities shall be assigned and noted on the plat, or the 
recorded volume and page of the access instrument shall be referenced on the 
plat. 

b. A public access easement shall be provided for a Public Way, for public sidewalks 
on private property, and for Access Ways. Fences, gates, parking, or other 
obstructions that restrict or block access are prohibited. 

4. Off-Site Easements. 

All easements outside the boundaries of a plat that are necessary for the installation of 
public infrastructure to serve the subdivision shall be acquired by the applicant and 
conveyed by an instrument approved by the City’s City Attorney. 

5. Non-Public Easements. 

Except as set forth herein, dedication of rights-of-way, easements, and public 
infrastructure shall not be encumbered by private easements that have pre-existing 

rights. Minor crossings are allowed. 

J. Access Ways. 

1. Existing and planned Access Ways in adjacent or adjoining areas shall be continued in 
alignment therewith.  

2. In Blockfaces over nine hundred feet (900 ft.) in length, an Access Way shall extend 
across the width of the block near the center of the block. 

3. To provide additional pedestrian and bicycle circulation, an Access Way shall be 
required on a cul-de-sac street to connect to existing or planned facilities in the 
vicinity such as schools, parks, transit stops, and multi-use paths. 

4. An Access Way may be required to provide additional pedestrian and bicycle 

circulation within a subdivision, between subdivisions, between cul-de-sacs, or to 
provide access to schools, parks, shopping centers, multi-use paths, transportation, 
and other community facilities in the vicinity. 

5. If an Access Way is greater than three hundred feet (300 ft.) in length then an 
additional access point to the Access Way shall be provided. 

6. Property within the BioCorridor Manufacturing District shall be exempt from these 
requirements. 

K. Sidewalks. 

1. Policy. 

Sidewalks should be located and constructed so as to provide a safe and effective 
means of transportation for non-vehicular traffic. 

 

 

188



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 58 27-Sept-12 

2. Required Sidewalks. 

Except as may be set forth herein, sidewalks shall be required on both sides of all 
streets. 

3. Sidewalk Exceptions. 

Sidewalks are not required: 

a. Along a street classified on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan as a Freeway/Expressway 
that does not have frontage roads. Sidewalks, however, shall be provided along 
frontage roads of a Freeway/Expressway. 

b. Around the bulb of cul-de-sac streets. 

4. Standards. 

Sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with the following criteria: 

a. The B/CS Unified Design Guidelines and all applicable state and federal 
requirements; 

b. Consistent with the minimum standards necessary to meet the projected non-
vehicular traffic demand in the area; 

c. Sidewalks shall maintain a minimum clear width as set forth in the B/CS Unified 
Design Guidelines; and 

d. All sidewalks shall terminate into streets or driveways with ambulatory ramps. 

5. Timing of Construction. 

All required sidewalks must be constructed concurrently with the street, or if the street 
is already constructed, prior to acceptance of all public improvements. 

L. Bicycle Facilities. 

1. General. 

Bicycle facilities are planned and located to provide connectivity to the existing street 

network, parks, schools, greenways, neighborhoods, and other key destinations; 
increase safety; and promote health and wellness. 

2. Required Bicycle Facilities. 

Depending in which City the property is located; bicycle facilities may be required in 

accordance with the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines and constructed along with other 
required public infrastructure.   

3. Types of Bicycle Facilities. 

There are at least three (3) types of bicycle facilities that may be required. These 
types include the following: 

a. Multi-use Path:  a facility completely separated from auto traffic and within an 
independent right-of-way or within the right-of-way of another public facility; 

b. Bike Lane:  a facility where part of the roadway or shoulder is striped, signed, and 

marked for exclusive or preferential bicycle use and where vehicular parking is not 
permitted, unless otherwise specified; and 

c. Bike Route:  a facility designated by signing and sometimes pavement markings to 
help make motorists aware of the presence of bicycles which share the same area 
with motor vehicles. 

4. Geometric Design Criteria. 

All facilities shall be designed to meet or exceed standards set forth in the "Guide for 
Development of Bicycle Facilities" published by the American Association of State 
Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) and the B/CS Unified Design 
Guidelines.  Signing and pavement markings for such facilities shall be in accordance 
with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD).  Geometric design 
criteria for each type of bikeway facility are as follows: 

189



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 59 27-Sept-12 

a. Bike Routes. 

Bike routes shall be indicated as follows: 

1) The placement of bike route signing and shared lane pavement markings 
identifies bicycle-compatible streets that will serve as bike routes; 

2) A minimum of sixteen feet (16 ft.) of the outer lane of streets measured from 
the outer lane line to the back of curb shall be required for bike routes. A 
typical bicycle route street is shown in Figure 1; and 

3) Bike route signing should not end at a barrier. Information directing the 
bicyclist around the barrier should be provided. 

 

a. Bike Lanes. 

Bike lanes shall be as follows: 

1) The bike lane is located within the vehicular roadway in the outside lane and is 

intended for the exclusive use of bicycles.  Bike lanes must be developed as 
one-way facilities and carry traffic in the same direction as adjacent motor 
vehicle traffic; and 

2) In general, parking in bike lanes is prohibited.  However, parking may be 
permitted in a bike lane in specific areas during specified times.  Where 
parking in a bike lane is permitted, signs shall be installed to provide notice to 

bicyclists of when parking is allowed.  Parking in a bike lane shall be limited 
primarily to spillover parking for public uses or events, but parking for non-
public uses may also be considered. 

b. Multi-Use Paths. 

The criteria that must be met for multi-use paths is as follows: 

1) Multi-use paths should be located primarily in greenways, parks, or 
occasionally within street rights-of-way. If a multi-use path is to be located in 

the right-of-way of a street, there should be a minimum of five feet (5 ft.) 
separating the multi-use path from the roadway; 

2) The standard width for a two-way multi-use path shall be ten feet (10 ft.). In 
areas with projected high volumes of use, multi-use paths shall be twelve feet 
(12 ft.) wide; 

3) The minimum width of a one-directional multi-use path is five feet (5 ft.). It 
should be recognized, however, that one-way bicycle paths often will be used 

as two-way facilities unless effective measures are taken to assure one-way 
operation. Without such enforcement, it should be assumed that multi-use 
paths will be used as two-way facilities and designed accordingly; 

190



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 60 27-Sept-12 

4) A minimum of three-foot (3-ft.) width graded area shall be maintained 

adjacent to both sides of the multi-use path to provide clearance from trees, 
poles, walls, fences, guard rails, or other lateral obstructions; and   

5) Multi-use paths shall be located in a public access easement of a minimum 

twenty feet (20 ft.) in width. 

M. Water Facilities. 

1. All subdivisions shall have access to public water supply and distribution systems for 
domestic use that meet adequate fire protection standards. All water mains, 
distribution and service lines shall be provided to each lot and constructed in 
accordance with the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines and all applicable state and 
federal requirements. Where there is a conflict of standards, the more stringent 

standard shall apply, as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee. The City 
shall accept for public use only water mains, distribution and service lines that comply 
with these standards for construction. 

2. All subdivisions shall connect with a publicly-owned water distribution system and the 
developer shall extend water distribution lines from the nearest City-approved point of 
connection to the furthest boundary line of the platted subdivision along the right-of-

way line. This is required in order to provide a point of connection for adjacent 
properties not having access to such services and to provide for orderly growth. 

3. For water systems that are not part of a municipal water utility, the applicant shall 
provide a letter with the construction documents from the non-City utility that the 
non-City utility is able to properly serve the proposed subdivision as required pursuant 
to applicable law. 

4. Plans for such systems will be subject to City review and inspection. City review and 

inspection of such water system ends at the sanitization of the line. 

N. Wastewater Facilities. 

1. All subdivisions shall have access to wastewater facilities. All collection mains and 
service lines shall be provided to each lot and constructed in accordance with the B/CS 
Unified Design Guidelines and all applicable state and federal requirements. Where 
there is a conflict of standards, the more stringent standard shall apply, as determined 
by the BioCorridor Review Committee. The City shall accept for public use only 

wastewater facilities that comply with these standards for construction. 

2. All subdivisions shall connect with a publicly-owned wastewater collection system and 
the applicant shall extend wastewater collection lines from the nearest City approved 
point of connection to the furthest boundary line of the platted subdivision along the 
right-of-way line. This is required in order to provide a point of connection for adjacent 
properties not having access to such services and to provide for orderly growth. 

3. Plans for such a system will be subject to City review and inspection. 

O. Special Flood Hazard Areas. 

All development encroaching into a FEMA special flood hazard area shall be in accordance 
with the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines, and all applicable local, state and federal 
requirements. Where there is a conflict of standards, the more stringent standard shall 
apply, as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee. The City shall only accept 
improvements for public use that comply with these standards for construction. 

P. Drainage. 

1. All drainage shall be in accordance with the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines, and all 
applicable local, state and federal requirements. Where there is a conflict of standards, 
the more stringent standard shall apply, as determined by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee. The City shall only accept improvements for public use that comply with 
these standards for construction.  

191



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 61 27-Sept-12 

2. Rapid conveyance, the phasing of development, the use of control methods such as 

retention or detention, and/or the construction of off-site drainage improvements as 
means of mitigation, as provided in the B/CS Unified Design Guidelines and as may be 
required and approved by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

3. No construction shall impede, constrict, or block, the flow of water in any drainage 
pathway. 

4. Lot Grading 

a. Lots shall be laid out so as to provide positive drainage away from all buildings.  
Individual lot drainage shall be coordinated with the general storm drainage for 
the area.  Drainage shall be designed so as to avoid the concentration of storm 
drainage water from each lot to adjacent developable lots.  A subdivision grading 

plan shall be provided with the construction documents.  A general drainage 
pattern that meets all applicable rules and regulations shall be provided for each 
proposed block and lot. Subsequent permits for each lot shall comply with the 

approved grading plan. 

b. Non-residential lots and lots that have mixed uses that include residential shall be 
graded to match elevations at adjoining properties to provide good access and to 

minimize the use of retaining walls. 

Q. Gas or Oil Lines. 

1. Identification. 

High-pressure flammable gas or fuel lines are defined as those which are operated or 
may be expected in the future to operate at a pressure of over sixty (60) pounds per 
square inch.  High-pressure flammable gas or fuel lines, installed on public property, 
shall be buried with a minimum cover of thirty inches (30 in.) and shall be marked by 

an all-weather type sign installed at each crossing and at intervals of not more than 
three hundred feet (300 ft.).  The signs shall be installed by the utility company, state 
that the line is high pressure, identify the utility company name, provide an 

emergency phone number, and state the type of product or products transported 
therein. 

2. Notification to Utility Company. 

The applicant shall provide written notification to the utility company regarding any 

proposed construction over an existing facility or within a utility’s easement and 
provide proof of such notification to the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

R. Street Lights. 

1. General Standards. 

a. Street lights shall be designed and installed according to the utility standards in 
effect at the time of subdivision construction or addition thereto. 

b. The quantity, size, and type of street light pole and fixture shall be selected by the 
applicant from the approved City street light standards. 

c. The applicant shall furnish public utility easements for the installation of street 
lights, with said easements to normally be five feet (5 ft.) in width. 

d. Where electric service is provided, all street lighting and site lighting equipment 
shall be placed underground except for the poles on which the lights are to be 
affixed.   

2. Street Light Locations. 

Street lights shall normally be required at all street intersections and Access Ways, in 
cul-de-sacs, and at approximately three hundred-foot (300-ft.) intervals along tangent 
streets. 

 

192



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.2 General Requirements and Minimum Standards of Design for Subdivisions 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 62 27-Sept-12 

3. Installation and Maintenance. 

a. The applicant or his authorized construction representative shall be responsible for 
furnishing and installing all street light facilities in accordance with the electric 
utility’s design and specifications.  All conduit installations shall be inspected prior 

to acceptance for conformance with the utility specifications. 

b. Street lights shall be owned and maintained by the electric utility provider with the 
Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (CCN) for that area. 

c. The electric utility provider shall not be responsible for the installation or 
maintenance of street lights on alleys, private streets, Public Ways, drives, or 
Access Ways. 

S. Electric Facilities. 

1. All applicants shall ascertain which electric utility is certificated to serve the proposed 
subdivision.  The electric utility design and facilities must meet all applicable City 

ordinances. 

2. The electric utility will design the electrical system to all lots within a subdivision. 

3. All electric utility service shall be installed underground in all subdivisions. All lateral 
electric lines and service lines supplying electric utility service shall be placed 

underground. 

4. The applicant shall dedicate public utility easements upon forms approved by the City 
for the installation of electric utilities. All liens and other ownership interests shall be 
subordinated to the easement use. 

5. Where electric service is placed underground, all auxiliary equipment for such service, 
including but not limited to transformers, junction enclosures, and switching devices, 
shall be pad-mounted on grade or shall be placed underground.  

6. All street-lighting and site-lighting equipment shall be placed underground except for 

the poles on which the lights are to be affixed. The City or the electric utility shall not 
be responsible for the installation or maintenance of street lights on alleys, private 
streets, or drives.  

7. The applicant shall be responsible for the costs and installation of all conduit needed 
for underground feeder, lateral, and service lines utilized to provide electric utility 
service to the subdivision. The developer of a platted lot shall be responsible for the 

costs and installation for the service conduit for such platted lot. The specifications for 
the conduit shall be provided by the electric utility prior to installation. All conduit 
installations shall be inspected prior to acceptance for conformance to utility 
specifications. 

8. Temporary utility service may be provided via overhead line extension. 

9. The applicant shall contact the appropriate electric utility provider to determine any 

additional requirements. 

T. Monuments and Corner Markers. 

1. All block corners, angle points and points of curves, and all corners of boundary lines 
of subdivisions shall be marked with a one-half inch (1/2-in.) steel rod, two feet (2 ft.) 
in length, set in the center of a concrete monument six inches (6 in.) in diameter and 
thirty inches (30 in.) deep, with the top flush with the finished ground surface. 

2. Where, due to topographic conditions, permanent structures, or other conditions, the 

view is obstructed between any two (2) adjacent monuments, intermediate 
monuments shall be set as to assure a clear view between adjacent monuments. 

3. Corner markers, consisting of a one-half inch (1/2-in.) steel rod or three-fourths inch 
(3/4-in.) pipe, two feet (2 ft.) in length, shall be driven flush with the ground surface 
to mark the corners of all lots.

193



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.3 Waiver of Subdivision Standards 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 63 27-Sept-12 

U. Owners Associations for Common Areas and Facilities. 

1. A Homeowners Association or Property Owners Association (―Owners Association‖) 
shall be established with direct responsibility to, and controlled by, the property 
owners involved to provide for operation, repair, and maintenance of all common 

areas, fences, walls, gate equipment, landscaping, and all other common facilities (the 
―Common Facilities‖). 

2. The Owners Association shall prepare and file for record a legal instrument 
establishing a plan for the use and permanent repair and maintenance of the Common 
Facilities and which provides that the association is self-perpetuating and adequately 
funded to accomplish its purpose.  The Owners Association understands that upon 
formation it unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the 

City and the City’s officials, agents, employees, and contractors harmless, from and 
against any loss, liability, demand damage, judgment, suit, claim deficiency, interests, 

fees, charges, costs, or expenses including, without limitation, interest, court cost, and 
penalties, attorney’s fees and disbursement and amounts paid in settlement, or 
liabilities resulting from any change in federal, state, or local law or regulation or 
interpretation hereof of whatever nature.  The foregoing shall apply even when caused 

in part by the negligence of either or both the City of College Station or the City of 
Bryan or the joint or concurring negligence of either or both cities and any other 
person or entity, which may result or to which the cities and/or any of the cities’ 
respective officials, agents, employees, and contractors may sustain, suffer, incur, or 
become subject to in connection with or arising in any way whatsoever out of the 
maintenance, repair, use, or occupation of the Common Facilities, or any other activity 
of whatever nature in connection therewith, or arising out of or by reason of any 

investigation, litigation, or other proceedings brought or threatened, arising out of or 
based upon the operation, management, maintenance, repair, and use of the Common 
Facilities, or any other activity in the subdivision. 

8.3 Waiver of Subdivision Standards. 

A. Except as may be expressly prohibited elsewhere in the Ordinance, the City’s Planning and 
Zoning Commission, with a recommendation from the BioCorridor Board, may authorize a 
waiver from a regulation of this Article when, in their opinion, undue hardship will result 

from requiring strict compliance.  The City’s Planning and Zoning Commission may 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny waivers. 

B. A waiver request shall be approved only if it prescribes conditions that it deems not 
prejudicial to the public interest.  In making the findings hereinbefore required, the City’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission shall take into account the nature of the proposed use of 
the land involved, the existing use of land in the vicinity, the number of persons who will 

reside or work in the proposed subdivision, the possibility that a nuisance will be created, 
and the probable effect of such waiver upon traffic conditions and upon public health, 

convenience, and welfare of the vicinity.  No waiver shall be granted unless the City’s 
Planning and Zoning Commission finds: 

1. That there are special circumstances or conditions affecting the land involved such 
that strict application of the provisions of this Ordinance will deprive the applicant of 
the reasonable use of his land; 

2. That the waiver is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial 
property right of the applicant; 

3. That the granting of the waiver will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 
welfare, or injurious to other property in the area, or to the City in administering this 
Ordinance; and

4. That the granting of the waiver will not have the effect of preventing the orderly 
subdivision of other land in the area. 

194



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.4 Responsibility for Payment for Installation Costs 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 64 27-Sept-12 

C. Such findings of the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission shall be incorporated into the 

official minutes of the meetings at which such waiver is granted.  Waivers may be granted 
only when in harmony with the general purpose and intent of this Ordinance so that public 
health, safety, and welfare may be secured and substantial justice done. 

D. Waiver from Water Flow Requirements 

A waiver to fire-flow provisions set out in the Water Facilities standards contained in this 
Ordinance is prohibited. 

8.4 Responsibility for Payment for Installation Costs. 

A. Applicant Responsibilities. 

The applicant shall be responsible for the designing and installing of all public 
improvements which primarily serve the subdivision.  This includes being responsible for 

the costs associated therewith that are shown on the plat or that may be off-site but 
needed to ensure adequacy of public facilities and services for the subdivision; and subject 
to participation by the City or other third parties as may be allowed or required by 
applicable law, such as participation by the City for costs associated with oversizing of 
public improvements beyond that which is necessary to serve the subdivision. Facilities 
required by this Ordinance and City Code of Ordinances shall be considered as primarily 

serving the subdivision unless otherwise determined by the City. 

B. Street Lights. 

The applicant shall pay the entire cost of the subdivision street light installation, including 
the cost of service lines to supply electricity to the street lights, and all engineering design 
costs.  Once satisfactorily installed, approved, and accepted, the maintenance of the street 
lights and the furnishing of electric energy to the street lights shall be provided by the 
City. 

C. Street Signs. 

The applicant will provide and install, at no cost to the City, all street name signs and 
associated poles and hardware.  

D. Engineering Inspection and Testing. 

1. The City will charge for engineering inspection during construction and for final 
inspection; however, it is to be understood that the City will do no layout work or daily 
inspection. 

2. The City requires testing by an independent laboratory acceptable to the City to 
ensure compliance with the Bryan/College Station Unified Design Guidelines and the 
Bryan/College Station Unified Technical Specifications and approved plans and 
specifications of the construction of the infrastructure before final inspection and 

approval of that infrastructure. Charges for such testing shall be paid by the applicant. 

8.5 Construction, Guarantee of Performance, and Acceptance of Public Infrastructure. 

Construction of private improvements is prohibited until the requirements for constructing or 
guaranteeing construction of public infrastructure are met as set forth herein.  

A. Construction. 

1. Timing. 

Upon approval of the construction documents by the BioCorridor Review Committee 

and upon issuance of a Development Permit, the applicant may proceed with the 
construction of public infrastructure. Neither the developer nor the contractor nor the 
subcontractor shall make a connection to or tap into the public water distribution 

195



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.5 Construction, Guarantee of Performance, and Acceptance of Public Infrastructure 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 65 27-Sept-12 

system, electric system, or sanitary sewer system until this requirement is met. The 

developer shall furnish all necessary materials to make the final tap or connection. 

2. Letter of Completion and Acceptance. 

The City will inspect the construction of the required public infrastructure while in 

progress. Upon completion, the City will inspect and then approve the public 
infrastructure and issue a Letter of Completion when:  

a. The construction conforms to the approved plans, the Bryan/College Station 
Unified Design Guidelines, and all applicable city, state, and federal regulations; 

b. The applicant provides construction red-lined record drawings signed by the 
contractor acceptable to the City’s City Engineer that contain the following 
attestation: 

 

‖I,  , General Contractor for   development, certify that 

the improvements shown on this sheet were actually built, and that said 
improvements are shown as substantially depicted hereon.  I hereby certify that to 
the best of my knowledge, that the materials of construction and sizes of 
manufactured items, if any, are stated correctly hereon.‖ 

   
      
  General Contractor 

c. The applicant and his agent/contractor, if applicable, signs the Letter of 
Completion which shall constitute a written guarantee to the City that all 
workmanship and materials shall be free of defects for a period of one (1) year 
from the date of acceptance by the City’s City Engineer; and 

d. Off-site easements relating to the public infrastructure have been recorded, or are 
presented to the City and acceptable to be recorded. 

3. Upon completion by the applicant, and formal acceptance by the City of the public 
infrastructure required to be completed by the applicant, they shall become the 
property of the City. 

B. Guarantee of Performance. 

1. In lieu of the obligation to construct public infrastructure as set forth above, the 

applicant may elect to file a security instrument guaranteeing construction of the same 
in order to obtain final plat approval and to commerce construction of private 
improvements.  This may be accomplished in one of the following two ways: 

a. Performance Bond. 

The applicant may file with the City Engineer a bond executed by a surety 
company holding a license to do business in the State of Texas, in an amount 

acceptable to the City Engineer, and in a form approved by the City Attorney. The 
developer shall state in writing a timeframe acceptable to the City by when such 

public improvements will be complete; or 

b. Letter of Credit. 

The applicant has filed with the City’s City Engineer an irrevocable letter of credit, 
in a form approved by the City, signed by a principal officer of a local bank, local 
savings and loan association, or other financial institution, acceptable to the City, 

agreeing to pay to the City, on demand, a stipulated sum of money to apply to the 
estimated cost of installation of all public improvements for which the developer is 
responsible under this Section. The guaranteed payment sum shall be the 
estimated costs and scheduling as prepared by the applicant's engineer and 
approved by the City’s City Engineer. The letter shall state the name of the 
subdivision and shall list the improvements which the applicant is required to 
provide.

196



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.6 Certifications 

BioCorridor 
Planned Development District Page 66 27-Sept-12 

2. If one of the two types of security is filed by the applicant and accepted by the City as 
described above, the City’s City Engineer shall inspect and approve the construction of 
public improvements in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance.  If the 
applicant fails to properly construct some or all required public improvements, the 

City’s City Attorney shall, on direction of the City Council, proceed to enforce the 
guarantees provided in this Section. 

3. The City’s City Engineer may extend the period of time by when the completion of 
public improvements is to occur regardless of time periods that may be iterated 
elsewhere in this Ordinance.  Such extension of time shall be granted upon a showing 
of good cause and shall be reported to the BioCorridor Review Committee.  No such 
extension shall be granted unless security, as provided herein, has been provided by 

the developer covering the extended period of time and provided that such extension 
does not jeopardize general public health, safety, or welfare. 

 

8.6 Certifications. 
 

CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIP AND DEDICATION 

STATE OF TEXAS ) 
) 

COUNTY OF BRAZOS ) 
 

I (we)  , owner(s) and developer(s) of the land shown on this 
plat, and designated herein as the   Subdivision to the City of [College Station/Bryan], 
Texas, and whose name(s) is/are subscribed hereto, hereby dedicate to the use of the public 
forever all streets, alleys, parks, greenways, infrastructure, easements, and public places 
thereon shown for the purpose and consideration therein expressed.  All such dedications shall 

be in fee simple unless expressly provided otherwise. 

  
 
 

  

Owner(s) 
 
STATE OF TEXAS ) 

) 
COUNTY OF BRAZOS ) 

 

Before me, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared   
known to me to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, and 

acknowledged to me that he/they executed the same for the purpose and consideration therein 
stated. 

Given under my hand and seal on this   day of    , 20  . 

 
 

  
Notary Public, Brazos County, Texas 

(Seal) 
 

 
 

 

197



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.6 Certifications 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 67 27-Sept-12 

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEYOR AND/OR ENGINEER 

 
STATE OF TEXAS ) 

) 

COUNTY OF BRAZOS ) 
 

I,_______________________, Registered Public Surveyor (Engineer), No.___________, in 
the State of Texas, hereby certify that this plat is true and correct and was prepared from an actual 
survey of the property and that property markers and monuments were placed under my supervision 
on the ground. 
 

___________________________________ 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF CITY ENGINEER 

 

I, ________________________________, City Engineer of the City of [College 
Station/Bryan], Texas, hereby certify that this Subdivision Plat conforms to the requirements of the 
Subdivision Regulations of the City of [College Station/Bryan]. 
 
 

___________________________________ 
City Engineer 

City of [College Station/Bryan] 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

 

I,__________________________________, Chairman of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission of the City of [College Station/Bryan], hereby certify that the attached plat was duly 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission on the day of ______________________, 20___. 
 
 

___________________________________ 

Chairman 
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE COUNTY CLERK 
 
STATE OF TEXAS ) 

) 
COUNTY OF BRAZOS ) 

 

I,___________________________________, County Clerk, in and for said county, do hereby 
certify that this plat together with its certificates of authentication was filed for record in my office 
the________________________________________ day of, 20___, in the Deed Records of Brazos 
County, Texas, in Volume ________ Page ___________. 
 

WITNESS my hand and official Seal, at my office in Bryan, Texas. 

 
___________________________________ 
County Clerk 

(SEAL)     Brazos County, Texas 
 
 

 
 

198



ARTICLE 8. SUBDIVISION DESIGN AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 8.6 Certifications 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 68 27-Sept-12 

 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY PLANNER (for Amending or Minor Plats) 
 

I, ________________________________, City Planner of the City of [College Station/Bryan], 

Texas, hereby certify that this Subdivision Plat conforms to the requirements of the Subdivision 
Regulations of the City of [College Station/Bryan]. 
 
 

___________________________________ 
City Planner 
City of [College Station/Bryan] 

 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF NO ACTION TAKEN 

 
I,    , Chairman of the Planning and Zoning Commission, hereby certify that 

the plat was filed with the Planning and Development Services Department on the    day of  
  ,    and that the Planning and Zoning Commission failed to act on the plat 
within 30 days after the plat was filed. 

 
___________________________________ 

Chairman 

199



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.1 General Development Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 69 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS. 

9.1 General Development Standards. 

The following general development standards shall apply to all of the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District except where expressly stated to apply to, or exclude, specific districts. 

9.2 Overall Design Goals and Objectives. 

A. General Standards. 

The standards of this article are intended to use site planning and building orientation in 
order to: 

1. Ensure that buildings relate appropriately to surrounding development and streets 

and create a cohesive visual identity and attractive street scene; 

2. Ensure that site design promotes efficient pedestrian and vehicle circulation 
patterns; 

3. Ensure the creation of a high‐quality street and sidewalk environment that is 

supportive of pedestrian and transit mobility and that is appropriate to the 
roadway context; 

4. Ensure that trees, sidewalks, and buildings – three of the major elements that 

make up a streetscape – are arranged in a manner that supports the creation of a 
safe, human‐scaled, and well-defined roadway environment; 

5. Ensure that trees or man‐made shading devices are used to create a 

pedestrian‐friendly environment both alongside roadways and connecting roadside 

sidewalks to businesses; 

6. Ensure that buildings relate appropriately to their roadway context, allowing for 
easy pedestrian access to buildings and providing well‐defined edges to the 

roadway environment; 

7. Ensure that building entranceways are convenient to and easily accessible from 
the roadside pedestrian system; 

8. Ensure that vehicular parking is accommodated in a manner that enriches and 
supports, rather than diminishes, the roadside pedestrian environment, and that 
does not create a barrier between the roadside environment and the roadside 
buildings; 

9. Ensure that large sites are developed in a manner that supports and encourages 

connectivity and creates a cohesive visual identity and attractive street scene; and 

10. Create a multi‐modal connected environment clearly indicating entries and 

amenities. Connect sites through the use of open-space corridors, natural and 
developed, facilitating pedestrian and bicycle linkage through and within the 
BioCorridor.

B. Environmental Sensitivity Standards. 

The sensitive design and development of this corridor will enable the natural and built 

systems to work together to meet present needs without jeopardizing the ability of future 
generations to meet their needs.  The standards of this article are intended to use 
environmental sensitivity standards in order to: 

1. Do no harm – do not degrade the surrounding environment in the design and 
development of building sites; 

2. Utilize a decision‐making hierarchy of preservation, conservation, and regeneration in 

the design process – maximize the benefits of the existing and future ecosystem by 

200



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.3 General Provisions 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 70 27-Sept-12 

preserving sensitive and unique environmental features, conserving resources in a 

sustainable manner and regenerating lost or damaged ecosystem features; 

3. Design with nature and culture – create designs that meet economic and 
environmental conditions with respect to the local and regional context; 

4. Engage the end users into nature; and 

5. Foster environmental stewardship through the adherence to the Sustainable Sites 
Initiative and Guidelines and their Ecosystem Scoreboard. 

9.3 General Provisions. 

A. Health and Environmental Safeguards. 

No machine, process, or procedure shall be employed on any property in the BioCorridor 
Planned Development District in which: 

1. Emission of smoke, dust, or noxious, toxic, or lethal gases are detectable beyond the 
perimeter of the property; 

2. Materials are stored or accumulated in such a way that they may be carried by 
rainwater in natural drainage channels beyond the limits of the property, which are 
noxious, toxic, radioactive, contain oil or grease, wood, cellulose fibers, hair, feathers, 
plastic, or have a pH factor greater than ten or less than five; 

3. Vibration is discernible beyond the property line; or 

4. Noise above the ambient noise level is discernible beyond the property line. 

B. Minimum Requirements. 

1. No building plot shall have lower or less stringent standards or dimensions than those 
prescribed for respective Districts in this Ordinance.  

2. No building permit or development approval may be issued for a lot that does not 
meet the minimum lot area requirements of this Ordinance except on a lot that was 

platted before the adoption of this Ordinance. 

3. Utilities using land or an unoccupied building covering less than one thousand square 
feet (1000 sq.ft.) of site area shall be exempt from minimum lot area standards. 

4. Projects may be phased with the phase lines being drawn twenty feet (20 ft.) beyond 
any new site amenity.  If a buffer is required, the buffer shall be installed with the first 
phase.  Each individual phase must meet or exceed minimum requirements for that 
phase (including requirements for parking and landscaping).  The portion left for 

subsequent phases shall be of developable size and quality. 

C. Visibility at Intersections in all Districts. 

Within a departure sight triangle as defined by the latest edition of the American 
Association of State Highway & Transportation Officials’ (AASHTO) ―A Policy on Geometric 
Design of Highways and Streets‖, nothing shall be erected, placed, planted, or allowed to 
grow in such a manner that would obstruct the driver’s view at intersections. Sight 

triangles shall apply to street intersections, commercial driveways, and mixed-use 
driveways. Obstacles prohibited include but are not limited to: fences, walls, entry 
signage, structures, buildings, hedges, etc. However, fences, walls, and/or hedges that do 
not impair vision from three feet to nine feet (3 – 9 ft.) above the curb may be permitted 
with the approval of the BioCorridor Review Committee. Required public use facilities such 
as fire hydrants, traffic signage, utility structures, etc., are exempted. 

D. Required Yards (Setbacks). 

1. Purpose and Intent. 

a. Setbacks are measured from the property line; 

b. On lots with approved rear access, the rear setback shall be measured from the 
nearest boundary of the access easement or alley; 

201



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.3 General Provisions 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 71 27-Sept-12 

c. No structure that is taller than eight feet (8 ft.) in height and that has a roof 

structure that completely or partially blocks the view to the sky shall be located 
within the required setback area unless specifically allowed herein; and 

d. No part of a yard or other open space required in connection with any building, 

building plot, or use for the purpose of complying with this Ordinance, shall be 
included for any other building, building plot, or use as part of a yard or open 
space. 

2. Reduction for Public Purpose. 

a. When an existing setback is reduced because of a recent or pending conveyance to 
a federal, state, or local government for a public purpose and the remaining 
setback is at least fifty percent (50%) of the required minimum setback for the 

District in which it is located, then that remaining setback will be deemed to 
satisfy the minimum setback standards of this Ordinance.   

b. For the purposes of this Section, such conveyance shall have occurred within one 

year immediately preceding submittal for site plan approval, or be anticipated to 
occur within one year of site plan approval.  

3. Features Allowed Within Required Yards. 

The following features may be located within a required yard but may be subject to 
additional regulations applied herein: 

a. Trees, shrubbery, or other landscape features, excluding gazebos or other similar 
structures that require a building permit; 

b. Fences and walls; 

c. Driveways; 

d. Sidewalks; 

e. Utility lines, wires, and associated structures, such as power poles; 

f. Mechanical equipment such as air conditioning units, pool pumps, and similar 
equipment; 

g. Uncovered porches, uncovered steps to building entrances, and uncovered patio 
decks; 

h. Covered porches that are open on three sides, may extend up to six feet (6 ft.), 
including eaves, into any required front or side street setback; 

i. Openwork fire balconies and fire escapes may extend up to six feet (6 ft.) into any 
required rear setback; 

j. Sills, belt courses, cornices, buttresses, chimneys, flues, eaves, and other 
architectural features may extend up to eighteen inches (18 in.) into any required 
yard; 

k. Balconies or decks located more than eight feet (8 ft.) from the ground may 

project up to six feet (6 ft.) into the required front yard; 

l. Bus stops that offer shelter from the elements.  Such shelters may be located 
within a front or side street yard.  Shelters may be located within a public right-of-

way if a Private Improvement in Public Right-of-way Permit has been duly issued; 
and 

m. Swimming pools and hot tubs without shelter. 

E. More Than One Principal Structure on a Lot or Parcel. 

More than one structure housing a permitted principal use may be erected on a building 
plot. Yard and other requirements herein shall apply to the building plot. 

F. Fences / Walls. 

1. Fences of wood, chain-link, or similar material visible from a right-of-way are 
prohibited.  Fences of wood, chain-link, or similar material may be utilized when they 
are screened or otherwise not visible from the right-of-way. 

202



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.3 General Provisions 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 72 27-Sept-12 

2. Fences of wood, chain-link, or similar material, and less than eight feet (8 ft.) in 

height, and walls of brick, stone, concrete, or similar material, and less than six feet (6 
ft.) in height, shall not be construed to be structures, nor shall they require a building 
permit. 

G. Building Plot. 

1. Building plot refers to all of the land within an area defined by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee that consists of one or more platted lots for a single development.  Such 
determination shall be made at the platting stage or at the time of site plan.   

2. In the event that two or more lots are under single ownership and the existing 
structure does not meet the required yard setback, both lots shall be construed as the 
building plot. 

3. The BioCorridor Review Committee shall determine the building plot using the 
following criteria: 

a. Contiguous properties that consist of less than two acres and have one or fewer 
frontages on a street classified as a collector or higher on the City’s current 
Thoroughfare Plan will be consolidated and defined as one building plot for the 
purposes of signage; 

b. Contiguous properties that develop according to a common plan or design for 
similar or compatible uses, which singularly or in phases, is treated as such for site 
plan review purposes including signage; or

c. Contiguous properties that as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee 
need to be consolidated for ease of access, reduction of the proliferation of 
signage along the public right-of-way, or other public health, safety, or general 
welfare reasons. 

H. Height. 

1. Every site within the BioCorridor Planned Development District shall be allowed to 
construct to a height of at least fifty feet (50 ft.) above the natural grade as indicated 

on the Easterwood Airport Zoning Ordinance map. 

2. Height limitations shall apply to all elements—natural and man-made—on a site. 

3. Calculation of the height limits shall be to the highest point of the structure.  
Equipment such as satellite dishes and heating and air conditioning units may be 

installed on top of buildings provided that they are screened from horizontal view and 
included in the height limitations. 

9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards. 

A. Purpose. 

The purpose of this Section is to establish the guidelines for off-street parking areas 
consistent with the proposed land use to: 

1. Eliminate the occurrence of on-street parking in adjoining neighborhoods; 

2. Avoid the traffic congestion and public safety hazards caused by a failure to provide 
such parking areas; and  

3. Expedite the movement of traffic on public thoroughfares in a safe manner, thus 
increasing the carrying capacity of the streets and reducing the amount of land 
required for streets, thereby lowering the cost to both the property owner and the 
City. 

B. Bicycle Parking Spaces Required. 

1. In all Districts, for all uses, at the time any building or structure is erected, enlarged, 
or increased in capacity, or at any time any other use is established, there shall be 
parking spaces provided for bicycles in accordance with the requirements specified 
herein. 

203



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 73 27-Sept-12 

2. Where off-street parking facilities are provided in excess of the minimum amounts 

specified by this Section, or when off-street parking facilities are provided but not 
required, said off-street parking facilities shall comply with the minimum requirements 
for parking and maneuvering area as specified in this Section. 

3. It shall be unlawful to discontinue or dispense with, or cause the discontinuance or 
reduction of, the required parking facilities apart from the discontinuance of the 
building, use, or structure without establishing alternative off-street parking facilities 
that meet these requirements. 

4. Each building shall provide a facility capable of storing a minimum of four (4) bicycles. 
The area provided for such a facility shall be approximately fifty-five square feet (55 
sq. ft.) in area, approximately nine feet by six feet (9 x6 ft.) or as approved by the 

BioCorridor Review Committee. 

5. Facilities shall be located so that a building is between it and the primary street to 
which the building orients.  The facilities shall be separated from motor vehicle parking 

to protect both bicycles and vehicles from accidental damage and shall be sufficiently 
separated from building or other walls, landscaping, or other features to allow for ease 
and encouragement of use. This separation shall be a minimum of three feet (3 ft.). 

Bicycles may be permitted on sidewalks or other paved surfaces provided that the 
bicycles do not block or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

6. Bicycle facilities shall be constructed so as to enable the user to secure a bicycle by 
locking the frame and one wheel of each bicycle parked therein.  Facilities must be 
easily usable with both U-locks and cable locks and support the bicycle frame at two 
points. Facilities shall be anchored securely to the ground. 

C. Off-Street Vehicular Parking Spaces Required. 

1. In all districts, for all uses, at the time any building or structure is erected, enlarged, 
or increased in capacity, or at any time any other use is established, there shall be off-
street parking spaces provided for motor vehicles in accordance with the requirements 

specified herein. 

2. Where off-street parking facilities are provided in excess of the minimum amounts 
specified by this Section, or when off-street parking facilities are provided but not 
required, said off-street parking facilities shall comply with the minimum requirements 

for parking and maneuvering area as specified in this Section. 

3. It shall be unlawful to discontinue or dispense with, or cause the discontinuance or 
reduction of, the required parking facilities apart from the discontinuance of the 
building, use, or structure without establishing alternative off-street parking facilities 
that meet these requirements. 

D. Vehicular Parking Spaces’ Dimensions and Access. 

This Section applies to any development or redevelopment of uses. 

1. Each off-street parking space for automobiles shall have an area of not less than nine 

by twenty feet (9 x 20 ft.) and each stall shall be striped.  

2. An eighteen-foot (18-ft.) paved space, ninety degree (90°) only, may be utilized 
where the space abuts a landscaped island with a minimum depth of four feet (4 ft.).  
An eighteen-foot (18-ft.) space may also be used when adjacent to a sidewalk 
provided that the minimum width of the sidewalk is six feet (6 ft.). 

3. Each parking space intended for use by the handicapped shall be designed in 
accordance with the standards of the Texas Architectural Barriers Act (TABA) 
administered by the Texas Department of License and Regulation. 

4. Each parking space and the maneuvering area thereto shall be located entirely within 
the boundaries of the building plot except where shared parking is approved by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee. 

204



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 74 27-Sept-12 

5. All parking spaces, aisles, and modules shall meet the minimum requirements, as 

shown in the following table. All dimensions are measured from wall to wall. 

PARKING SPACE AND AISLE DIMENSIONS 

A B C D E F 

Angle 

(degrees) 

Width of 

stall 

Depth       
of stall 

90° to 
aisle 

Width of aisle Width of 
stall 

parallel 
to aisle 

Module width 

One 
way 

Two 
way 

One 
way 

Two way 

0 22 feet 10 feet 12 feet 20 feet 22 feet 22 feet 40 feet 

45 9 feet 21.1 feet 12 feet 20 feet 12.7 feet 54.2 feet 62.2 feet 

60 9 feet 22.3 feet 15 feet 22 feet 10.4 feet 59.6 feet 66.3 feet 

90 9 feet 20 feet 23 feet 23 feet 9 feet 63 feet 63 feet 

 

 

 

6. Parking lots located within fifteen feet (15 ft.) of a public right-of-way shall have a 
maximum of seven (7) contiguous spaces separated by an eighteen- by twenty-foot 
(18 x 20-ft.) landscaped island.  All parking lots and drive aisles shall be setback a 
minimum of six feet (6 ft.) from any public right-of-way. 

7. Parking is discouraged along entrance drives and should be limited on major 

circulation aisles of large developments. 

E. End Islands. 

1. A raised island, encompassing not less than one hundred eighty square feet (180 
sq.ft.) in area, shall be located at both ends of every interior and peripheral parking 
row, regardless of the length of the row.  End islands may have sidewalks through 
them.  Examples of interior and peripheral parking are shown in the figure below. 

C C

E

BA
Parking StallPark

ing Stal
l

Aisle

F

D

205



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 75 27-Sept-12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. All end islands must be raised at least six inches (6 in.) and curbed, with the majority 
of the area of each island planted or treated with enhanced paving.  The soil within the 

planted area shall not be compacted or stabilized and shall be contiguous with the soil 
at the natural grade. 

F. Interior Islands. 

1. All interior islands shall be evenly distributed throughout the interior of the parking 
area. 

2. For every fifteen (15) interior parking spaces, one hundred eighty square feet (180 

sq.ft.) of landscaping must be provided somewhere in the interior rows of the parking 
lot.  Interior island areas may be grouped and configured as desired provided that 

circulation aisles remain clear and the minimum island area is not less than one 
hundred eighty square feet (180 sq.ft.).  Interior islands may have sidewalks through 
them.   

3. End island areas that exceed the minimum required may be counted toward the 
interior parking island requirement. 

4. All interior islands must be raised at least six inches (6 in.) and curbed, with the 
majority of the area of each island planted or treated with enhanced paving.  The soil 
within the planted area shall not be compacted or stabilized and shall be contiguous 
with the soil at the natural grade. 

G. Requirements Apply to All Parking Areas. 

Every parcel of land hereafter used as a public parking area, including commercial parking 
lots, shall be developed and maintained in accordance with the requirements in this 

Section and as described in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications. 

H. Parking Lots. 

1. With the exception of a single-loaded row of angled parking along a one-way drive 
aisle located between the building frontage and the right-of-way, no parking is allowed 
adjacent to any street. 

2. Where parking or drive aisles are located between the building and the public right-of-

way, there shall be a minimum ten-foot (10-ft.) setback from the public right-of-way 
line to the parking area or drive aisle.  

  

206



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 76 27-Sept-12 

I.  Surfacing. 

1. General. 

All surfacing of off-street parking areas shall be constructed of either asphalt or 
concrete as described in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications. Alternatives to the 

standards may be approved by the BioCorridor Review Committee if it is demonstrated 
that the materials and design are equal or superior to the requirements in the 
Guidelines. All off-street parking areas shall be graded to drain and maintained so as 
to dispose of surface water accumulated within the area.  Parking spaces shall be so 
arranged and marked so as to provide for orderly and safe parking of vehicles. 

2. Non-Public, All-Weather Drive Surfaces. 

Temporary or permanent drive surfaces that are required for emergency access or 

turnaround for emergency vehicles must be constructed to function under all weather 

conditions.  To accommodate a project during construction, phasing, or permanent 
installation, drive surfaces that do not meet the requirements for permanent 
pavement surfaces may be allowed at the discretion of the BioCorridor Review 
Committee for the specific conditions stated below: 

a. Temporary All-Weather Surface (During Construction). 

A structure under construction must be accessible by an all-weather drive surface 
as specified in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications. This temporary all-
weather surface must be reworked or replaced to meet the permanent pavement 
standard as described in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications prior to 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

b. Semi-Permanent All-Weather Surface (During Phasing). 

In cases during phasing of a large project, emergency access and turnarounds 

often must be added as a temporary measure until additional phases are 
constructed.  These emergency access areas may consist of permanent pavement 

surface as specified in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications.  When the 
additional phase is constructed, these areas must be removed or reworked to 
meet the permanent pavement standards as described in the BioCorridor Site 
Design Specifications. 

c. Permanent Surfaces. 

1) All-Weather Surface (Permanent). 

In some development scenarios, an emergency access or turnaround must be 
constructed to meet emergency access purposes and is not required for public 
traffic, service vehicles or sanitation vehicles.  In these cases, the area 
required for emergency access only may consist of permanent pavement 
surface as specified in the BioCorridor Site Design Standards. 

2) Permeable Surface. 

a) The use of porous materials (such as permeable concrete and pavers) to 
mitigate storm water sheeting and pooling of water may be used in off-

street parking areas if the material meets vehicular loading standards and 
is approved by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

b) Fire lanes may also be constructed of porous materials such as permeable 
concrete and pavers to mitigate storm water sheeting and pooling of 

water, so long as it is demonstrated that the permeable surface can obtain 
sufficient land and compaction ratings for its application as approved by 
the City’s Fire and Sanitation departments.  

c) Permeable surfaces approved as provided above shall be maintained in 
accordance with industry standards and to achieve mitigation of storm 
water sheeting and pooling of water. Failure to maintain permeable 
surfaces as required herein shall constitute a violation of the section of the 

ordinance for which penalty provisions may be involved.  

207



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 77 27-Sept-12 

J. Curbing Required. 

1. General. 

 The perimeter of all paved surfaces shall be curbed as described in the BioCorridor Site 
Design Specifications. Alternatives to the standards may be approved by the 

BioCorridor Review Committee if it is demonstrated that the materials and design are 
equal or superior to the requirements in the Specifications. 

2. Temporary Curbing. 

A temporary curb may be permitted in lieu of the minimum standard stated in the 
BioCorridor Site Design Specifications, at the discretion of the BioCorridor Review 
Committee, when a project is phased in such a way that a permanent, monolithic curb 
may preclude development of future phases or limit access to a recorded private or 

public access easement adjoining properties. Wheel stops shall not be permitted as 
temporary curbing. Temporary curbing must have the appearance of permanent 
curbing and shall be temporarily attached to the pavement surfacing below and meet 

the minimum standards for dowelled-in curbs as described in the BioCorridor Site 
Design Specifications. 

K. Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required. 

In computing the number of parking spaces required, the following rules shall govern: 

1. Parking requirements based on square footage shall be based upon the gross floor 
area, unless otherwise stated.  Service areas such as mechanical rooms, restrooms, 
and closets shall be included in the calculation of "gross floor area" for determining 
required parking spaces; 

2. Where fractional spaces result in computing required parking spaces, the required 
number of spaces must be increased to the nearest whole number; 

3. The parking space requirements for a use not specifically listed shall be the same as 
those for the most similar to the proposed use, as determined by the BioCorridor 

Review Committee; 

4. Whenever a building or use constructed or established after the effective date of this 
Ordinance is changed or enlarged in floor area, number of employees, number of 
dwelling units, seating capacity, or otherwise, parking requirements shall be met on 
the basis of the enlargement or change.  Whenever a building or use existing prior to 

the effective date of this Ordinance is enlarged, the enlarged building or increased use 
shall then and thereafter comply with the parking requirements set forth herein; 

5. In the case of mixed uses, the parking spaces required shall equal the sum of the 
requirements of the various uses computed separately; 

6. Where requirements are established on the basis of the number of seats, such 
requirements shall be based on the seating capacity as determined by the City’s 

Building Official; 

7. Where a manufacturing/industrial use has more than one working shift of employees, 

parking shall be provided to accommodate overlap requirements during transition 
periods; 

8. When the developer of a large-scale development can demonstrate that such 
development will require fewer parking spaces than required by the standards of this 
Section, the BioCorridor Review Committee may permit a reduction in the number of 

required parking spaces for the development.  Such a reduction in parking spaces shall 
be justified through the development of a parking study prepared by a professional 
engineer or transportation planner and submitted to the BioCorridor Review 
Committee.  The balance of the land necessary to meet these requirements shall be 
held in reserve as an undeveloped area, to meet any future needs generated by an 
expansion of the business, a change in land use, or underestimated parking demand.  
Mixed-use developments that include multi-family residential on the second floor or 

above are not required to hold land in reserve for future parking needs. 

208



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 78 27-Sept-12 

MINIMUM OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS*      

Use* Unit Spaces/Unit Plus Spaces For: 

Restaurant  (w/o drive-through) 

 (w/drive-through) 

65 sq.ft. 

100 sq.ft. 

1.0 

1.0 

 

Medical or Dental Clinic<20,000 s.f. 200 sq.ft. 1.0  

Office 250 sq.ft. 1.0  

Retail Sales & Service 250 sq.ft. 1.0  

R&D / Manufacturing / Warehouse 1000 sq.ft. 1.0  

Convalescent Home / Hospital Bed 1.0  

Residential  Bedroom 1.0  

Hotel / Motel Guest room 1.0 
1/250 sq.ft. 

meeting room 

*  No more than 25% of any building plot’s total square footage shall be utilized for intense uses 

(uses that, individually, have a parking requirement greater than the primary use) unless 
additional parking is provided in accordance with the above requirements for that square footage 
of such uses in excess of 25%. 

 

L. Drive-Through Facility Queuing Requirements. 

1. Minimum Number of Spaces. 

Drive-through queuing spaces shall be provided as indicated in the following table: 

Minimum Off-Street Queuing Requirements 

Activity Type 
Minimum 

Spaces 
 Measure From 

Automated Teller Machine 3  Teller 

Bank Teller Lane 4  Teller or Window 

Dry cleaning or Laundry 2  Window 

Other As determined by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee  

2. Design and Layout. 

Queuing spaces or queuing areas shall be designed in accordance with the following 
criteria. 

a. Queue spaces or queuing areas may not interfere with parking spaces, parking 
aisles, loading areas, internal circulation or driveway access. 

b. Each queue space shall consist of a rectangular area not less than ten feet (10 ft.) 

wide and eighteen and one-half feet (18.5 ft.) long with a vertical clearance as 
specified in the building code. 

c. Queue spaces are not interchangeable with parking spaces except for bank tellers, 
where the space providing services may count toward the parking requirement. 

d. A twelve-foot (12-ft.) bypass lane may be required adjacent to queue lines to 
allow vehicles an opportunity to circumvent the drive-through activity and exit the 
site. 

e. Queue areas and drive-through facilities shall be clearly identified with the 
appropriate signing and marking. 

209



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 79 27-Sept-12 

M. Alternative Parking Plans. 

1. Scope. 

An Alternative Parking Plan represents a proposal to meet vehicle parking and 
transportation access needs by means other than providing parking spaces on-site in 

accordance with the ratios established in the Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces 
Required section of this Ordinance.  

2. Applicability. 

Applicants who wish to provide fewer off-street parking spaces than required above 
shall be required to secure approval of an Alternative Parking Plan, in accordance with 
the standards of this Section.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may require that an 
Alternative Parking Plan be submitted in cases where they deem the listed standard to 

be inappropriate based on the unique nature of the use or in cases where the 
applicable standard is unclear. 

3. Contents. 

Alternative Parking Plans shall be submitted in a form established by the BioCorridor 
Review Committee and made available to the public.  At a minimum, such plans shall 
detail the type of alternative proposed and the rationale for such a proposal.  

4. Review and Approval Procedure. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall be authorized to approve Alternative Parking 
Plans.  Appeals of the Committee’s decision may be made to the BioCorridor Board. 

5. Recording. 

An attested copy of an approved Alternative Parking Plan shall be submitted to the 
County Clerk’s office for recordation.  Proof of recordation of the agreement shall be 
presented to the BioCorridor Review Committee prior to issuance of a Building Permit.   

6. Eligible Alternatives. 

A number of specific parking and access alternatives are described below. The 

BioCorridor Review Committee shall, however, be authorized to consider and approve 
any alternative to providing off-street parking spaces on the site of the subject 
development if the applicant demonstrates that the proposed plan shall result in a 
better situation with respect to urban design than would strict compliance with 
otherwise applicable off-street parking standards. 

a. Shared Parking. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee may authorize a reduction in the number of 
required off-street parking spaces for multiple-use developments or for uses that 
are located near one another and that have different peak parking demands or 
different operating hours. Shared parking shall be subject to the following 
standards:  

1) Location. 

Shared off-street parking spaces shall be located no farther than two hundred 

and fifty feet (250 ft.) from the building site.  The BioCorridor Review 
Committee may waive this distance limitation if adequate assurances are 
offered that van or shuttle service shall be operated between the shared lot 
and the principal use. 

2) Required Study and Analysis. 

The applicant shall submit a shared parking analysis to the BioCorridor Review 
Committee that clearly demonstrates the feasibility of shared parking.  The 
study shall be provided in a form established by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee and made available to the public.  It shall address, at a minimum, 
the size and type of the proposed development, the composition of tenants, 
the anticipated rate of parking turnover, and the anticipated peak parking and 
traffic loads for all uses that shall be sharing off-street parking spaces.  The 

City’s BioCorridor Review Committee shall have the authority to require a 

210



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.4 Off-Street Parking Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 80 27-Sept-12 

revised study and analysis should conditions change that may result in a 

change in site parking conditions. 

3) Shared Parking Agreement. 

A shared parking plan shall be enforced through written agreement among the 

owners of record.  An attested copy of the agreement shall be submitted to 
the County Clerk’s office for recordation.  Proof of recordation of the 
agreement shall be presented to the BioCorridor Review Committee prior to 
issuance of a Building Permit. A shared parking agreement may be revoked by 
the parties to the agreement only if off-street parking is provided pursuant to 
this Section, or if an Alternative Parking Plan is approved by the BioCorridor 
Review Committee. 

4) Revocation. 

Failure to comply with the shared parking provisions of this Section shall 
constitute a violation of this Ordinance and shall specifically be cause for 

revocation of a Certificate of Occupancy or Building Permit. 

b. Off-Site Parking. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee may permit all or a portion of the required off-

street parking spaces to be located on/in a remote and separate lot or parking 
garage from the lot on which the principal use is located, subject to the standards 
of this Section. 

1) Location. 

No off-site parking space or parking garage in which the off-site spaces are 
secured shall be located more than two hundred and fifty feet (250 ft.) from 
the building site.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may waive this distance 

limitation if adequate assurances are offered that van or shuttle service shall 
be operated between the shared lot and the principal use. 

2) Off-Site Parking Agreement - Parking Lot. 

In the event that an off-site parking area is not under the same ownership as 
the principal use served, a written agreement among the owners of record 
shall be required.  An attested copy of the agreement between the owners of 
record shall be submitted to the County Clerk’s Office for recordation on forms  

made available in the City’s Development Services office.  Proof of recordation 
of the agreement shall be presented to the BioCorridor Review Committee 
prior to issuance of a Building Permit.  An off-site parking agreement may be 
revoked by the parties to the agreement only if off-street parking is provided 
on-site pursuant to the Off-Street Parking Standards section of this Ordinance 
or if an Alternative Parking Plan is approved by the BioCorridor Review 

Committee.  

3) Off-Site Parking Agreement - Parking Garage. 

In the event that off-site parking is provided through a garage and the parking 
garage is not under the same ownership as the principal use served, a written 

agreement among the owners of record shall be required.  A signed lease for 
the required spaces in the garage, of not less than one year with an option to 
renew annually, shall be presented to the BioCorridor Review Committee prior 

to issuance of a Building Permit.  An off-site parking agreement may be 
revoked by the parties to the agreement only if off-street parking is provided 
on-site pursuant to the Off-Street Parking Standards section of this Ordinance 
or if an Alternative Parking Plan is approved by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee. 

c. Bicyclist Accommodations. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee may authorize a reduction in the number of 

required off-street parking spaces for developments or uses that make special 
provisions to accommodate bicyclists. Examples of accommodations include bicycle 
lockers, employee shower facilities, and dressing areas for employees. 

211



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 81 27-Sept-12 

9.5 Access Management and Circulation. 

A. Multi-Modal Routes. 

1. Applicability. 

All proposed development shall take into account the location of existing and planned 

multi-modal routes (i.e., bikeways, pedestrian ways, and transit routes) and provide 
pedestrian and/or vehicular connections to the route(s) within or adjacent to the 
development. 

2. Minimum Requirements. 
All sites shall provide at least three (3) of the following.  If a, b, c, and/or d is 
applicable, that minimum requirement shall be provided.  If both b and c are 
applicable, the connection to the adjacent right-of-way (―b‖) shall be provided. 

a. Connections to adjacent property. 
Where right-of-way is adjacent to the subject tract and there is no sidewalk in or 

adjacent to the right-of-way, a minimum six-foot (6-ft.) width sidewalk shall be 
provided along the extent of the right-of-way, up to the property line.  If a 
sidewalk exists that is less than six feet (6 ft.) in width, it shall be upgraded to 
meet the minimum requirements.  If the sidewalk or any portion thereof is 

constructed on private property, a public access easement shall be dedicated to 
cover the facility in its entirety.  

b. Connections to adjacent right-of-way. 
Where right-of-way is adjacent to the subject tract, a six-foot (6-ft.) minimum 
width sidewalk shall be provided from the right-of-way to the subject tract’s 
building entrance. 

c. Connections to adjacent greenway and/or parkland. 

Where greenway and/or public parkland is adjacent to any of the subject tract’s 
property lines, pedestrian and bicycle access from the trail or walkway system on 
that greenway or parkland to the subject tract’s building entrance shall be 

provided. The pedestrian and bicycle access points must be fully accessible during 
operating hours and shall meet City standards for multi-use paths, to a minimum 
width of eight feet (8 ft.). 

d. Connections to adjacent mixed-use development. 

If there is mixed-use (residential/non-residential) development adjacent to the 
site, pedestrian connection(s) from the building entrance to those mixed-use 
buildings, up to the property line, and to an existing sidewalk or multi-use path (if 
one is present on the adjacent site) shall be provided.  

e. Limitation of curb cuts. 
Where multiple curb cuts to a street are allowed as per the Driveway Access 

Location and Design section of this Ordinance, a site shall only provide fifty 
percent (50%) or less access points than allowed. 

f. Wider sidewalks. 
Where a sidewalk is provided on site, the full extent of all such sidewalks shall be 

provided at a minimum width of eight feet (8 ft.) 

g. Wider multi-use paths. 
Where a multi-use path(s) is provided on site, the full extent of all such paths shall 

be provided at a minimum width of ten feet (10 ft.).   

h. Vegetative shading of sidewalks and multi-use paths. 
Where a sidewalk or multi-use path is provided on site, canopy trees with a 
minimum two-inch (2-in.) caliper shall be planted adjacent to the sidewalk or path 
every twenty feet (20 ft.) and maintained to provide shade to bicyclists and 
pedestrians.   

212



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 82 27-Sept-12 

i.   Decorative bus stop shelters. 
A shelter shall be provided to protect transit customers from the elements and 
provide seating.  Such shelter shall be coordinated with the main building’s 
material and architecture. 

j.   WiFi accessible bus stop shelters. 
A bus shelter shall provide WiFi to the extent that those utilizing the shelter may 
access the internet at that location. 

k. Bicycle parking at bus stops. 
If a bus stop is located on or adjacent to the subject tract, a facility capable of 
storing a minimum of four (4) bicycles shall be provided near the stop.  The bus 
stop bicycle parking facility is in addition to the facility required in Bicycle Parking 

Spaces Required section of this Ordinance.  

l. Sheltered bicycle parking. 

All bicycle parking provided on site shall be sheltered as to protect the bicycles 
from the elements. 

B. Easements. 

1. Shared Driveways. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee may require a shared driveway at the time of 
platting, development, or redevelopment of the affected lots. 

2. Cross-Access Easements. 

a. A cross-access easement shall be provided by the property owner to adjoining 
properties that front on the same street and that are, or may be, developed.  

b. Cross-access easements shall be situated parallel to the street right-of-way line 
abutting both parcels.  The property owner shall maintain access easements. 

c. The property owner shall provide appropriate documentation of a good faith effort 

to extend the access easement through all immediately abutting properties. If 
such an effort fails, the portion of the easement on the subject site shall be 
developed and designed to ensure future connection to the neighboring properties. 

d. Where a cross-access easement is granted, no permanent structures or parking 
that would interfere with the proposed access shall be permitted in the easement.  
Some improvements such as medians and parking islands may be constructed 

within an access easement if it has been demonstrated that adequate circulation 
and cross access has been accomplished, and that all applicable standards of this 
Ordinance have been met. 

e. The BioCorridor Review Committee may waive the requirement for an easement of 
access required above in those cases where unusual topography or site conditions 
would render such an easement of no useable benefit to adjoining properties. 

C. Driveway Access Location and Design. 

1. General. 

a. Access facilities shall be located and designed with respect to both the public 
street and the on-site circulation to provide maximum safety and to minimize 
interference with street traffic.  To ensure this, the BioCorridor Review Committee 
may require a traffic study to be performed. 

b. It shall be unlawful for any person to cut, break, or remove any curb or install a 

driveway along a street except as herein authorized.  Openings in the curb may be 
approved by the BioCorridor Review Committee for the purposes of drainage. 

c. It shall be unlawful for any person to construct, alter, extend, permit, or cause to 
be constructed, altered, or extended any driveway approach which can be used 
only as a parking space or area between the curb and private property. 

213



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 83 27-Sept-12 

d. This Section shall be deemed to be supplemental to other ordinances regulating 

the use of public property, and in case of conflict, this Section shall govern. 

e. Adequate sight distance shall be provided for a passenger motor vehicle making a 
left or right turn exiting from a driveway.  This determination shall be made by the 

BioCorridor Review Committee. 

f. As determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee, engineering judgment shall 
override the required dimensions set forth in this Section if warranted by specific 
traffic conditions.  

2. Location of Driveway Access. 

a. In making a determination as to the location of driveway access, the BioCorridor 
Review Committee shall consider: 

1) The characteristics of the proposed use; 

2) The existing traffic flow conditions and the future traffic demand anticipated 

on the development and the adjacent street system;  

3) The location of the property; 

4) The size of the property; 

5) The orientation of structures on the site; 

6) The number of driveways needed to accommodate anticipated traffic; 

7) The number and location of driveways on existing adjacent and opposite 
properties; 

8) The location and carrying capacity of intersections; 

9) The proper geometric design of driveways; 

10) The spacing between opposite and adjacent driveways; 

11) The internal circulation between driveways; and 

12) The speed of the adjacent roadway. 

b. Driveway access to arterials shall not be permitted for parking or loading areas 
that require backing maneuvers in a public street right-of-way.  Driveway access 
to collector streets for commercial or mixed-use developments shall not be 
permitted for parking or loading areas that require backing maneuvers in a public 
street right-of-way. 

c. No cuts through a left-turn reservoir of a median shall be permitted in order to 

provide for left-turn movements to driveway approaches.  

d. Driveways in right-turn lane transition areas shall not be permitted.  The right-turn 
lane transition area is defined as the taper and deceleration/acceleration length.  

e. When a commercial or mixed-use development abuts more than one public street, 
access to each abutting street may be allowed only if the following criteria are 
met:  

1) It is demonstrated that such access is required to adequately serve driveway 
volumes and will not be detrimental or unsafe to traffic operations on public 
streets.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may require the submittal of a 
traffic study that demonstrates that such access is required; and  

2) The minimum requirements for corner clearance for commercial driveways 
are met.  

3. Spacing of Driveway Access. 

a. Application of the driveway access location and design standards requires 
identification of the functional classification of the street on which access is 
requested and then applying the appropriate spacing requirements.  Streets are 
classified as follows and defined in the Definitions article of this Ordinance:  

1) Major Arterial;  

214



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 84 27-Sept-12 

2) Minor Arterial;  

3) Collector; and  

4) Local Street. 

b. Major arterial, minor arterial, and collector streets in the cities are indicated on 

their respective City’s Thoroughfare Plans.  The functional classification of any 
street in the cities not indicated as an arterial or collector street shall be 
determined using the functional street classification defined by the most recent 
edition of the AASHTO, A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets.  

c. Driveway access spacing shall be measured from the centerline of the proposed 
driveway pavement to the nearest edge of the roadway of the adjacent or opposite 
driveway or street as indicated in the illustration below. 

 

d. A minimum of one hundred and twenty-five feet (125 ft.) shall be required for 

opposite left driveways for all street classifications.  

e. If the centerline of an opposite drive is less than fifteen feet (15 ft.) from the 

centerline of the proposed drive, the drives form an intersection and the minimum 
spacing requirements shall apply for the closest drive.  

f. Spacing of Adjacent Driveways. 

1) Adjacent drives shall be located no closer than the spacing requirement in the 
table below.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may allow adjacent driveway 
spacing less than the spacing requirement below if it is determined that 
favorable conditions exist under peak traffic conditions. 

2) On divided streets with raised or depressed medians, other streets,  alleys, 
private roads, and driveways on either side of the median openings should be 
aligned.  Therefore, when locating such an intersection, it shall be assumed 
that this type of intersection will exist at median openings and other 

intersections between median openings should be spaced accordingly.  The 
BioCorridor Review Committee may waive this requirement if an existing 

condition precludes access at a median opening. 

Adjacent Driveways 

Street Classification Spacing (feet) 

Major Arterial 350 

Minor Arterial 300 

Major Collector 235 

Minor Collector and Local Street 175 

Opposite Right

Adjacent RightAdjacent Left

Pr
op

os
ed

D
riv

e/
St

re
et

D
riv

e/
St

re
et

Ex
is

tin
g

D
riv

e/
St

re
et

Ex
is

tin
g

D
riv

e/
St

re
et

Ex
is

tin
g

Ex
is

tin
g

D
riv

e/
St

re
et

CL

Opposite Left
(125')

215



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 85 27-Sept-12 

g. Spacing of Opposite Right Driveways. 

1) Opposite right driveways shall be located no closer than the standard 
requirements of the table below.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may 
allow opposite right spacing below the standard spacing requirement if it is 

determined that favorable conditions exist under peak traffic conditions. 

2) Additional opposite right spacing over and above that set forth in the table 
below may be required if it is determined by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee that there is insufficient left turn queue storage or weave 
maneuver area between the opposite right and proposed driveway.  This 
determination shall be made under peak traffic conditions. 

3)  On roadways that include raised or depressed medians prohibiting left-turning 

movements, this standard shall not apply.  

Opposite Right Driveways 

Street Classification Spacing (feet) 

Major Arterial 400 

Minor Arterial 350 

Major Collector 300 

Minor Collector and Local Street 175 

4. Freeway Frontage Road Access and Location Requirements. 

a. Driveways shall be located in accordance with the most recent version of the 
Access Management Manual, as administered by the Texas Department of 
Transportation (TXDOT). 

b. These guidelines apply to existing and planned interchanges.  

c. In addition to ramp spacing, driveways on frontage roads under the jurisdiction of 

the Texas Department of Transportation shall also meet the other requirements of 
this Section as major arterial streets.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

216



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 86 27-Sept-12 

R

Channelized
Right-Turn Lane

street

drive

Co
rn

er
 C

le
ar

an
ce

street

Radius Clearance

50
75

100

200
230
275

(feet) (feet)

5. Corner Clearance. 

a. At intersections of arterials with channelized right turn lanes with yield control, a 
corner clearance distance in accordance with those set forth in the illustration 
below shall be required for the first downstream driveway when adjacent spacing 

requirements cannot be met due to lack of frontage and all means to acquire 
shared-access drives or cross-access easements have been exhausted.  This 
distance shall be measured from the channelized median to the nearest edge of 
the proposed driveway 
as indicated in the 
illustration. 

b. When the requirements 

of the previous two 
tables cannot be met 
due to lack of frontage 
and all means to acquire 

shared-access driveways 
or cross-access 

easements have been 
exhausted, no 
commercial driveway 
approach may be 
located closer to the 
corner than seventy-five 
feet (75 ft.) on collector 

streets, one hundred feet (100 ft.) on minor arterials, and one hundred and 
twenty feet (120 ft.) on major arterials.  This measurement shall be taken from 
the intersection of property lines at the corner.  When these requirements cannot 
be met due to lack of frontage, the driveway may be located such that the radius 
will begin at the farthest property line.  

6. Shared Access. 

a. A joint private access easement may be required between adjacent lots fronting on 

arterial and collector streets in order to minimize the total number of access points 
along those streets and to facilitate traffic flow between lots.  The location and 
dimensions of said easement shall be determined by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee.  

b. A private cross-access easement may be required across any lot fronting on an 
arterial or collector street in order to minimize the number of access points and 

facilitate access between and across individual lots.  The location and dimension of 
said easement shall be determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee.  

7. Geometric Design of Driveway Access. 

a. All driveways shall meet the City’s Standard Specifications for Street Construction.  

b. Curb cuts for driveways shall not be permitted in the curb return of an 
intersection.  

c. The curb return radii for driveways intersecting at right angles with the roadway 

and without a deceleration lane shall vary between twenty-five feet and thirty feet 
(25 -30 ft.). When special traffic conditions exist, the BioCorridor Review 
Committee may require larger curb return radii up to fifty feet (50 ft.). 

d. The maximum width of driveway approaches for two-way operation shall not 
exceed thirty-six feet (36 ft.), except that the BioCorridor Review Committee may 
issue permits for driveway approaches greater than thirty-six feet (36 ft.) in width 
on major streets to handle special traffic conditions.  The minimum width of 

driveway approaches for two-way operation shall be not less than twenty-four feet 
(24 ft.).  

217



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.5 Access Management and Circulation 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 87 27-Sept-12 

e. The angle of driveway approach shall be approximately ninety degrees (90°) for 

two-way drives and between forty-five degrees and ninety degrees (45 - 90°) for 
one-way drives. 

f. A minimum driveway throat length shall be required to allow traffic entering the 

site to be stored on site, avoiding a queue of traffic onto the adjacent roadway 
causing delays to the through traffic stream.  The driveway throat length shall be 
defined as the distance from the street to the first point of conflict in the driveway.  
Minimum driveway throat depths are provided in the figure below. 

 

g. Gated developments shall use the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications as a 
guideline for throat depth and entry designs.   

h. For the benefit of traffic safety and flow on collector and arterial streets, access 
points may be required to be designed to prohibit certain types of turning 
movements.  Driveways not meeting the standard opposite and adjacent spacing 
guidelines may be designed for limited access by the addition of a median to the 

driveway.

i. For the benefit of traffic safety and flow on collector and arterial streets, auxiliary 
lanes may be required at driveways where high turning volumes are expected.  

j. A right-turn deceleration lane with storage length plus taper may be required for 
any access with a projected peak hour right-turn ingress turning volume greater 
than fifty vehicles per hour (50 vph).  If the posted speed is greater than forty 
miles per hour (40 mph), a right-turn deceleration lane and taper may be required 

for any access with a projected peak hour ingress turning volume greater than 
twenty-five vehicles per hour (25 vph). 

k. Driveways shall be constructed as to avoid altering the drainage patterns of the 
street and adjoining property.     

l. Driveways shall be constructed to provide a crossing path within the right-of-way 
that meets the minimum Texas Accessibility Standards. 

m. A right-turn acceleration lane with taper may be required for any access with a 
projected peak hour right-turning volume greater than fifty vehicles per hour (50 
vph) when the posted speed on the roadway is greater than forty miles per hour 

the street to the first point

Driveway Throat Length (DTL)
represents the distance from

of conflict.

First point of
conflict

drive

parkingparking

street

Street                   DTL (feet)
Collector                 25
Minor Arterial         40
Major Arterial         55

218



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 88 27-Sept-12 

(40 mph).  Design of right-turn deceleration lanes shall be in accordance with the 

AASHTO Green Book on auxiliary lanes.  

n. The spacing requirements for driveways not meeting the specifications in Spacing 
of Driveway Access section of this Ordinance, may be lessened or waived if 

auxiliary lanes are used.  

o. Access points on arterial and collector streets may be required to be signalized in 
order to provide safe and efficient traffic flow.  A development may be responsible 
for all or part of any right-of-way dedication, design, hardware, or construction 
costs of a traffic signal if it is determined that the signal is necessitated by the 
traffic generated from the development.   

9.6 Signs. 

A. Purpose. 

The purpose of this Section is to establish clear and unambiguous regulations pertaining to 
signs in the BioCorridor Planned Development District and to promote an attractive 
business park, foster traffic safety, and enhance the effective communication and 

exchange of ideas and commercial information. 

1. The City Councils of College Station and Bryan recognize that signs are necessary for 
visual communication and public convenience, and that businesses and other activities 
have the right to identify themselves by using signs that are incidental to the use on 
the premises where the signs are located.  The Councils herein seek to provide a 
reasonable balance between the right of a person to identify his or her business or 
activity, the aesthetic protection of public and private investments made in the 

BioCorridor Planned Development District, and the rights of the public to be protected 
against visual discord and safety hazards that result from the unrestricted 
proliferation, location, and construction of signs.  This Section will insure that signs are 
compatible with adjacent land uses and with the total visual environment of the 
BioCorridor Planned Development District and the community. 

2. The City Councils of College Station and Bryan find that the rights of their residents to 

fully exercise their rights of free speech by the use of signs containing non-commercial 
messages are subject to minimum regulation regarding structural safety and setbacks 
for purposes of traffic protection.  The City Councils seek herein to provide for the 
reasonably prompt removal and disposal of such signs after they have served their 
purpose, and yet to avoid any interference with First Amendment freedoms, especially 
as to persons who are of limited financial means. 

3. The City Councils find that instances may occur in the application of this Section where 

strict enforcement would deprive a person of the reasonable use of a sign, or the 
reasonable utilization of a sign in connection with other related property rights, and 
herein provides for such persons to have the right to seek variances from the 
requirements of this Ordinance for good cause.  The City Councils find that it is 
imperative that enforcement officials apply this Section as it is written, in the interest 
of equality and fair and impartial application to all persons, and that the procedures to 

appeal a denial of a sign permit to the City’s Zoning Board of Adjustment shall remain 

the sole administrative means to obtain any exception to the terms hereof. 
 

B. Permit Required. 

Except as expressly provided for otherwise, all signs are herein subject to the permit 
requirements set forth in the Sign Permit section of this Ordinance. 

 

C. Prohibited Signs. 

The following signs are prohibited in the BioCorridor: 

1. Portable and trailer signs, and temporary freestanding signs; 

2. Signs painted on rooftops; 

219



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 89 27-Sept-12 

3. Signs that incorporate the use of exposed neon; 

4. Illuminated plastic signs; 

5. Internally illuminated awning signs; 

6. Inflated signs, pennants, wind driven devises (excluding flags), tethered balloons, 

and/or any gas-filled objects for advertisement, decoration, or otherwise, except as 
permitted for Grand Opening Signs and for Special Event Signs; 

7. Vehicle Signs except as may be expressly permitted in this Ordinance; 

8. Signs and displays with flashing, blinking, or traveling lights, or erratic or other 
moving parts, including electronic message boards; 

9. Signs containing manual changeable copy; 

10. Any signs that are intended to or designed to resemble traffic signs or signals and 

bear such words as "stop", "slow", "caution", "danger", "warning", or other words, 
and that are erected for purposes other than actual traffic control or warning to the 
public; 

11. Any sign located within a site triangle as provided for in the section addressing 
Visibility at Intersections in all Districts. This does not include traffic control or 
directional signs; 

12. Any sign that emits sound, odor, or visible matter; and 

13. Off-premise signs, including commercial and non-commercial billboards.  

D. Exempt Signs. 

Unless they otherwise qualify as a prohibited sign, the following signs are exempt from the 
requirements of this Ordinance: 

1. Signs that are not easily identified from beyond the boundaries of the lot or parcel 
on which they are located or from any public thoroughfare or traveled right-of-way. 

Such signs are not exempt from the safety regulations contained herein and in City 
Building and Electrical Codes; 

2. Official notices posted by government officials in the performance of their duties: 
government signs controlling traffic, regulating public conduct, identifying streets, or 
warning of danger; 

3. Temporary signs erected by private property owners for the purpose of warning of a 
dangerous defect, condition, or other hazard to the public;  

4. Temporary or permanent signs erected by public utilities or construction companies 
to warn of the location of pipelines, electrical conduits, or other dangers or 
conditions in public rights-of-way; 

5. Signs related to a Primary or Secondary Educational Facility; 

6. Temporary decorations or displays, if they are clearly incidental to and are 
customarily and commonly associated with any national, local, or religious 

celebration; and 

7. National, state, and university flags if they are displayed using proper flag etiquette. 

E. Signs Approved by the BioCorridor Board. 

The BioCorridor Board may approve the following signs: 

1. On-premise and/or off-premise signs that the BioCorridor Board determines: 

a. Promotes a positive image of the BioCorridor and/or the communities for the 
attraction of business; or 

b. Depicts an accomplishment of an individual or group. 

Such signs, their designated locations for display, and a specified time period for 
display may be approved by the Board. The location and placement of these signs 
shall not impede traffic safety.  

220



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 90 27-Sept-12 

2. Special district identification signs that the BioCorridor Board has approved as set forth 

in this Ordinance. The location and placement of these signs shall not impede traffic 
safety. 

F. Non-Commercial and Political Signs. 

The following requirements must be met for Non-Commercial Signs: 

1. No commercial message shall be shown on any Non-Commercial or Political Sign. 

2. Non-Commercial or Political Signs: 

a. May not be greater than thirty-six square feet (36 sq. ft.) in size; 

b. May not be located within public road right-of-way of the State of Texas or the 
City. In the event any non-commercial sign is located in a public right-of-way of 
the State or City, the City may remove it; 

c. May not be located on private property without the property owner’s consent; and 

d. May not be located within any sight distance triangle as defined in the Visibility at 
Intersections in All Districts section of this Ordinance. 

3. All Non-Commercial and Political Signs addressing a particular event are allowed up to 
ninety (90) days prior to the event and shall be removed within ten (10) days after 
the event to which the sign relates.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

221



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 91 27-Sept-12 

G. Sign Standards. 

The following table summarizes the standards for private commercial signs allowed in the 
BioCorridor: 

  Sign Type 
Maximum 

Area 
(sq.ft.)** 

Maximum 
Height (ft.) 

Setback 
From 

ROW (ft.) 

Number Allowed 

Attached Signs 

Varies, see as 
expressly 

addressed in 

the section on 
Attached Signs  

 

Not to exceed 

1 ft. from 
top of wall, 
marquee, or 
parapet to 
which it is 
attached 

--- 

Any number 
allowed if within 
the total allowed 
square footage of 

attached signs 

Campus Wayfinding Signs 30 6 --- 

Varies, see as 
expressly addressed 

in the section on 
Campus Wayfinding 

Signs  

Development Signs: 
 

Residential/Collector Street 
 
Arterial Street 
 
Freeway 

 
 

35 
 

65 

200 

15 10 1/premise 

Flags: 
 

   Commercial 
 

   Decorative 
 
   National, state, and TAMU 
 

 
 

100 
 

--- 
 

Exempt 

 
 

35 
 

30 
 

Exempt 

 
 

10 
 

10 
 

Exempt 

 
 

1 
 

6 
 

Exempt 

Grand Opening Signs --- 

Not to exceed 1 ft. 
from top of wall, 

marquee, or 
parapet to which 

it is attached 

10 --- 

Low Profile Freestanding Signs 60 --- 10 1/curb cut 

Real Estate, Finance, and 

Construction Signs: 

 
Up to 150-foot frontage 
 
Greater than 150-foot frontage 

 

 

 
16 
 

32 

 

 

 
8 
 
8 

 

 

 
10 
 

10 

1/frontage  
 (Real Estate) 

1/property 
(Finance) 

3/property 
(Construction) 

 

**  The area of a sign is the area enclosed by the minimum imaginary rectangle or vertical and 
horizontal lines that fully contains all extremities (as shown in the illustration below), exclusive of 
supports. 

 

222



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 92 27-Sept-12 

 

H. Attached Signs. 

The following requirements must be followed for attached signs: 

1. Size 

Attached Signs on any building shall not exceed a total of two and a half square feet 
(2.5 sq.ft.) per linear foot of all public entry façades, with a maximum of five hundred 
square feet (500 sq.ft.) of attached signage allowed for any one commercial tenant or 

residential community.  Multi-story buildings will be allowed one hundred square feet 
(100 sq.ft.) of additional attached signage.   

2. Visibility 

Signs attached to features such as automatic teller machines, mail/package drop 
boxes, or similar on-site features, if identifiable from the right-of-way, as determined 
by the BioCorridor Review Committee, shall count as part of the allowable sign area of 
the attached signs for the site.  Information contained on such features pertaining to 

federal and state requirements and operation/safety instructions are not counted. 

3. Architectural Elements 

Architectural elements, which are not part of the sign or logo and in no way identify 
the specific business tenant, shall not be considered attached signage.     

4. Placement of Attached Sign 

a. An attached sign shall advertise only the name of, uses of, or goods or services 
available within the building or tenant lease space to which the sign is attached;  

b. An attached sign shall be parallel to the face of the building;  

c. An attached sign shall not be cantilevered away from the structure; 

d. An attached sign shall not extend more than one foot (1 ft.) from any exterior 
building face, mansard, awning, or canopy;   

e. An attached sign shall not obstruct any window, door, stairway, or other opening 
intended for ingress or for needed ventilation or light; and 

f. An attached sign shall not be attached to any tree or public utility pole. 

 

5. Attached Signs on Site Lighting Poles 

223



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 93 27-Sept-12 

Attached signs may be mounted to site lighting poles located on private property.  

When attached to site lighting poles, attached signs may be constructed of cloth, 
canvas, or other flexible material provided such signage is maintained in good 
condition and complies with the following restrictions: 

a. No part of any sign attached to a light pole will be allowed to overhang or 
encroach into any portion of the public right-of-way; 

b. Light pole signs shall not exceed twelve square feet (12 sq.ft.) in area and shall 
have a minimum of eight feet (8 ft.) of clearance from the grade below; 

c. Light pole signs shall only be attached to one side of a light pole; 

d. Light pole signs shall not project more than three feet (3 ft.) from the edge of the 
light pole; and  

e. Light pole signs constructed of cloth, canvas, or other flexible material shall be 
secured on a minimum of two (2) opposing sides to prevent wind-driven 

movement.  

I. Campus Wayfinding Signs. 

A campus wayfinding sign: 

1. May be utilized as part of a unified development that is at least twenty (20) acres in 

size, contains multiple buildings, and that may include multiple building plots; 

2. A maximum of one campus wayfinding sign shall be allowed per intersection of two (2) 
primary circulation drive aisles, when parking is not provided along the drive aisle; or 
at the intersection of a primary circulation drive aisle and public way, when parking is 
not provided along the drive aisle and public way; 

3. All signs shall be internal to the development and shall not be located along a public 
right-of-way or at the intersection of a primary circulation aisle or public way and 

right-of-way.  

4. Shall be limited in height to no greater than six feet (6 ft.), measured from the 
elevation of the curb or pavement edge, with a maximum total sign area of thirty 
square feet (30 sq.ft.);  

5. Shall not be located within a site visibility triangle; 

6. Shall be submitted as part of a sign package for the development; and, 

7. Shall utilize a common design or theme throughout the development and contain no 

commercial logo or graphics.   

J. Commercial Signs Carried by a Person. 

1. A Commercial Sign carried by a person and not set on or affixed to the ground is 
allowed provided that the sign is temporary and on-premise.   

2. A Commercial Sign may not be carried by a person on the premises for more than 
three (3) consecutive days, more than four (4) times per calendar year. 

K. Development Sign. 

Development Signs must meet the following requirements: 

1. A Development Sign may be placed only on private property and must comply with the 
requirements in  Sign Standards above.  The classification of the street to which the 
sign is oriented is as identified on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan; 

2. A Development Sign for a building project shall be removed if the project has not 
received a building permit at the end of twelve months from the date of site plan 

approval.  The BioCorridor Review Committee may renew the sign permit for one 
additional twelve-month period upon written request.  Once a building permit for the 
project is received, the sign may stay in place until seventy-five percent (75%) of the 
project is leased, occupied, or until a permanent sign is installed, whichever comes 

224



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 94 27-Sept-12 

first; and 

3. A Development Sign may only be used for a building project.  It may not be used for a 
proposed subdivision. 

L. Flags. 

Decorative flags and flags that contain copy or a logo(s) are allowed if they comply with 
the following:  

1. One flag that contains copy or a logo(s) is allowed per building plot.  The flag may not 
exceed one hundred square feet (100 sq.ft.) in area or be flown on a flagpole higher 
than thirty-five feet (35 ft.) in height; and 

2. Flags used solely for decoration and not containing any copy or logo are restricted to 
thirty feet (30 ft.) in height.  No more than six (6) decorative flags per building plot 

shall be allowed. 

M. Grand Opening Signs. 

In addition to any other lawful sign, Grand Opening Signs are allowed provided they meet 
the following requirements: 

1. Flags, commercial banners, and balloons, which advertise a business's grand opening, 
may be displayed for one consecutive fourteen- (14-) day period, selected by the 

business owner, within sixty (60) days of the granting of the initial Certificate of 
Occupancy, a change in the use, or of a change in the name of the business. 

2. In addition to meeting the above requirements, a Commercial Banner used as a Grand 
Opening Sign must comply with the following:  

a. Shall advertise only the name of, logo, uses of, or goods or services available 
within the building, or tenant lease space, to which the sign is attached;  

b. Shall be parallel to the face of the building;  

c. Shall not be cantilevered away from the structure; 

d. Shall not extend more than one foot (1 ft.) from any exterior building face, 
mansard, awning, or canopy;   

e. Shall not obstruct any window, door, stairway, or other opening intended for 
ingress, ventilation, or light; and 

f. Shall not be attached to any tree, fence, or public utility pole. 

N. Low Profile Freestanding Signs. 

Low Profile Freestanding Signs must comply with the following: 

1. Allowable Area. 

The allowable area for Low Profile Freestanding Signs is as follows: 

a. Low Profile Freestanding Signs shall have a maximum area of sixty square feet (60 

sq.ft.); and 

b. For the purposes of this Section, area shall be considered the area in square feet 

of a single-face sign, or one side of a double-face sign, or half the sides of a multi-
face sign. 

2. Allowable Height. 

A Low Profile Freestanding Sign shall not use a pole but shall be affixed to the ground. 
There shall be no height limit for a Low Profile Freestanding Sign.   

3. Sign Setback. 

A Low Profile Freestanding Sign shall be set back a minimum of ten feet (10 ft.) from 

the curb or pavement edge, measured from the nearest part of the sign. 

225



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.6 Signs 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 95 27-Sept-12 

O. Real Estate, Finance, and Construction Signs. 

The following rules apply for Real Estate, Finance, and Construction Signs: 

1. One Real Estate Sign not exceeding sixteen square feet (16 sq.ft.) in total area 
(exclusive of stakes and posts) may be erected at any time while a property is offered 

for sale or lease to the public.  Properties with a minimum of one hundred and fifty 
feet (150 ft.) of frontage shall be allowed one Real Estate Sign not exceeding thirty-
two square feet (32 sq.ft.) in total area.  Properties with a minimum of two acres and 
frontage on two streets shall be allowed one real estate sign on each frontage street 
with the area of the sign to be determined by the amount of frontage as stated above; 

2. One Finance Sign and three Construction Signs (for a total of four signs), not 
exceeding sixteen square feet (16 sq.ft.) in total area each (exclusive of stakes and 

posts) may be erected once a building permit has been issued on a property.  
Properties with a minimum of ten (10) acres and one thousand feet (1,000 ft.) of 
frontage shall be allowed one Finance Sign and three Construction Signs not exceeding 

thirty-two square feet (32 sq.ft.) in total area each; 

3. Real Estate, Finance, and Construction Signs may be either attached or freestanding 
and only those visible from the street are limited in number; 

4. All such signs shall be maintained by the persons in control of the premises so as to 
remain erect and in good repair.  Such signs shall be removed by the property owner 
or other person in control of the premises if they are damaged, broken, or incapable of 
remaining erect; and 

5. Such signs must be removed by the owner or person in control of the premises when 
either the property has sold or been leased and/or when performance under the 
construction contract or subcontract (in the case of Construction Signs) has been 

completed.  In all cases, Financing and Construction Signs shall be removed prior to 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.

P. Special Event Signs. 

Special Event Signs must comply with the following: 

1. Signs, including commercial banners and balloons, advertising or announcing a Special 
Event, as defined in the CITY OF COLLEGE STATION CODE OF ORDINANCES or the CITY OF BRYAN 

CODE OF ORDINANCES as applicable, are permitted as a part of the Special Event License 

and shall be limited to the property holding the event. 

2. The Special Event Signage is allowed up to fourteen (14) days prior to the event and 
must be removed within twenty-four (24) hours of the end of the event. 

Q. Vehicle Signs. 

The following rules apply to Vehicle Signs: 

1. Signs that are displayed on motor vehicles that are being operated or stored in the 

normal course of a business, such as signs indicating the name or the type of 

business, excluding all banners, that are located on moving vans, delivery trucks, 
trailers, or other commercial vehicles are allowed; but only if the primary purpose of 
such vehicles is not for the display of the signs thereon, and only if such vehicles are 
parked or stored in areas appropriate to their use as commercial or delivery vehicles, 
such as service areas or locations close to the business building away from public 
traffic areas.   

2. Signs or advertisements permanently attached to non-commercial vehicles, excluding 
all banners, are allowed. 

R. Abandoned, Damaged, or Unsafe Signs. 

1. The provisions of this Section shall apply when in conflict with the provisions of the 
Building Code; but where the provisions of both ordinances are consistent, the 
enforcement of both shall be permissible and remedies or penalties cumulative. 

226



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.7 Private Common Open Space 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 96 27-Sept-12 

2. Non-conforming signs that have become deteriorated or damaged to an extent that 

the cost of the reconstruction or restoration of such signs is in excess of fifty percent 
(50%) of its replacement value exclusive of foundations, will be required to be 
removed or brought into full compliance with the current sign regulations. 

3. All abandoned signs and their supports shall be removed within sixty (60) days from 
the date of abandonment.  All damaged signs shall be repaired or removed within sixty 
(60) days. The BioCorridor Review Committee shall have authority to grant a thirty- 
(30-) day time extension where it determines there is a reasonable necessity for 
same.  

4. Discontinuance of use or removal of any non-conforming sign or any sign in 
connection with a non-conforming use shall create a presumption of intent to abandon 

said sign. A non-conforming sign that is damaged and not repaired within sixty (60) 
days shall be presumed to be abandoned. 

5. When a building is demolished, the associated signs and sign structures shall also be 

removed. 

9.7 Private Common Open Space.  

A. Purpose. 

Open-air and semi‐enclosed public gathering spaces can act as central organizing elements 

in a development. They can also help to shape the relationship between different land uses 
and provide focal points and anchors for pedestrian activity. 

B. Standards. 

1. Amenity Required. 

All developments shall devote a minimum of two percent (2%) of the net site area, or 
the equivalent of two percent (2%) of the net site area but located elsewhere within 

the BioCorridor Planned Development District, to one of the following types of private 
common open space: 

a. A natural and undisturbed private common open space, for use of the residents, 
employees, and visitors to the area zoned BioCorridor Planned Development 
District; 

b. A landscape area other than those required by these Site Design Standards, 
provided such landscaped area has a minimum depth and width of ten feet (10 ft.) 

and a minimum total area of six hundred and fifty square feet (650 sq.ft.). The 
area shall include pedestrian amenities to support these places as gathering areas; 

c. A patio or plaza with an outdoor seating area, provided the patio or plaza has a 
minimum depth and width of ten feet (10 ft.) and a minimum total area of three 
hundred square feet (300 sq.ft.). The area shall include pedestrian amenities to 
support these places as gathering areas; 

d. Green roofs with amenities such as outdoor seating areas to support these places 

as gathering areas for use of the residents, employees, and visitors to the 
development; or 

e. A combination of the previously‐listed amenities.  

2. Location Criteria. 

To the maximum extent feasible, where significant natural and scenic resource assets 
exist in the area zoned BioCorridor Planned Development District, the developer shall 
give priority to their preservation as private common open space. In reviewing the 

proposed location of private common open space areas, the BioCorridor Design Review 
Committee shall use all applicable plans, maps, and reports to determine whether 
significant resources exist that should be protected, with priority being given to the 
following areas (which are not listed in a particular order): 

a. Wetlands; 

b. Flood hazard areas; 

227



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.7 Private Common Open Space 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 97 27-Sept-12 

c. Lakes, rivers, and stream/riparian corridors (outside of greenway buffers); and 

d. Tree preservation areas. 

3. Areas Not Credited. 

Lands within the following areas shall not be counted towards private common open 

space required by this section: 

a. Private yards; 

b. Public or private streets or rights-of-way; 

c. Parking areas and driveways;  

d. Highway buffers; 

e. Greenway buffer; and 

f. Water quality and stormwater detention ponds, unless approved by the 

BioCorridor Review Committee. 

4. Design Criteria. 

Land set aside for private common open space pursuant to this section shall meet the 
following design criteria, as relevant:

a. Common open space areas shall be located to be readily accessible and useable by 
residents or visitors in various locations of the development or area zoned 

BioCorridor Planned Development District, unless the lands are sensitive natural 
resources and access should be restricted. 

b. The lands shall be compact and contiguous unless the land shall be used as a 
continuation of an existing trail or specific topographic features require a different 
configuration. An example of such topographic features would be the provision of a 
trail or private open area along a riparian corridor. 

c. Where private common open space areas, trails, parks, or other public spaces 

exist adjacent to the tract to be subdivided or developed, the private common 
open space or pedestrian amenity shall, to the maximum extent feasible, be 

located to adjoin, extend, and enlarge the presently existing trail, park, or other 
open area land. 

5. Maintenance. 

All private common open space or pedestrian amenity areas shall be maintained by 
the owners of the development. 

9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping. 

A. Purpose and Intent. 

The purpose and intent of this Section is to regulate the manner in which landscaping in 
the BioCorridor is used and developed, to minimize adverse effects on surrounding 
property owners or the general public, and ensure that high quality development is 
maintained throughout the community. 

For the purpose of landscaping, the BioCorridor falls within Zone 8 of the United States 
Department of Agriculture (USDA) Hardiness Zone Map. 

B. Application of Section. 

The requirements of this Section apply to all land located in the BioCorridor within the 
City, proposed for site development. 

1. All landscaping/streetscaping requirements under this Section shall run with the land 
once the development has begun and shall apply against any owner or subsequent 

owner. 

2. The requirements of this Section apply to all unsubdivided property, improved 
subdivided lots, and to other improved lands where buildings or structures are being 
added or replaced within the City. 

228



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 98 27-Sept-12 

3. Each phase of a multi-phase project shall comply with this Section. 

4. All plantings must be in accordance with the Planting List found within the BioCorridor 
Site Design Specifications, or as deemed appropriate by the USDA for Zone 8 in their 
Hardiness Zone Map. The plant list is approved and amended as needed by the 

BioCorridor Review Committee. 

C. Landscaping Requirements. 

1. The landscaping requirements shall be determined on a point basis as follows: 

a. Minimum Landscape Points required: thirty (30) points per one thousand square 
feet (1,000 sq.ft.) of site area; 

b. The minimum total number of points for any development is eight hundred (800) 
points; and 

c. Undeveloped floodplains may be removed from site size calculations; in such case, 
existing trees within that floodplain shall not be claimed for points. 

d. The preservation of existing trees is highly encouraged.  Sites that choose not to 
barricade and protect existing canopy trees with a DBH of four inches (4 in.) or 
greater throughout the development process are required to provide an additional 
ten percent (10%) more landscaping points than the minimum required in 

accordance with the regulations below: 

1) The additional points may be utilized on site or in private common open spaces 
that qualify as ―a landscape area other than those required by the Site Design 
Standards‖ or ―a patio or plaza with outdoor seating areas‖; 

2) All points shall be utilized for new canopy trees; 

3) The additional landscaping points and trees may not be used to meet other 
requirements or additional point credits of this Section; and 

4) The new canopy trees required of this section shall be irrigated. 

2. Point values will be awarded for any type of canopy tree, non-canopy tree, or shrub, 

except for those listed on the BioCorridor Non-Point Tree List in the BioCorridor Site 
Design Specifications. All caliper measurements shall be at four and a half feet (4.5 
ft.) above grade. 

a. Landscaping points are accrued as follows:  

229



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 99 27-Sept-12 

 

Plant Material Point Values 

Plant Material Points Accrued 
(per plant) 

Installed Size 
Caliper (inches) 

New Plantings 

Canopy Tree 

75 1.5 to 2 

150 2.1 to 3.4 

300 3.5 and larger 

Non-canopy 40 1.25 and larger 

Shrubs 10 Min. 5 gallon 

Shrubs, not for screening 1 Min. 1 gallon 

Existing Trees with no Barricade Protection Area 

Canopy Tree 40 Between 4 and 8 

Non-canopy Tree 35 2 and larger 

Existing Trees with Barricade Protection Area 

Canopy Tree 
400 Between 4 and 8 

500 8 and larger 

Non-canopy Tree 
150 Between 2 and 4 

200 4 and larger 

 

b. To receive landscape points for existing trees, all existing trees must be in good 
form and condition and reasonably free of damage by insects and/or disease. 

c. To receive additional points for barricaded trees, such trees must be barricaded to 
the dripline of the tree.  A barricade detail must be provided on the landscape 
plan.  Barricades must be in place prior to any activity on the property including, 
but not limited to, grading.  If the required barricades are not in place prior to any 

activity and maintained during construction, barricaded points will be forfeited and 
additional points provided through the planting of canopy trees as described above 
may be required. 

3. Every project must expend a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of its point total on 
canopy trees.   

4. One hundred percent coverage of groundcover, decorative paving, decorative rock 
(not loose), or a perennial grass is required in parking lot islands, swales and 

drainage areas, and the parking lot setback unless otherwise landscaped or existing 
plants are preserved.  One hundred percent coverage of groundcover or perennial 
grass is also required in all unpaved portions of street or highway right-of-way or on 
adjacent property that has been disturbed during construction.  If grass is to be 
used for groundcover, one hundred percent (100%) live grass groundcover is 
required whether by solid sod overlay or pre-planting and successful takeover of 

grasses.  No point value shall be awarded for groundcover. 

5. Vegetation used for screening purposes shall be a minimum of three feet (3 ft.) in 
height at time of planting. Dwarf plants will not be allowed as screening vegetation, 
regardless of their size at time of planting. 

6. For existing plantings, the BioCorridor Review Committee may require a health 
appraisal.  

230



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 100 27-Sept-12 

7. All new plantings must be irrigated.  An irrigation system shall be designed so that it 

does not negatively impact existing trees and natural areas.  Soaker hose and drip 
irrigation system designs may be permitted as the BioCorridor Review Committee 
deems appropriate. 

8. Additional Point Credits. 

The following additional point credits will apply to the total landscaping point 
requirement: 

a. A ten percent (10%) point credit will be awarded where the irrigation system 
employed is a recognized water-conserving system.  

b. A ten percent (10%) point credit will be awarded if twenty-five percent (25%) or 
more of parking area consists of enhanced paving. 

c. A ten percent (10%) point credit will be awarded for every one percent (1%) of 
site area devoted to special facilities including water features, public art, or other 
public features as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee.  Minimum 

required open space amenities shall not accrue point credits, but amenities 
provided in excess of the minimum may count towards additional point credits. 
All locations and works of art, regardless of ownership, placed within the public 
rights‐of‐way or public areas shall be approved by the BioCorridor Board. 

d. A ten percent (10%) point credit will be awarded for landscape plans that are 
prepared by a landscape architect registered in Texas, an International Society 
of Arboriculture (ISA) certified arborist, or other professional as deemed 
appropriate by the BioCorridor Review Committee.  

9. All landscape materials shall be installed in accordance with the current planting 
procedures established by the most recent addition of The American Standard for 

Nursery Stock, as published by the American Association of Nurserymen. 

10. Landscaping must be reasonably dispersed throughout all visible areas of the site. 

11. All mechanical equipment shall be screened from view or isolated so as not to be 

visible from any public right-of-way or district that allows residential uses within 
one-hundred and fifty feet (150 ft.) of the perimeter boundary of the subject lot or 
tract, measured from a point five feet (5 ft.) above grade.  Such screening shall be 
coordinated with the building architecture, materials, colors and scale, or landscape 

architecture to maintain a unified appearance. Acceptable methods of screening are: 
encasement, parapet walls, brick/stone/masonry walls, fences with evergreen 
plantings, and/or evergreen plantings. Dwarf plants will not be allowed for required 
screening. 

D. Streetscape Requirements. 

1. The streetscaping requirements shall be determined along all major arterials, 
freeways, and expressways as follows:  

a. Within fifty feet (50 ft.) of the property line along the street, one canopy tree for 
every twenty-five linear feet (25 l.f.) of frontage shall be required.  With the 

exception of street trees along the Health Science Center Parkway right-of-way, 
the 1:25 ratio is for calculation purposes only and is not intended to mandate the 
installation of trees at regular intervals.  Two non-canopy trees may be substituted 
for each one canopy tree; 

b. Canopy and non-canopy trees must be selected from the BioCorridor Plant List in 
the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications and, with the exception of street trees 
along Health Science Center Parkway, may be grouped as desired; and 

c. One existing tree with a minimum four-inch (4-in.) caliper may be substituted for 
a new tree.  Existing trees must be of acceptable health, as determined by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee. 

 

 

231



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 101 27-Sept-12 

2. The streetscaping requirements shall be determined along all other roadways by the 

following: 

a. Within fifty feet (50 ft.) of the property line along the street, one canopy tree for 
every thirty-two feet (32 ft.) of frontage shall be installed. The 1:32 ratio is for 

calculation purposes only and is not intended to mandate the installation of trees 
at regular intervals.  Two non-canopy trees may be substituted for one canopy 
tree; 

b. Canopy and non-canopy trees must be selected from the BioCorridor Streetscape 
Plant List in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications and may be grouped as 
desired; and 

c. One existing tree with a minimum four-inch (4-in.) caliper may be substituted for 

a new tree.  Existing trees must be of acceptable health, as determined by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee.  

3. Three hundred (300) additional landscape points shall be required for every fifty linear 

feet (50 l.f.) of frontage on a right-of-way or public way. Driveway openings, visibility 
triangles, and other traffic control areas may be subtracted from total frontage.  The 
additional landscape points can be dispersed throughout the site. 

4. Driveways and areas located within a required visibility triangle shall be excluded from 
the streetscape requirements in paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 above. 

5. Parking areas adjacent to a right-of-way or public way shall be screened from the 
right-of-way/public way. Screening is required along one hundred percent (100%) of 
the street frontage (such as ten (10) shrubs for every thirty linear feet (30 l.f.) of 
frontage), with the exception of areas within the visibility triangle.  Screening may be 
accomplished using plantings, berms, structural elements, or combinations thereof, 

and must be a minimum of three feet (3 ft.) above the parking lot pavement 
elevation. Dwarf plants may not be used for screening. Walls and planting strips shall 
be located at least two feet (2 ft.) from any parking area. Where the street and the 
adjacent site are at different elevations, the BioCorridor Review Committee may alter 

the height of the screening to ensure adequate screening. Shrubs used for screening 
shall be evergreen. 

6. Dumpsters (where permitted), concrete retaining walls where more than six (6) 

vertical inches of untreated concrete are visible, off-street loading areas, utility 
connections, and any other site characteristics that could be considered visually 
offensive must be adequately screened. 

E. Landscape/Streetscape Plan Requirements. 

When a Landscape/Streetscape Plan is required, the landscape/streetscape plan shall 
contain the following:  

1. The location of existing property lines and dimensions of the tract; 

2. A north arrow and scale; 

3. Topographic information and final grading adequate to identify and properly specify 
planting for areas needing slope protection; 

4. Location and dimensions of existing and proposed structures, parking lots and 
drives, sidewalks, refuse disposal areas, fences, and other features as determined 
necessary by the BioCorridor Review Committee; 

5. Location, size, spread, type, and quantity of all proposed landscaping and screening 
materials, along with common and botanical names; 

6. The location of existing and proposed utilities and all easements on or adjacent to 
the lot; 

7. An indication of adjacent land uses, existing development, and roadways; 

 

232



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 102 27-Sept-12 

8. An irrigation system plan or a general note indicating that an irrigation system to 

service all new plantings will be installed by a certified installer before a Certificate 
of Occupancy will be issued;  

9. Landscape Information 

a. Landscape points required for site and calculations shown in the landscape 
legend; 

b. A legend showing the size, type (canopy, non-canopy, shrub), and points 
claimed for proposed landscaping; 

c. Location of landscape plants on plan identified by a symbol defined in a 
landscape legend; 

10. Streetscape Information 

a. Streetscape points required for site and calculations shown; 

b. A table showing the scientific and common plant names, size, type (canopy, 

non-canopy, and shrub), and points claimed for proposed streetscaping; 

c. Location of streetscape plants on plan identified by a symbol defined in a 
landscape legend; and  

11. The location and diameter of protected existing trees claimed for either landscape or 

streetscape requirements, and an indication of how the applicant plans to barricade 
the existing trees from damage during construction.  Barricading shall be subject to 
the following requirements: 

a. Prior to land development or redevelopment, or any construction thereof, the 
developer shall clearly mark all qualifying and significant trees to be preserved; 

b. The developer shall erect a fence around each tree or group of trees to prohibit 
the placement of debris or fill, or the parking of vehicles within the drip line of 

any qualifying or significant tree; 

c. During construction, the developer shall prohibit the cleaning of equipment or 

materials within the drip line of any tree or group of trees that are protected and 
required to remain.  The developer shall not allow to dispose of any waste 
material such as, but not limited to, paint, oil, solvents, asphalt, concrete, 
mortar, or other harmful liquids or materials within the drip line of any tree or 
groups of trees that are required to remain; 

d. No attachments or wires of any kind shall be attached to any tree, except those 
used to stabilize or protect such tree; 

e. With grade changes in excess of six inches (6 in.), a retaining wall or tree well of 
rock or brick shall be constructed around the tree not closer than one-half (½) 
the distance between the trunk and the drip line.  The mid-point of the retaining 
wall shall be constructed at the new grade.  Grade changes greater than one 

inch (1 in.) may not be made without the prior approval of the BioCorridor 
Review Committee; and 

f. All vegetation must be planted in accordance with the visibility triangle 
regulations referenced in the Visibility at Intersections in all Districts section of 
this Ordinance. 

F. Maintenance and Changes. 

1. Landscaping/Streetscaping shall be maintained and preserved in accordance with the 

approved Landscape/Streetscape Plan.  Replacement of landscaping/streetscaping 
must occur within forty-five (45) days of notification by the BioCorridor Review 
Committee.  Replacement material must be of similar character and the same or 
higher point total as the dead or removed landscaping.  Failure to replace dead or 
removed landscaping, as required by the BioCorridor Review Committee, shall 
constitute a violation of this Section of the ordinance for which the penalty provision 
may be invoked. 

233



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.8 Landscaping and Streetscaping 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 103 27-Sept-12 

2. Landscaping/Streetscaping Changes to Existing Sites 

a. If changes constituting twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the number of 
required canopy and non-canopy trees are proposed, a revised 
Landscape/Streetscape Plan must be submitted for approval and is required to 

comply with this Section.  Planting must occur pursuant to this approved 
landscape/streetscape plan within forty-five (45) days. 

b. Revised Landscape/Streetscape Plans shall meet the requirements of the 
ordinance in effect at the time of the revised Landscape/ Streetscape Plan 
submittal. 

c. The replacement of existing canopy and non-canopy trees must be replaced caliper 
for caliper, or as determined by the BioCorridor Review Committee. 

G. Completion and Extension. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall review all landscaping for completion in 

compliance with this Section and the approved Landscape/Streetscape Plan.  Landscaping/ 
streetscaping shall be completed in compliance with the approved plan before a Certificate 
of Occupancy will be issued.  However, the applicant may receive an extension of four (4) 
months from the date of the Certificate of Occupancy upon the approval of an application 

for extension with a bond or letter of credit in the amount of one hundred and fifty percent 
(150%) of the landscape/streetscape bid, as well as the irrigation required for the project.  
Failure to complete the landscaping/streetscaping according to the approved 
Landscape/Streetscape Plan at the expiration of the bond or letter of credit shall constitute 
forfeiting the bond or cashing of the letter of credit.  Also, failure to complete the 
approved landscaping/streetscaping shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.  

H. Review and Approval. 

Landscape/Streetscape Plans shall be reviewed jointly and approved by the BioCorridor 
Review Committee.  

I. Parking, Storage, or Display. 

No parking, storage, or display of vehicles or merchandise shall be allowed in the required 
landscape/streetscape areas or on required parking islands.

J. Alternative Compliance Permitted. 

Variations to the requirements of this Section may be approved if the 

Landscape/Streetscape Plan is sealed by a registered landscape architect and approved by 
the BioCorridor Review Committee.  Such plans must show reasonable evidence that the 
requirements as set forth in this Section were used as a guide. 

9.9 Highway Buffers. 

A. Purpose. 

The purpose of highway buffer requirements, which generally include a buffer yard, 

existing vegetation, and plantings is to provide a visual barrier around the BioCorridor 
from State Highway 47 (SH 47) and Farm to Market Road 60 (FM 60), and to help mitigate 
any negative impacts of these major thoroughfares on developed or developing properties.  
A buffer should visibly separate the highway system from the developments within the 
BioCorridor and shield or block noise, glares, or other nuisances. 

B. Applicability. 

1. Perimeter buffers shall be provided on building plots abutting SH 47 and/or FM 60 

right-of-way in accordance with the standards of this Section, as outlined in the 
Minimum Highway Buffer Standards.   

2. Properties that abut both SH 47 and FM 60 shall provide perimeter buffers to both 
rights-of-way. 

234



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.9 Highway Buffers 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 104 27-Sept-12 

C. Relationship to Other Landscaping Standards. 

All buffer requirements shall be included on a development’s Landscaping Plan.  
Landscaping provided to meet the buffer landscaping standards of this Section may not be 
counted towards meeting a project’s landscape point requirements.  The area of a site 

dedicated to a perimeter buffer shall not be included in calculating a site’s minimum 
landscaping point requirements.  

D. Permitted Uses. 

1. A buffer yard may be used for passive recreation or stormwater management.  It may 
contain pedestrian, bike, or equestrian trails provided that: 

a. No plant material is eliminated; 

b. The total width of the buffer yard is maintained; and 

c. All other regulations of this Section are met. 

2. Driveways and necessary utility boxes and equipment are permitted within the buffer 

yard.   

3. No storage of materials, parking, signage, or structure shall be located within the 
buffer yard.   

4. No fences or walls over three feet (3 ft.) high shall be located within the buffer yard, 

with the exception of retaining walls required for soil stabilization.   

E. Minimum Highway Buffer Standards. 

1. Buffer Yard. 

Each buffer yard shall be a minimum of fifty feet (50 ft.) in depth.  The buffer yard 
shall be measured from the common property line with the applicable TxDOT rights-of-
way and may include established building setbacks.   

2. Landscape Reserve. 

All existing trees within the buffer yard with a four-inch (4-in.) caliper or greater shall 
be preserved. 

3. Plantings. 

a. The following plantings shall be installed in each buffer yard: 

1) A minimum of one five-gallon shrub at a minimum of three feet (3 ft.) in 
height per linear foot of landscaping buffer; and 

2) A minimum of one two-inch (2 in.) caliper canopy tree per eight linear feet (8 

l.f.) of landscape buffer.     

b. All buffer yard landscaping areas not dedicated to trees or shrubs shall be 
landscaped with grass, groundcover, or other appropriate landscape treatment in 
accordance with the Landscaping and Streetscaping section of this Ordinance. 

c. Fifty percent (50%) of all required shrubs within the buffer yard shall be 

evergreen. 

d. Plant materials shall show a variety of texture, color, shape, and other 
characteristics.  Recommended buffer materials can be found in the BioCorridor 
Plant List in the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications or in those listed as 
appropriate for Zone 8 on the USDA Hardiness Zone Map. 

e. The arrangement of trees and shrubs in the buffer area shall be done in a manner 
that provides a visual separation between the BioCorridor Planned Development 
District and the highways.   

f. Irrigation is required for all new plantings. 

g. Existing vegetation, including trees meeting the requirement of the landscape 
reserve of this Section, may count toward the planting requirement if: 

235



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.9 Highway Buffers 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 105 27-Sept-12 

1) The vegetation is in good health and the landscaping plan verifies that it will 

meet the plantings criteria listed above (non-point trees may count towards a 
natural buffer); and 

2) The vegetation is protected in accordance with the Landscaping and 

Streetscaping section of this Ordinance. 

b. Plantings will not be allowed to encroach into a required visibility triangle for a 
public or private right-of-way except as provided for in the Visibility at All 
Intersections in All Districts section of this Ordinance. 

c. Where utility or drainage easements or other similar situations exists in the 
required buffer yard, all new plantings and irrigation shall be located outside of the 
easement.   

F. Maintenance and Replacement. 

1. Upon installation or protection of required landscape materials, appropriate measures 

shall be taken to ensure their continued health and maintenance.  Required landscape 
areas and buffers shall be free of garbage and trash, weeds, pests, and disease.  
Required plant materials that do not remain healthy shall be replaced consistently with 
these provisions. 

2. All landscaping materials shall be maintained by the owner(s) of the property that was 
required to install such landscaping materials under this Section. 

3. Any canopy tree removed or otherwise destroyed by the willful act or negligence of the 
property owner, tenant, or contractor shall be replaced by a tree of the same or larger 
caliper. 

G. Appeals. 

1. Appeals of the terms of this Section, with the exception of Maintenance and 

Replacement above, shall be to the BioCorridor Board. 

2. An appeal shall be made within thirty (30) days of the date of the notification of the 
decision by filing with the BioCorridor Review Committee a notice of appeal specifying 
the grounds thereof. 

3. The BioCorridor Board may authorize on appeal alternative buffer standards for a 
specific property or a waiver to the Buffer Requirements of this Section when such 
standards or waiver will not be contrary to the public interest where, owing to unique 

and special conditions not normally found in like areas, a strict enforcement of the 
provisions of the ordinance would result in unnecessary hardship, and so that the spirit 
of this Section shall be observed and substantial justice done.

9.10 Greenway Buffers. 

A. Purpose. 

Generally consisting of creek beds and native tree, shrub, and grassland zones, the 

purpose of the greenway buffer is to reduce erosion associated with increased water flow 
and flooding; preserve native vegetation that will stabilize banks, slow and absorb 
contaminants, and provide wildlife habitat; and provide a natural aesthetic and ecological 
amenity.  The buffer is intended to preserve the greenway by limiting the impact of 
development. 

B. Applicability. 

A greenway buffer shall be provided on building plots that contain any portion of the buffer 

as defined in this Section. 

236



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.10 Greenway Buffers 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 106 27-Sept-12 

C. Relationship To Other Landscaping Standards. 

1. The area of a site dedicated to a greenway buffer shall not be included in calculating a 
site’s minimum landscaping point requirements.  

2. If a highway buffer and a greenway buffer overlap, the requirements for a greenway 

buffer shall prevail.  

D. Permitted Uses. 

1. A greenway buffer may be used for passive recreation or stormwater management.  

2. A greenway buffer may contain pedestrian, bike, or equestrian trails provided that the 
trails or paths are located outside of the floodplain. 

3. Necessary utility infrastructure is permitted within the buffer.  

4. Other uses that will enhance the stated purpose of the greenway may be determined 

acceptable by the BioCorridor Review Committee.   

5. No storage of materials, parking, signage, or structures (including fences and walls) 
shall be located within the buffer.   

E. Minimum Greenway Buffer Standards. 

1. Greenway buffers shall consist of: 

a. The area delineated and protected by the US Army Corps of Engineers; and 

b. The area encompassed by a White’s Creek tributary measuring seventy-five feet 
(75 ft.) off of each of its banks. 

2. Public access easements of at least fifteen feet (15 ft.) in width shall be dedicated in or 
adjacent to the greenway buffer and outside of the floodplain to allow developing or 
future trails or paths to span the extent of the greenway. 

9.11 Solid Waste. 

A. Purpose. 

It is the purpose of this Section to establish the guidelines for the provision of solid waste 
collection in all developments within the BioCorridor Planned Development District where 
curb service will not take place, in order to: 

1. Provide for the safe and efficient collection and removal of waste from commercial and 
mixed-use developments; and 

2. Reduce nuisances associated with waste-collection containers.

B. Responsibility. 

The BioCorridor Review Committee shall make the final determination as to the 

appropriate collection system; however, it is the responsibility of the developer to 
ascertain the appropriateness of the proposed collection system.  The Committee will 
endeavor to accommodate applicants to the extent equipment, efficiency, and policy allow.  

C. Storage Locations. 

1. Dumpster storage outside of the primary structure is prohibited for office, medical 

service, and/or residential facilities.  These facilities shall include a sufficient amount of 
space within the primary structure for the suitable storage of refuse and shall adhere 
to the following guidelines, as applicable. 

2. New retail sales and service and research and development facilities may locate their 
refuse containers in an accessory structure or accessory building provided they adhere 
to state and local health and safety codes as well as the requirements of the 

237



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.11 Solid Waste  

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 107 27-Sept-12 

BioCorridor Building Design Standards article of this Ordinance and the Guidelines of 

this Section.  

D. Guidelines. 

The following shall be considered minimum standards: 

1. The interior clearance (inside the screen) dimensions for a single three hundred- (300) 
gallon container enclosure shall be ten feet deep by ten feet wide (10 x 10 ft.); 

2. The interior clearance (inside the screen) dimensions for a single (one eight-yard) 
dumpster enclosure shall be twelve feet deep by twelve feet wide (12 x 12 ft.); 

3. The interior clearance (inside the screen) dimensions for a double (two eight-yard) 
dumpster enclosure shall be twelve feet deep by twenty-four feet (12 x 24 ft.) wide; 

4. Bollards and other such devices shall not be set within the minimum width dimensions 

noted above; 

5. All required containers and dumpsters pads shall be constructed of six inches (6 in.) of 
steel-reinforced concrete; 

6. All required containers and dumpsters shall be screened by means of an approved six-
foot (6-ft.) high opaque device on a minimum of three (3) sides.  Depending on 
visibility to pedestrian and vehicular traffic, a gate may be required for all enclosures 

except 300-gallon side-loading automated containers. Gates shall have a minimum 
width of twelve feet (12 ft.) when open, shall swing one hundred and eighty degrees 
(180°) from the closed position, and shall utilize a positive-locking mechanism while in 
the open position. Three (3) hundred-gallon side-loading automated container 
enclosures shall be open on the side, facing the collection point. The open side cannot 
be facing the public right-of-way; and 

7. The ingress, egress, and approach to all dumpster pads shall conform to fire lane 

requirements.

9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management. 

A. Water Quality Improvements. 

The development shall incorporate a minimum of two of the following measures to provide 
additional water quality benefits, the design of which shall be proposed and sealed by the 
applicant’s engineer, architect, or landscape architect, as appropriate: 

1. Rainwater collection and reuse; 

2. Pervious pavement; 

3. A retention pond that will treat the entire site for water quality and provide 
approximately 75% total suspended solids (TCC) removal efficiency;  

4. Native and adapted landscaping; 

5. Bioswales; 

6. Rain gardens; 

7. Urban planters; 

8. Green roof; 

9. Vegetated filter strips; 

10. Conserved open space; or 

11. Greenway buffers. 

 

 

238



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 108 27-Sept-12 

B. Detention Pond Aesthetic Design. 

Detention ponds should be treated as aesthetic site amenities, adding quality and depth to 
the visual environment of the site. Therefore, the detention pond area shall be integrated 
into the overall landscaping design of the site by reasonably dispersing the required 

landscaping points and shall comply with the following: 

1. Unless the landscape plan is sealed by a landscape architect and approved by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee, only plantings found in the BioCorridor Plant List for 
Detention Pond Areas of the BioCorridor Site Design Specifications may be used in a 
detention area; 

2. If visible from any right-of-way or abutting property, concrete structures (such as 
weirs, outlets, and spillways) and retaining walls over six inches (6‖) in height shall be 

treated so as to replicate stone, wood, or other alternatives approved by the 
BioCorridor Review Committee. The treatment shall be complementary to the 
structures on the site; and 

3. Variations to the requirements of this Section may be approved by the BioCorridor 
Review Committee if the development project is employing Leadership in Energy and 
Environment Design (LEED) development standards, using stormwater management to 

acquire LEED points. The project must be LEED certifiable (it does not have to be 
registered as a LEED project but must be eligible for certification), be sealed by a 
Landscape Architect, and show reasonable evidence that the requirements as set forth 
in this Section were used as a guide. 

C. General. 

1. Purpose and Intent. 
The purpose of this Article is to protect the public health, safety, environment and 

general welfare through the regulation of non-stormwater discharges into the 
municipal stormwater drainage system to the maximum extent practicable as required 
by Federal Law. This Article establishes methods for controlling the introduction of 

pollutants into the municipal stormwater drainage system in order to comply with 
requirements of the Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (TPDES) permit 
process. The objectives of this Article are to: 

a) Regulate the contribution of pollutants into the municipal stormwater drainage 
system by any person or entity; 

b) Prohibit illicit discharges and illegal connections into the municipal stormwater 
drainage system; 

c) Prevent non-stormwater discharges, generated as a result of spills, inappropriate 

dumping or disposal, into the municipal stormwater drainage system; and, 

d) To establish legal authority to carry out all inspections, surveillance, monitoring 
and enforcement procedures necessary to ensure compliance with the MS4 permit. 

2. Compatibility with Other Regulations. 

This Article is not intended to modify or repeal any other ordinance, rule, regulation, 
or other provision of law. The requirements of this Article are in addition to the 
requirements of any other ordinance, rule, regulation, or other provision of law, and 

where any provision of this Article imposes restriction of law, whichever provision is 
more restrictive or imposes higher protective standards for human health or the 
environment shall control. 

D. Definitions. 

In this Article:  

Accidental Discharge: a discharge prohibited by this Article that occurs by chance and 
without planning or thought prior to occurrence. 

239



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 109 27-Sept-12 

Agricultural stormwater runoff: any stormwater runoff from orchards, cultivated crops, 

pastures, range lands, and other Nonpoint source agricultural activities, but not 
discharges from concentrated animal feeding operations as defined in 40 CFR. Section 
122.23 or discharges from concentrated aquatic animal production facilities as defined 

in 40 CFR. Section 122.24. 

Best management practices (BMP): schedules of activities, practices, maintenance 
procedures, and other management practices to prevent or reduce the Pollution of the 
municipal stormwater drainage system and waters of the United States. BMPs also 
include treatment requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control plant 
site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, or drainage from raw material 
storage. 

CFR: the Code of Federal Regulations. 

Clean Water Act (CWA): The Clean Water Act (formerly referred to as the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act or Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972) Pub. 
L. 92500, as amended Pub. L. 95217, Pub. L. 95576, Pub. L. 6483 and Pub. L. 97117, 

33 USC. 1251 et.seq. 

Construction Activity or Construction Activities: include clearing, grading, and 

excavating that are subject to TPDES General Construction Permits. It does not include 
routine maintenance that is performed to maintain the original line and grade, 
hydraulic capacity, and original purpose of a ditch, channel, or other similar storm 
water conveyance. Additionally, it does not include the routine grading of existing dirt 
roads, asphalt overlays of existing roads, the routine clearing of existing right-of-ways, 
and similar maintenance activities. 

Contaminated: containing a harmful quantity of any substance. 

Contamination: the presence of or entry into a public water supply system, the municipal 
stormwater drainage system, waters of the State, or waters of the United States of 
any substance which may be harmful to the public health and/or the quality of the 
water. 

Construction Site: any construction site required by the Clean Water Act to Operate 

within the limits of an TPDES permit to discharge stormwater associated with 
construction activity. 

Construction Site Notice (CSN): a written submission to the MS4 Operator from an 
applicant stating that a small Construction Activity will be commencing and will 
Operate under the provisions of the TCEQ General Permit TXR150000. 

Discharge: any addition or introduction of any unpolluted water, pollutant, stormwater, or 
any other substance whatsoever into the municipal stormwater drainage system or 
into waters of the United States. This includes, but is not limited to, household 

hazardous waste, used motor vehicle fluids, and collected quantities of grass clippings, 
leaf litter, and animal wastes. 

Discharger: any person who causes, allows, permits, or is otherwise responsible for, a 
Discharge, including, without limitation, any Operator of a Construction Site or 
Industrial Facility. 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA): the United States Environmental Protection 
Agency, or any duly authorized official of said agency. 

Facility: any facility, Industrial Facility or Construction Site, required by the Clean Water 
Act to have a permit to Discharge stormwater associated with Industrial or 
Construction Activity. 

Harmful quantity: the amount of any substance that will cause Pollution of waters of the 
State, the municipal stormwater drainage system, or that will present or may present 
imminent and substantial danger to the environment or to the health or welfare of 
persons. 

Illicit Connections: any manmade conveyance connecting an Illicit Discharge directly to 
a municipal separate storm sewer. 

Illicit Discharge: any Discharge to a municipal separate storm sewer that is not 
composed entirely of stormwater except Discharges pursuant to an TPDES permit 

240



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 110 27-Sept-12 

(other than the TPDES permit for certain Discharges from the municipal separate 

storm sewer), Discharges resulting from fire fighting activities, and other allowable 
non-storm water Discharges. 

Industrial Facility: any facility required by the Clean Water Act to have a permit to 

Discharge stormwater associated with Industrial Activity subject to TPDES Industrial 
Permits as defined in 40 CFR, Section 122.26 (b)(14). 

Municipal Separate Stormwater System (MS4) Permit: a Stormwater permit for 
municipalities to regulate stormwater discharges. 

Municipal Separate Stormwater Sewer System (MS4): the system of conveyances 
(including sidewalks, roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, 
curbs, gutters, ditches, manmade channels, or storm drains) owned and operated by 

the City and designed or used for collecting or conveying stormwater, and which is not 
used for collecting or conveying sewage. Also designated as MS4. 

Municipal Stormwater Drainage System Operator: the City. 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES): the national program for 
issuing, modifying, revoking and reissuing, terminating, monitoring and enforcing 
permits, and imposing and enforcing pretreatment requirements, under sections 307, 

402, 318, and 405 of the Clean Water Act. 

Nonpoint source: any source of any Discharge of a pollutant that is not a "point source." 

Notice of Change (NOC): the notification of changes to SWP3 that is required by the 
TPDES Stormwater Permits. 

Notice of Intent (NOI): the advance notification that is required by the TPDES 
Stormwater Permits prior to commencement of work. 

Notice of Termination (NOT): the notification that is required by the TPDES Stormwater 

Permits upon completion of work. 

Operate: to drive, conduct, work, run, manage, or control a vehicle or machine. 

Operator: the party or parties that either individually or taken together meet the 

following two criteria: 1) They have operational control over the site specifications 
(including the ability to make modifications in specifications) and 2) they have the day 
to day operational control of those activities at the site necessary to ensure 
compliance with SWP3 requirements and any permit conditions. 

Pollutant: includes, but is not limited to, dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, 
sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, filter backwash, munitions, chemical wastes, 
biological materials, toxic materials, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or discarded 
equipment, rock, sand, soil, cellar dirt, and industrial, municipal, recreational, and 
agricultural waste discharged into water or into the MS4. 

Pollution: the alteration of the physical, thermal, chemical, or biological quality of, or the 

Contamination of, any water of the State or water of the United States, that renders 
the water harmful, detrimental, or injurious to humans, animal life, vegetation, or 
property, or to the public health, safety, or welfare, or impairs the usefulness or the 
public enjoyment of the water for any lawful or reasonable purpose. 

Premises: lots, buildings, and any appurtenances situated thereon. 

Private: property or Facilities owned by individuals, corporations, and other organizations 
and not by a city, county, state, or federal government agency. 

Public: property or Facilities owned by a city, county, state, or federal government or 
agency thereof. 

Regulated Activity: an activity occurring at an Industrial Facility or Construction Site, 
which qualifies the Facility or site to acquire a permit to Discharge Stormwater under 
the Clean Water Act. 

Release: any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, 
injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the Municipal Stormwater 

Drainage System, the water of the State, the waters of the United States. 

Stormwater: any flow occurring during or following any form of natural precipitation, and 
resulting from such precipitation, including snow melt. 

241



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 111 27-Sept-12 

Stormwater discharge associated with industrial activity: the Discharge from any 

conveyance which is used for collecting and conveying Stormwater and which is 
directly related to manufacturing, processing or raw materials storage areas at an 
Industrial Facility. The following categories of Facilities are considered to be engaging 

in "Industrial Activity": 

(1)  Facilities subject to Stormwater effluent limitations guidelines, new source 
performance standards, or toxic Pollutant effluent standards under 40 CFR. 
subchapter N (except Facilities with toxic Pollutant effluent standards which are 
exempted under category (11) of this definition); 

(2)  Facilities classified as Standard Industrial Classifications 24 (except 2434), 26 
(except 265 and 267), 28 (except 283), 29, 31l, 32 (except 323), 33, 344l, 373; 

(3)  Facilities classified as Standard Industrial Classifications 10 through 14 (mineral 
industry) including active or inactive mining operations (except for areas of coal 
mining operations no longer meeting the definition of a reclamation area under 
40 CFR § 434.11(1) because the performance bond issued to the Facility by the 

appropriate federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (SMCRA) 
authority has been released, or except for areas of non-coal mining operations 

which have been released from applicable state or federal reclamation 
requirements after December 17, 1990 and oil and gas exploration, production, 
processing, or treatment operations, or transmission Facilities that Discharge 
Stormwater Contaminated by contact with or that has come into contact with, 
any overburden, raw material, intermediate products, finished products, 
byproducts or waste products located on the site of such operations; 

(4)  Hazardous waste treatment, storage, or disposal Facilities, including those that 

are operating under interim status or a permit under subtitle C of the Federal 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA); 

(5)  Landfills, land application sites, and open dumps that receive or have received 
any industrial wastes (waste that is received from any of the Facilities described 
under this subsection) including those that are subject to regulation under 

subtitle D of RCRA; 

(6)  Facilities involved in the recycling of materials, including metal scrap yards, 

battery reclaimers, salvage yards, and automobile junkyards, including but 
limited to those classified as Standard Industrial Classification 5015 and 5093; 

(7)  Steam electric power generating Facilities, including coal handling sites; 

(8)  Transportation facilities classified as Standard Industrial Classifications 40, 41, 
42 (except 422125), 43, 44, 45, and 5171 which have vehicle maintenance 
shops, equipment cleaning operations, or airport deicing operations.  Only those 

portions of the Facility that are either involved in vehicle maintenance, 
equipment cleaning operations, airport deicing operations, or which are 
otherwise identified under paragraphs (1)-(7) or (9)-(11) of this definition are 
associated with Industrial Activity; 

(9)  Treatment works treating domestic sewage or any other sewage sludge or 
wastewater treatment device or system, used in the storage treatment, 

recycling, and reclamation of municipal or domestic sewage, including land 

dedicated to the disposal of sewage sludge that are located within the confines 
of the Facility, with a design flow of 1.0 mgd or more, or required to have an 
approved pretreatment program under 40 CFR part 403. Not included are farm 
lands, domestic gardens or lands used for sludge management where sludge is 
beneficially reused and which are not physically located in the confines of the 
Facility, or areas that are in compliance with section 405 of the Clean Water Act; 

(10)  Construction Activity including clearing, grading and excavation activities except: 

operations that result in the disturbance of less than one acre of total land area 
which are not part of a larger common plan of development or sale; 

(11)  Facilities under Standard Industrial Classifications (SIC Code) 20, 21, 22, 23, 
2434, 25, 265, 267, 27, 283, 285, 30, 31 (except 311), 323, 34 (except 3441), 

242



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 112 27-Sept-12 

35, 36, 37 (except 373), 38, 39, 422125, (and which are not otherwise included 

within categories (2)-(10) of this definition); 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3): a plan required by a TPDES permit to 
Discharge Stormwater associated with Industrial Activity or Construction Activity and 

which describes and ensures the implementation of practices that are to be used to 
reduce the pollutants in Stormwater Discharges from Industrial Facilities and 
Construction Sites. 

TCEQ: the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality or successor. MS4 interest is 
delegated to the TCEQ upon authority of the EPA. 

Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (TPDES): the regulatory program 
delegated to the State of Texas by the EPA pursuant to 33 USC § 1342(b). 

TPDES Permit: a permit issued by the TCEQ under authority delegated pursuant to 33 
USC § 1342(b) that authorizes the Discharge of Pollutants to waters of the State, 
whether the permit is applicable on an individual, group, or general area wide basis. 

Uncontaminated: not containing a Harmful quantity of any substance. 

United States Code (USC): the Federal law containing the Clean Water Act. 

Vehicle: any form of motorized conveyance that transports people, cargo, or any other 

objects. 

Wastewater: any water or other liquid, other than Uncontaminated Stormwater, 
Discharged from a Facility. 

Surface Water in the State: includes lakes, bays, ponds, impounding reservoirs, 
springs, rivers, streams, creeks, estuaries, wetlands, marshes, inlets, canals, the Gulf 
of Mexico inside the territorial limits of the State (From the mean high water mark 
(MHWM) out 10.36 miles into the Gulf), and all other bodies of surface water, natural 

or artificial, inland or coastal, fresh or salt, navigable or non-navigable, and including 
the beds and banks of all watercourses and bodies of surface water, that are wholly or 
partially inside or bordering the State or subject to the jurisdiction of the State; except 
that waters in treatment systems which are authorized by state or federal law, 

regulations, or permit, and which are created for the purpose of waste treatment are 
not considered to be water in the State. 

Waters of the United States:  

(1)  All waters which are currently used, were used in the past, or may be 
susceptible to use in interstate or foreign commerce, including all waters which 
are subject to the ebb and flow of the tide; 

(2)  all interstate waters, including interstate wetlands; 

(3)  all other waters such as intrastate lakes, rivers, streams (including intermittent 
streams), mudflats, sandflats, wetlands, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet 

meadows, playa lakes, or natural ponds the use, degradation, or destruction of 
which would affect or could affect interstate or foreign commerce including any 
such waters; 

(a) which are or could be used by interstate or foreign travelers for 
recreational or other purposes; 

(b)  from which fish or shellfish are or could be taken or sold in interstate or 
foreign commerce; or 

(c)  which are used or could be used for industrial purposes by industries in 
interstate commerce; 

(4) all impoundments of waters otherwise defined as waters of the United States 
under this definition; 

(5)  tributaries of waters identified in this definition; 

(6)  the territorial sea; and 

(7)  wetlands adjacent to waters (other than waters that are themselves wetlands) 

identified in this definition; Waste treatment systems, including treatment ponds 
or lagoons designed to meet the requirements of CWA (other than cooling ponds 

243



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 113 27-Sept-12 

as defined in 40 CFR 423.11(m) which also meet the criteria of this definition) 

are not waters of the United States. This exclusion applies only to manmade 
bodies of water, which neither were originally created in waters of the United 
States (such as disposal are in wetlands) nor resulted from the impoundment of 

waters of the United States.  Waters of the United States do not include prior 
converted cropland. Notwithstanding the determination of an area’s status as 
prior converted cropland by any federal agency, for the purpose of the Clean 
Water Act, the final authority regarding Clean Water Act jurisdiction remains 
with the EPA. 

Wetland: an area that is inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater at a frequency 
and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances does support, 

a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. 
Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. 

E. Prohibitions. 

1. Discharge to Municipal Stormwater Drainage System Prohibited. 
A person commits an offense if the person Discharges or causes to be Discharged into 
the MS4 any Release of a Harmful quantity of any substance that is not comprised 

entirely of Stormwater. 

2. Exceptions. 

a. It is an affirmative defense to prosecution, subject to subparagraph (2) below, 
that the Discharge was composed entirely of one or more of the following: 

1) A Discharge authorized by, and in full compliance with, a TPDES permit 

(other than the TPDES permit for discharges from the MS4); 

2) A Discharge or flow resulting from fire fighting by the fire department; 

3) Agricultural Stormwater runoff; 

4) A Discharge or flow from water line flushing or disinfection that contains no 

Harmful quantity of total residual chlorine (TRC) or any other chemical used 
in line disinfection; 

5) A Discharge or flow from normal lawn watering or landscape irrigation; 

6) A Discharge or flow from a diverted stream flow or natural spring; 

7) A Discharge or flow from uncontaminated pumped groundwater or rising 
groundwater; 

8) Uncontaminated groundwater infiltration (as defined at 40 CFR § 
35.2005(20)) to the MS4; 

9) Uncontaminated Discharge or flow from a foundation drain, crawl space 

pump, or footing drain; 

10) A Discharge or flow from a potable water source not containing any harmful 
substance; 

11) A Discharge or flow from air conditioning condensation that is unmixed with 

water from a cooling tower, emissions scrubber, emissions filter, or any 
other source of Pollutant; 

12) A Discharge or flow from individual residential car washing; 

13) A Discharge or flow from a riparian habitat or wetland; 

14) A Discharge or flow from cold water (or hot water with prior permission of 
the City’s City Engineer) used in street washing or cosmetic cleaning that is 
not Contaminated with any soap, detergent, degreaser, solvent, emulsifier, 
dispersant, or any other harmful cleaning substance; 

15) Drainage from a private residential swimming pool containing no harmful 

quantities of chlorine or other chemicals; or 

16) A Discharge or flow of uncontaminated Stormwater pumped from an 
excavation. 

244



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 114 27-Sept-12 

b. No exception to enforcement shall be available under subparagraph (1) if: 

1) The Discharge or flow in question has been determined to be a source of a 
Pollutant or pollutants to the waters of the United States or to the MS4; 

2) Notice of such determination has been provided to the Discharger; and 

3) The Discharge has continued after the expiration of the time given in the 
notice to cease the Discharge. 

3. Prohibition of Illicit Connections. 

a. The construction, connection, use, maintenance or continued existence of any Illicit 

Connection to the MS4 is prohibited. 

b. Connections that were permissible when originally installed but that are now 
considered Illicit must be brought into compliance within a timeframe designated by 
the City’s City Engineer. 

c. A person violates this Article if the person connects a line conveying sewage to the 
MS4 or allows such a connection to continue. 

d. Improper connections in violation of this Article must be disconnected and redirected, 

if necessary, to an approved onsite wastewater management system or the sanitary 
sewer system. 

4. Unpermitted Discharges Prohibited. 

It is an offense for an operator or responsible party of a facility to:  

a. Discharge, or cause to be Discharged, Stormwater associated with industrial or 
construction site activity without first having obtained a TPDES permit from the TCEQ.  

b. Operate a facility that is discharging stormwater associated with a construction site 

activity without having submitted a copy of the NOI or construction site notice to the 
City.  

c. Introduce sediment, concrete, asphalt or any other construction debris into the MS4 
from a construction activity. The City’s City Engineer will provide the Operator a 
reasonable amount of time, to remove any Pollutants or debris from the MS4 
conveyances.  

F. Suspension of Utility Service 

1. Emergency Suspension of Utility Service and Municipal Stormwater Drainage 
System Access. 

a. The City may, without prior notice, suspend water service, sanitary sewer service 
or MS4 Discharge access to a person Discharging to the MS4, waters of the United 
States, or Publicly-Owned Treatment Works when such suspension is necessary to 
stop an actual or threatened Discharge which: 

1) Presents or may present imminent and substantial danger to the 
environment or to the health or welfare of persons; or 

2) Presents or may present imminent and substantial danger to the MS4 or 
waters of the United States. 

b. When the City’s City Engineer determines that City provided water or sanitary 
sewer service must be suspended pursuant to subsection (1), the City’s City 
Engineer will request the Director of Water Services to do so. 

c. As soon as is practicable after the suspension of service or MS4 Discharge access, 
the City’s City Engineer will notify the violator of the suspension and order the 

violator to cease the Discharge immediately. 

245



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 115 27-Sept-12 

d. If the violator fails to comply with an order issued under subsection (3), the City’s 

City Engineer may take such actions as he/she deems necessary to prevent or 
minimize harmful Discharges to the MS4, waters of the United States, or to 
persons or wildlife. 

e. The City will not reinstate suspended services or MS4 access to the violator until: 

1) The violator presents proof, satisfactory to the City’s City Engineer and 
Director of Water Services, that the non-complying Discharge has been 
eliminated and its cause determined and corrected;  

2) The violator reimburses the City for all costs the City incurred in suspending 
and reinstating water service, sanitary sewer connection, and MS4 access; 
and 

3) The violator reimburses the City for all costs of testing, containment, 
cleanup, abatement, removal and disposal of any substance unlawfully 
Discharged into the MS4 incurred by the City while responding to, abating, 

and remediating the Discharge or threatened Discharge. 

f. A violator whose service or access has been suspended or disconnected may 
appeal the enforcement action to the City Manager’s attention, in writing, within 

10 days of notice of the suspension. The City Manager will render a decision within 
7 days upon written receipt of the petition.  

g. The remedies provided by this section are in addition to any other remedies set 
out in this Article. Exercise of this remedy is not a bar against, or a prerequisite 
for, taking other action against a violator. 

h. A person commits an offense if the person reinstates water service, sanitary sewer 
service, or MS4 access to Premises terminated pursuant to this section, without 

the prior approval of the City’s City Engineer. 

2. Nonemergency Suspension of Utility Service and Municipal Stormwater 
Drainage System Access. 

a. The City may suspend the City-provided water supply, sanitary sewer connection, 
or MS4 access for any person failing to comply with previous notices to cease 
discharges to the MS4 in violation of this Article. Utilities will be subject to 
suspension if such measures would abate or reduce the Discharge. 

b. The City’s City Engineer will notify a violator of the proposed suspension of its 
water supply, sanitary sewer connection or MS4 access. The violator may petition 
the City’s City Engineer for a reconsideration and hearing before the City Manager.  

c. The City will not reinstate suspended services or MS4 access to the Discharger 
until: 

1)  The violator presents proof, satisfactory to the City’s City Engineer, that the 

non-complying Discharge has been eliminated and its cause determined and 
corrected;  

2)  The violator reimburses the City for all costs the City incurred in suspending 

and reinstating water service, sanitary sewer connection, and MS4 access; 
and 

3)  The violator reimburses the City for all costs of testing, containment, 

cleanup, abatement, removal and disposal of any substance unlawfully 
discharged into the MS4 incurred by the City while responding to, abating, 
and remediating the Discharge or threatened discharge. 

d. The remedies provided by this section are in addition to any other remedies set 
out in this Article. Exercise of this remedy is not a bar against, or a prerequisite 
for, taking other action against a violator. 

246



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 116 27-Sept-12 

e. A person commits an offense if the person reinstates water service, sanitary sewer 

service, or MS4 access to Premises terminated pursuant to this section, without 
the prior approval of the City’s City Engineer. 

G. Facility Inspection for Stormwater Discharges. 

1. Applicability for Industrial and Construction Activity. 

a. This section applies to all facilities located within the City limits that have 
Stormwater Discharges associated with Industrial Activity or Construction Site 
Activity. State regulations require that subject facilities apply for and obtain 
general permits for Industrial Facilities (TPDES TXR050000) and Construction Sites 
(TXR150000) that have been determined to contribute or have the potential to 
contribute substantial Pollutant loads to the MS4 or waters of the State. The 

general permits require that the permittee develop, implement, and maintain a 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3) and submit an NOI notifying the 
TCEQ and the MS4 operator.    

b. The MS4 permit issued to the City by the TCEQ mandates the City "Carry out all 
inspections, surveillance, and monitoring procedures necessary to determine 
compliance with permit conditions" (Part III (E)(6)) and to implement a program 

that shall include "Inspection of construction sites and enforcement of control 
measure requirements" (Part III (A)(9)(b)). To meet these requirements the City 
must enter onto the Premises of Industrial and Construction Sites to inspect, 
monitor, and conduct surveillance of requirements mandated by the TCEQ. These 
requirements include, but are not limited to:  

1) Review of the Facilities' SWP3 with onsite conditions; 

2) Evaluation of BMP to effectively prohibit the Discharge of nonstormwater to the 

MS4; 

3) Inspection for Illicit Connections and Illicit Discharges; 

4) Self inspection compliance; and 

5) Compliance with the City's MS4 permit and the Facilities subject general 
permit (TXR150000 or TXR050000). 

2. Access to Industrial Facilities and Construction Sites. 

a. The intent of Facility inspections shall be to determine compliance with the 

conditions of the City's TPDES permit, any TPDES general permit the Facility is 
currently obligated to for Industrial and Construction Activities, and this Article. 
Facility owners and Operators will allow the City’s City Engineer ready access to 
applicable sections of Public and Private Premises for the sole purpose of 
inspection, surveillance, and monitoring for the presence of illegal Discharges to 
the MS4, Illicit Connections to the MS4, and assessment of any portions of a 

regulated Facility influenced by Stormwater runoff that may adversely affect the 
MS4 or waters of the United States.  

b. Admittance to the Facility shall be requested at a reasonable time during the 
Facilities normal working hours unless it is determined by the City’s City Engineer 

that imminent and substantial danger exists.  

c. The owner or Operator shall make all necessary arrangements to allow access to 
the City’s City Engineer. 

d. If the owner or Operator refuses entry after a request to enter and inspect has 
been made, the City is hereby empowered to seek assistance from any court of 
competent jurisdiction in obtaining such entry.  

e. The City’s City Engineer retains the authority to collect samples and photographs 
from Stormwater outfalls or other components of the MS4 as may be deemed 
appropriate in the administration and enforcement of this Article.  

f. The City’s City Engineer has the authority to establish on subject Facilities devices 

as are necessary in the opinion of the City’s City Engineer to conduct monitoring of 
the Facility's Stormwater Discharge.  

247



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 117 27-Sept-12 

g. The City’s City Engineer or the designated inspector must present appropriate 

credentials to the Facility officials at the time of entry to a Facility.  

3. Review and Modification of Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans. 

a. The City’s City Engineer has the authority to request to review any documents or 

plans (Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, spill prevention control plans, 
hazardous material plans, waste management documentation, etc.) from a 
regulated Facility that the City’s City Engineer deems may affect stormwater 
discharges to the MS4.  

b. The City’s City Engineer may require an Operator of a regulated Facility to modify 
its Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan if the Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
Plan does not comply with the requirements of the Facility's TPDES permit to 

Discharge Stormwater associated with Industrial or Construction Activity.  

c. The deficiencies in a Facility's Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan will be 
communicated in writing, and the City’s City Engineer will provide the Operator a 

reasonable amount of time to make the necessary changes in the Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention Plan.  

4. Review and Modifications of Best Management Practices. 

a. Any person engaged in activities or Operation, or owning Facilities or property, 
which will or may result in Pollutants entering the MS4 or waters of the United 
States, shall implement BMPs to the extent they are technologically achievable to 
prevent and reduce such Pollutants. The owner or Operator of a regulated Facility 
shall prove reasonable protection from Accidental Discharge of prohibited 
materials or other wastes into the MS4 or waters of the United States. Practices 
implemented to prevent Accidental Discharge of prohibited materials or other 

wastes shall be provided and maintained at the owner’s or Operator's expense.  

b. The City does not maintain a list of required or approved BMPs for regulated 
Facilities. The City’s City Engineer may request Facilities to demonstrate the 

effectiveness of implemented BMPs. Suggested BMPs and a list of prohibited BMPs 
will be maintained in the B/CS Drainage Design Guidelines.  

c. The City’s City Engineer may require an Operator of a regulated Facility to modify 
its BMP if the BMPs do not provide effective protection from Accidental Discharge 

of prohibited materials or other wastes from entering into the MS4 or waters of the 
United States.  

d. The deficiencies in a Facility's BMP will be communicated in writing, and the City’s 
City Engineer will provide the Operator a reasonable amount of time to make the 
necessary changes in the BMPs.  

5. Compliance with Permit. 

a. A Facility shall be operated in strict compliance with the requirements of the 
TPDES permit to Discharge Stormwater associated with Industrial or Construction 
Site Activity.  

b. A person commits an offense if the person operates a Facility in violation of a 
requirement of the Facility's TPDES permit to Discharge Stormwater associated 
with Industrial or Construction Site Activity.  

H. Stormwater Discharges Associated with Industrial Activity. 

1. Applicability. 

 This section applies to all Facilities located within the BioCorridor Planned Development 
District that have stormwater discharges associated with Industrial Activity.   

2. Industrial and High Risk Runoff Monitoring. 

a. All hazardous waste treatment and storage Facilities, active municipal landfills, 
Facilities subject to section 313 of Title III of the Superfund Amendment and 

248



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 118 27-Sept-12 

Reauthorization Act of 1986 (SARA), and any other Industrial Discharger the City 

determines is contributing a substantial Pollutant load to the MS4 shall submit self-
monitoring data to the City on an annual basis. Submittal date of self-monitoring 
data is to be determined by the City’s City Engineer.  

b. The City's MS4 permit requires that all Industrial Facilities listed in (1) be subject 
to site inspections of no less than once per permit term (five years). However, the 
City’s City Engineer has the authority to inspect these Industrial Facilities as often 
as deemed necessary to assure permit compliance and safety of the MS4 and 
waters of the United States.  

c. An unreasonable delay or refusal to submit self-monitoring data to the City’s City 
Engineer is a violation of this Ordinance. A person who is the Operator of an 

Industrial Facility with a TPDES permit to Discharge Stormwater associated with 
Industrial Activity commits an offense if the person denies the City’s City Engineer 
reasonable access to a Facility's self-monitoring data for the purpose of review 
required by this Article.  

d. An Industrial Facility may submit a "no exposure" certification to the City in lieu of 
self-monitoring; however, any Facility operating under a "no exposure" 

certification is subject to periodic Facility inspections (not less than once per 
permit term—five years) to verify the Facility's "no exposure" exemption.  

e. The City may waive monitoring requirements for Industrial Facilities determined to 
be in compliance with the TPDES Multi-Sector General Permit Number TXR050000.  

f. The City’s City Engineer has the authority to conduct inspections on any Industrial 
Facility subject to the TCEQ's TPDES Multi-Sector General Permit or has been 
deemed to be, or has potential to be, contributing a substantial Pollutant load to 

the MS4 to determine compliance and safety of the MS4 and waters of the United 
States.  

I. Stormwater Discharges Associated with Construction Activity. 

1. Applicability. 

This subsection applies to all Facilities located within the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District that have Stormwater Discharges associated with Construction 
Activity.   

2. Submission of Notice of Intent, Notice of Change, Notice of Termination or 
Construction Site Notice to Municipal Stormwater Drainage System Operator. 

a. The Operator of a Construction Site required to have a TPDES permit to Discharge 
Stormwater associated with Construction Activity shall submit a copy of the above 
notices to the City’s City Engineer at the same time the Operator submits the 
original notice to the TCEQ.  

b. The Operator of a Construction Site which does not require an NOI is required to 
submit, per TCEQ's TPDES general permit for Construction Sites, a Construction 
Site notice to the City’s City Engineer.  

c. Copies of all notices may be delivered to the City’s City Engineer either in person 

or by mail. 

J. Control and Containment Requirements. 

1. Spill or Release Corrective Actions, Responsibility, and Compensation. 

a. Spills or leaks of Polluting substances Discharged to, or having the potential to be 
indirectly transported to, the MS4, shall be contained, controlled, collected, and 
removed promptly. All affected areas shall be restored to their preexisting 
condition. Any costs of the containment, control, collection, removal, or restoration 
incurred by the City will be reimbursed to the City by the person associated with 
the spill or leak. 

b. Persons associated with the spill or leak must immediately call 911 to notify 

emergency personnel of all spills or leaks of polluting substances.  Notification 
does not relieve any person of any costs related to the restoration, loss, damage, 

249



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.12 Drainage and Stormwater Management 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 119 27-Sept-12 

or any other responsibility which may be incurred as a result of the spill or leak, 

nor will the notification relieve any person from any other responsibility which may 
be imposed by state, federal, or other law. 

c. Any person operating a Vehicle that causes or results in an Accidental Discharge or 

Release to the MS4 is responsible for costs of any testing, containment, cleanup, 
abatement, removal and disposal of Contamination to the extent determined by 
the City’s City Engineer. 

2. Stockpiling, Accumulations, and Heaps. 

a. Stockpiles, accumulations, and heaps comprised of soil, sand, mulch, trash, 
asphalt, aggregate or any other material deemed a Pollutant by local, state, or 
federal regulations, which are located within the City limits and present a real or 

perceived potential of discharging to the MS4 are subject to control measures to 
prevent introduction into the MS4. 

b. The City’s City Engineer has the authority to necessitate the use of control 

measures to mitigate the introduction of Pollutants to the MS4. Failure to 
implement control measures as prescribed by the City’s City Engineer will result in 
enforcement as described in this Article. 

c. Stockpiles, accumulations, and heaps discovered to be Discharging Pollutants to 
the MS4 are subject to enforcement as described in this Article. 

K. Enforcement. 

1. Enforcement Responsibility. 

The City’s City Engineer or his designee has the responsibility for enforcement of the 
provisions of this Article.  The duties include not only the issuance of permits as 
required by this Article, but also the responsibility of ensuring that all Facilities 

conform with this subpart and with any other applicable state and federal laws, 
requirements and regulations of the City’s Code of Ordinances. The City’s City 
Engineer has the authority to adopt policies and procedures not inconsistent with the 

terms of this Article necessary to implement the provisions of this Section.   

2. Violations. 

Violation of the provisions of this Article or failure to comply with any of its 
requirements shall constitute a misdemeanor. Each violation shall be deemed a 

separate offense for each and every day during which any violation of any of the 
provisions of this Article is committed or continued. Any person found guilty of 
violating this Article may be punished as provided for in the City’s Code of Ordinances. 

3. Notice of Violations. 

If the City’s City Engineer determines that there is a violation of this Article, notice will 
be sent to the property owner or Operator of record by registered or certified mail, 

unless deemed an emergency pursuant to the Emergency Suspension of Utility Service 
and Municipal Stormwater Drainage System Access section of this Ordinance. The 

notice will specify the measures required to come into full compliance with this Article 
and shall specify the time within which the measures must be completed. Failure to 
comply within the time specified is a violation of this Article and subject to additional 
penalties outlined herein.   

4. Voluntary Compliance. 

The City’s City Engineer has the authority to instruct an Operator of a Facility that 
commits any acts prohibited by this Article to achieve voluntary compliance as 
determined by the City’s City Engineer. The City’s City Engineer will provide a 
reasonable amount of time, specific to the occurrence, to remedy the violation.   

5. Stop Orders. 

The City’s City Engineer has the authority to issue stop work orders for any Facility 
that commits any acts prohibited by this Article.  

250



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.13 Outdoor Lighting Standards 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 120 27-Sept-12 

 

L. Penalties and Violations. 

1. Violations of provisions of this Drainage and Stormwater Management section or 
failure to comply with any of its requirements shall constitute a misdemeanor. Any 

person who violates this Section or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall 
upon conviction thereof be fined in accordance with the City’s Code of Ordinances for 
each violation. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate 
offense. 

2. The owner or Operator of any Facility, structure, Premises, or part thereof, and any 
architect, builder, contractor, agent, or other person who commits, participates in, 
assists in, or maintains such violation may each be found guilty of a separate offense 

and suffer the penalties herein provided. 

M. Appeals, Interpretation, and Variances. 

Any appeals, interpretations or variances of the City’s City Engineer, except those under 
the Enforcement section of this Article, shall first be to the City Manager, then to a court of 
competent jurisdiction. 

9.13 Outdoor Lighting Standards. 

It is recognized that no design can eliminate all ambient light from being reflected or 
otherwise being visible from any given development; however, the following requirements 
shall be followed to the fullest extent possible in order to limit nuisances associated with 
lighting and resulting glare. 

A. Applicability. 

All lighting within developments shall meet the requirements of this Section. 

B. Site Lighting Design Requirements. 

1. Fixture (luminaire) 
The light source shall not project below an opaque housing.  No fixture shall directly 
project light horizontally. 

2. Light Source (lamp) 
Only incandescent, florescent, metal halide, mercury vapor, LED, or color-corrected 
high-pressure sodium may be used.  The same type must be used for the same or 
similar types of lighting on any one site throughout any master-planned development. 

3. Mounting 
Fixtures shall be mounted in such a manner that the projected cone of light does not 
cross any property line. 

C. Specific Lighting Requirements. 

1. Outdoor lighting shall not exceed the following levels: 

a. 0.50 footcandle at the property line if the subject property abuts a residential 

zoning district or a lot containing a residential use; or  

b. 1.00 footcandle at the property line if the subject property abuts a nonresidential 
zoning district or lot containing a nonresidential use, or at the right-of-way line. 

2. Outdoor lighting shall not exceed the following heights: 

a. Light fixtures in parking lots shall not exceed a maximum height of twenty-four 
feet (24 ft.).   

b. Pedestrian walkway fixtures shall not exceed a maximum height of twelve feet (12 

ft.).

3. Façade and flagpole lighting must be directed only toward the façade or flag and shall 
not interfere with the night-visibility on nearby thoroughfares or shine directly at any 

251



ARTICLE 9. SITE DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 9.14 Outdoor Storage and Display 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 121 27-Sept-12 

adjacent residential use. 

4. All lighting fixtures incorporated into non-enclosed structures (e.g., bank drive-thru 
canopies) shall be fully recessed into the underside of such structures.   

9.14 Outdoor Storage and Display. 

A. General. 

Outdoor storage and display is allowed in accordance with this Section.  Any merchandise, 
material, or equipment situated outdoors and visible from the public right-of-way or 
adjacent properties shall be subject to the requirements of this Section.  No outdoor 
storage or display shall be allowed to occur in required parking areas.   

B. Standards. 

1. General Outdoor Storage. 

Items that are stored outside must be related to the use on the site.  Outdoor storage 
is allowed so long as it is completely screened from view from adjacent rights-of-way 
and/or public ways by landscaping and a solid wall that at a minimum meets the 
height of the screened materials and at least six feet (6 ft.) in height. Outdoor storage 
shall not be allowed within a required front setback. 

2. Outdoor Display. 

Outdoor sales/outdoor display areas shall be located within five feet (5 ft.) of a 
required entrance façade and shall only be located in front of the property/business 
that is selling the item(s).  A four-foot (4-ft.) minimum clear space on the sidewalks 
shall be maintained.  All merchandise and/or seasonal items used for outside sales or 
display shall be moved indoors at the end of business each day.  

3. Exceptions. 

Waste generated on-site and deposited in ordinary refuse containers shall not be 

considered outdoor storage or display. Outdoor appurtenances essential to the 
function of sidewalk cafés shall not be considered outdoor storage or display. 

252



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.1 Design Standards for the Built Form 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 122 27-Sept-12 

ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS. 

10.1 Design Standards for the Built Form. 

Introduction. 

The BioCorridor is emerging as one of the most vital and energetic growth areas for the City of 

Bryan, City of College Station and the entire Brazos Valley region.  It is this energy and vitality 
that should be promoted and enhanced through quality design.  The primary purpose of the 
Building Design Guidelines is to provide prospective developers of properties with a sense of 
what the community desires in the future built environment within this BioCorridor.  These 
design principles and guidelines are organized and constructed to provide a consistent, quality 
built environment across the entire BioCorridor in order that this new ―neighborhood‖ can be 
anchored by quality jobs, quality developments and an enhanced quality of life that can be 

sustained into the future. 

The Cities desire to create a quality-built environment within this area that is underscored 
through the creation of ―places‖ rather than just developments.  ―Places‖ are memorable 
because they exhibit quality that is manifested through their physical design and with 
elements that are authentic, rich in detail and diversity and express a unique style and 
character appropriate to their local setting.  From a land use and urban design perspective, 

the BioCorridor is a complex and diverse area. As a result, distinct districts have been 
identified based on characteristics of the area.  The design palette is shaped by the unique 
landforms and built environments already present within the area and also by the nature and 
type of developments that are anticipated and encouraged as a part of the overall plan.  The 
architectural style and details of buildings in the BioCorridor will and should vary from other 
corridors in both cities based on the unique settings and the influences of the architectural 
styles of the dominant facilities that already exist.  Accordingly, this document provides design 

guidelines that address the standards that are applicable to the BioCorridor.  

10.2 Overall Design Goals and Objectives. 

Exhibit A-1 illustrates with narrative and images the overall design theme, goals and 
objectives for the future built environment in the BioCorridor.  These overall goals and 
principles were formed and structured to create a coordinated system of buildings and facilities 
that emphasize quality design and materials, provide a sense of place and scale that is 
appropriate for both persons and automobiles and work in concert with the natural landscape 

in a sustainable manner.  Establishing these guiding principles for the design of the built 
environment will provide a benchmark to which all future building development should adhere.  
These overall goals and objectives serve as the basis for the more detailed design standards, 
and when applied, help to reinforce those objectives on each site.  To this end, the following 
goals and objectives serve as the guiding principles for design of the built environment. 

A. Overall Design Intent for the Built Environment. 

The built environment should portray a progressive image that encourages building 

designs that are appropriate to the local context, contribute to the creation of a 
pedestrian-friendly environment and are responsive to the natural environment in which 
they are situated. 

B. Design Objectives Supporting the Overall Design Intent for the Built 
Environment. 

The following design objectives are to be adhered to as benchmark standards and 

principles in development and design of buildings and facilities in the BioCorridor.   

1. Building designs should strengthen the character, quality and sustainability of the 
existing and future built environment in this area;   

 

253



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.3 Design Standards Applying to the BioCorridor Planned Development District 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 123 27-Sept-12 

2. Building design should encourage architectural styles that respect and relate to the 

local context and/or create a cohesive, coordinated theme within the area; 

3. Buildings should be constructed using authentic and durable materials (natural stone, 
brick and/or architectural metal) and all sides of the building should be designed and 

treated with similar styles, materials, and details; 

4. Buildings should be designed with an appropriate human scale which create and 
maintain a recognizable and consistent relationship to the public streets and rights-of-
way;  

5. Buildings should be designed to establish the visual importance of the primary street 
entrance and ensure that entries contribute to the building’s attractiveness and are 
readily visible and accessible to visitors; 

6. Buildings should be designed to provide sun and weather protection and increase 
opportunities for people to see and be seen; and 

7. Site development should include preservation and protection of sensitive natural 
features and the built environment should not be designed to dominate the natural 
environment, but instead work in harmony with the natural landscape.

 

10.3 Design Standards Applying to the BioCorridor Planned Development District. 

The following design standards are required of all developments in the BioCorridor Research 
and Development District and the BioCorridor Office and Research District to reinforce and 
effectuate the design objectives stated. These standards are highly encouraged, but not 
required, in the BioCorridor Manufacturing District. 

A. Building Design Should Strengthen the Character, Quality and Sustainability of 
the Area. 

1. All sides of all buildings should be treated with the same architectural style, use of 
materials, and details as the front of the building; 

2. Architectural design, building materials, colors, forms, roof styles, and detailing should 
all work together to express a harmonious and consistent design; 

3. Variations in rooflines should be used to add interest to and reduce the massive scale 
of large buildings. Roof features should complement the character of adjoining 
buildings or the preferred style and character of the district in which the property is 

located; and   

4. Blank walls facing public streets are strongly discouraged and a fenestration pattern 
that has ―punched‖ openings and a strongly-defined base, middle, and top to the 
buildings is strongly encouraged.    

B. Encourage Architectural Styles that Respect and Relate to the Local Context. 

The architectural style, height, roofline, materials and proportions of existing buildings 

within the overall area should be noted when new buildings are designed.  The design of 

new buildings is to be compatible and complementary to the style and character of the 
BioCorridor Planned Development District.  Exterior modification of an existing structure 
should respect the style and character of the BioCorridor Planned Development District.  
Additions to existing buildings are to be compatible in size, or reflect updated architectural 
styles compatible with the BioCorridor Planned Development District’s style and character. 

C. Building Construction Using Authentic and Durable Materials. 

All structures constructed within the BioCorridor Research and Development District and 
the BioCorridor Office and Research District shall comply with the following items. These 
standards are highly encouraged in the BioCorridor Manufacturing District: 

1. Encourage durable, high quality building materials that are compatible with the 
existing buildings in the BioCorridor and reflect the authentic materials available in the 
area;   

254



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to the Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 124 27-Sept-12 

2. Major exterior walls of buildings should be constructed with brick masonry and stone 

with some stucco and/or architectural metals;   

3. Plexiglass, reflective, opaque and tinted materials are strongly discouraged and 
glazing must utilize modern materials, such as Low-E type glass;  

4. Color schemes should tie building elements together and should be used to enhance 
the architectural form of a building. Color tones should be based on the colors of 
stones and materials indigenous to the area; and   

5. Intense, bright colors are not encouraged, and should be used only for building 
accents.  Such colors should not be the predominant color on any building, wall, or 
roof. 

D. Scale of Buildings. 

Buildings within the BioCorridor Planned Development District should be in proportion to 

the human scale and should maintain a recognizable relationship to public streets by 
complying with the following: 

1. Single, large, dominant building mass should be avoided.  Any buildings over 5,000 
square feet in total floor area should have variation in roof form, building height, and 
wall planes;  

2. Linear ―strip‖ development should incorporate variation in building height, building 
mass, roof forms, and changes in wall planes in the architectural design to mitigate 
the linear effect;  

3.  Large windowless or otherwise unarticulated spaces on the street facades should be 
avoided. Facades should be articulated to reduce the massive scale and the uniform, 
impersonal appearances of large retail and office buildings and provide visual interest 
that will be consistent with the identity, character, and scale intended for the 

BioCorridor Planned Development District; and    

4. Buildings should have a well-differentiated first floor façade, utilizing awnings, cornices 
and ornamentation, varying window patterns, and colors.  

E. Primary Street Entrance. 

The development should establish the visual importance of the primary street entrance by 
complying with the following: 

1. Entrances should be planned and designed to mitigate the effect of the unbroken walls 

and neglected areas that often characterize building facades that face bordering land 
uses; 

2. All sides of a principal building that directly face an abutting public or private right-of-
way should feature one primary entrance. Where a principal building directly faces 
more than two abutting public or private rights-of-way, this requirement may apply 
only to two sides of the building, including the side of the building facing the primary 

street, and another side of the building facing a secondary street; and  

3. To contribute to the pedestrian scale of the street, rooflines should be broken into 
smaller elements, or roof sections. Alternatively, varying the roof height or style to 
give the appearance of or emphasize the many individual buildings may be used. 

10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments. 

The following design standards are required of all developments in the BioCorridor Research 
and Development District and the BioCorridor Office and Research District. These standards 

are highly encouraged in the BioCorridor Manufacturing District. These standards are based on 
the design context that is likely to prevail in the BioCorridor Planned Development District, 
since most of this area is presently undeveloped and will be most heavily influenced by the 
new facilities for the Health Science Center campus, and the designs and strategies initiated 

255



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 125 27-Sept-12 

by the Research Valley Partnership, the City of Bryan, the City of College Station and Brazos 

County.  Additionally, these standards are influenced by the intensity of development 
anticipated in the BioCorridor.  Current development patterns and proposed development 
initiatives indicate that the area is more likely to develop to ―urban‖ densities rather than the 

more typical ―suburban‖ densities found on many of the community’s main traffic corridors.  
Consequently, most of these design standards are oriented towards creating an urban 
environment, where pedestrians and automobiles share the public rights-of-way, and 
walkability and connectivity are crucial ingredients in the overall design fabric of the area. 

A. General Architectural Style and Massing. 

The general architectural style and massing of buildings within the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District should comply with the sections below: 

1. Architectural Style and Character. 

The architectural style and character should conform to the following: 

a. The underlying theme of the BioCorridor Planned Development District is 
characterized as a progressive and ―state-of-the-art‖ environment where 
contemporary styles and thoughts are encouraged and promoted.  Contemporary 
architectural styles are generally recommended for all building types to portray the 

progressive tone and nature envisioned in the BioCorridor; and   

b. Building design throughout the BioCorridor Planned Development District should 
promote visual interest and diversity through the use of architectural articulation 
and massing variations.  There should be no box-like or single monolithic forms 
not relieved by variations in massing of facades.   

2. Building Height and Massing. 

To support the anticipated development economics with adequate density and 

intensity, create an increased sense of enclosure, and diminish the perceived width of 
the street (particularly Health Science Center Parkway), and maximize opportunities 
for upper-story offices and housing, building height and massing should comply with 

the following:  

a. Multi-story buildings greater than two (2) stories should be built to the maximum 
heights permitted by zoning are encouraged; 

b. Stepping portions of upper stories back from the line of the front facade to provide 

areas for outdoor terraces, rooftop patios, etc., is encouraged. This is especially 
important for buildings facing Health Science Center Parkway; and   

c. New single-story commercial building types with flat roofs should, whenever 
possible, have a minimum height to the cornice or parapet of twenty (20) feet or 
more measured from finished grade to better define the street. 

B. Building Materials and Colors. 

Building materials and colors with the BioCorridor Planned Development District should 
comply with the sections below. 

1. Building Materials. 

To ensure that durable and authentic building materials are used in all forms of 
building construction, buildings should, whenever possible, be constructed using local 
or regionally available, durable materials such as:  

a. Brick; 

b. Natural stone; 

c. Manufactured stone; 

d. Textured, patterned and/or integrally-colored cast-in-place concrete; 

e. Integrally-colored, precast CMU (concrete masonry units), provided that surfaces 
are molded, serrated or treated to give wall surfaces a three-dimensional texture; 

256



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 126 27-Sept-12 

f. Stucco, EIFS (exterior insulating finish system), architectural metal and pre-
finished decorative panels such as store front systems should only be used as 
accent materials and in conjunction with another appropriate building material. 

2. Materials to be Avoided. 

The following materials should be avoided in the design and construction of buildings: 

a. Unadorned plain or painted concrete block; 

b. Unarticulated or blank tilt-up concrete panels;  

c. Pre-fabricated metal building systems; and 

d. Aluminum, fiberglass, asphalt, or fiberboard siding.  

3. Building Colors.  

To ensure that building colors are aesthetically pleasing and compatible with their 

surroundings, the building colors should blend with, or enhance surroundings. Principal 

building colors should consist of subtle, neutral or muted colors with low reflectance 
such as tones of browns, grays, tans, and dark or muted greens. ―Warm-toned‖ colors 
are encouraged because of their year-round appeal. No more than three principal 
colors should be used on a facade or individual storefront. Bright, complimentary 
colors should be used only as accents. 

C. Building Facades, Articulation and Entries and Shelters for Pedestrians. 

1. Facades. 
In order to employ visually legible building proportions that support the human scale, 
define the street edge and provide visual continuity, the following standards apply:  

a. In general, buildings over two stories shall have a well-defined base, middle, and 
top. The base, or ground floor, should appear visually distinct from the upper 
stories, through the use of a change in building materials, window shape or size, 

an intermediate cornice line, an awning, arcade or portico, or similar element;  

b. It shall be recognized that buildings will be viewed from a variety of vantage 
points. Consequently, the placement of doors, windows, balconies, changes in 
materials, and roof height should be designed to provide an attractive and 
harmonious design from the front, side, rear and top; and    

c. Building tops should be articulated with discernible cornice lines, parapets and/or 
fascias. 

2. Façade Articulation. 

In order to add visual interest and variety by avoiding long, monotonous facades, the 
following standards apply: 

a. New building façades, including parking garages should have a pedestrian scale 
aesthetic. This can be accomplished by establishing a layering of rhythmic patterns 
and architectural elements such as windows, columns, roof lines, building 

materials, and colors;  

b. ―Flat‖ facades should be avoided.  The historic structures found in downtown Bryan 
exhibit more of the desired play of light and shadow on a building and these 
precedents with a contemporary interpretation present suitable design influences 
for the new retail development in the BioCorridor Planned Development District.  
In general, the design should create more of a visual impact than standard retail 
and commercial architecture in ways similar to that of historic structures; and  

c. The primary façade(s) viewable by the public from streets and parking lots of all 
buildings should be articulated into distinct increments through the following or 
similar techniques: 

1) Stepping back or extending forward a portion of the façade; 

2) Use of different textures or contrasting, but compatible, materials; 

257



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 127 27-Sept-12 

3) Division into storefronts with separate display windows and entrances; 

4) Arcades, awnings, window bays, balconies or similar ornamental features; or 

5) Variation in roof lines to reinforce the articulation of the primary façade. 

D. Entries. 

In order to establish the visual importance of the primary street entrance, and to ensure 
that entries contribute to the visual attractiveness of the building and are readily visible to 
visitors, the following design standards should be followed with respect to entries. 

1. Primary building entrances should face the primary abutting public street or walkway, 
or be linked to that street by a clearly defined and visible walkway or courtyard. 
Additional secondary entrances should be oriented to a secondary street or parking 
area. Residential entries should be separate and distinct from commercial entrances;  

2. In the case of a corner building or a building abutting more than one street, the street 
with the higher classification should be considered primary and the main entrance 

should be placed at sidewalk grade; and 

3. Entries should be designed with one or more of the following: 

a. Canopy, portico, overhang, arcade or arch above the entrance; 

b. Recesses or projections in the building facade surrounding the entrance; 

c. Display windows surrounding the entrance; 

d. Architectural detailing such as brick work or ornamental moldings; or 

e. Planting areas, pots or window boxes for seasonal landscaping. 

E. Rear Facades and Entries. 

In order to improve the appearance of rear facades and entries, orient customers parking 
or walking to the rear of buildings, and provide safe and convenient access to all building 
entries, the following standards apply:  

1. Rear facades should be designed as an integral part of the overall building with similar 

materials and detail treatments. If parking is placed to the rear of a building, the 
building’s rear facade shall be welcoming in appearance. Awnings, landscaping and 
small wall signs identifying businesses are encouraged;  

2. If customers, visitors and/or tenants park to the rear of the building, a well-defined 
and lighted rear entrance is strongly encouraged; and  

3. If no rear building entrance is provided, a signed and lighted walkway to the front or 

side building entrance shall be provided. 

F. Awnings, Balconies and Arcades. 

In order to encourage pedestrian activity, safety, shelter, and opportunities to see and be 
seen, the following design standards apply for awnings:  

1. Awnings. 

a. The use of awnings is encouraged as a way to shelter customers, residents and 
other pedestrians; reduce glare and conserve energy; and provide additional 

accent color to building facades: 

b. Where awnings are used, canvas, fabric or vinyl awnings are preferable, and these 
awnings should be resistant to fading and degradation due to UV exposure.  High 
UV rated materials are required.  If glass or metal awnings are employed, they 
should closely complement the building’s architectural character and aesthetic; 
and   

c. Back-lighted vinyl awnings and similar vinyl or canvas canopy signs shall not be 

used. 

258



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 128 27-Sept-12 

2. Architectural Arcades and Balconies. 

To provide sun and weather protection and increase opportunities for people to see 
and be seen, the following applies with respect to architectural arcades and balconies: 

a. The use of ground floor architectural arcades to provide pedestrian connections 

between facilities is encouraged; Upper floor balconies and terraces are 
encouraged to provide opportunities for outdoor activities and provide views to the 
public streets, thus encouraging street-level interaction and enlivening the 
BioCorridor Planned Development District; and   

b. Architectural arcades should be illuminated with wall or ceiling light fixtures for 
pedestrian safety and security. 

G. Roof Design and Equipment. 

1. Roof Form and Design. 

In order to provide a visual terminus to the building, reduce monotony and reflect 
interior and exterior patterns of use or ownership, the following roof design standards 
should be followed: 

a. Buildings should be designed with pitched and/or flat roofs. Flat roofs should be 
defined with a discernible cornice line. Variations in roof type, height, and or 

distinct, separate roof segments are encouraged as a means of creating greater 
visual interest, identifying changes in use, areas of ownership or reducing 
monotony;   

b. Pitched roofs such as gable, hip, shed or mansard roofs should be clad with highly 
durable, fire resistant materials such as standing seam metal, slate, ceramic or 
composite tiles. Use of asphalt rolls or shingles is strongly discouraged; and   

c. Use of green roofs for reductions in heat island effects, building energy 

consumption, and stormwater runoff is highly encouraged. 

2. Roof Equipment. 

In order to ensure that views of rooftop equipment from public streets or pedestrian 
ways are minimized, the following design guidelines should be followed for roof 
equipment:  

a. All rooftop equipment should be screened from view from adjacent streets, public 
rights-of-way and adjacent properties. Preferably, rooftop equipment should be 

screened by the building parapet, or located out of view from the ground;   

b. If the total screening of rooftop equipment is not feasible, the equipment should 
be grouped within a single on-ground enclosure and screened from public view.  
This structure should be set back a distance of 1½ times its height from any 
primary facade fronting a public street. Screens should be of durable, permanent 
materials, not including wood, that are compatible with the primary building 

materials; and   

c. Exterior mechanical equipment such as ductwork should not be located on primary 

building facades. 

H. Window and Door Openings. 

In order to enliven the streetscape, window and door openings should comprise at least 60 
percent of the length and at least 30 percent of the area of the ground floor of the primary 
street facade;  

1. A minimum of 20 percent of the ground level of side and rear facades not fronting a 
public street should consist of window and door openings; and   

2. A minimum of 20 percent of all sides of upper story facades should consist of window 
or balcony/door openings.   

I. Parking Structure Design Standards.  

259



ARTICLE 10. BUILDING DESIGN STANDARDS 

Section 10.4 Design Standards Applying to Buildings and Developments 

BioCorridor  
Planned Development District Page 129 27-Sept-12 

In order to ensure scale and form will achieve visual continuity with surrounding buildings 

while providing neighborhood-supportive uses along the street, the design of parking 
structures within the BioCorridor shall comply with these design standards: 

1. At least 60% of the ground floor facade abutting any street, excluding areas needed 

for ingress and egress, should be occupied by commercial or office uses;    

2. Facades should be designed and architecturally detailed like other commercial 
buildings within the BioCorridor Planned Development District.  The structure’s exterior 
should feature horizontal detailing to hide angled ramps within the structure’s interior. 
Windows or other openings should be provided that echo those of surrounding 
buildings;   

3. Screening of refuse facilities and mechanical equipment should be accomplished by 

locating the facilities internally in a partitioned enclosure; and   

4. Parking facilities within the BioCorridor Planned Development District should 

incorporate CPTED (Crime Prevention through Environmental Design) by utilization of 
both active and passive security design features.   

J. Lighting Design for Parking Structures. 

Following are some design considerations for the illumination of parking structures which 

apply: 

1. Lighting on the top deck of a parking structure should be limited to sixteen (16) feet in 
height and be located along the centerline of adjoining internal parking rows rather 
than at the perimeter of the structure;   

2. Illumination plans for parking facilities should consider reducing lighting to the 
minimum level required for security of areas such as the upper deck of parking 
structures or remote surface parking areas used only during peak hours;  

3. Lighting of lower parking decks should be placed in recessed areas between T- beams 

and along the perimeter, aiming light inward; and  

4. Lighting of surface lot parking canopies should be recessed and/or shielded. 
Considering a lighting design that reflects off the underside of the canopy from a 
hidden or a fully-shielded source is encouraged.  

K. Free-Standing Enclosures. 

In general, accessory structures and free-standing enclosures to the main building are 

discouraged. However, if an accessory structure is deemed necessary in the design review 
process, its design is to be compatible with the principal structures to which they relate. 
The design of all accessory structures should be in character with the principal building 
and constructed of the same quality, permanent materials as the principal building, 
including a structurally-sufficient concrete floor.  Where appropriate, the accessory 
structure should be located on the same lot and within close proximity to the principal 

structure. The building’s exterior perimeter should be landscaped in the same manner as 

the principal facility. 

260



Exhibit A-1 
 

130 

 

  

Design Objectives supporting the Overall 

Design Intent for the Built Environment 

Buildings should be designed to provide sun and 

weather protection and increase opportunities 

for people to see and be seen; 

Preservation and protection of sensitive natural 

features is required and the built environment 

should not be designed to dominate the natural 

environment, but instead work in harmony with 

the natural landscape. 

Encourage architectural styles that respect 

and relate to the local context and/or 

create a cohesive, coordinated theme 

within the area; 

Buildings should be constructed using 

authentic and durable materials(natural 

stone, brick and/or architectural metal) 

and all sides of the building should be 

designed and treated with similar styles, 

materials, and details; 

 

Establish the visual importance of the primary street entrance and ensure that entries 

contribute to the building’s attractiveness and are readily visible and accessible to 

visitors; 

Building design should strengthen the character, quality and sustainability of the existing 

and future built environment in this area. 

 

261



Exhibit A-1 
 

131 

 

  
Create Buildings with an Appropriate Human Scale which Maintain a Recognizable Relationship to the Public Street 

 A single, large dominant building mass should be avoided. Any buildings over 5,000 square feet in total floor area should have variation in 

roof form, building height and wall planes.  

 Linear “strip” development should incorporate variation in building height, building mass, roof forms and changes in wall planes in the 

architectural design to mitigate the linear effect of “strip” development.  

 Avoid large windowless or otherwise unarticulated spaces on the street facades. Facades should be articulated to reduce the massive 

scale and the uniform, impersonal appearance of large retail and office buildings and provide visual interest that will be consistent with 

the identity, character, and scale intended for the District.  

 Buildings should have well differentiated first floor façade, utilizing awnings, cornices and ornamentation, varying window patterns and 

colors. 

262



Exhibit A-1 
 

132 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Building massing “encloses” the street and front door 

parking maintained. 

 

Flat facades shall be avoided. They should be divided into 

smaller, human scale increments. 

Example of a building properly set to the corner 

Example of screening equipment with roof forms. 

Preservation of unique natural features is encouraged.  

 

A traditional application of transparent, storefront type 

windows at ground level.  

Dense but landscaped well. 

 

Thoughtful placement of the building to encourage 

pedestrian traffic. 

Existing Vegetation and supplemental planting provide a 

forest effect.  

263



September 27, 2012 
Regular Agenda Item No. 3 

UDO Amendment—BioCorridor 
 

 
To:  David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From:  Bob Cowell, AICP, CNU-A, Executive Director of Planning & Development 
Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption: Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding 
an ordinance amending Chapter 12, “Unified Development Ordinance,” Article 1, “General 
Provisions,” Article 2, “Development Review Bodies,” Article 3, “Development Review 
Procedures,” Article 5, “District Purpose Statements and Supplemental Standards,” Article 6, 
“Use Regulations,” Article 7, “General Development Standards,” Article 8, “Subdivision 
Design And Improvements,” Article 9, “Nonconformities,” and Article 10, “Enforcement,” of 
the Code Of Ordinances of the City of College Station, Texas, regarding the establishment of 
a BioCorridor Planned Development District. 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Diverse Growing Economy 
 
Recommendation(s): The Planning and Zoning Commission considered this item at 
their September 6, 2012 meeting and unanimously recommend approval. 
 
Summary: In an effort to have unified land use, development standards, and project 
review processes for the Joint BioCorridor Development Project with the City of Bryan, City 
staff and a subcommittee of both communities’ Planning and Zoning Commissions have 
proposed the BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance.  The City of Bryan’s 
development partner, Traditions Acquisitions Partnership, LP, provided valuable feedback on 
the proposal during its drafting.  The attached amendment to the Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO) is proposed to work in conjunction with the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District Ordinance.  
   
There are four types of amendments that are being proposed to the UDO.  The first type is 
for the establishment of new regulatory bodies in the development review process.  The 
creation of the BioCorridor Review Committee (BRC) and the BioCorridor Board (BioC Board) 
is intended to facilitate expected development through an efficient process that is consistent 
across city limit lines. With a BRC and BioC Board, development approval delays associated 
with taking items to the Design Review Board, Zoning Board of Adjustment, Planning and 
Zoning Commission(s), and/or City Council(s) can be avoided in many instances.  The BRC 
will consist of staff members from the cities of College Station and Bryan, whom will provide 
project management services through the development process from the cities’ side, will 
review development proposals for compliance with the adopted standards, and will approve 
projects or provide support to the regulatory bodies that can approve projects.  The 
BioCorridor Board will consist of representatives from the cities of College Station and Bryan 
and Texas A&M University.  The BioC Board will have the authority to make decisions in the 

264



interest of the BioCorridor Planned Development District on subjective matters such as 
district signage and appeals to BRC determinations. 
 
The second type of amendment is for the exemption of the area zoned BioCorridor Planned 
Development District from the terms of several sections of the Unified Development 
Ordinance.  The BioCorridor Planned Development District Ordinance prescribes the land 
uses, development processes, and standards that are applicable in the PDD.  This will help 
to prevent confusion as to which ordinance applies on a particular matter, and prevents 
possible future UDO amendments from affecting the terms of the BioCorridor Planned 
Development District Ordinance.  
 
The third and forth types of amendments are for “housekeeping” purposes.  Once the 
language exempting areas zoned BioCorridor Planned Development District from portions of 
the UDO is inserted into the UDO, the numbering of those sections must be updated.  In 
turn, virtually all references in the UDO that utilize section numbers are made incorrect.  
The last type of amendment removes the references to specific section numbers whenever 
possible and replaces the reference to one using the section title, or updates the references 
with the section numbers where the numbers were required for clarity.  
 
Budget & Financial Summary: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Ordinance  
 

 
 

265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



September 27, 2012 
Regular Agenda Item No. 4 

UDO Amendment—New Non-Residential Zoning Districts 
 

 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Bob Cowell, AICP, CNU-A, Executive Director - Planning & Development Services 
 
 
Agenda Caption: Public Hearing, presentation, possible action, and discussion regarding an 
ordinance amending Chapter 12, “Unified Development Ordinance,” Article 1, “General 
Provisions,” Article 4, “Zoning Districts,” Article 5, “District Purpose Statements and 
Supplemental Standards,” Article 6, “Use Regulations,” Article 7, “General Development 
Standards,” and Article 11, “Definitions,” of the Code Of Ordinances of the City of College 
Station, Texas, by amending certain sections to establish new non-residential zoning 
districts, rename existing non-residential zoning districts, and retire specified zoning 
districts. 
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Diverse Growing Economy and Neighborhood Integrity 
 
Recommendation(s): The Bicycle, Pedestrian, and Greenways Advisory Board considered 
the greenways language associated with the districts at their September 4, 2012 meeting 
and unanimously recommended approval (7-0). The Planning and Zoning Commission 
considered this item at their September 20, 2012 meeting. Their recommendation will be 
forwarded to the City Council. 
 
Summary: The Comprehensive Plan identifies 15 unique Future Land Use and Character 
designations and calls for the creation of zoning districts that align with the objectives of the 
Plan as one means of implementation. The intent is that new zoning districts will be 
developed for each of the land use classifications- to both align with the intent of the 
Comprehensive Plan and to simplify the nomenclature. The new zoning districts have been 
divided into three categories for their development: non-residential, residential, and growth 
areas.  
 
Staff has worked with a sub-committee of the Planning and Zoning Commission to develop 
the concepts and language for new non-residential districts based on direction in the 
Comprehensive Plan. These districts are similar to the City’s existing set of zoning districts, 
meaning that they are largely use-based, with some additional performance standards. With 
this amendment, several existing districts are proposed to be renamed to simplify the 
nomenclature, but the standards will remain the same. Additionally, several districts are 
proposed to be “retired” with this amendment.  The retired districts will remain active for 
those properties with these zoning designations, but may not be requested to be applied to 
other properties in the future.  
 
The districts to be created, renamed, and retired through this amendment include: 
 
New non-residential districts:  

288



• “NAP Natural Areas Preserved,”  
• “SC Suburban Commercial,”  
• “BP Business Park,” and  
• “BPI Business Park Industrial.”   
 
Renamed districts: 
• “A-P Administrative Professional” to “O Office,”  
• “C-1 General Commercial” to “GC General Commercial,” and  
• “C-2 Commercial Industrial” to “CI Commercial Industrial.”   
 
Retired districts: 
• “C-3 Light Commercial,”  
• “R&D Research & Development,”  
• “M-1 Light Industrial,” and  
• “M-2 Heavy Industrial.”  
 
Once the new non-residential districts are adopted, staff will again work with the Planning 
and Zoning Commission Sub-Committee to develop concepts and language for the 
residential districts and growth areas. 
 
Budget & Financial Summary: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance  
2. Zoning District Summary Sheets 
 
 
 
 

289



BP Business Park Concepts 

1 
 

 
Purpose Statement 
This district is designed for uses that primarily include administrative and professional offices, 
commercial industrial, research and development oriented light industrial, light manufacturing, and non-
polluting industries.  Uses in this district need good access to arterial level thoroughfares, but have 
relatively low traffic generation and require limited location identification.  
 
The development of business parks will be in a campus like setting with structures grouped and 
clustered, and will be heavily landscaped to minimize the impacts of business park uses and associated 
parking areas on adjacent properties and public roadways. Impacts of the uses will be limited through 
buffering and architecture of the buildings.   

• UDO Article 5.3.F Non-Residential Zoning Districts – Business Park (BP) 
 
Zoning Area 
Minimum BP zoning area is 5 acres   

• UDO Article 5.3.F Non-Residential Zoning Districts – Business Park (BP) 
 
Building Height 
Section 7.1.H.2 Single Family Protection applies 

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
 
Setbacks 
Minimum building setback from ROW: 50 feet (perimeter streets only)  

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
Minimum parking setback from ROW: 30 feet (perimeter streets only)  

• UDO Article 7.2.C.8 Off-Street Parking Standards – Dimensions and Access   
Setbacks to interior property lines and streets within the development, standard setbacks would apply 

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
 
Architectural Standards 
Compliance with the Non-Residential Architectural Standards is required. NRA applies to structures 
located along the periphery of the zoning district.  All other interior buildings located within the zoning 
district are exempt. 

• UDO Article 7.9.A Applicability 
 
All processes and business activity are to be conducted inside buildings (Exception for Commercial 
Gardens) 

• UDO Article 5.3.F Non-Residential Zoning Districts – Business Park (BP) 
• UDO Article 6.3.D.2 Specific Use Standards – Commercial Garden/Greenhouse/Landscape 

Maintenance 
• UDO Article 11 Definitions – Commercial Garden 

 
Signs 
Low profile signs – One per structure is permitted. 

• UDO Article 7.4.C Summary of Permitted Signs 

290



BP Business Park Concepts 

2 
 

• UDO Article 7.4.F Sign Standards 
• UDO Article 7.4.R Low Profile Signs 

 
Additional Standards 
When property is adjacent to single-family use, zoning, or future land use and character designation, the 
following shall also be required: 
• Buffer width and required plantings shall be doubled for property lines adjacent to single-family 

residential zoning or development.    
• UDO Article 7.6.F Minimum Buffer Standards – Table and Notes 
• UDO Article 7.6.F.1  Minimum Buffer Standards – Buffer Yards 

• Consolidated sanitation services are required and shall be located furthest from the single-family. 
• UDO Article 7.7.C.12 Solid Waste - Guidelines 

• Parking lot lighting may not exceed the height of the building to which it principally relates, with a 
maximum height of 20 feet.   
• UDO Article 7.10.C.3 Outdoor Lighting Standards – Specific Lighting Requirements 

 
Allowed Uses  

• UDO Article 6.2.C Use Regulations – Use Table  
 
Educational Facility, Primary & Secondary 
Educational Facility, Vocational / Trade 
Government Facilities 
Parks 
Places of Worship 
Commercial Garden / Greenhouse / Landscape Maint (P*)  
Funeral Homes  
Offices 
Printing / Copy Shop 
Radio / TV Station / Studios 
Sexually Oriented Business (SOB) (P*) 
Wholesales / Services 
Industrial, Light  
Scientific Testing / Research Laboratory 
Storage, Outdoor – Equipment or Materials (P*) 
Utility (P*) 
Warehousing / Distribution (CUP) 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Intermediate (P*)   
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Major (CUP)   
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Unregulated   
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 
 
 
Other Related Articles Revised: 
• UDO Article 1.10.B Transitional Provisions – Zoning Districts 

291



BP Business Park Concepts 

3 
 

• UDO Article 4.1 Establishment of Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 7.12.B.1 Traffic Impact Analyses – Trip Generation Rates 

292



BPI Business Park Industrial Concepts 

1 
 

 
Purpose Statement 
This district is designed to provide land for manufacturing and industrial activities with generation of 
nuisance characteristics greater than activities permitted in the BP district.  Permitted uses within this 
district are generally not compatible with residential uses of any density or lower intensity commercial 
uses. Generally, these uses need good access to arterial roadways, but should be offset from public 
roadways and adjacent properties by using the BP district and its associated development to screen the 
uses. The uses allowed have relatively low traffic generation and require limited location identification. 

• UDO Article 5.3.G Non-Residential Zoning Districts – Business Park Industrial (BPI) 
 
Building Height 
Section 7.1.H.2 Single Family Protection applies to all structures on properties located adjacent to a 
single-family use or townhouse development. 

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
 
Setbacks 
Minimum building setback from ROW: 50 feet (Perimeter streets only) 

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
Minimum parking setback from ROW: 30 feet (Perimeter streets only) 

• UDO Article 7.2.C.8 Off-Street Parking Standards – Dimensions and Access   
Setbacks to interior property lines and streets within the development, standard setbacks would apply 

• UDO Article 5.4 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards  
 
Buffer 
Buffer width and required plantings shall be doubled for property lines adjacent to any zoning district 
other than BP or BPI.  

• UDO Article 7.6.F Minimum Buffer Standards – Table and Notes 
• UDO Article 7.6.F.1  Minimum Buffer Standards – Buffer Yards 

 
Signs 
Low profile signs – One per structure is permitted. 

• UDO Article 7.4.C Summary of Permitted Signs 
• UDO Article 7.4.F Sign Standards 
• UDO Article 7.4.R Low Profile Signs 

 
Allowed Uses 

• UDO Article 6.2.C Use Regulations – Use Table  
 
Educational Facility, Primary & Secondary 
Educational Facility, Vocational / Trade 
Government Facilities 
Parks 
Places of Worship 
Commercial Garden / Greenhouse / Landscape Maint (P*) 
Offices 

293



BPI Business Park Industrial Concepts 

2 
 

Printing / Copy Shop 
Radio / TV Station / Studios 
Sexually Oriented Business (SOB) (P*) 
Shooting Range, Indoor  
Storage, Self Service  
Retail Sales, Manufactured Homes  
Vehicular Sales, Rental, Repair and Service 
Wholesales / Services 
Bulk Storage Tanks / Cold Storage Plant 
Micro-Industrial  
Industrial, Light  
Industrial, Heavy 
Recycling Facility – Large  
Salvage Yard (P*) 
Scientific Testing / Research Laboratory 
Storage, Outdoor – Equipment or Materials 
Truck Stop / Freight or Trucking Terminal 
Utility (P*) 
Warehousing / Distribution 
Waste Services 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Intermediate 
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Major 
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Unregulated 
• UDO Article 6.3.X.3  Specific Use Standards – WTF Permitted Locations 

 
 

Other Related Articles Revised: 
• UDO Article 1.10.B Transitional Provisions – Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 4.1 Establishment of Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 7.9.A Applicability (exempt) 
• UDO Article 7.12.B.1 Traffic Impact Analyses – Trip Generation Rates 

 
 
 

294



NAP Natural Areas Protected Concepts 

 
Purpose Statement 
This district is designed for publicly-owned property or private property intended for the conservation of 
natural areas. Properties with this designation are relatively undeveloped and are often used for 
recreational or open space purposes or for the conveyance of floodwaters. Properties with this 
designation are not projected for conversion to more intense land use in the future in the 
Comprehensive Plan.  

• UDO Article 5.3.A Non-Residential Zoning Districts – Natural Areas Protected (NAP) 
 
 

Allowed Uses 
• UDO Article 6.2.C Use Regulations – Use Table 

Parks and trails 
Utility (P*)– includes accessory structures 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities –Unregulated, Intermediate (P*),  Major (CUP) 
 
Other Related Articles Revised 

• UDO Article 1.10.B Transitional Provisions – Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 4.1 Establishment of Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 5.3 Non-Residential Dimensions Standards 

 

295



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

1 
 

 
Purpose Statement 
This district is intended to provide for low intensity commercial uses that provide services to nearby 
neighborhoods. The Suburban Commercial (SC) District is intended to be compatible with the character 
of suburban single-family neighborhoods.  Buildings have a residential character and scale, and sites are 
heavily landscaped to minimize the impacts of nonresidential uses and associated parking areas on 
adjacent residential zoning districts. The district allows for a range of uses, with the impacts mitigated 
through buffering and architecture of the buildings. 

• UDO Article 5.3.C Non-Residential Zoning Districts – SC Suburban Commercial 
 
 
Building Size 
Gross Floor Area of a single structure shall not exceed 15,000 square feet in area.   

• UDO Article 6.3.AC Retail Sales and Service – Specific Use Standards 
• UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design –  Standards for All Non-Residential Structures 

 
Restaurants may not exceed 8,000 square feet in area and are permitted at the following maximum sizes 
based on thoroughfare adjacency and access:   

• UDO Article 6.3.Q.2 Restaurant – Specific Use Standards 
a. Freeway/Expressway and 4 or 6-Lane Major Arterial: 8,000 square feet 

 UDO Article 6.3.Q.3.a Restaurants – Specific Use Standards 
b. 4-Lane Minor Arterial and 4-Lane Major Collector: 7,000 square feet 

 UDO Article 6.3.Q.3.b Restaurants – Specific Use Standards 
c. 2-Lane Major Collector, 2-Lane Minor Collector: 5,000 square feet 

 UDO Article 6.3.Q.3.c Restaurants – Specific Use Standards 
d. Local Roadway: 2,500 square feet 

 UDO Article 6.3.Q.3.d Restaurants – Specific Use Standards 
 
Permitted uses must be located completely indoors, with the exception of outdoor restaurant seating 
(not on side adjacent to residential) UDO Article 6.3.Q.4 Restaurants – Specific Use Standards, 
playgrounds (not on side adjacent to residential) UDO Article 6.3.Q.4 Restaurants – Specific Use 
Standards, UDO Article 6.3.Y.3 Places of Worship – Specific Use Standards, UDO Article 6.3.AB. 
Daycare, Commercial automatic teller machines, parking, loading, and dumpster areas. If parking, 
loading or dumpster areas are located adjacent to single-family, then a buffer wall is required UDO 
Article 7.6.F.1.c.2 Buffer Yards – Buffer Requirements, UDO Article 7.7.C.11 Guidelines – Solid Waste 
 
Drive Thrus 
Banks, pharmacies, or dry cleaners with drive-thrus may not have their message board or drive-thru 
window located on the side of the building closest to residential).  Restaurants with drive-thrus are not 
permitted in SC.   

• UDO Article 6.3.Q.2 Restaurants – Specific Use Standards 
• UDO Article 11.2 Drive-thru – Defined Terms 

 
Building Height 
Maximum building height is 2 stories and a 24-foot eve height for a two story structure. Overall height 
maximum is 35’ to the peak of the roof.  

296



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

2 
 

 
All buildings located directly adjacent (and within 50 feet) to single-family use, zoning, or future land use 
and character designation shall be a maximum of 1 story, with an eve height not to exceed 12 feet.  

• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.e Single Family Protection – Height 
• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.e.1 – Single Family Protection – Height 

 
Section 7.1.H.2 Single Family Protection applies to all two-story structures on properties located 
adjacent to a single-family use or townhouse development (within 50 feet of property line), but does not 
apply to any one-story structures.  

• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.e Single Family Protection – Height 
 
Any structure with an eve height over 15’ will be constructed to resemble a two-story façade (to address 
large box – still allow larger buildings (ie: typical pharmacy) but the façade treatment may help them fit 
in better). This could include window heights and placements, brick stringcourse, etc.  

• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.f – Single Family Protection – Height  
 
Roofs 
Roofs shall be similar to residential roof types. A peaked parapet is permitted if it gives the appearance 
of a pitched roof from all sides.  UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design – Standards for All 
Non-Residential Structures 

• Flat and shed roofs are not permitted.  
o UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design –  Standards for All Non-Residential 

Structures 
• Eaves shall extend a minimum of 12 inches from the building façade.  

o UDO Article 7.9.B. 
• Roof slope must be a maximum of 8:12 and a minimum of 4:12.   

o UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design –  Standards for All Non-Residential 
Structures 

 
Architectural Standards 
Horizontal articulation (minimum 4-foot depth) within each 45’ section (for buildings over 8,000 s.f.) 

• UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design –  Standards for All Non-Residential Structures 
 
Two design elements shall be required (in lieu of the requirements of NRA), within each forty-five foot 
(45’) section of the primary entry façade.  Wall sections less than forty-five feet (45’) shall also be 
required to provide the two (2) design elements.  UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design – 
Standards for All Non-Residential Structures 

e. Decorative window shutters;  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.a. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
f. Covered front porch (extending along at least 50% of building façade and projecting a 

minimum of 4 feet from the face of the building);  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.b. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
 UDO Article 11.2 Porch – Defined Terms 

g. Eaves in excess of 18 inches;  

297



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

3 
 

 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.c. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-
Residential Structures 

h. Window planter boxes;  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.d. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
i. Window canopy; 

 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.e. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-
Residential Structures 

j. Dormers;  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.f. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
 UDO Article 11.2 Dormer – Defined Terms 

k. Transom windows;  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.g. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
 UDO Article 11.2 Transom – Defined Terms 

l. Decorative façade light fixtures;  
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.h. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
m. Chimneys or cupolas. 

 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.i. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-
Residential Structures 

 UDO Article 11.2 Cupola – Defined Terms 
n. Cross gables 

 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.j. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-
Residential Structures 

o. Entry portico 
 UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b.k. Building Mass and Design – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
 UDO Article 11.2 Entry Portico – Defined Terms 

 
Mechanical Equipment Screening 
Roof-mounted mechanical equipment shall be screened from rights-of-ways and adjacent property by 
either the roof itself (including within a cut-out) or by a false roof element such as a chimney or cupola. 
Components of a mechanical equipment system, such as vent or exhaust pipes, protruding from the roof 
that are no larger than 12 inches in diameter or a height exceeding the roof line need not be screened, 
but must match the roof color.  UDO Article 7.9.B.1 Required Screening – Standards for All Non-
Residential Structures 
 
Buffer 
Buffer width and required plantings shall be doubled for property lines adjacent to single-family 
residential zoning or development. A fence is required NOT a wall – can still triple the landscape and get 
out of the fencing requirement.   

• UDO Article 7.6.F Minimum Buffer Standards – Buffer Requirements 
• UDO Article 7.6.F.1.c Buffer Yards – Buffer Requirements 

 
 

298



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

4 
 

 
Landscaping 
General standards will apply. Foundation landscaping, such as shrubs, perennials, and vegetative ground 
cover shall be located along at least 50% of the primary entry façade and within 3 feet from the face of 
the building.   

• UDO Article 7.5.C.10 Landscaping Requirements – Landscaping and Tree Protection 
• UDO Article 11.2 Foundation Landscaping – Defined Terms 

 
Signs 
Low profile signs – One per structure is permitted and shall match materials used on the building. 

• UDO Article 7.4.C Summary of Permitted Signs – Signs 
• UDO Article 7.4.F Sign Standards – Signs 
• UDO Article 7.4.R Low-Profile Signs – Signs 

 
Properties with Freeway frontage may use a free standing sign with the following conditions: 

• Sign height may not exceed the eve height of the structure to which it most closely relates (is 
closest to).  

o UDO Article 7.4.C Summary of Permitted Signs – Signs 
o UDO Article 7.4.N.1.d.4 Allowable Height – Freestanding Commercial Signs 

• Sign must be adjacent to and oriented to the Freeway 
o UDO Article 7.4.C Summary of Permitted Signs – Signs 
o UDO Article 7.4.N.1.d.5 Allowable Height – Freestanding Commercial Signs 

 
Lighting 
Site lighting may not exceed the eve height of the building to which it principally relates (is closest to). 

• UDO Article 7.10.C.2 Specific Lighting Requirements – Outdoor Lighting Standards 
 
Additional Standards  
When adjacent to single-family use, zoning, or future land use and character designation, the following 
shall also be required: 

• Drive thru shall not located on the side of the building facing single-family 
o UDO Article 6.3.E Drive-in/Thru Window – Specific Use Standards 
o UDO Article 6.3.F.2 Dry Cleaners/Laundry – Specific Use Standards 

• Consolidated sanitation services will be located furthest from the single-family property line 
unless a buffer WALL is installed 

o UDO Article 7.7.C.11 Guidelines – Solid Waste  
• Pedestrian connections to adjacent residential areas shall be provided where appropriate, as 

determined by the Administrator. 
o UDO Article 7.9.5.d Pedestrian/Bike Circulation and Facilities – Standards for All Non-

Residential Structures 
• outdoor restaurant seating and playgrounds shall not be located on the side adjacent to single-

family residential 
o UDO Article 6.3.Q.3 Restaurant – Specific Use Standards 
o UDO Article 6.3.Y.3 Places of Worship – Specific Use Standards 
o UDO Article 6.3.AB. Daycare, Commercial 

299



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

5 
 

• If parking, loading or dumpster areas are located adjacent to single-family, then a buffer wall is 
required 

o UDO Article 7.6.F Minimum Buffer Standards – Buffer Requirements 
o UDO Article 7.6.F.1.c.1 Buffer Yards – Buffer Requirements 
o UDO Article 7.7.C.11 Guidelines – Solid Waste  

• Parking shall not be located between the structure and an adjacent single-family property line 
(drive aisles and service aisles are permitted).  

o UDO Article 7.9.B.6.e Parking Lots – Standards for All Non-Residential Structures  
 
Allowed Uses 

• UDO Article 6.2 Types of Uses 
Educational Facility, Indoor Instruction 
Educational Facility, Primary & Secondary 
Educational Facility, Tutoring 
Government Facilities (P*) 
Health Care, Medical Clinics 
Parks 
Places of Worship (P*) 

• UDO Article 6.3.Y Places of Worship – Specific Use Standards 
Animal Care Facility, Indoor 
Art Studio/Gallery 
Commercial Amusement (C) 
Day Care, Commercial (P*) 

• UDO Article 6.3.AB Day Care, Commercial – Specific Use Standards 
Drive-in/Drive thru Window (with use and location limitations above) 

• UDO Article 6.3.E.1 Drive-in/Thru Window – Specific Use Standards 
• UDO Article 6.3.F.2 Dry Cleaners/Laundry – Specific Use Standards 
• UDO Article 6.3.Q Restaurant – Specific Use Standards 

Dry Cleaners & Laundry 
Health Club / Sports Facility Indoor 
Offices 
Personal Service Shop 
Printing / Copy Shop 
Restaurants (with size limitation above, depending in adjacent roadway) 

• UDO Article 6.3.Q.2 Restaurant – Specific Use Standards 
Retail Sales and Service (15,000 max) 

• UDO Article 6.3.AC Retail Sales and Service – Specific Use Standards 
• UDO Article 7.9.B.2.b Building Mass and Design –  Standards for All Non-Residential 

Structures 
Storage – Self Service (existing prior to 2012) 

• UDO Article 6.3.U.2 – Storage (Self-Service), Specific Use Standards 
Gas Stations existing prior to 2012 

• UDO Article 6.3.G.10 – Fuel Sales, Specific Use Standards 
Utility (P*) 
Wireless Telecommunication Facilities – Unregulated 
 

Dimensional Standards 

300



SC Suburban Commercial Concepts 

6 
 

• UDO Article 5.3 Non-Residential Dimensional Standards 
Minimum Lot Area - None 
Minimum Lot Width – 50’ 
Minimum Lot Depth – 100’ 
Minimum Front Setback – 25’ 
Minimum Side Setback – 7.5’ (and other UDO notes) 
Minimum Side Street Setback – 15’ 
Minimum Rear Setback – 20’ 
Maximum Height – 35’, Section 7.1.H applies to buildings over one story 
• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.e Single Family Protection – Height 
• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.e.1 – Single Family Protection – Height 
• UDO Article 7.1.H.2.f – Single Family Protection – Height  

 
Other Related Articles Revised 

• UDO Article 1.10.B Transitional Provisions – Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 4.1 Establishment of Zoning Districts 
• UDO Article 7.12.B.1 Traffic Impact Analyses – Trip Generation Rates 

 

301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



 

 

September 27, 2012 
Regular Agenda Item No. 5 

Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Board Appointment  
 
 
To: David Neeley, City Manager 
 
From: Jeff Capps, Chief of Police                        
 
 
Agenda Caption:  Presentation, possible action, and discussion as it relates to the 
appointment of a member, representing the City of College Station, to the Aggieland 
Humane Society board, formerly named the Brazos Animal Shelter.    
 
Relationship to Strategic Goals: Core Services and Infrastructure.   
 
Recommendation(s):   
 
Our staff is recommending the re-appointment of Former Assistant Chief Larry Johnson to 
the Aggieland Humane Society board.   
 
Summary:   
 
Former Assistant Chief Larry Johnson was appointed to the Brazos Animal Shelter Board by 
the College Station City Council for a two-year term on September 23, 2010.  Former AC 
Johnson has served well as a member of the Board and represented the interests of the City 
of College Station during his tenure.  He has expressed an interest in serving another term 
on the Board.  Although he recently retired from his position as Assistant Chief, he is still 
eligible to represent the City of College Station as a member of the Aggieland Humane 
Society board as mentioned in section 5.02 of the shelter’s by-laws.     
 
Section 5.02. The Board of Directors shall consist of fifteen (15) voting members whose 
nomination and approval shall be conducted in the following manner: 
 

A. Six directors shall be appointed as follows: 
 

1. Two members appointed by the City Council of the City of College Station 
who may be a citizen, employee, officer, or elected official of the City of 
College Station. This appointment will be automatically removed from 
the Board of Directors with the position suspended and left vacant if the 
entity is not contracted with the Aggieland Humane Society, Inc. for 
animal housing services. 

 
Mrs. Chantal Vasali is the cities other board representative and her term will expire in 
November of 2013.  Our staff recommends the re-appointment of Larry Johnson for a 
second term on the board.   
 
Budget & Financial Summary: N/A   
 
 
Attachments:  N/A 
 

396


	Agenda
	Consent No. 2a - Minutes
	Coversheet revised
	Workshop
	Regular

	Consent No. 2b - Annual Exemptions
	Coversheet revised
	List updated

	Consent No. 2c - TexPool Resolution Amending Authorized Representatives
	Coversheet revised
	Resolution

	Consent No. 2d - Contract for Printing and Mailing of Utility Bills and Inserts
	Coversheet revised
	Contract

	Consent No. 2e - Increase Expenditure Authorization for City Solid Waste Disposal
	Coversheet revised

	Consent No. 2f - Spring Creek Feeder Addition Bore
	Coversheet revised
	Bid Tabulation

	Consent No. 2g - Northgate Electric Substation Long Head Time Equipment Bid
	Coversheet reviewed
	12-100 Tab
	Resolution

	Consent No. 2h - Third Party Administrator Services for Fiscal Year 2013
	Coversheet revised

	Consent No. 2i - Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Funding Resolution
	Coversheet revised
	Aggieland Humane Society Resolution for Fees FY 13

	Consent No. 2j - Property Casualty Insurance Policies for Fiscal Year 2013
	Coversheet revised
	Insurance 2013 Recomendation Letter

	Consent No. 2k - Hazard Mitigation Action Plan 2012-2017
	Coversheet revised
	Resolution

	Consent No. 2L - Interlocal Agreement for Emergency Medical Ambulance Service to Brazos County
	Coversheet revised
	Resolution
	EMS ILA 2012
	MAP - EMS response area

	Consent No. 2m - Annual Purchase Order for Liquid Chlorine
	Coversheet revised
	Bid Tabulation

	Consent No. 2n - Impact Fees Semi-Annual Report
	Coversheet revised
	Report

	Consent No. 2o - Project Number WF1223116 Carter Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks
	Coversheet revised
	Bid Tabulation
	Location Map

	Consent No. 2p - South Knoll-The Glade Utility Rehabilitation Project Design Change Order Project Number WF1044480, WF1044485

	Coversheet revised
	Change Order
	Location Map

	Regular No. 1 - Public Hearing and Consideration of Budget Amendment #3
	Coversheet revised
	Ordinance
	List

	Regular No. 2 - Public Hearing on the Rezoning—BioCorridor Planned Development District
	Coversheet revised
	Background
	Photos
	Ordinance updated

	Regular No. 3 - Public Hearing on the UDO Amendment—BioCorridor
	Coversheet revised
	Ordinance revised

	Regular No. 4 - Public Hearing on the UDO Amendment—New Non-Residential Zoning Districts
	Coversheet revised
	Fact Sheet 1
	Fact Sheet 2
	Fact Sheet 3
	Fact Sheet 4
	Ordinance

	Regular No. 5 - Authorize Aggieland Humane Society Board Appointment
	Coversheet revised


